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1. INTRODUCTION
In this report, the terms “Mylan”, “we”, “us”, “our” and “the Company” refer to Mylan N.V. and, where appropriate, its subsidiaries.
Unless stated otherwise, information presented in this report is as at 31 December 2018.

1.1 Preparation

This report has been prepared by Mylan’s management and has been approved by Mylan’s board of directors (the “Board”) pursuant
to Section 2:391 of the Dutch Civil Code (“DCC”). It contains (i) Mylan’s Dutch statutory annual accounts as defined in Section
2:361(1) DCC and (ii) the information to be added pursuant to Section 2:392 DCC (to the extent relevant). The financial statements
included in sections 9.1 and 9.2 of'this report have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards,
as adopted by the European Commission (“EU IFRS”). The report of Mylan’s independent auditor, Deloitte Accountants B.V.,, is
included in section 10.1.

1.2 Forward-looking statements

This report contains “forward-looking statements.” These statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements about
Mylan’s future operations, anticipated business levels, future earnings, planned activities, anticipated growth, market opportunities,
strategies, competition and other expectations and targets for future periods. These may often be identified by the use of words
such as “will,” “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “project,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “plan,” “estimate,” “forecast,”
“potential,” “pipeline,” “intend,” “continue,” “target,” “seek’ and variations of these words or comparable words. Because forward-
looking statements inherently involve risks and uncertainties, actual future results may differ materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited
to: actions and decisions of healthcare and pharmaceutical regulators; failure to achieve expected or targeted future financial and
operating performance and results; uncertainties regarding future demand, pricing and reimbursement for our products; any
regulatory, legal, or other impediments to Mylan’s ability to bring new products to market, including, but not limited to, where
Mylan uses its business judgment and decides to manufacture, market, and/or sell products, directly or through third parties,
notwithstanding the fact that allegations of patent infringement(s) have not been finally resolved by the courts (i.e., an “at-risk
launch”); success of clinical trials and Mylan’s ability to execute on new product opportunities; any changes in or difficulties with
our manufacturing facilities, including with respect to our remediation and restructuring activities, supply chain or inventory or
our ability to meet anticipated demand; the scope, timing and outcome of any ongoing legal proceedings, including government
investigations, and the impact of any such proceedings on our financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows; the
ability to meet expectations regarding the accounting and tax treatments of acquisitions, including Mylan’s acquisition (the “EPD
Business Acquisition”) of Mylan Inc. and Abbott Laboratories’ non-U.S. developed markets specialty and branded generics business
(the “EPD Business”); changes in relevant tax and other laws, including but not limited to changes in the U.S. tax code and
healthcare and pharmaceutical laws and regulations in the U.S. and abroad; any significant breach of data security or data privacy
or disruptions to our information technology systems; the ability to protect intellectual property and preserve intellectual property
rights; the effect of any changes in customer and supplier relationships and customer purchasing patterns; the ability to attract and
retain key personnel; the impact of competition; identifying, acquiring and integrating complementary or strategic acquisitions of
other companies, products, or assets being more difficult, time-consuming or costly than anticipated; the possibility that Mylan
may be unable to achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies in connection with strategic acquisitions, strategic initiatives
or restructuring programs within the expected time-frames or at all; uncertainties and matters beyond the control of management,
including but not limited to general political and economic conditions and global exchange rates; and inherent uncertainties involved
in the estimates and judgments used in the preparation of financial statements, and the providing of estimates of financial measures,
in accordance with International Financial Report Standards, as adopted by the European Commission (“EU IFRS”) and related
standards or on an adjusted basis. For more detailed information on the risks and uncertainties associated with Mylan’s business
activities, see the risks described in section 4 of this report and our other filings with the SEC. You can access Mylan’s filings with
the SEC through the SEC website at www.sec.gov or through our website, and Mylan strongly encourages you to do so. Mylan
routinely posts information that may be important to investors on our website at investor.mylan.com, and we use this website
address as a means of disclosing material information to the public in a broad, non-exclusionary manner for purposes of the SEC’s
Regulation Fair Disclosure (Reg FD). The contents of our website are not incorporated by reference in this Amendment and shall
not be deemed “filed” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Mylan undertakes no obligation to update any
statements herein for revisions or changes after the filing date of this Amendment other than as required by law.
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2. COMPANY AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW
2.1 Business

Mylan (the successor registrant to Mylan Inc.), along with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company,” “Mylan,” “our” or
“we”), is a global pharmaceutical company committed to setting new standards in healthcare and providing 7 billion people
access to high quality medicine. We offer a growing portfolio of more than 7,500 products, including prescription generic,
branded generic, brand-name drugs and over-the-counter (“OTC”) remedies. We market our products in more than 165
countries and territories. As at 31 December 2018, our global workforce totaled approximately 35,000 employees and external
contractors. Some of our employees are unionized or part of works councils or trade unions.

OuUR MiIsSION
At Mylan, we are committed to setting new standards
in healthcare. Working together around the world to

provide 7 billion people access to high quality
medicine, we:

* Innovate to satisfy unmet needs;

+ Make reliability and service excellence a habit;

« Do what's right, not what's easy; and

« Impact the future through passionate global
leadership.

2.2 Transformation

Mylan was founded in 1961 as a privately-owned company to help people in rural communities in the United States (“U.S.”)
state of West Virginia obtain quality affordable medicines. Originally a distributor of other firms’ products, we grew over time
into one of the nation’s largest manufacturers of generic drugs (“Gx”). Mylan became a publicly traded company in 1973.

Approximately a decade ago, in response to industry changes, Mylan developed and began executing a transformation strategy.
Our goal was to create a durable business model that would harness the power of competition to drive innovations capable of
increasing access to medicine.

Our strategy involved creating robust research, manufacturing, supply chain and commercial platforms on a global scale;
substantially expanding our portfolio of medicines; diversifying by geography, product type and channel; maintaining our
commitment to quality; cultivating our corporate culture and workforce; and continuing to manage for the long-term.

Acquisitions, including that of Matrix Laboratories Limited (2007); Merck KGaA’s generics and specialty pharmaceutical
business (2007); the EPD Business (as defined below) (2015) and Meda AB (publ.) (“Meda”) (2016), have played a significant
role in our transformation. We continue to acquire complementary products and product-development capabilities. As part of
our acquisition-integration efforts, Mylan has focused on how to best optimize and maximize all of our assets across the
organization and all geographies.

Mylan N.V. was originally incorporated as a private limited liability company in the Netherlands in 2014. Mylan became a
public limited liability company in the Netherlands through its acquisition of Abbott Laboratories’ non-U.S. developed markets
specialty and branded generics (“Bx”) business (the “EPD Business™”) on 27 February 2015. Mylan’s corporate seat is in the
Netherlands; our principal executive offices are in England and our group’s global headquarters is in the U.S.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry data included in Item 2 is sourced from IQVIA Holdings Inc. and is for the twelve months
ended November 2018. Mylan product information is from internal sources and is as at 31 December 2018.



2.3 Business Model and Operations

Our mission is grounded in our conviction that every person should have the opportunity to live the healthiest life
possible. For this reason, providing access to medicine is an important goal of our business model, pictured below.

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

ACCESS is our core purposs

lMylan
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of our businass model and scientihc platforms

To provide access, we seek to satisfy the needs of an incredibly diverse global pharmaceutical marketplace whose economic
and political systems, approaches to delivering and paying for healthcare, languages and traditions, and customer and patient
requirements vary by location and over time.

It is with these considerations in mind that we built and scaled our commercial, operational and scientific platforms, which we
believe meet the evolving needs of customers in ways that are globally consistent and locally sensitive. As a result, Mylan now
reaches patients with a wide range of products.

We believe that the breadth and depth - i.e., the diversity - of our business and platforms have rendered our business durable, as
we are not dependent on any single market or product.



We also believe that durability not only helps us expand people’s access to medicine, it also allows us to better compete on a
global basis than many of our peers. Our primary competitors in the prescription drugs space include other pharmaceutical
companies, including manufacturers of brand-name, generic drug and branded drug companies that continue to sell or license
branded pharmaceutical products after patent expirations and other statutory expirations. Our OTC products face competition
from pharmaceutical companies and from retailers that carry their own private-label brands.

DURABILITY COMPONENTS

We have structured our business and strive to operate it in ways that maximize our operational and financial results.
Operationally, for instance, we have chosen to vertically integrate much of our manufacturing activity; this means producing
many of our own active pharmaceutical ingredients (“APIs”) and finished dosage forms. This approach affords us greater
control over the cost and quality of what we make. All of the facilities discussed below are included in our reportable segments
(North America, Europe, and Rest of World) primarily based on the location of the facility.

Our principal administrative, research and development (“R&D”) and manufacturing facilities are located around the world;
many of the latter are strategically located in proximity to key markets.

In the U.S. and Puerto Rico, we own 16 manufacturing, distribution, and administrative facilities. Principal facilities include the
group’s global headquarters in Canonsburg, Pennsylvania; our campus in Morgantown, West Virginia, which includes an R&D
center of excellence and manufacturing plant; and our distribution center in Greensboro, North Carolina.

Outside the U.S. and Puerto Rico, we own 39 production, distribution, and administrative facilities in 15 countries.

In Europe, principal facilities include our principal executive offices in Hatfield, Hertfordshire, England; our global center in
Dublin, Ireland; as well as key facilities in Ireland, Hungary, and France.

We also operate key facilities in India, Australia, and Japan. In India, principal facilities include our global center in Bangalore;
an R&D center of excellence in Hyderabad; and several manufacturing plants located throughout the country.

Mylan also leases manufacturing, warehousing, distribution and administrative facilities in various locations, both within and
outside of the U.S. Finally, Mylan relies upon many of our collaboration partners’ manufacturing and other facilities throughout
the world.

We believe all our facilities are in good operating condition, the machinery and equipment are well-maintained, the facilities are
suitable for their intended purposes and they have capacities adequate for the current operations.



The APIs and other materials and supplies we use in our manufacturing operations are purchased from third parties, and some
are produced internally. Occasionally, however, resources we need are available from only a single supplier. Like many
pharmaceutical companies, we supplement our production footprint through arrangements with other manufacturers.

Facilities and records related to our products are subject to periodic inspection by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the
“FDA”), the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”), the Therapeutic Goods Administration in Australia and other authorities,
as applicable. In addition, authorities often conduct pre-approval plant inspections to determine whether our systems and
processes comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”’) and other regulations, and clinical-trial reviews to
evaluate regulatory compliance and data integrity. Our suppliers, contract manufacturers, clinical trial partners and other
business partners are subject to similar regulations and periodic inspections.

Moreover, as a part of our commitment to caring for the environment, we strive to comply in all material respects with
applicable environmental laws and regulations. While it is impossible to predict accurately the future costs associated with
environmental compliance and potential remediation activities, compliance with environmental laws is not expected to require
significant capital expenditures and has not had, and is not expected to have, a material adverse effect on our operations or
competitive position.

2.4 Customers and Marketing

Our customers are essential in helping us create better health for a better world by making our products available to patients.
Numbering in the tens of thousands, our customers include retail pharmacies; wholesalers and distributors; payers, insurers and
governments; and institutions such as hospitals; among others. See “Channel Types” below for more information about our
customers.

The table below displays the percentage of consolidated net sales to our largest customers during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

Percentage of Consolidated

Net Sales
2018 2017
MCcKesson COTpOration . . .. ... ... utuuu ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e et 12% 13%
AmerisourceBergen Corporation. . . .........o ittt e &% 8%
Cardinal Health, InC. . .. ... ... . e 8% 10%

In addition to being dynamic, the pharmaceutical industry is complex. How it functions, how it is regulated and how it provides
patients access varies by location. Similarly, competition is affected by many factors. Examples of factors include innovation
and development, timely approval of prescription drugs by health authorities, manufacturing capabilities, product quality,
marketing effectiveness, portfolio size, customer service, consumer acceptance, product price, political stability and the
availability of funding for healthcare.

Certain parts of our business also are affected by seasonality, e.g., due to the timing and severity of peak cough, cold and flu
incidence, which can cause variability in sales trends for some of our products. While seasonality may affect quarterly
comparisons within a fiscal year; it generally is not material to our annual consolidated results.

We serve our customers through a team of more than 7,000 sales and marketing professionals, all of whom are focused on
establishing Mylan as our customers’ partner of choice. To best meet customers’ needs, Mylan manages its business on a

geographic basis.

For these and other reasons, Mylan’s sales and marketing efforts vary accordingly by product, market and channel type, each of
which is described below.

Refer to Note 23 Segment Information included in section 9.1 of this report for more information related to customer arrangements.



Products
Channels

Bb: Physician-prescrbed and marketed mostly with a brand name
Bix: Branded generics

Gx: Unbranded generics

OTC: Cver-the-counter and consumer (Cx — physician endorsed)

Distribution: Pharmacy chain and/or wholesaler are decision makers

Tender: Public health systems buy international MonPropristary Mame (INMN)
products bazed on various factors ranging from cost to supply refiability
Substitution: Individual pharmacist or pharmacy buying group are

decision makers

Prescription: Physician is decision maker

Wholesaler/Distributor: Purchased directly from manufacturers; product
siored in warehouses and sold to pharmacies

Retail: Purchaszed directly from manufacturers or wholesalers/ distributors
and sold to consumers

Hospital/Institution: Addresses special needs in hospitals, nursing homes,
etc., through unique package offerings (e.g., injectables and unit dose supply)
E-Commerce: Automated centers that mail prescribed drugs directhy

to consumers

Specialty Pharmacy: Manages dispensing, distribution, reimburserment,
case management and other services for patients

Product Types
Mylan markets prescription brand-name drugs; unbranded and branded prescription generic drugs; OTC products and APIs.

Brand-name drugs (“Rx”) typically are prescription pharmaceuticals that are sufficiently novel as to be protected by patents or
other forms of exclusivity. As such, these drugs, which bear trade names, may be produced and sold only by those owning the
rights, subject to certain challenges that other companies may make. Developing new medicines can take years and significant
investment. Only a few promising therapies ever enter clinical trials. Fewer still are approved for sale by health authorities, at
which point marketing to healthcare providers and consumers begins.

Because patents and exclusivities last many years, they serve as an incentive to developers. During the periods protected,
developers often recoup their investments and earn a profit. In many high-income countries, the brand business often is
characterized by higher margins on lower volumes - especially as compared with generic manufacturers. We have acquired
most of the branded products we offer.

Generic drugs are therapeutically equivalent versions of brand-name medicines. Generics generally become available once the
patents and other exclusivities on their branded counterparts expire. Gx products typically are sold under their International
Nonproprietary Names (“INNs”). INNs facilitate the identification of pharmaceutical substances or APIs. Each INN is unique
and globally recognized. A nonproprietary name also is known as a generic name.

Mylan, like many other generic drugmakers, invests significant sums in R&D and in manufacturing capacity. We also often
incur substantial litigation expense as a result of challenging brand patents or exclusivities. But because generic drugmakers are
not required to reproduce expensive clinical trials and seldom engage in product promotion, Gx typically cost far less than
branded drugs. The generics business is generally characterized by lower margins on higher volumes, as most generic
drugmakers, Mylan included, offer a relatively large number of products.

Branded generics are off-patent products that are sold under an approved proprietary name for marketing purposes. Rx products
often become Bx products once patent protections or other forms of exclusivity expire. Bx products are common in many
countries outside the U.S., including emerging markets. In addition, complex products, such as biosimilars (that is, a biological
product that is highly similar to an already approved reference biological product, and for which there are no clinically
meaningful differences between the biosimilar and the reference biological product in terms of safety, purity and potency),
often are marketed under a brand-name.



Rx and Bx products are more sensitive to promotion than are unbranded generic products. They therefore represent the focus of
most of our sales representatives and product-level marketing activity.

OTC products are sold directly to consumers, without a prescription and without reimbursement. As with prescription
medicines, properly approved OTC products are proven to be safe and effective when used as directed. OTC products also are
subject to various regulatory requirements, including those applicable to manufacturing, advertising and promotion. OTC
products may be sold under a brand-name or a molecule name.

Our APl is sold through a dedicated sales and marketing team primarily to pharmaceutical companies throughout the world.
Market Types

Like other drug companies, Mylan focuses its sales and marketing efforts on the people who make key decisions around
pharmaceutical prescribing, dispensing or buying. Decision-makers vary by country or region, reflecting law and custom,
giving rise to different types of pharmaceutical markets. Many countries feature a mix of or hybrids of various market types,
though Mylan may focus on just one type.

In prescription markets, physicians decide which medicines patients will take. Pharmacies then dispense the products as
directed. Drug companies employ sales forces to educate doctors about the clinical benefits of their products. Representatives
call on individual doctors or group practices; the process is known as detailing. Examples of countries served by Mylan that are
mainly prescription markets are Japan, China, Russia, Turkey, Poland and Mexico.

In substitution markets, pharmacists generally are authorized (and in some cases required) by law to dispense an unbranded or
branded generic, if available, in place of a brand-name medicine, or vice versa. Drug companies may use sales forces in these
markets too, with representatives calling on and educating pharmacy personnel about their organization and products. Examples
of countries served by Mylan that are mainly substitution markets are France, Italy, Spain, Portugal and Australia.

In tender markets, payers, such as governments or insurance companies, negotiate the lowest price for a drug (or group of
drugs) on behalf of their constituents or members. In exchange, the chosen supplier’s product is placed on the payer’s
formulary, or list of covered prescriptions. Often, a supplier’s drug is the only one available in an entire class of drugs. Large
sales forces are not needed to reach these decision-makers. Examples of generic markets served by Mylan that are mainly
tender markets are Germany, New Zealand, Sweden and Denmark.

In distribution markets, retailers and wholesalers make drug-purchasing decisions. Large sales forces are not needed to reach
the decision-makers representing these organizations. Note, however, that pharmacists operating in distribution markets also
may be authorized to make substitution decisions when dispensing medicines. Examples of countries served by Mylan that are
mainly distribution markets are the U.S., the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) and Norway.

The allocation of our sales and marketing resources reflects the characteristics of these different market types.

In the case of OTC products, consumers are the decision-makers. OTC products are commonly sold via retail channels, such as
pharmacies, drugstores and supermarkets. This makes their sale and marketing comparable to other retail businesses, with broad
advertising and trade-channel promotion. Consumers often are loyal to well-known OTC brands. For this reason, suppliers of
OTC products, Mylan included, must invest the time and resources needed to build strong OTC brand names.

Channel Types

Mylan’s products make their way to patients through a variety of intermediaries, or channels.

Pharmaceutical wholesalers/distributors purchase prescription medicines and other medical products directly from
manufacturers for storage in warehouses and distribution centers. The distributors then fill orders placed by healthcare

providers and other authorized buyers.

Pharmaceutical retailers purchase products directly from manufacturers or wholesalers/distributors. They then sell them to
consumers in relatively small quantities for personal use.

Institutional pharmacies address the unique needs of hospitals, nursing homes and other such venues. Among the services
provided are specialized packaging, such as unit-dose supply, for controlled administration.



Mail-order and e-commerce pharmacies receive prescriptions by mail, fax, phone or the internet at a central location; process
them in large, mostly automated centers; and mail the drugs to the consumer.

Specialty pharmacies focus on managing the handling and service requirements associated with high-cost and more-complex
drug therapies, such as those used to treat patients with rare or serious diseases.

2.5 Business Segments

Consistent with Mylan’s focus on bringing its broad and diversified portfolio products to people in markets everywhere, the
company reports results in three segments on a geographic basis as follows: North America, Europe and Rest of World.

Our North America segment comprises our operations in the U.S. and Canada. Our Europe segment encompasses our
operations across 35 countries, including France, Italy, Germany, the U.K. and Spain. Our Rest of World segment reflects our
operations in more than 120 countries outside of our North America and Europe segments.

The charts below display Mylan’s net sales by segment and by product type for the year ended 31 December 2018. Net sales are
generated primarily from the sale of pharmaceutical products, including API.

2018 Net Sales By Segment 2018 Net Sales By Product Type
OTC
Rest of World
27% 4 North America Rx/Bx
36%
Gx
Europe
37%

With respect to product type, generic offerings continue to represent 57% of our net sales, in keeping with Mylan’s emphasis on
expanding people’s access to medicine.
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In addition, we have focused our products in 10 major therapeutic areas. We have critical mass in these areas, though our sales
emphasis varies by market according to need and opportunity.

MYLAN’S MAJOR THERAPEUTIC AREAS*

O v

Products Cardiovascular CNS & Anesthesia Dermatology Diabetes & Metabolism Gastroenterology
Current 1,150 1,900 500 450 700
Pipeline 320 550 60 300 150
[s] @] /‘"\'
Olglo (N N
Products Immunology Infectious Disease Oncology Respiratory & Allergy Women'’s Health
Current 80 1,100 450 600 650
Pipeline 100 900 550 150 150

*Product defined by product/dosage form/country. Products taken from internal data and rounded.

North America

Mylan’s business in North America is driven mainly by our operations in the U.S., where we are one of the largest providers of
prescription medicines. The U.S. pharmaceutical industry is very competitive, and the primary means of competition are
innovation and development, timely FDA approval, manufacturing capabilities, product quality, marketing, portfolio size,
customer service, reputation and price. We rely on cost-effective manufacturing processes to meet the rapidly changing needs of
our customers around a reliable, high quality supply of generic pharmaceutical products.

2018 North America Net Sales by Product
Type

OTC
Rx/Bx

Gx are widely accepted in the U.S., accounting in 2018 for approximately 90% of prescriptions dispensed, but only about 20%
of total prescription drug costs. Over the last five years, Mylan has launched more generics in the U.S. than any other company.

Among our branded prescription products are EpiPen® Auto-Injector, Perforomist® Inhalation Solution and Dymista®. Also,
we launched YUPELRI™, an inhalation solution for the maintenance treatment of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease, in December 2018. Our OTC portfolio includes Cold-EEZE®, MidNite® and Vivarin®, as well as other products. Our
promotion efforts are supported by a salesforce of approximately 400 sales representatives.

New product launches are an important growth driver. Important recent launches include complex products such as Wixela™
Inhub™ (generic Advair Diskus®) in February 2019, Glatiramer Acetate Injection (generic Copaxone®), Fulphila™
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(biosimilar to Neulasta®) and generic ESTRACE®. Our emphasis on complex products, some of which we develop in
collaboration with other companies, is evidenced by, to name a few of relevance in the U.S., our efforts to introduce generic
versions of Symbicort®, Restasis®, EYLEA® and the biosimilar to Herceptin®.

While our U.S. customer base is extensive, it increasingly comprises a small number of very large firms, as the pharmaceutical
industry continues to undergo tremendous change and consolidation. Mylan is well positioned to serve such customers - in the
U.S. and elsewhere - due to the scale we have built in terms of R&D, API and finished-dosage-form manufacturing, and
portfolio breadth.

Europe

Mylan’s business in Europe is driven by our scale across 35 countries.

2018 Europe Net Sales by Product Type

OTC

Rx/Bx

Gx

Generic medicines have transformed healthcare in the region over the last decade by significantly increasing patients’ access to
medicine in an era of rising demand for healthcare services and constrained finances. In 2018 generic pharmaceuticals
represented more than half of medicines used in Europe, but less than one quarter of total drug costs. Europe represents the
world’s second largest generic pharmaceuticals market, by value. The European markets, where many governments provide
healthcare at a low direct cost to consumers and regulate pharmaceutical prices or patient reimbursement levels, continue to be
highly competitive, especially in terms of pricing, quality standards, service levels and product portfolio. Our leadership
position in a number of countries provides us a platform to fulfill the needs of patients, physicians, pharmacies, customers and
payors.

Among our many branded prescription products are Creon®, Influvac® and Dymista®. Our OTC portfolio includes Brufen®,
CB12® and EndWarts®, as well as other products. Our promotional efforts in the region are supported by approximately 2,500
sales representatives.

New product launches are an important growth driver. Our focus on complex products is evidenced by our ability to gain
approval for products such as Hulio™ (adalimumab), Glatiramer Acetate, Semglee™, our insulin glargine, and Ogivri™
(trastuzumab-dkst). In addition we remain focused on introducing additional biosimilars like Fulphila™ (pegfilgrastim) and
rituximab.

We expect Mylan’s business in Europe to keep benefiting from our commercial platform, through which we simultaneously can
serve multiple market types through multiple channels. Doing so allows us to focus on maximizing returns on investment by,
for instance, repurposing branded drugs that lose exclusivity as tender or substitution products, or by switching from one
proven strategy to another as individual government policies evolve, as is currently the case for biosimilars.

We look to maintain our leadership positions in markets such as France and Italy and prioritize opportunities in additional
markets, such as Germany, Spain and the U.K.

12



Rest of World

Mylan’s commercial operations in Rest of World comprise a diverse group of businesses, many of which we believe have high
growth potential. The Rest of World markets are attractive because of the growing middle class within these countries combined
with an increase in the demand for pharmaceutical products. The highly competitive environment includes conditions like
pricing and market access challenges, potential political instability, significant currency fluctuations and limited or changing
availability of funding for healthcare.

2018 Rest of World Net Sales by Product
Type

OTC
Rx/Bx

Gx

Mylan’s focus on becoming a leader in supplying antiretroviral medicines (“ARVs”) to treat HIV/AIDS has helped to increase
our presence in many emerging market countries over the last decade.

Today approximately 40% of people being treated worldwide for the disease, as well as approximately 60% of the world’s HIV
+ children, rely on one of our products. Most of these individuals live in countries that make up our Rest of World segment.

Many countries in this segment are brand-focused, and generic penetration is low. Our more than 2,000 sales representatives are
deployed in approximately 35 countries to promote our products. Among them are brands such as Amitiza®, Dona®, Creon®,
Elidel® and Legalon®.

New product launches are an important growth driver. In accordance with our focus on complex products, we look forward to
continuing to launch products such as Semglee™, ABEVMY® (bevacizumab) and Ogivri'™ (trastuzumab-dkst) into additional
countries, and introducing new medicines.

We look to maintain our leadership positions in countries such as Australia and Japan. We also are focused on maximizing
opportunities in emerging markets like China, Brazil, India, Russia, Mexico, Turkey and Southeast Asia, where we see
opportunity to introduce our existing global portfolio of products, especially our generics.

In addition, we have begun leveraging our ARV platform and expertise to help HIV patients in higher-income countries, and to
expand access to treatments for other infectious diseases, such as tuberculosis and malaria.

Refer to Note 23, Segment Information, included in section 9.1 for more information about our segments.
2.6 Government Regulation

Regulation by governmental authorities is a significant factor in the R&D, manufacture, marketing, sales and distribution of
pharmaceuticals. Human therapeutic products are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical testing to gather data to support
approval, which requires extensive data and information; manufacturing is conducted under exacting conditions governed by
extensive regulation; and post-approval activities, such as advertising and promotion and pharmacovigilance, are subject to
pervasive regulation.

The lengthy process of developing products and obtaining required approvals and the continuing need for post-approval
compliance with applicable statutes and regulations, require the expenditure of substantial resources. Regulatory approval, if
and when obtained, may be limited in scope. Further, approved drugs, as well as their manufacturers, are subject to ongoing
post-marketing review and inspection, which can lead to the discovery of previously unknown problems with products or the
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manufacturing or quality control procedures used in their production, which may result in restrictions on their manufacture, sale
or use or in their withdrawal from the market.

Any failure or delay by us, our suppliers of manufactured drug product, collaborators or licensees, in obtaining regulatory
approvals could adversely affect the marketing of our products and our ability to receive product revenue, license revenue or
profit-sharing payments.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Our business is subject to a wide range of various other federal, state, non-governmental, and local agency rules and
regulations. They focus on fraud and corruption, pricing and reimbursement, data privacy, and the environment, among many
other considerations. For more information about certain of these regulations and the associated risks we face, see section 4.2
Risk Factors.

2.7 Research and Development

Mylan has a globally integrated R&D platform that is fueling our growth by filling our pipeline. We believe R&D always has
been one of Mylan’s core strengths. Our Scientific Affairs team, which includes researchers and regulatory and clinical experts,

numbers more than 3,000 people who work collaboratively across our 12 different R&D centers around the world, including 10
technology-focused development sites and 2 global R&D centers.

# Biosimilars and insulin analogs

# Respiratory

» Complex sterile products

# Dermatological and transdermals
# Complex OSD

» Modified-release dosage forms

p OTC/parapharmaceuticals

* High potency

b Traditional generics

Consistent with Mylan’s drive for durability, the allocation of our investments over the last several years has shifted away from
commodity products, such as conventional oral solid dosage (“OSD”) forms, to more complex or difficult-to-formulate
products, such as biosimilars.

As a result, our product pipeline includes a variety of dosage forms. Collectively, these investments represent more than 3,600
products under development or pending approval around the world. Refer to the chart in the Business Segments section above

for information pertaining to products in pipeline by major therapeutic area.
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Collaboration and Licensing Agreements

We periodically enter into collaboration and licensing agreements with other companies to develop, manufacture, market and/or
sell pharmaceutical products. Doing so helps us share risks and costs, leverage strengths and scale up commercialization. The
result often is that medicines become available sooner and to a significantly larger group of patients.

Our significant agreements are primarily focused on the development, manufacture, supply and commercialization of multiple,
high-value biosimilar compounds, insulin analog products and respiratory products. Mylan’s significant collaboration and
licensing agreements include those with Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”’), Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Momenta”), Theravance
Biopharma, Inc. (“Theravance Biopharma™), Biocon Ltd. (“Biocon”) and Fujifilm Kyowa Kirin Biologics Co. Ltd. Refer to
Note 27, Joint Operations and Licensing Agreements, included in section 9.1 for more information.

2.8 Intellectual Property

Mylan considers the protection of our intellectual property rights to be extremely valuable, and we act to protect them from
infringement by third parties.

We have an extensive trademark portfolio and routinely apply to register key brand-name, generic, branded generic, biosimilars
and OTC trade names in numerous countries around the world. Our registered trademarks are renewable indefinitely, and these
registrations are properly maintained in accordance with the laws of the countries in which they are registered.

We also have an extensive patent portfolio and actively file for patent protection in various countries to protect our brand-name,
generic, branded generic, biosimilars and OTC products, including processes for making and using them. We have more than
4,500 patents filed globally. For additional information, see “Risk Factors - We rely on the effectiveness of our patents,
confidentiality agreements and other measures to protect our intellectual property rights.”

Further, we have well-established safeguards in place to protect our proprietary know-how and trade secrets, both of which we
consider extremely valuable to our intellectual property portfolio.

We look for intellectual property licensing opportunities to or from third parties, related not only to our existing products, but as
a means for expanding our product portfolio.

We rely on the aforementioned types of intellectual property, as well as our copyrights, regulatory exclusivities and contractual
protections, to establish a broad scope of intellectual property rights for our product portfolio.

2.9 Global Social Responsibility

A company’s quest for sustainability can take many forms and encompasses economic factors as well as social and environmental
ones. Our Board recognizes the importance of both our mission and our performance in achieving this wide-ranging goal.

We also appreciate that capital is increasingly directed towards companies that seek to realize opportunities and create value by
helping to address societal challenges while effectively managing inherent risks. Some may find it a struggle to mesh business
value with social impact. However, our business model - built on access, diversification and durability - enables us to do just that.
For instance, a summary of several of our business highlights for 2018 also reflects our dedication to making access to high quality
medicine both tangible and achievable for patients we serve around the globe:

*  We supplied 7,500+ products, with the ability to treat 9 of the top 10 global causes of death.

*  We reached 165+ countries and territories, including 90% of low- and lower-middle income countries.

*  We sold ~59B doses of medicine at an average selling price of 19 cents per dose.

*  We supplied products to ~40% of the world’s nearly 22 million HIV+ patients and ~60% of the world’s HIV+ children
on treatment.

*  We obtained approval for more than 900 products

* Asof 31 December 2018, we have 12 R&D centers with ~3,700 products pending approval or in development.

Additional Mylan highlights include:
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Our Commitment to GSR Oversight

In the fall of 2018, we revised the Risk Oversight Committee’s charter to include oversight of management’s efforts with respect
to GSR. Our Head of Global Sustainability reports directly to the CEO and provides regular updates to the Risk Oversight Committee.
GSR is also a focus area for Mylan’s Executive Governance Team and global Risk Management Team.

Our Commitment to Employees

To attract and retain a highly diverse global workforce in an industry where science, creativity, efficiency and caring all matter,
we focus a great deal of time, attention and resources on our employees. When we talk about our collective commitment to our
mission, we do not rely simply on words alone. Here are some relevant facts:

* In2018, the Company conducted an anonymous, comprehensive Global Employee Survey covering topics ranging from
workplace culture and communication to growth and development:
*  88% of employees participated in the survey
o Surpassed the average first-year participation rate of comparable companies (78%) '.
»  80% responded that they are proud to work at Mylan.
*  86% think Mylan sets clear performance standards for quality.
*  81% see a clear link between their work and the Company’s mission.
*  90% agree that Mylan supports ethical behavior practices.

Based on the survey results, employee development, process efficiency and two-way communication were identified as priorities
for global action planning in 2019. Leaders at all levels of the organization held meetings in 2018 to review and discuss their
teams’ results. Employee feedback is being used to design action plans for more than 100 sites. Progress in 2019 will be measured
using pulse surveys.

»  We will utilize these results, and the ones that follow, to continually improve our human capital management.

In addition:

e Mylan’s 2018 voluntary turnover rate of 8.9% was below the average global voluntary turnover rate of 9.9% in 2018 >,
Average employee tenure at Mylan is 8.4 years for female employees and 7.5 years for male employees.
*  We monitor voluntary employee turnover, broken down by geography, operating unit and gender.

We also invest in our employees’ safety, training and development. Among other things, in 2018 we:

*  Had seven new sites become OHSAS (Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series) 18001 certified.

* Achieved a Global Days Away, Restricted or Transferred (DART) rate that was 61% below the industry average.

*  Created a global framework to advance professional development, which supports both career growth and business
growth.

* Introduced enhanced individual development plans to focus on Mylan’s continuous commitment to the growth and
development of its employees.

*  Achieved completion of 2.9 million internal learning management system courses, up from 2.5 million in 2017.

* Initiated a program to recognize employees celebrating major service anniversaries globally.

Our Commitment to Product Quality and Safety

From R&D to making or sourcing raw materials to producing finished dosage forms, every step of our development, manufacturing
and monitoring processes is grounded in quality. Mylan has company-wide policies and management procedures to ensure product
quality and safety across our operations. We also are committed to working closely with regulatory agencies to quickly address
any observations that they may have from time to time.

! Source: IBM Watson
% «“Workforce Turnover Around the World”, Mercer, 2018.
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»  Patient safety is guided by our global policy on product safety and our Pharmacovigilance (“PV”’) program.

*  Our policy on PV Training Standards defines our training curriculum, frequency, effectiveness measurements and
documentation and other requirements.

*  Our Product Safety and Risk Management department conducts internal and external audits and ensures that personal
health information of clinical trial participants is carefully safeguarded.

*  We are subject to external audits and inspections from health authorities around the globe, and in 2018 we expanded our
site self-inspection auditor certification program across all of our operations to further strengthen site self-regulation.

*  We have a Corporate Product Safety Committee which evaluates newly emerging product safety information regarding
our products on an ongoing basis.

» In 2018, we completed 610 quality and Good Manufacturing Process (“GMP”) audits at our suppliers and 41 quality and
GMP audits at our own facilities.

* In2018, 59 Good Clinical Practice audits were performed across our own and partner sites, as we work to promote patient
safety and protect patient rights throughout the study lifecycle.

* In 2018, we made significant investments in packaging and information technology to protect against falsified medicine;
in 2019 we will continue to build out our technology, aggregation and distribution capabilities designed to comply with
the European Union Falsified Medicine Directive.

Our Commitment to Environmental Stewardship
Our global Environmental, Health and Safety team, reporting to our Chief Operating Officer, works systematically to identify
ways to minimize our impact on the environment by improving energy and water usage, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and

improving waste management, among other areas of focus.

Environmental initiative highlights in 2018 include:

. We supported the Antimicrobial Resistance Industry Alliance’s Common Antibiotic Manufacturing. Framework,
promoting a common methodology to assess potential risk from antibiotic discharges and taking appropriate action when
necessary

. We commissioned a new zero liquid discharge (“ZLD”) plant at one of our Bangalore, India, facilities bringing our number
of ZLD sites to 10.

. Across our sites, we recycled, reused or repurposed 26% of total waste generated and 44% of total waste generated was
sent to various energy recovery facilities.

. We diverted more than 95% of our pharmaceutical waste from landfill to incineration or energy-recovery facilities.

. We completed a number of energy management projects, including investments in equipment improvements, installing

LED lighting and purchasing renewable energy.
Building for the Future

A sustainable business cannot be dependent on, or supported by, prior success alone. We will continue examining the
intersection of our priorities, opportunities and challenges with those of our stakeholders and develop specific social
responsibility goals that we plan to share in our next GSR report. In addition, as we look to Mylan’s future, although the
Company’s next phase of business evolution will predominantly be driven by organic growth, it will require a company willing
to adapt in order to further build upon its success while keeping pace with ever-changing market dynamics. We’ve formalized
that work and have established a Business Transformation Office that is using a highly disciplined financial lens to unlock
latent value from the assets we’ve integrated throughout the Company. We seek to deliver continued long-term growth and
attractive shareholder returns by maximizing new products, reallocating investments to drive share of profitable products, all
while maintaining a competitive sourcing and manufacturing footprint. This rigorous process is designed to ensure our ability to
continue to deliver business value through social impact for many years to come.

2.10 Corporate Culture

Mylan’s culture unites our employees around the world in what they recognize as an important and noble cause. As such, when
creative solutions and tough decisions are called for, they rise to the occasion. When the way forward is unclear, they figure it out.
When challenges arise, they don’t blink; they simply remain focused on executing to deliver on Mylan’s commitments. After all,
our employees know that 7 billion people are depending on them to fulfill our mission. Mylan’s culture is:

+ Passionate: We’re constantly sparked by the urge to make a difference.
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*  Committed: We do what’s right, not what’s easy.
* Relentless: We’ll each do our part every day to provide 7 billion people access to the medicine they deserve.

*  Unconventional: In a world full of watchers, we’re doers. And together we can do anything.

Compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and applicable law, by all Mylan personnel and contractors is mandatory
and violations can result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or engagement. The Board believes
that our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics has operated effectively in the year under review.

3. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL
CONDITION

Financial Summary

The table below is a summary of the Company’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2018 compared to the prior year
period:

Year Ended 31 December

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2018 2017 Change % Change

TOtal TEVENUES . . . . o oottt et e e e e $ 11,4339 §$ 11,907.7 $§  (473.8) @)%
Gross profit .. ... oo 4,001.6 4,783.1 (781.5) (16)%
Earnings from operations ................. ... 884.2 1,429.1 (544.9) (38)%
Net CarnINGS. . . vttt ettt e e e e 306.8 662.6 (355.8) (54)%
Diluted earnings per ordinary share .......................... $ 059 $ 123 § (0.64) (52)%

Results of Operations
Total Revenues

For the year ended 31 December 2018, Mylan reported total revenues of $11.43 billion, compared to $11.91 billion for the
comparable prior year period, representing a decrease of $473.8 million, or 4%. Total revenues include both net sales and other
revenues from third parties. Net sales for the year ended 31 December 2018 were $11.27 billion, compared to $11.76 billion for
the comparable prior year period, representing a decrease of $491.3 million, or 4%. Other revenues for the year ended 31
December 2018 were $165.2 million, compared to $147.7 million for the comparable prior year period, an increase of $17.5
million. The increase in other revenues was primarily the result of consideration received from the licensing of intellectual
property during the current year.

The decrease in net sales included a decrease in the North America segment of 18%. This decrease was partially offset by
increases in the Europe segment of 5% and in the Rest of World segment of 7%. The overall decrease in net sales was primarily
driven by a decrease in net sales from existing products. Net sales from existing products, partially offset by new product sales,
decreased on a constant currency basis by approximately $443.6 million primarily as a result of lower volumes, and to a lesser
extent, pricing. Net sales were also negatively impacted by approximately $104.5 million due to the adoption of new accounting
standards. Mylan’s net sales were favorably impacted by the effect of foreign currency translation, primarily reflecting changes
in the U.S. Dollar as compared to the currencies of Mylan’s subsidiaries in the EU, which was partially offset by the
unfavorable impact from changes in the Indian Rupee and the Australian Dollar. The favorable impact of foreign currency
translation on current year net sales was approximately $56.7 million resulting in a decrease in constant currency net sales of
approximately $548.0 million, or 5%.

From time to time, a limited number of our products may represent a significant portion of our net sales, gross profit and net
earnings. Generally, this is due to the timing of new product introductions and the amount, if any, of additional competition in
the market. Our top ten products in terms of net sales, in the aggregate, represented approximately 20% and 21% for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Variable Consideration

The following table presents a reconciliation of gross sales to net sales by each significant category of variable consideration
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

Year Ended 31 December
2018 2017

§ 19,588.1 § 22,206.1

(In millions of USD)
GIOSS SAlES. . o . ottt e
Gross to net adjustments: . .. .. ... .ttt e

Chargebacks . . .. ..o (3,352.2) (4,239.5)
Rebates, promotional programs and other sales allowances ............................. (4,235.6) (5,281.1)
RetUINS . . . oo (261.6) (390.7)

(470.0) (534.8)
$ (8,319.4) $ (10,446.1)
$ 11,2687 $ 11,760.0

Governmental rebate Programs . .. .. .........iin ittt

Total gross to net adjustments . . . ... ... .ttt

Nt SAlES . . ot

The following is a rollforward of the categories of variable consideration during 2018:

Current Provision

Related to Sales Checks/ Credits Effects of
Balance at 31 Made in the Issued to Third Foreign Balance at 31

(In millions of USD) December 2017 Current Period Parties Exchange December 2018
Chargebacks....................... $ 5743 § 33522 § (3,447.1) $ (1.2) $ 478.2
Rebates, promotional programs and

other sales allowances . .............. 1,508.1 4,235.6 (4,526.0) (15.3) 1,202.4
Returns........................... 472.5 261.6 (292.1) (2.5) 439.5
Governmental rebate programs . . ...... 240.3 470.0 (486.6) (1.5) 222.2

Total........ ... ... ... ... ..., $ 2,7952 $ 83194 $ (8,751.8) $ (20.5) $ 2,342.3

Segment Net Sales

Net sales are derived from our three geographic reporting segments: North America, Europe and Rest of World. The graph
below shows net sales by segment for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and the net change period over period.

$4.969.6

g $4,095.6 $4.1573  $3.958.3
S $3.015.8  $2.832.1

=

B $199.0 $183.7
)

S

$(874.0)
North America Europe Rest of World
2018 2017 Net Change

North America Segment

Net sales from North America decreased by $874.0 million or 18% during the year ended 31 December 2018 when compared to
the prior year. This decrease was due primarily to lower volumes on existing products, including the EpiPen® Auto-Injector,
partially offset by new product sales. The decline in volumes was primarily driven by the divestiture of certain contract
manufacturing assets, the loss of exclusivity of certain products, actions associated with the restructuring and remediation
activities at the Morgantown manufacturing plant and the timing of purchases of our products by customers. In addition, net
sales were negatively impacted by $149.7 million related to the implementation of new accounting standards. Pricing also
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declined when compared to the prior year. The impact of foreign currency translation on current period net sales was
insignificant within North America.

Europe Segment

Net sales from Europe increased by $199.0 million or 5% during the year ended 31 December 2018 when compared to the prior
year. This increase was primarily the result of the favorable impact of foreign currency translation, new product sales, and to a
lesser extent, higher volumes of existing products. The favorable impact of foreign currency translation was approximately
$144.5 million, or 4%. Partially offsetting these items was lower pricing on existing products. Constant currency net sales
increased by approximately $54.5 million, or 1% when compared to the prior year.

Rest of World Segment

Net sales from Rest of World increased by $183.7 million or 7% during the year ended 31 December 2018 when compared to
the prior year. This increase was primarily the result of new product sales, and to a lesser extent, higher volumes of existing
products including higher sales of key brands in China. The increase in net sales as a result of new products was primarily due
to new product sales from the Company’s ARV franchise combined with new product sales in Australia, Japan and China. The
increase in net sales was partially offset by lower pricing on existing products and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translation. Overall, net sales from Rest of World were unfavorably impacted by the effect of foreign currency translation of
approximately $88.6 million, or 3%. Constant currency net sales increased by approximately $272.3 million, or 10%.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Cost of sales increased from $7.12 billion for the year ended 31 December 2017 to $7.43 billion for the year ended 31
December 2018. Cost of sales was primarily impacted by purchase accounting related amortization of acquired intangible assets
and other special items. Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 was $4.00 billion and gross margins were 35%. For
the year ended 31 December 2017, gross profit was $4.78 billion and gross margins were 40%. Gross margins were negatively
impacted by approximately 270 basis points related to the incremental amortization from product acquisitions and intangible
asset impairment charges. Gross margins were also negatively affected by approximately 220 basis points as a result of
incremental manufacturing expenses, site remediation expenses and incremental restructuring charges incurred during the year
principally as a result of the activities at the Company’s Morgantown plant. In addition, gross margins were negatively
impacted as a result of lower gross profit from the sales of existing products partially offset by gross margins on new product
introductions primarily in North America.

Operating Expenses
Research & Development Expense

R&D expense for the year ended 31 December 2018 was $704.5 million, compared to $783.3 million for the prior year, a
decrease of $78.8 million. This decrease was primarily due to lower expenditures related to the Company’s respiratory
programs and lower expenses due to the reprioritization of global programs.

Selling, General & Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense for the year ended 31 December 2018 was $2.46 billion, compared to
$2.58 billion for the prior year, a decrease of $121.4 million. The decrease is primarily due to the benefits of integration
activities, lower restructuring charges, lower acquisition-related costs of approximately $48.0 million, and reduced share-based
compensation expense primarily due to the reversal of all of the cumulative expense totaling $70.6 million related to the
Company’s One-Time Special Performance-Based Five-Year Realizable Value Incentive Program during the year ended 31
December 2018. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in bad debt expense of approximately $26.5

million related to a special business interruption event for one customer, and $20.0 million of compensation expense as an
additional discretionary bonus for a certain group of employees. Our Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Commercial Officer and Chief Legal Officer were not eligible for this bonus.

Litigation Settlements and Other Contingencies, Net
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company recorded a net gain of $49.5 million for litigation settlements and other

contingencies, net, compared to $13.1 million in the prior year.
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The following table includes the losses/(gains) recognized in litigation settlements and other contingencies, net during the year
ended 31 December 2018:

(In millions of USD) Loss/(gain)
Respiratory delivery platform contingent consideration adjustment .. ............. ... .. ... iininer.... § (440
Jai Pharma Limited and other contingent consideration adjustments .............. ... ... ... ... ... ....... 2.5
Litigation settlements () . . ... (8.0)
Total litigation settlements and other contingencies, net .. ............ .. ... ... .. ... ... ..., $ (49.5)

() Refer to Note 24 Litigation in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (chapter 9.1 of this board report) for

additional information related to litigation matters.

The following table includes the losses/(gains) recognized in litigation settlements and other contingencies, net during the year
ended 31 December 2017:

(In millions) Loss/(gain)
Respiratory delivery platform contingent consideration adjustment .. ............. ... ... ...ciiuinern... $§ (939
Litigation Settlements . . . . .. ..ottt e e e 51.1
Topicals Business contingent consideration adjustment. .. ............... ...t 23.5
Jai Pharma Limited contingent consideration adjustment . . ........... ... . . i 9.8
Apicore contingent consideration adjustment ... ........ .. ... 4.0)
Total litigation settlements and other contingencies, met . . . ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. $§ a3

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2018 totaled $542.3 million, compared to $534.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2017, an increase of $7.7 million. The increase is due to slightly higher average interest rates on debt issued in 2018
when compared to the debt instruments redeemed during 2018, which was partially offset by the impact of lower average long-
term balances during the year ended 31 December 2018 compared to the prior year.

Other Expense, Net
Other expense, net, was $77.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, compared to $9.5 million for the prior year. Other

expense, net includes losses from equity affiliates, foreign exchange gains and losses, and interest and dividend income. Other
expense, net was comprised of the following for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Losses from equity affiliates, primarily clean energy investments. . .............. ... ... ........ $ 787 § 100.2
Clean energy investment adjustment, NEt GaIN . . ... ...ttt ie it — (42.2)
Foreign exchange gains, net . . ........ ... . ittt e e (20.0) (48.1)
Mark-to-market on fair value interest rate SWap. . .. ...ttt e 12.6 10.0
INtEreSt INCOME . . . . o\ttt ettt et e e e e e e e e et e e (5.0 (6.2)
Financing related eXpenses . . .. ..ottt 6.0 3.2
Other 10SSes/(ZaINS), MET . . . . .ottt et e et e e e e e 5.2 (7.4)
Other eXPense, Nt . ... ... ... .. i $ 7715 $ 9.5

Income Tax (Benefit) Provision

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company recognized an income tax benefit of $42.4 million, compared to an income
tax provision of $222.4 million for the comparable prior year. During the year ended 31 December 2018, a tax benefit of $65.7
million was recorded as a result of the Company’s settlement of certain federal and state audits. The tax provision for the year
ended 31 December 2017 included a provisional net tax charge of $128.6 million related to the December 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts
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and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). Also impacting the income tax benefit for the year ended 31 December 2018 versus the prior year
was the changing mix of income earned in jurisdictions with differing tax rates, increases in valuation allowances on certain
carryforward tax attributes, and the revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities in countries that changed their statutory
corporate tax rate.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT AND RISK FACTORS
4.1 Risk management and control systems

Mylan, similar to other pharmaceutical companies, operates in a complex and rapidly changing environment that involves many
risks. In addition to general market, R&D, and economic risks, the Company faces potential risks related to its industry; information
technology and cybersecurity; data privacy; financial controls and reporting; legal, regulatory and compliance; finances and
taxation; global operations; environment and social responsibility; and product portfolio and commercialization, among others.
As a company committed to operating ethically and with integrity, we proactively seek to manage and, where possible, mitigate
risks to help ensure compliance with applicable rules and regulations, maintain integrity and continuity in our operations and
business and protect our assets. Risk management is an enterprise-wide objective subject to oversight by the Board and its
committees.

It is the responsibility of Mylan’s management and employees to implement and administer risk-management processes to identify
material risks to our business. In addition, management must assess, manage and monitor those risks, all while maintaining flexibility
in how we operate. To further embed risk management and compliance into our culture, Mylan implements relevant policies and
procedures and trains employees on how to implement and comply with them. All of our committees have regular access to
management and our Board and committees also schedule sessions without members of management present.

Mylan’s Board, in turn, directly or through its committees, oversees management’s implementation of risk management. We have
approved a robust Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and other related policies, and the Board and its committees rigorously
review with management actual and potential significant risks at least quarterly.

Based on its oversight activities, reports from management and third parties, and extensive discussions and analyses, the Board
believes that (i) the Company’s internal risk management and control systems provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s
financial reporting does not contain any errors of material importance, (ii) based on the current state of affairs, it is justified that
the Company’s financial reporting is prepared on a going concern basis and (iii) this report states material risks and uncertainties
relevant to the expectation of the Company’s continuity for the period of twelve months after the preparation of this report. The
Board has no reason to believe that there are material shortcomings associated with the Company's internal risk management and
control systems that would otherwise have to be disclosed in this this report. Consequently, those systems have not been materially
revised during the fiscal year to which this report pertains and no material improvements thereto are scheduled. The Company’s
internal risk management and control systems have been discussed with the Audit Committee and the non-executive directors.

See Note 11 Financial instruments and risk management included in section 9.1 of this report for Mylan’s use of derivative
instruments in managing financial risks.

4.2 Risk factors

4.2.1 General

We operate in a complex and rapidly changing environment that involves risks, many of which are beyond our control. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or share price could be materially affected by any of the risks described
in Section 4.2 of this report, if they occur, or by other factors not currently known to us, or not currently considered to be material.
These risk factors should be read in conjunction with the other information in this report, as well as our filings with the SEC.
4.2.2  Summary of key risk factors

Some but not all of the key risks related to Mylan and its business include the following. See section 4.2.3 of this report for

additional detail and other risks. We urge shareholders to review all of section 4.2 for a complete understanding of all applicable
risk factors.

*  Our strategic initiatives may not achieve all intended benefits.
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We may be adversely affected by significant scrutiny from third parties, including governments, or negative
publicity with respect to matters relating to our products, pricing practices and other matters.

We have and may continue to experience pressure on the pricing of and reimbursements for certain of our
products due to consolidation among purchasers or social and political pressure to lower the cost of drugs.
Current and changing economic conditions may adversely affect our industry, business, partners and suppliers.
A relatively small group of products may represent a significant portion of our revenues, net sales, gross profit,
or net earnings from time to time.

The pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated and we face significant costs and uncertainties associated with
our efforts to comply with applicable laws and regulations.

The use of legal, regulatory, and legislative strategies by both brand and generic competitors, including but not
limited to “authorized generics” and regulatory petitions, as well as the potential impact of proposed and newly
enacted legislation, may increase costs associated with the introduction or marketing of our generic products,
could delay or prevent such introduction, and could significantly reduce our revenue and profit.

If we are unable to successfully introduce new products in a timely manner, our future revenue and profitability
may be adversely affected.

We expend a significant amount of resources on R&D efforts that may not lead to successful product
introductions.

The development, approval process, manufacture and commercialization of biosimilar products involve unique
challenges and uncertainties, and our failure to successfully introduce biosimilar products could have a negative
impact on our business and future operating results.

Our business is highly dependent upon market perceptions of us, our products, and the safety and quality of our
products, and may be adversely impacted by negative publicity or findings.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales to a limited number of customers.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilities and certain third-party suppliers produce a substantial
portion of our API and products, some of which require a highly exacting and complex manufacturing process.
Our competitors, including branded pharmaceutical companies, and/or other third parties, may allege that we
or our suppliers are infringing upon their intellectual property, including in an “at risk launch” situation, which
could result in substantial monetary damages, impact our ability to launch a product and/or our ability to continue
marketing a product, and/or force us to expend substantial resources in resulting litigation, the outcome of which
is uncertain.

We rely on the effectiveness of our patents, confidentiality agreements and other measures to protect our
intellectual property rights.

We are involved in various legal proceedings and certain government inquiries and may experience unfavorable
outcomes of such proceedings or inquiries.

If we fail to comply with our corporate integrity agreement, we could be subject to substantial penalties and
exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology and our systems and infrastructure face certain risks,
including cybersecurity and data leakage risks.

Increasing scrutiny and changing expectations from customers, regulators, investors, and other stakeholders
with respect to our environmental, social and governance practices may impose additional costs on us or expose
us to new or additional risks.

We expect to be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Any changes to the tax
laws or changes in other laws (including under applicable income tax treaties), regulations, rules, or
interpretations thereof applicable to inverted companies and their affiliates, whether enacted before or after the
EPD Business Acquisition, may materially adversely affect us.

The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as anon-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS and U.S. GAAP. Any future changes in estimates, judgments
and assumptions used or necessary revisions to prior estimates, judgments or assumptions or changes in
accounting standards could lead to a restatement or revision to previously issued financial statements.

4.2.3 Risk factors

Our risk factors are organized into four categories: Strategic, Operational, Compliance and Finance.

Strategic Risks
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We do not anticipate paying dividends for the foreseeable future, and our shareholders must rely on increases in the trading
price of our ordinary shares to obtain a return on their investment.

Mylan does not anticipate paying dividends in the immediate future. We anticipate that we will retain all earnings, if any, to support
our operations and to opportunistically pursue additional transactions to deliver additional shareholder value. Any future
determination as to the payment of dividends will, subject to Dutch law requirements, be at the sole discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on our financial position, results of operations, capital requirements, and other factors our board of
directors deems relevant at that time. Holders of Mylan’s ordinary shares must rely on increases in the trading price of their shares
to obtain a return on their investment in the foreseeable future.

The market price of our ordinary shares may be volatile, and the value of your investment could materially decline.

Investors who hold Mylan’s ordinary shares may not be able to sell their shares at or above the price at which they purchased such
shares. The share price of Mylan’s ordinary shares fluctuates materially from time to time, including a significant decline throughout
2018, and we cannot predict the price of our ordinary shares at any given time. The risks described herein could cause the price
of our ordinary shares to fluctuate materially. In addition, the stock market in general, including the market for pharmaceutical
companies, has experienced price and volume fluctuations. These broad market and industry factors may materially harm the
market price of our ordinary shares, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, the price of our ordinary shares may be
affected by the valuations and recommendations of the analysts who cover us, and if our results do not meet the analysts’ forecasts
and expectations, the price of our ordinary shares could decline as aresult of analysts lowering their valuations and recommendations
or otherwise. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market and/or in the price of a company’s stock, securities class-
action litigation has been instituted against us and other companies. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion
of management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price. We or our sharcholders also may offer or sell our ordinary shares or securities
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for ordinary shares. An increase in the number of ordinary shares issued and
outstanding and the possibility of sales of ordinary shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for ordinary
shares may depress the future trading price of our ordinary shares. In addition, if additional offerings occur, the voting power of
our then existing shareholders may be diluted.

Our strategic initiatives may not achieve all intended benefits.

There can be no assurance that our strategic initiatives will achieve their intended effects. We continually evaluate various strategic
transactions and business arrangements, including acquisitions, asset purchases, partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings,
divestitures, investments, market selection and market strategy on an ongoing basis. These transactions and arrangements may be
material both from a strategic and financial perspective. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully complete
the integration of acquired businesses or assets with Mylan, or otherwise fully realize the expected benefits of any transactions or
restructurings. Furthermore, although our expectation is to engage in asset sales only if they advance or otherwise support our
overall strategy, any such sale could reduce the size or scope of our business, our market share in particular markets or our
opportunities with respect to certain markets, products or therapeutic categories.

The difficulties of achieving the benefits of strategic initiatives include, among others:

» the diversion of management’s attention to integration matters and restructuring activities;

» difficulties in achieving anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies, business opportunities, and growth prospects from
restructurings or business or asset combinations within the expected timeframe or at all;

» difficulties in the integration of operations and information technology (“IT”) applications, including enterprise resource
planning (“ERP”) systems;

» difficulties in the integration of employees;

» difficulties in managing the operations of a larger or more complex company;

»  challenges in keeping existing customers and obtaining new customers;

» challenges in reducing reliance on transition services prior to the expiration of any period in which such services are
provided by a transaction counterparty;

» difficulties in obtaining a favorable price for any divestiture, in a timely manner or at all;

» challenges in moving production facilities, including obtaining the consent of customers or regulatory authorities;

»  operational or financial difficulties that would not have occurred if acquired companies, businesses, or assets continued
operating in their former structures;

»  challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel; and

» the complexities of managing relationships with transaction counterparties and other business partners, including service
agreements, development and manufacturing relationships, and license arrangements.
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The overall execution of a strategic initiative, including the integration of a business or asset or restructuring activities, may result
in material unanticipated problems, expenses, liabilities, competitive responses, loss of customer relationships, and diversion of
management’s attention, among other potential adverse consequences, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We may be adversely affected by significant scrutiny from third parties, including governments, or negative publicity with
respect to matters relating to our products, pricing practices and other matters.

The Company has been subject to significant press coverage and scrutiny from third parties, including regulators, legislative bodies
and enforcement agencies, with respect to matters relating to our business, pricing practices, and other matters. This coverage and
public scrutiny have included assertions of wrongdoing against the Company which, regardless of the factual or legal basis for
such assertions, have resulted in, and may continue to result in, investigations, and calls for investigations, by governmental
agencies at both the federal and state levels, claims brought against the Company by governmental agencies or private parties, and
regulators taking other measures that could have a negative effect on the Company’s business. For example, both the U.S. House
of Representatives and the U.S. Senate have conducted hearings with respect to pharmaceutical drug pricing practices and alleged
anti-competitive behavior by pharmaceutical companies, and additional hearings are scheduled. Ongoing focus on these issues
has in the past led and in the future could lead to investigations of price increases and other business practices of specific
pharmaceutical companies, including Mylan. It is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of any such investigations or claims
or what other investigations or lawsuits or regulatory responses may result from such assertions.

There has also recently been intense publicity regarding the pricing of pharmaceuticals more generally, including publicity and
pressure resulting from prices charged by competitors and peer companies for new products as well as price increases by competitors
and peer companies on older products that some have deemed excessive. We have experienced and may continue to experience
downward pricing pressure on the price of certain of our products due to social or political pressure to lower the cost of drugs,
which could reduce our revenue and future profitability.

Any of the above developments could result in reputational harm and reduced market acceptance and demand for our products,
could harm our ability to market our products in the future, could cause us to incur significant expense, could cause our senior
management to be distracted from execution of our business strategy, and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
reputation, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price.

We have and may continue to experience pressure on the pricing of and reimbursements for certain of our products due to
consolidation among purchasers or social and political pressure to lower the cost of drugs.

We operate in a challenging environment, with significant pressures on the pricing of our products and on our ability to obtain and
maintain satisfactory rates of reimbursement for our products by governments, insurers and other payors. The growth of overall
healthcare costs has led governments and payors to implement new measures to control healthcare spending. As a result, we face
numerous cost-containment measures by governments and other payors, including certain government-imposed industry-wide
price reductions, mandatory pricing systems, reference pricing systems, tender systems, shifting of the payment burden to patients
through higher co-payments, and requirements for increased transparency on pricing. In the U.S., certain of these pressures are
further compounded by increasing consolidation among wholesalers, retailer drug chains, pharmacy benefit managers (“PBMs”),
private insurers, managed care organizations and other private payors, which can increase their negotiating power, particularly
with respect to our generic drugs. Please also refer to “A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales to a limited
number of customers.”

There has also been increasing U.S. federal and state legislative and enforcement interest with respect to drug pricing. In particular,
U.S. federal prosecutors have issued subpoenas to pharmaceutical companies, including Mylan, seeking information about their
drug pricing practices, among other issues, and members of the Congress have sought information from certain pharmaceutical
companies, including Mylan, relating to drug-price increases.

In addition, there has been legislation and legislative proposals concerning drug prices and related issues, including the perceived
need to bring more transparency to drug pricing, reviewing the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs,
and reforming government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs. For example, California, Oregon and several other
states have recently implemented legislation requiring pharmaceutical companies to provide greater transparency with respect to
drug prices and price increases and other states are considering similar legislation. This type of legislation, at the federal or state
level, could affect demand for, or pricing of, our products and we cannot predict what, if any, additional legislative developments
may transpire or what the ultimate impact may be.
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Any of the events or developments described above could have a material adverse impact on our business, reputation, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price.

Current and changing economic conditions may adversely affect our industry, business, partners and suppliers.

The global economy continues to experience significant volatility, and the economic environment may become less favorable.
Economic volatility, governmental financial restructuring efforts and evolving deficit and spending reduction programs could
negatively impact the global economy and the pharmaceutical industry. This has led, or could lead, to reduced consumer and
customer spending, reduced or eliminated governmental or third-party payor coverage or reimbursement or reduced spending on
healthcare, including but not limited to pharmaceutical products. While generic drugs present an alternative to higher-priced
branded products, our sales could be negatively impacted if patients forego obtaining healthcare, patients and customers reduce
spending or purchases, or if governments or third-party payors reduce or eliminate coverage or reimbursement amounts for
pharmaceuticals or impose price or other controls adversely impacting the price or availability of pharmaceuticals. In addition,
reduced consumer and customer spending, reduced government or third-party payor coverage or reimbursement, or new government
controls, may drive us and our competitors to decrease prices, may reduce the ability of customers to pay, or may result in reduced
demand for our products. The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our industry, business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We have significant operations globally, which exposes us to the risks inherent in conducting our business internationally.

Our operations extend to numerous countries outside the U.S., including our significant operations in India, and are subject to the
risks inherent in conducting business globally and under the laws, regulations, and customs of various jurisdictions. These risks
include, but are not limited to:

*  compliance with the national and local laws of countries in which we do business, including, but not limited to, data
privacy and protection, import/export and intellectual property protections;

* less established legal and regulatory regimes in certain jurisdictions;

*  compliance with a variety of U.S. laws including, but not limited to, regulations put forth by the U.S. Treasury’s Office
of Foreign Assets Control, the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 and rules relating to the use
of certain “conflict minerals” under Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and the Consumer Protection
Act;

*  changes in laws, regulations, and practices affecting the pharmaceutical industry and the healthcare system, including but
not limited to imports, exports, manufacturing, quality, cost, pricing, reimbursement, approval, inspection, and delivery
of healthcare;

»  changes in policies designed to promote foreign investment, including significant tax incentives, liberalized import and
export duties, and preferential rules on foreign investment and repatriation;

»  differing local product preferences and product requirements;

*  adverse changes in the economies in which we or our partners and suppliers operate as a result of a slowdown in overall
growth, a change in government or economic policies, or financial, political, or social change or instability in such countries
that affects the markets in which we operate, particularly emerging markets;

*  changes in employment laws, wage increases, or rising inflation in the countries in which we or our partners and suppliers
operate;

* supply disruptions and increases in energy and transportation costs;

* increased tariffs on the import or export of our products or API, including on imports from China to the U.S.;

* natural or man-made disasters, including droughts, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes and the impact of climate change in
the countries in which we or our partners and suppliers operate;

* local disturbances, terrorist attacks, riots, social disruption, wars, or regional hostilities in the countries in which we or
our partners and suppliers operate and that could affect the economy, our operations and employees by disrupting operations
and communications, making travel and the conduct of our business more difficult, and/or causing our customers to be
concerned about our ability to meet their needs; and

*  government uncertainty, including as a result of new or changed laws and regulations.

We also face the risk that some of our competitors have more experience with operations in such countries or with international
operations generally and may be able to manage unexpected crises more easily. Moreover, the internal political stability of, or the
relationship between, any country or countries where we conduct business operations may deteriorate. Changes in a country’s
political stability or the state of relations between any such countries are difficult to predict and the political or social stability in
and/or diplomatic relations between any countries in which we or our partners and suppliers do business could meaningfully
deteriorate.
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For example, the formal change in the relationship between the European Union (“EU”) and the U.K. as a result of the U.K.
referendum to leave the EU (“Brexit”) could impact our business. Whether Brexit occurs, as well as its exact structure and timing,
are still being negotiated and therefore the impact remains uncertain. However, in the event Brexit occurs, it could lead to divergent
national laws and regulations, import/export restrictions, and potential changes to intellectual property rights, regulatory approval
requirements and pharmaceutical regulations in the EU and the U.K., which could materially impact the way we conduct our
operations in those markets. In addition, because we are tax resident in the U.K., the U.K. withdrawal from the EU could, depending
on the results of the ongoing negotiations, eliminate the benefit of certain tax treaties and tax-related EU directives, which could
have a material adverse effect on our tax position by, among other effects, subjecting us to withholding taxes on certain intercompany
transactions. It may be time-consuming and expensive for us to alter our internal operations in order to comply with such new or
changing regulations or tax treatments. Any of these effects of Brexit, and others we cannot anticipate, could negatively affect our
business and financial results.

The occurrence of any one or more of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price.

Under EU IFRS business acquisition accounting standards, we recognize the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed,
and any noncontrolling interests in acquired companies generally at their acquisition date fair values and, in each case, separately
from goodwill. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess amount of consideration transferred, which is also
generally measured at fair value, and the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain.
After we complete an acquisition, the following factors could result in material charges and adversely affect our operating results
and may adversely affect our cash flows:

*  costs incurred to combine the operations of companies we acquire, such as transitional employee expenses and employee
retention, redeployment or relocation expenses;

* impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, including acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”);

* amortization of intangible assets acquired;

* areduction in the useful lives of intangible assets acquired;

* identification of or changes to assumed contingent liabilities, including, but not limited to, contingent purchase price
consideration including fair value adjustments, income tax contingencies and other non-income tax contingencies, after
our final determination of the amounts for these contingencies or the conclusion of the measurement period (generally
up to one year from the acquisition date), whichever comes first;

*  charges to our operating results to eliminate certain duplicative pre-acquisition activities, to restructure our operations or
to reduce our cost structure; and

«  charges to our operating results resulting from expenses incurred to effect the acquisition.

A significant portion of these adjustments could be accounted for as expenses that will decrease our net income and earnings per
share for the periods in which those costs are incurred.

In particular, the amount of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheets is significant as a result
of our acquisitions and other transactions, and may increase further following future potential acquisitions, and we may, from time
to time, sell assets that we determine are not critical to our strategy or execution. Future events or decisions may also lead to asset
impairments and/or related charges. Certain non-cash impairments may result from a change in our strategic goals, business
direction or other factors relating to the overall business environment.

Any such charges could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
shareholders’ equity and/or ordinary share price.

The illegal distribution and sale by third parties of counterfeit versions of our products or of diverted or stolen products could
have a negative impact on our reputation and our business.

The pharmaceutical drug supply has been increasingly challenged by the vulnerability of distribution channels to illegal
counterfeiting and the presence of counterfeit products in a growing number of markets and over the Internet.

Third parties may illegally distribute and sell counterfeit versions of our products that do not meet the rigorous manufacturing and
testing standards that our products undergo. Counterfeit products are frequently unsafe or ineffective and can be potentially life-
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threatening. Counterfeit medicines may contain harmful substances, the wrong dose of API or no API at all. However, to distributors
and users, counterfeit products may be visually indistinguishable from the authentic version.

Reports of adverse reactions to counterfeit drugs or increased levels of counterfeiting could materially affect patient confidence
in the authentic product. It is possible that adverse events caused by unsafe counterfeit products will mistakenly be attributed to
the authentic product. In addition, unauthorized diversions of products or thefts of inventory at warehouses, plants, or while in-
transit, which are not properly stored, or which are sold through unauthorized channels, could adversely impact patient safety, our
reputation, and our business.

Public loss of confidence in the integrity of pharmaceutical products as a result of counterfeiting, diversion, or theft could have a
material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share
price.

We face vigorous competition that threatens the commercial acceptance and pricing of our products.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive. We face competition from other pharmaceutical manufacturers globally, some
of whom are significantly larger than we are. Our competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or
superior to our own for many reasons, including but not limited to the possibility that they may have:

*  proprietary processes or delivery systems;

* larger or more productive R&D and marketing staff;

* larger or more efficient production capabilities in a particular therapeutic area;

*  more experience in preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

e more products; or

* more experience in developing new drugs and greater financial resources, particularly with regard to manufacturers of
branded products.

We also face increasing competition from lower-cost generic products and other branded products. Certain of our products are not
protected by patent rights or have limited patent life and will soon lose patent protection. Loss of patent protection for a product
typically is followed promptly by the introduction of generic substitutes. As a result, sales of many of these products may decline
or stop growing over time. Various factors may result in the sales of certain of our products declining faster than has been projected.
In addition, legislative proposals emerge from time to time in various jurisdictions to further encourage the early and rapid approval
of generic drugs. Any such proposal that is enacted into law could increase competition and worsen this negative effect on our
sales.

Competitors’ products may also be safer, more effective, more effectively marketed or sold, or have lower prices or better
performance features than ours. We cannot predict with certainty the timing or impact of competitors’ products. PBMs and other
pharmaceutical manufacturers may utilize contracting strategies that could decrease generic utilization and negatively impact our
products. In addition, our sales may suffer as a result of changes in consumer demand for our products, including those related to
fluctuations in consumer buying patterns tied to seasonality, importation by consumers or the introduction of new products by
competitors.

The occurrence of any of the above risks could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

A relatively small group of products may represent a significant portion of our revenues, net sales, gross profit, or net earnings
from time to time.

Sales of a limited number of our products from time to time represent a significant portion of our revenues, net sales, gross profit,
and net earnings. For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, Mylan’s top ten products in terms of sales, in the aggregate,
represented approximately 20% and 21%, respectively, of the Company’s net sales. If the volume or pricing of our largest selling
products declines in the future, our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price
could be materially adversely affected.

Our business could be negatively affected by the performance of our third-party collaboration partners.

We have entered into strategic alliances with partners to develop, manufacture, market and/or distribute certain products, and/or
certain components of our products, in various markets. We commit substantial effort, funds and other resources to these various
collaborations, including with respect to the development of biosimilar products. There is a risk that the investments made by us
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in these collaborative arrangements will not generate financial returns. While we believe our relationships with our partners
generally are successful, disputes or conflicting priorities and regulatory or legal intervention could be a source of delay or
uncertainty as to the expected benefits of the collaboration. In addition, we enter into agreements with our collaboration partners
that provide for certain services, as well as cross manufacturing, development and licensing arrangements. A failure or inability
of our partners to fulfill their collaboration obligations, or the occurrence of any of the risks above, could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We may experience reductions in the levels of reimbursement for pharmaceutical products by governmental authorities, health
maintenance organizations (“HMOs”), or other third-party payors. In addition, the use of tender systems and other forms of
price control, including legislative or regulatory programs impacting pharmaceutical prices, could reduce prices for our products
or reduce our market opportunities.

Various governmental authorities (including, among others, the U.K. National Health Service and the German statutory health
insurance scheme) and private health insurers and other organizations, such as HMOs in the U.S., provide reimbursements or
subsidies to consumers for the cost of certain pharmaceutical products. Demand for our products depends in part on the extent to
which suchreimbursementis available. Inthe U.S., third-party payors increasingly challenge the pricing of pharmaceutical products.
These trends and other trends toward the growth of HMOs, managed healthcare, and legislative healthcare reform create significant
uncertainties regarding the future levels of reimbursement for pharmaceutical products. Further, any reimbursement may be reduced
in the future to the point that market demand for our products and/or our profitability declines. Such a decline could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

In addition, current or future U.S. federal, U.S. state or other countries’ laws and regulations may influence the prices of drugs
and, therefore, could adversely affect the payments we receive for our products. For example, existing programs in certain U.S.
states seek to broadly set prices within those states through the regulation and administration of the sale of prescription drugs.
Expansion of these programs, and, in particular, changes to state Medicare and/or Medicaid programs, or changes required in the
way in which Medicare payment rates are set and/or the way Medicaid rebates are calculated, could adversely affect the payment
we receive for our products. In order to control expenditure on pharmaceuticals, most member states in the EU regulate the pricing
of products and, in some cases, limit the range of different forms of pharmaceuticals available for prescription by national health
services. These controls can result in considerable price differences between member states.

Several countries in which we operate have implemented, or plan to or may implement, government mandated price reductions
and/or other controls. When such price controls occur, pharmaceutical companies have generally experienced significant declines
in revenues and profitability and uncertainties continue to exist within the market after the price decrease. Such price reductions
or controls could have an adverse effect on our business, and as uncertainties are resolved or if other countries in which we operate
enact similar measures, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and/or ordinary share price.

A number of markets in which we operate have also implemented or may implement tender systems for generic pharmaceuticals
in an effort to lower prices. Under such tender systems, manufacturers submit bids which establish prices for generic pharmaceutical
products. Upon winning the tender, the winning company will receive a preferential reimbursement for a period of time. The tender
system often results in companies underbidding one another by proposing low pricing in order to win the tender. Other markets
may also consider the implementation of a tender system or other forms of price controls. Even if a tender system is ultimately
not implemented, the anticipation of such could result in price reductions.

Failing to win tenders, or the implementation of similar systems or other forms of price controls in other markets leading to further
price declines, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or
ordinary share price.

Healthcare reform legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Inrecent years, there have been numerous initiatives on the federal and state levels for comprehensive reforms affecting the payment
for, the availability of and reimbursement for, healthcare services in the U.S., and it is likely that Congress and state legislatures
and health agencies will continue to focus on healthcare reform in the future. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
(“PPACA”)and The Health Care and Education and Reconciliation Act of2010 (H.R. 4872), which amends the PPACA (collectively,
the “Health Reform Laws”), were signed into law in March 2010. While the Health Reform Laws may increase the number of
patients who have insurance coverage for our products, they also include provisions such as the assessment of a pharmaceutical
manufacturer fee and an increase in the amount of rebates that manufacturers pay for coverage of their drugs by Medicaid programs.
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We are unable to predict the future course of federal or state healthcare legislation. The Health Reform Laws and further changes
in the law or regulatory framework that reduce our revenues or increase our costs could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Additionally, we encounter similar regulatory and legislative issues in most other countries. In the EU and some other international
markets, the government provides healthcare at low cost to consumers and regulates pharmaceutical prices, patient eligibility and/
or reimbursement levels to control costs for the government-sponsored healthcare system. These systems of price regulations may
lead to inconsistent and lower prices. Within the EU and in other countries, the availability of our products in some markets at
lower prices undermines our sales in other markets with higher prices. Additionally, certain countries set prices by reference to
the prices in other countries where our products are marketed. Thus, our inability to secure adequate prices in a particular country
may also impair our ability to obtain acceptable prices in existing and potential new markets, and may create the opportunity for
third party cross border trade.

Significant additional reforms to the U.S. healthcare system, or to the healthcare systems of other markets in which we operate,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share
price.

Provisions in our governance arrangements or that are otherwise available under Dutch law could discourage, delay, or prevent
a change in control of us and may affect the market price of our ordinary shares.

Some provisions of our governance arrangements that are available under Dutch law, such as our grant to a Dutch foundation
(stichting) of a call option to acquire preferred shares to safeguard the interests of the Company, its businesses and its stakeholders
against threats to our strategy, mission, independence, continuity and/or identity, may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in
control of us, even if such a change in control is sought by our shareholders.

An inability to effectively deal with and respond to unsolicited business proposals could limit our future growth and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We have in the past and may in the future receive proposals to acquire all of our outstanding shares or similar unsolicited business
proposals. Such unsolicited business proposals may not be consistent with or enhancing to our financial, operational, or market
strategies and may not further the interests of our shareholders and other stakeholders, including employees, creditors, customers,
suppliers, relevant patient populations and communities in which Mylan operates and may jeopardize the sustainable success of
Mylan’s business. However, the evaluation of and response to such unsolicited business proposals may nevertheless distract
management and/or disrupt our ongoing businesses, which may adversely affect our relationships with customers, employees,
partners, suppliers, regulators, and others with whom we have business or other dealings.

The expansion of social media platforms presents new risks and challenges.

To the extent that we seek to use social media tools as a means to communicate about our products and/or business, there are
uncertainties as to the rules that apply to such communications, or as to the interpretations that authorities will apply to the rules
that exist. As a result, despite our efforts to monitor evolving social media communication guidelines and comply with applicable
rules, there is risk that our use of social media for such purposes may cause us to be found in violation of them. Our employees
may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media tools in ways that may not be aligned with our social media strategy,
may give rise to liability, or could lead to the loss of material non-public information, trade secrets or other intellectual property,
or public exposure of personal information (including sensitive personal information) of our employees, clinical trial patients,
customers, and others. In addition, negative posts or comments about us on any social media website could damage our reputation.
Any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Operational Risks

Our failure to comply with applicable environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations worldwide could
adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We are subject to various U.S. federal, state, and local and non-U.S. laws and regulations concerning, among other things, the
environment, climate change, regulation of chemicals, employee safety and product safety. These requirements include regulation
of the handling, manufacture, transportation, storage, use and disposal of materials, including the discharge of hazardous materials
and pollutants into the environment. In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to risks relating to possible releases of
hazardous substances into the environment, which could cause environmental or property damage or personal injuries, and which
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could result in (i) our noncompliance with such environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations and (ii)
regulatory enforcement actions or claims for personal injury and property damage against us. If an unapproved or illegal
environmental discharge occurs, or if we discover contamination caused by prior operations, including by prior owners and operators
of properties we acquire, we could be liable for cleanup obligations, damages and fines. The substantial unexpected costs we may
incur could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary
share price. In addition, our environmental capital expenditures and costs for environmental compliance may increase substantially
in the future as a result of changes in environmental laws and regulations, the development and manufacturing of a new product
or increased development or manufacturing activities at any of our facilities. We may be required to expend significant funds and
our manufacturing activities could be delayed or suspended, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

The pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated, and we face significant costs and uncertainties associated with our efforts
to comply with applicable laws and regulations.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various governmental authorities. For instance, we must comply with
applicable laws and requirements of the FDA and other regulatory agencies, including foreign authorities, in our other markets
with respect to the research, development, manufacture, quality, safety, effectiveness, approval, labeling, tracking, tracing,
authentication, storage, record-keeping, reporting, pharmacovigilance, sale, distribution, import, export, marketing, advertising,
and promotion of pharmaceutical products. We are committed to conducting our business, including the sales and marketing of
our products, in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. These laws and regulations, however, are numerous and
complex and it is possible that a governmental authority may challenge our activities, or that an employee or agent could violate
these laws and regulations without our knowledge. Failure to comply with regulations of the FDA and other U.S. and foreign
regulators could result in a range of consequences, including, but not limited to, fines, penalties, disgorgement, unanticipated
compliance expenditures, suspension of review of applications or other submissions, rejection or delay in approval of applications,
recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or distribution, our inability to sell products, the return
by customers of our products, injunctions, and/or criminal prosecution. Under certain circumstances, a regulator may also have
the authority to revoke or vary previously granted drug approvals.

The safety profile of any product will continue to be closely monitored by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities
after approval. If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities become aware of new safety information about any of our
marketed or investigational products, those authorities may require labeling changes, establishment of a risk evaluation and
mitigation strategy or similar strategy, restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing, or post-approval studies or post-
market surveillance. In addition, we are subject to regulations in various jurisdictions, including the Federal Drug Supply Chain
Security Act in the U.S., the Falsified Medicines Directive in the EU and several other such regulations in other countries that
require us to develop electronic systems to serialize, track, trace and authenticate units of our products through the supply chain
and distribution system. Compliance with these regulations may result in increased expenses for us or impose greater administrative
burdens on our organization, and failure to meet these requirements could result in fines or other penalties.

The FDA and comparable regulatory authorities also regulate the facilities and operational procedures that we use to manufacture
our products. We must register our facilities with the FDA and similar regulators in other countries. Products must be manufactured
in our facilities in accordance with cGMP or similar standards in each territory in which we manufacture. Compliance with such
regulations and with our own quality standards requires substantial expenditures of time, money, and effort in multiple areas,
including training of personnel, record-keeping, production, and quality control and quality assurance. The FDA and other regulatory
authorities, including foreign authorities, periodically inspect our manufacturing facilities for compliance with cGMP or similar
standards in the applicable territory. Regulatory approval to manufacture a drug is granted on a site-specific basis. Failure to comply
with cGMP and other regulatory standards at one of our or our partners’ or suppliers’ manufacturing facilities could result in an
adverse action brought by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, which could result in a receipt of an untitled or warning letter,
fines, penalties, disgorgement, unanticipated compliance expenditures, rejection or delay in approval of applications, suspension
of review of applications or other submissions, suspension of ongoing clinical trials, recall or seizure of products, total or partial
suspension of production and/or distribution, our inability to sell products, the return by customers of our products, orders to
suspend, vary, or withdraw marketing authorizations, injunctions, consent decrees, requirements to modify promotional materials
or issue corrective information to healthcare practitioners, refusal to permit import or export, criminal prosecution and/or other
adverse actions.

If any regulatory body were to delay, withhold, or withdraw approval of an application; require a recall or other adverse product
action; require one of our manufacturing facilities to cease or limit production; or suspend, vary, or withdraw related marketing
authorization, our business could be adversely affected. Delay and cost in obtaining FDA or other regulatory approval to manufacture
at a different facility also could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and/or ordinary share price.
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Although we have established internal quality and regulatory compliance programs and policies, there is no guarantee that these
programs and policies, as currently designed, will meet regulatory agency standards in the future or will prevent instances of non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Additionally, despite efforts at compliance, from time to time we or our partners
receive notices of manufacturing and quality-related observations following inspections by regulatory authorities around the world,
as well as official agency correspondence regarding compliance. For example, on 09 November 2018, the FDA issued a warning
letter with respect to our manufacturing plant in Morgantown, West Virginia. This action resulted from previously disclosed
observations of the plant made by FDA in April 2018. We have implemented comprehensive restructuring and remediation activities
at our Morgantown plant, and the issues raised in the warning letter are being addressed within the context of these activities.
However, we or our partners may receive similar observations and correspondence in the future. If we are unable to resolve these
observations and address regulator’s concerns in a timely fashion, our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and/or ordinary share price could be materially affected.

We utilize controlled substances in certain of our current products and products in development, and therefore must meet the
requirements of the Controlled Substances Act of 1970 and the related regulations administered by the Drug Enforcement Agency
(“DEA”) in the U.S., as well as those of similar laws in other countries where we operate. These laws relate to the manufacture,
shipment, storage, sale, and use of controlled substances. The DEA and other regulatory agencies limit the availability of the
controlled substances used in certain of our current products and products in development and, as a result, our procurement quota
of these active ingredients may not be sufficient to meet commercial demand or complete clinical trials. We must annually apply
to the DEA and similar regulatory agencies for procurement quotas in order to obtain these substances. Any delay or refusal by
the DEA or such similar agencies in establishing our procurement quota for controlled substances could delay or stop our clinical
trials or product launches, or could cause trade inventory disruptions for those products that have already been launched, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share
price.

The use of legal, regulatory, and legislative strategies by both brand and generic competitors, including but not limited to
“authorized generics” and regulatory petitions, as well as the potential impact of proposed and newly enacted legislation, may
increase costs associated with the introduction or marketing of our generic products, could delay or prevent such introduction,
and could significantly reduce our revenue and profit.

Our competitors, both branded and generic, often pursue strategies to prevent or delay generic alternatives to branded products.
These strategies include, but are not limited to:

* entering into agreements whereby other generic companies will begin to market an authorized generic, which is the
approved brand-name drug without the brand-name on its label, at the same time or after generic competition initially
enters the market;

*  launching their own authorized generic product prior to or at the same time or after generic competition initially enters
the market;

*  pricing a branded product at a discount equivalent to generic pricing, as was the case for Copaxone after the launch of
our generic glatiramer acetate products;

« filing petitions with the FDA or other regulatory bodies seeking to prevent or delay approvals, including timing the filings
so as to thwart generic competition by causing delays of our product approvals;

*  contracting strategies among pharmaceutical manufacturers and PBMs that could decrease generic utilization and
negatively impact our product launches;

»  seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstacles that would make it more difficult to demonstrate bioequivalence or to
meet other requirements for approval, and/or to prevent regulatory agency review of applications;

* initiating legislative or other efforts to limit the substitution of generic versions of brand pharmaceuticals;

« filing suits for patent infringement and other claims that may delay or prevent regulatory approval, manufacture, and/or
sale of generic products;

*  introducing “next-generation” products prior to the expiration of market exclusivity for the reference product, which often
materially reduces the demand for the generic or the reference product for which we seek regulatory approval,

*  persuading regulatory bodies to withdraw the approval of brand-name drugs for which the patents are about to expire and
converting the market to another product of the brand company on which longer patent protection exists;

*  obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by conducting clinical trials of brand drugs in pediatric populations or by other
methods; and

» seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for which patent protection is about to expire.

In the U.S., some companies have lobbied Congress for amendments to the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration
Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”) that would give them additional advantages over generic competitors. For example,
although the term of a company’s drug patent can be extended to reflect a portion of the time a new drug application (“NDA”,
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which is filed in the U.S. with the FDA when approval is sought to market a newly developed branded product and, in certain
instances, for a new dosage form, a new delivery system or a new indication for a previously approved drug) is under regulatory
review, some companies have proposed extending the patent term by a full year for each year spent in clinical trials rather than
the one-half year that is currently permitted.

If proposals like these in the U.S., Europe, or in other countries where we or our partners and suppliers operate were to become
effective, or if any other actions by our competitors and other third parties to prevent or delay activities necessary to the approval,
manufacture, or distribution of our products are successful, our entry into the market and our ability to generate revenues associated
with new products may be delayed, reduced, or eliminated, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Ifwe are unable to successfully introduce new products in a timely manner, our future revenue and profitability may be adversely
affected.

Our future revenues and profitability will depend, in part, upon our ability to successfully and timely develop, license, or otherwise
acquire and commercialize new products. Product development is inherently risky, especially for new drugs for which safety and
efficacy have not been established and/or the market is not yet proven as well as for complex generic drugs and biosimilars.
Likewise, product licensing involves inherent risks, including, among others, uncertainties due to matters that may affect the
achievement of milestones, as well as the possibility of contractual disagreements with regard to whether the supply of product
meets certain specifications or terms such as license scope or termination rights. The development and commercialization process,
particularly with regard to new and complex drugs, also requires substantial time, effort and financial resources. We, or a partner,
may not be successful in commercializing such products on a timely basis, or at all, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Before any prescription drug product, including generic drug products, can be marketed, marketing authorization approval is
required by the relevant regulatory authorities and/or national regulatory agencies (for example, the FDA in the U.S. and the EMA
in the EU). The process of obtaining regulatory approval to manufacture and market new branded and generic pharmaceutical
products is rigorous, time consuming, costly, and inherently unpredictable. In addition, these regulatory agencies may be delayed
in reviewing and approving products as a result of lapsed or insufficient funding, insufficient staffing or other factors beyond our
control. As a result of Brexit, the EU has decided to move the headquarters of the EMA from the U.K. to the Netherlands by March
2019, which raises the possibility that any existing and/or new regulatory approval applications in the EU, whether for existing or
new drug products, could be delayed as a result. Any delay in regulatory approval could impact the commercial or financial success
of a product.

Outside the U.S., the approval process may be more or less rigorous, depending on the country, and the time required for approval
may be longer or shorter than that required in the U.S. Bioequivalence, clinical, or other studies conducted in one country may
not be accepted in other countries, the requirements for approval may differ among countries, and the approval of a pharmaceutical
product in one country does not necessarily mean that the product will be approved in another country. We, or a partner or supplier,
may be unable to obtain requisite approvals on a timely basis, or at all, for new products that we may develop, license or otherwise
acquire. Moreover, if we obtain regulatory approval for a drug, it may be limited, for example, with respect to the indicated uses
and delivery methods for which the drug may be marketed, or may include warnings, precautions or contraindications in the
labeling, which could restrict our potential market for the drug. A regulatory approval may also include post-approval study or
risk management requirements that may substantially increase the resources required to market the drug. Also, for products pending
approval, we may obtain raw materials or produce batches of inventory to be used in efficacy and bioequivalence testing, as well
as in anticipation of the product’s launch. In the event that regulatory approval is denied or delayed, we could be exposed to the
risk of this inventory becoming obsolete.

The approval process for generic pharmaceutical products often results in the relevant regulatory agency granting final approval
to a number of generic pharmaceutical products at the time a patent claim for a corresponding branded product or other market
exclusivity expires. This often forces us to face immediate competition when we introduce a generic product into the market.
Additionally, further generic approvals often continue to be granted for a given product subsequent to the initial launch of the
generic product. These circumstances generally result in significantly lower prices, as well as reduced margins, for generic products
compared to branded products. New generic market entrants generally cause continued price, margin, and sales erosion over the
generic product life cycle.

In the U.S., the Hatch-Waxman Act provides for a period of 180 days of generic marketing exclusivity for a “first applicant,” that
is the first submitted Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”, which is filed in the U.S. with the FDA when approval is
sought to market a generic equivalent of a drug product previously approved under an NDA and listed in the FDA publication
entitled Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, popularly known as the “Orange Book” or for a new
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dosage strength for a drug previously approved under an ANDA) containing a certification of invalidity, non-infringement or
unenforceability related to a patent listed with the ANDA'’s reference drug product, commonly referred to as a Paragraph IV
certification. During this exclusivity period, which under certain circumstances may be shared with other ANDAs filed on the
same day, the FDA cannot grant final approval to later-submitted ANDAs for the same generic equivalent. If an ANDA is awarded
180-day exclusivity, the applicant generally enjoys higher market share, net revenues, and gross margin for that generic product.
However, our ability to obtain 180 days of generic marketing exclusivity may be dependent upon our ability to obtain FDA approval
or tentative approval within an applicable time period of the FDA’s acceptance of our ANDA. If we are unable to obtain approval
or tentative approval within that time period, we may risk forfeiture of such marketing exclusivity. By contrast, if we are not a
“first applicant” to challenge a listed patent for such a product, we may lose significant advantages to a competitor with 180-day
exclusivity, even if we obtain FDA approval for our generic drug product. The same would be true in situations where we are
required to share our exclusivity period with other ANDA sponsors with Paragraph IV certifications.

In the EU and other countries and regions, there is no exclusivity period for the first generic product. The European Commission
or national regulatory agencies may grant marketing authorizations to any number of generics.

If we are unable to navigate our products through the approval process in a timely manner, there could be an adverse effect on our
product introduction plans, business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We expend a significant amount of resources on R&D efforts that may not lead to successful product introductions.

Much of our development effort is focused on technically difficult-to-formulate products and/or products that require advanced
manufacturing technology, including our biosimilars program and respiratory platform. We conduct R&D primarily to enable us
to gain approval for, manufacture, and market pharmaceuticals in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. We also partner
with third parties to develop products. Typically, research expenses related to the development of innovative or complex compounds
and the filing of marketing authorization applications for innovative and complex compounds (such as NDAs and biosimilar
applications in the U.S.) are significantly greater than those expenses associated with the development of and filing of marketing
authorization applications for most generic products (such as ANDAs in the U.S. and abridged applications in Europe). As we and
our partners continue to develop new and/or complex products, our research expenses will likely increase. Because of the inherent
risk associated with R&D efforts in our industry, including the high cost and uncertainty of conducting clinical trials (where
required) particularly with respect to new and/or complex drugs, our, or a partner’s, R&D expenditures may not result in the
successful introduction of new pharmaceutical products approved by the relevant regulatory bodies. Also, after we submit a
marketing authorization application for anew compound or generic product, the relevant regulatory authority may change standards
and/or request that we conduct additional studies or evaluations and, as a result, we may incur approval delays as well as R&D
costs in excess of what we anticipated.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at
any time during the clinical trial process. We or our partners may experience delays in our ongoing or future clinical trials, and
we do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin or enroll subjects on time, need to be redesigned, or be completed on
schedule, if at all.

Clinical trials may be delayed, suspended or prematurely terminated for a variety of reasons. If we experience delays in the
completion of, or the termination of, any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates
will be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed. In addition,
any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval
process, and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may harm our
business, financial condition and prospects significantly. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the
commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product
candidates.

Finally, we cannot be certain that any investment made in developing products will be recovered, even if we are successful in
commercialization. To the extent that we expend significant resources on R&D efforts and are not able, ultimately, to introduce
successful new and/or complex products as a result of those efforts, there could be a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Even if our products in development receive regulatory approval, such products may not achieve expected levels of market
acceptance.

Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approvals for our new products, the success of those products is dependent upon market
acceptance. Levels of market acceptance for our products could be impacted by several factors, including but not limited to:
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« the availability, perceived advantages, and relative safety and efficacy of alternative products from our competitors;
»  the degree to which the approved labeling supports promotional initiatives for commercial success;

» the prices of our products relative to those of our competitors;

* the timing of our market entry;

» the effectiveness of our marketing, sales, and distribution strategy and operations; and

*  other competitor actions, including legal actions.

Additionally, studies of the proper utilization, safety, and efficacy of pharmaceutical products are being conducted by the industry,
government agencies, and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into
question the utilization, safety, and efficacy of previously marketed as well as future products. In some cases, such studies have
resulted, and may in the future result, in the discontinuation or variation of product marketing authorizations or requirements for
risk management programs, such as a patient registry. Any of these events could adversely affect our profitability, business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

The development, approval process, manufacture and commercialization of biosimilar products involve unique challenges and
uncertainties, and our failure to successfully introduce biosimilar products could have a negative impact on our business and
future operating results.

We and our partners and suppliers are actively working to develop and commercialize biosimilar products. Although the Biologics
Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 (“BPCIA”) established a framework for the review and approval of biosimilar
products and the FDA has begun to review and approve biosimilar product applications, there continues to be significant uncertainty
regarding the regulatory pathway in the U.S., with the FDA continuing to issue and revise guidance related to its interpretation
and implementation of the BPCIA. There is also uncertainty regarding the pathway to obtain approval for biosimilar products in
other countries as well as uncertainty regarding the commercial pathway to successfully market and sell such products.

Moreover, biosimilar products generally involve extensive patent clearances and often involve patent infringement litigation related
to multiple patents, which could delay or prevent the commercial launch of a biosimilar product for many years. If we are unable
to obtain FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authority approval for our products, we will be unable to market them. In addition,
the development and manufacture of biosimilars pose unique challenges related to the supply of the materials needed to manufacture
biosimilars. Access to and the supply of necessary biological materials may be limited, and government regulations restrict access
to and regulate the transport and use of such materials.

Even if our biosimilar products are approved for marketing, the products may not be commercially successful, may require more
time than expected to achieve market acceptance, and may not generate profits in amounts that are sufficient to offset the amount
invested to obtain such approvals. Market success of biosimilar products will depend on demonstrating to regulators, patients,
physicians and payors (such as insurance companies) that such products are safe and effective yet offer a more competitive price
or other benefit over existing therapies. In addition, manufacturers of biologic products may try to dissuade physicians from
prescribing or accepting biosimilar products. We may not be able to generate future sales of biosimilar products in certain
jurisdictions and may not realize the anticipated benefits of our investments in the development, manufacture and sale of such
products. If our development efforts do not result in the development and timely approval of biosimilar products or if such products,
once developed and approved, are not commercially successful, or upon the occurrence of any of the above risks, our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price could be materially adversely affected.

Our business is highly dependent upon market perceptions of us, our products, and the safety and quality of our products, and
may be adversely impacted by negative publicity or findings.

Market perceptions of us are very important to our business, especially market perceptions of our company, products and the safety
and quality of our products. If we, our partners and suppliers, or our products suffer from negative publicity, or if any of our
products or similar products which other companies distribute are subject to market withdrawal or recall or are proven to be, or
are claimed to be, ineffective or harmful to consumers, then this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price. Also, because we are dependent on market perceptions,
negative publicity associated with product quality, patient illness, or other adverse effects resulting from, or perceived to be resulting
from, our products, or our partners’ and suppliers’ manufacturing facilities, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales to a limited number of customers.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales to a limited number of customers. If we were to experience a significant
reduction in or loss of business with one or more such customers, or if one or more such customers were to experience difficulty
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in paying us on a timely basis, our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price could
be materially adversely affected.

In addition, a significant amount of our sales are to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers and retail drug chains. These
customers represent an essential part of the distribution chain of generic pharmaceutical products. Drug wholesalers and retail
drug chains have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant consolidation. This consolidation has resulted in these
groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and, consequently, increasing the product pricing pressures facing our business.
We expect this trend of increased pricing pressures to continue. Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing
independent retail pharmacies and the prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions increases
the negotiating power of these groups, enabling them to attempt to extract price discounts, rebates, and other restrictive pricing
terms on our products. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, Mylan’s consolidated net sales to its three largest customers were
approximately: 8% and10%, respectively, to Cardinal Health, Inc.; 12% and 13%, respectively, to McKesson Corporation; and
8% and 8%, respectively, to AmerisourceBergen Corporation.

The supply of API into Europe may be negatively affected by recent regulations promulgated by the EU.

All API imported into the EU has needed to be certified as complying with the good manufacturing practice standards established
by the EU laws and guidance, as stipulated by the International Conference for Harmonization. These regulations place the
certification requirement on the regulatory bodies of the exporting countries. Accordingly, the national regulatory authorities of
each exporting country must: (i) ensure that all manufacturing plants within their borders that export API into the EU comply with
EU manufacturing standards and (ii) for each API exported, present a written document confirming that the exporting plant conforms
to EU manufacturing standards. The imposition of this responsibility on the governments of the nations exporting an API may
cause delays in delivery or shortages of an API necessary to manufacture our products, as certain governments may not be willing
or able to comply with the regulation in a timely fashion, or at all. A shortage in API may prevent us from manufacturing, or cause
us to have to cease manufacture of, certain products, or to incur costs and delays to qualify other suppliers to substitute for those
API manufacturers unable to export. The occurrence of any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilities and certain third-party suppliers produce a substantial portion of our
API and products, some of which require a highly exacting and complex manufacturing process.

A substantial portion of our capacity, as well as our current production, is attributable to a limited number of manufacturing facilities
and certain third-party suppliers. A significant disruption at any one of such facilities within our internal or third-party supply
chain, even on a short-term basis, whether due to the failure of a third-party supplier to fulfill the terms of their agreement with
us, labor disruption, adverse quality or compliance observation, other regulatory action, infringement of brand or other third-party
intellectual property rights, natural disaster, civil or political unrest, export or import restrictions, or other events could impair our
ability to produce and ship products to the market on a timely basis and could, among other consequences, subject us to exposure
to claims from customers. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price. If we or our third-party suppliers’ face significant manufacturing
issues, this could lead to shutdowns or product shortages, or to our being entirely unable to supply certain products to customers
for an extended period of time. Such shortages or shutdowns have led and could continue to lead to significant losses of sales
revenue, third-party litigation, or negative publicity. See also “The pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated, and we face
significant costs and uncertainties associated with our efforts to comply with applicable laws and regulations.”

We purchase certain API and other materials and supplies that we use in our manufacturing operations, as well as certain finished
products, from many different foreign and domestic suppliers. The price of API and other materials and supplies is subject to
volatility, and in certain cases, we have listed only one supplier in our applications with regulatory agencies. There is no guarantee
that we will always have timely, sufficient or affordable access to critical raw materials or finished product supplied by third parties,
even when we have more than one supplier. An increase in the price, or an interruption in the supply, of a single-sourced or any
other raw material, including the relevant API, or in the supply of finished product, could cause our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price to be materially adversely affected. Quality deficiencies in the products
which our suppliers provide, or at their manufacturing facilities, could adversely impact our manufacturing and supply capabilities,
cause supply interruptions, or lead to voluntary market withdrawals or product recalls.

In addition, the manufacture of some of our products is a highly exacting and complex process, due in part to strict regulatory
requirements. Problems may arise during manufacturing at our or our third-party suppliers’ facilities for a variety of reasons,
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including, among others, equipment malfunction, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, problems with raw materials,
natural disasters, power outages, labor unrest, and environmental factors. If problems arise during the production of a batch of
product, that batch of product may have to be discarded. This could, among other things, lead to increased costs, lost revenue,
damage to customer relations, time and expense spent investigating the cause, and, depending on the cause, similar losses with
respect to other batches or products. If problems are not discovered before the product is released to the market, recall and product
liability costs may also be incurred.

If we or one of our suppliers experience any of the problems described above, such problems could have a material adverse effect
on our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Our future success is highly dependent on our continued ability to attract and retain key personnel.

It is important that we attract and retain qualified personnel in order to develop and commercialize new products, manage our
business, and compete effectively. Competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical industry is very intense. If we fail
to attract, develop, incentivize and retain key scientific, technical, commercial, regulatory or management personnel, this could
lead to loss of customers, business disruption, and a decline in revenues, adversely affect the progress of pipeline products, or
otherwise adversely affect our operations. Additionally, while we work to ensure that we have effective plans in place for
management succession, any anticipated or unanticipated management transition could create uncertainty, which could disrupt or
result in changes to our strategy and have a negative impact on our business. While we have employment agreements with certain
key employees in place, their employment for the duration of the agreement is not guaranteed. Current and prospective employees
might also experience uncertainty about their future roles with us following the consummation and integration of recent acquisitions
and potential future transactions, which might adversely affect our ability to retain key managers and other employees. If we are
unsuccessful in retaining our key employees or enforcing certain post-employment contractual provisions such as confidentiality
or non-competition provisions, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We are in the process of enhancing and further developing our global ERP systems and associated business applications, which
could result in business interruptions if we encounter difficulties.

We are enhancing and further developing our global ERP and other business critical IT infrastructure systems and associated
applications to provide more operating efficiencies and effective management of our business and financial operations. Such
changes to ERP systems and related software, and other IT infrastructure carry risks such as cost overruns, project delays and
business interruptions and delays. If we experience a material business interruption as a result of our ERP enhancements, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Compliance Risks

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar worldwide anti-corruption laws,
which impose restrictions on certain conduct and may carry substantial fines and penalties.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions.
These laws generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from engaging in bribery or making other prohibited payments
to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, and some have record keeping requirements. The failure
to comply with these laws could result in substantial criminal and/or monetary penalties. We operate in jurisdictions that have
experienced corruption, bribery, pay-offs and other similar practices from time-to-time and, in certain circumstances, such practices
may be local custom. We have implemented internal control policies and procedures that mandate compliance with these anti-
corruption laws. However, we cannot be certain that these policies and procedures will protect us against liability. There can be
no assurance that our employees or other agents will not engage in such conduct for which we might be held responsible. If our
employees or agents are found to have engaged in such practices, we could suffer severe criminal or civil penalties and other
consequences that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/
or ordinary share price.

Our competitors, including branded pharmaceutical companies, and/or other third parties, may allege that we or our suppliers
are infringing upon their intellectual property, including in an “at risk launch” situation, which could result in substantial
monetary damages, impact our ability to launch a product and/or our ability to continue marketing a product, and/or force us
to expend substantial resources in resulting litigation, the outcome of which is uncertain.

Companies that produce branded pharmaceutical products and other patent holders routinely bring litigation against entities selling
or seeking regulatory approval to manufacture and market generic forms of their branded products, as well as other entities involved
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in the manufacture, supply, and other aspects relating to API and finished pharmaceutical products. These companies and other
patent holders may allege patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights as the basis for filing suit against
an applicant for a generic product as well as others who may be involved in some aspect of research, supply, production, distribution,
testing, packaging or other processes. Litigation often involves significant expense and can delay or prevent introduction or sale
of our generic products. If patents are held valid and infringed by our products in a particular jurisdiction, we and/or our supplier(s)
or partner(s) may, unless we or the supplier(s) or partner(s) could obtain a license from the patent holder, need to cease manufacturing
and other activities, including but not limited to selling in that jurisdiction. We may also need to pay damages, surrender or withdraw
the product, or destroy existing stock in that jurisdiction.

There also may be situations, including, for example, the decision to launch our 40mg/mL glatiramer acetate and Fulphila products,
where we use our business judgment and decide to market, and sell products, directly or through third parties, notwithstanding the
fact that allegations of patent infringement(s) and other third-party rights have not been finally resolved by the courts (i.e., an “at-
risk launch”™). Therisk involved in doing so can be substantial because the remedies available to the owner of a patent for infringement
may include, among other things, a reasonable royalty on sales, damages measured by the profits lost by the patent holder, or by
profits earned by the infringer. If there is a finding by a court of willful infringement, the definition of which is subjective, such
damages may be increased by up to three times. Moreover, because of the discount pricing typically involved with bioequivalent
products, patented branded products generally realize a substantially higher profit margin than generic or biosimilar products. An
adverse decision in a case such as this, or a judicial order preventing us or our suppliers and partners from manufacturing, marketing,
selling, and/or other activities necessary to the manufacture and distribution of our products, could result in substantial penalties,
and/or have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share
price.

We rely on the effectiveness of our patents, confidentiality agreements and other measures to protect our intellectual property
rights.

Our ability to commercialize any branded product successfully will largely depend upon our or any partner’s or supplier’s ability
to obtain and maintain patents and trademarks of sufficient scope to lawfully prevent third parties from developing and/or marketing
infringing products. In the absence of intellectual property or other protection, competitors may adversely affect our branded
products business by independently developing and/or marketing substantially equivalent products. It is also possible that we could
incur substantial costs if we are required to initiate litigation against others to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights.

We have filed and/or own patent filings covering the API or formulation of, methods of making, and/or methods of using, our
branded products and branded product candidates. We may not be issued patents based on patent applications already filed or that
we file in the future. Further, due to other factors that affect patentability, and if patents are issued, they may be insufficient in
scope to cover or otherwise protect our branded products. Patents are national in scope and therefore the issuance of a patent in
one country does not ensure the issuance of a patent in any other country. Furthermore, the patent position of companies in the
pharmaceutical industry generally involves complex legal and factual questions and has been and remains the subject of significant
litigation. Legal standards relating to scope and validity of patent claims are evolving and may differ in various countries. Any
patents we have obtained, or obtain in the future, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Moreover, the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office or any other governmental agency may commence inter partes review or interference proceedings involving,
or consider other challenges to, our patents or patent applications. In addition, branded products often have market viability based
upon the goodwill of the product name, which typically benefits from trademark protection. Our branded products may therefore
also be subject to risks related to the loss of trademark or patent protection or to competition from generic or other branded products.
Challenges can come from other businesses, individuals or governments, and governments could require compulsory licensing of
this intellectual property. Any challenge to, or invalidation or circumvention of, our intellectual property (including patents or
patent applications, copyrights and trademark protection) would be costly, would require significant time and attention of our
management, and could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/
or ordinary share price.

We also rely on trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how, trademarks, regulatory exclusivity and continuing technological
innovation that we seek to protect, in part by confidentiality agreements with licensees, suppliers, employees and consultants.
These measures may not provide adequate protection for our unpatented technology. If these agreements are breached, it is possible
that we will not have adequate remedies. Disputes may arise concerning the ownership of intellectual property or the applicability
of confidentiality agreements. Furthermore, our trade secrets and proprietary technology may otherwise become known or be
independently developed by our competitors or we may not be able to maintain the confidentiality of information relating to such
products. If we are unable to adequately protect our technology, trade secrets or proprietary know-how, or enforce our intellectual
property rights, this could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
and/or ordinary share price.
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Our reporting and payment obligations related to our participation in U.S. federal healthcare programs, including Medicare,
Medicaid and the Department of Veterans Affairs (the “VA”), are complex and often involve subjective decisions that could
change as a result of new business circumstances, new regulations or agency guidance, or advice of legal counsel. Any failure
to comply with those obligations could subject us to investigation, penalties, and sanctions.

U.S. federal laws regarding reporting and payment obligations with respect to a pharmaceutical company’s participation in federal
healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and the VA, are complex. Because our processes for calculating applicable
government prices and the judgments involved in making these calculations involve subjective decisions and complex
methodologies, these calculations are subject to risk of errors and differing interpretations. In addition, they are subject to review
and challenge by the applicable governmental agencies, and it is possible that such reviews could result in changes that may have
material adverse legal, regulatory, or economic consequences.

Pharmaceutical manufacturers that participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, such as Mylan, are required to report certain
pricing data to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), the federal agency that administers the Medicare and
Medicaid programs. This data includes the Average Manufacturer Price (“AMP”) for each of the manufacturer’s covered outpatient
drugs. CMS calculates a type of U.S. federal ceiling on reimbursement rates to pharmacies for multiple source drugs under the
Medicaid program, known as the federal upper limit (“FUL”). Since April 2016, CMS is required to use the weighted average
AMP for pharmaceutically and therapeutically equivalent multiple source drugs to calculate FULSs, instead of the other pricing
data CMS previously used. Although weighted average AMP-based FULs do not reveal Mylan’s individual AMP, publishing a
weighted average AMP available to customers and the public at large could negatively affect our commercial price negotiations.

In addition, a number of state and federal government agencies are conducting investigations of manufacturers’ reporting practices
with respect to Average Wholesale Prices (“AWP”). The government has alleged that reporting of inflated AWP has led to excessive
payments for prescription drugs, and we may be named as a defendant in actions relating to pharmaceutical pricing issues and
whether allegedly improper actions by pharmaceutical manufacturers led to excessive payments by Medicare, Medicaid and/or
the VA.

Any governmental agencies or authorities that have commenced, or may commence, an investigation of us relating to the sales,
marketing, pricing, quality, or manufacturing of pharmaceutical products could seek to impose, based on a claim of violation of
anti-fraud and false claims laws or otherwise, civil and/or criminal sanctions, including fines, penalties, and possible exclusion
from federal healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and/or the VA. Some of the applicable laws may impose liability
even in the absence of specific intent to defraud. Furthermore, should there be ambiguity with regard to how to properly calculate
and report payments - and even in the absence of any such ambiguity - a governmental authority may take a position contrary to
a position we have taken, and may impose or pursue civil and/or criminal sanctions. Governmental agencies may also make changes
inprogram interpretations, requirements or conditions of participation, some of which may have implications for amounts previously
estimated or paid. There can be no assurance that our submissions will not be found by CMS or the VA to be incomplete or incorrect.
Any failure to comply with the above laws and regulations, and any such penalties or sanctions could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We are involved in various legal proceedings and certain government inquiries and may experience unfavorable outcomes of
such proceedings or inquiries.

We are or may be involved in various legal proceedings and certain government inquiries or investigations, including, but not
limited to, patent infringement, product liability, antitrust matters, breach of contract, and claims involving Medicare, Medicaid
and/or VA reimbursements, or laws relating to sales, marketing, and pricing practices, some of which are described in our periodic
reports, that involve claims for, or the possibility of, fines and penalties involving substantial amounts of money or other relief,
including but not limited to civil or criminal fines and penalties and exclusion from participation in various government healthcare-
related programs. With respect to government antitrust enforcement and private plaintiff litigation of so-called “pay for delay”
patent settlements, large verdicts, settlements or government fines are possible, especially in the U.S. and EU. If any of these legal
proceedings or inquiries were to result in an adverse outcome, the impact could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price. Refer to Note 24 Litigation included in section
9.1 in this report for further discussion of litigation matters.

Emerging developments in the U.S. legal landscape relative to the liability of generic pharmaceutical manufacturers for certain
product liabilities claims could increase our exposure litigation costs and damages. Although we maintain a combination of self-
insurance and commercial insurance, no reasonable amount of insurance can fully protect against all risks because of the potential
liability inherent in the business of producing pharmaceuticals for human consumption. To the extent that a loss occurs, depending
on the nature of the loss and the level of insurance coverage maintained, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.
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In addition, in limited circumstances, entities that we have acquired are party to litigation in matters under which we are, or may
be, entitled to indemnification by the previous owners. Even in the case of indemnification, there are risks inherent in such
indemnities and, accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will receive the full benefits of such indemnification, or that we
will not experience an adverse result in a matter that is not indemnified, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

If we fail to comply with our corporate integrity agreement, we could be subject to substantial penalties and exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs.

In August 2017, Mylan Inc. and Mylan Specialty L.P. entered into a Corporate Integrity Agreement (the “CIA”) with the Office
of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG-HHS”). The CIA has a five-year term and requires,
among other things, enhancements to our compliance program, fulfillment of reporting and monitoring obligations, management
certifications and resolutions from Mylan Inc.’s board, as well as that an independent review organization annually review various
matters relating to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, among other things. If we fail to comply with the CIA, the OIG-HHS may
impose substantial monetary penalties or exclude us from federal healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid or the VA,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are increasingly dependent on IT and our systems and infrastructure face certain risks, including cybersecurity and data
leakage risks.

Significant disruptions to our IT systems or breaches of information security could adversely affect our business. We are increasingly
dependent on sophisticated IT systems and infrastructure to operate our business. We also have outsourced significant elements
of our operations to third parties, some of which are outside the U.S., including significant elements of our IT infrastructure, and
as a result we are managing many independent vendor relationships with third parties who may or could have access to our
confidential information. The size and complexity of our IT systems, and those of our third-party vendors with whom we contract,
make such systems potentially vulnerable to service interruptions. In addition, we and our vendors could be susceptible to third-
party attacks on our IT systems. Such attacks are increasingly sophisticated and are made by groups and individuals with a wide
range of motives and expertise, including state and quasi-state actors, criminal groups, “hackers” and others. Any security breach
or other disruption to our or our vendors’ IT infrastructure could also interfere with or disrupt our business operations, including
our manufacturing, distribution, R&D, sales and/or marketing activities.

In the ordinary course of business, we and our vendors collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information
(including trade secrets or other intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information), and it is critical
that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. The size and
complexity of our and our vendors’ systems and the large amounts of confidential information that is present on them also makes
them potentially vulnerable to security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, partners or vendors, or
from attacks by malicious third parties. Maintaining the security, confidentiality and integrity of this confidential information
(including trade secrets or other intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information) is important to
our competitive business position. However, such information can be difficult to protect. While we have taken steps to protect
such information, and to ensure that the third-party vendors on which we rely have taken adequate steps to protect such information,
there can be no assurance that our or our vendors’ efforts will prevent service interruptions or security breaches in our systems or
the unauthorized or inadvertent wrongful use or disclosure of confidential or material non-public information that could adversely
affect our business operations or result in the loss, misappropriation, and/or unauthorized access, use or disclosure of, or the
prevention of access to, confidential information.

A breach of our or our vendors’ security measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure, unapproved dissemination,
misappropriation or misuse of trade secrets, proprietary information, or other confidential information, whether as a result of theft,
hacking, fraud, trickery or other forms of deception, or for any other cause, could enable others to produce competing products,
use our proprietary technology or information, and/or adversely affect our business position. Further, any such interruption, security
breach, or loss, misappropriation, and/or unauthorized access, use or disclosure of confidential information, including personal
information regarding our patients and employees, could result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We are subject to data privacy and security laws and regulations in many different jurisdictions and countries where we do
business, and our or our vendors’ inability to comply could result in fines, penalties, reputational damage, and could impact
the way we operate our business.

We are subject to laws and regulations governing the collection, use and transmission of personal information, including health
information. As the legislative and regulatory landscape for data privacy and protection continues to evolve around the world,
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there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues that may affect our business, including the U.S.’s federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”), the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation
(“GDPR”), and other laws and regulations described below.

In the U.S., we may be subject to state security breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal and
state consumer protections laws which impose requirements for the collection, use, disclosure and transmission of personal
information. Each of these laws are subject to varying interpretations by courts and government agencies, creating complex
compliance issues for us. If we, or the third-party vendors on which we rely, fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations
we could be subject to fines, penalties or sanctions, including criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain individually identifiable
health information from a covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA or for aiding and abetting the
violation of HIPAA.

In addition, EU member states and other jurisdictions have adopted data protection laws and regulations that impose significant
compliance obligations. Implementation of the GDPR in EU member states in May 2018 introduced new data protection
requirements in the EU and established a framework to govern data sharing and collection and related consumer privacy rights.
The GDPR imposed significant compliance obligations, including the implementation of a number of processes and policies around
our data collection and use. In addition, the GDPR includes significant penalties for non-compliance, with fines up to the higher
of €20 million or 4% of total annual worldwide revenue. In general, GDPR, and other local privacy laws, could require adaptation
of our technologies or practices to satisfy local privacy requirements and standards that may be more stringent than in the U.S.

Other countries in which we do business have, or are developing, laws governing the collection, use and transmission of personal
information as well that may affect our business or require us to adapt our technologies or practices. These include Canada and
several Latin American and Asian countries, which have constitutional protections for, or have adopted legislation protecting,
individuals’ personal information. Other countries, including Australia and Japan, have established specific legal requirements for
cross-border transfers of personal information. Some countries, including India, are considering legislation implementing data
protection requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements.

These and similar initiatives could increase the cost of developing, implementing or maintaining our IT systems, require us to
allocate more resources to compliance initiatives or increase our costs. In addition, a failure by us, or our third-party vendors, to
comply with applicable data privacy and security laws could result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us and
could have a material adverse effect on the way we operate our business, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
and/or ordinary share price.

Increasing scrutiny and changing expectations from customers, regulators, investors, and other stakeholders with respect to
our environmental, social and governance practices may impose additional costs on us or expose us to new or additional risks.

Companies are facing increasing scrutiny from customers, regulators, investors, and other stakeholders related to their
environmental, social and governance practices. Investor advocacy groups, investment funds and influential investors are also
increasingly focused on these practices, especially as they relate to the environment, health and safety, supply chain management,
diversity and human rights. Failure to adapt to or comply with regulatory requirements or investor or stakeholder expectations and
standards could negatively impact our reputation and the price of our ordinary shares.

In addition, a number of our customers, including certain government purchasers, have adopted, or may adopt, procurement policies
that include social and environmental requirements, or these customers may seek to include such provisions in their procurement
contract terms and conditions. These social and environmental responsibility provisions and initiatives are subject to change, vary
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and certain elements may be difficult and/or cost prohibitive for us to comply with given the
inherent complexity of our external supply chain and the global scope of our operations. In certain circumstances, in order to meet
the requirements or standards of our customers, we may be obligated to modify our sourcing practices or make other operational
choices which may require additional investments and increase our costs or result in inefficiencies. Alternatively, we may be
ineligible to participate in bids or tenders in certain markets, which may result in lost sales and revenues.

Any of the factors mentioned above, or the perception that we or our suppliers or contract manufacturers have not responded
appropriately to the growing concern for such issues, regardless of whether we are legally required to do so, may damage our
reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations cash flows and/or ordinary

share price.

Finance Risks
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We expect to be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Any changes to the tax laws or changes
in other laws (including under applicable income tax treaties), regulations, rules, or interpretations thereof applicable to inverted
companies and their affiliates, whether enacted before or after the EPD Business Acquisition, may materially adversely affect
us.

Under current U.S. law, we believe that we should not be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a
result of Mylan’s acquisition of Mylan Inc. and the EPD Business (the “EPD Business Acquisition”). Changes to Section 7874 of
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), or to the U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder,
or interpretations thereof, or to other relevant tax laws (including applicable income tax treaties), could affect our status as a non-
U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and the tax consequences to us and our affiliates. Any such changes could
have prospective or retroactive application, and may apply even if enacted or promulgated now that the EPD Business Acquisition
has closed.

If we were to be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or if the relevant tax laws (including applicable
income tax treaties) change, we would be subject to significantly greater U.S. tax liability than currently contemplated as a non-
U.S. corporation or if the relevant tax laws (including applicable income tax treaties) had not changed, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Although we
are not incorporated in the U.S. and expect to be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the IRS
may assert that we should be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As disclosed in the tax footnote
to our financial statements, we have received and responded to various IRS requests for information about the EPD Business
Acquisition and our status as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If we were to be treated as a U.S.
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would be subject to significantly greater U.S. tax liability, beginning 27
February 2015, than currently contemplated as a non-U.S. corporation, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Ifthe intercompany terms of cross border arrangements that we have among our subsidiaries are determined to be inappropriate
or ineffective, our tax liability may increase.

We have potential tax exposures resulting from the varying application of statutes, regulations, and interpretations which include
exposures on intercompany terms of cross-border arrangements among our subsidiaries (including intercompany loans, sales, and
services agreements) in relation to various aspects of our business, including manufacturing, marketing, sales, and delivery
functions. Although we believe our cross-border arrangements among our subsidiaries are based upon internationally accepted
standards and applicable law, tax authorities in various jurisdictions may disagree with and subsequently challenge the amount of
profits taxed in their country, which may result in increased tax liability, including accrued interest and penalties, which would
cause our tax expense to increase and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We may not be able to maintain competitive financial flexibility and our corporate tax rate and could adversely affect us and
our shareholders.

We believe that our structure and operations give us the ability to achieve competitive financial flexibility and a competitive
worldwide effective corporate tax rate. The material assumptions underlying our expected tax rates include the fact that we expect
certain of our businesses will be operated outside of the U.S. and, as such, will be subject to a lower tax rate than operations in
the U.S., which will result in a lower blended worldwide tax rate than we were previously able to achieve. We must also make
assumptions regarding the effect of certain internal reorganization transactions, including various intercompany transactions. We
cannot give any assurance as to what our effective tax rate will be, however, because of, among other reasons, uncertainty regarding
the tax policies of the jurisdictions where we operate, potential changes of laws and interpretations thereof, and the potential for
tax audits or challenges. Our actual effective tax rate may vary from our expectation and that variance may be material. Additionally,
the tax laws of the U.K., the Netherlands and other jurisdictions could change in the future, and such changes could cause a material
change in our effective tax rate.

Any of the factors discussed above could materially increase our overall effective income tax rate and income tax expense and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share

price.
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Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or exposure to additional income tax liabilities and changes in income tax laws
and tax rulings may have a significant adverse impact on our effective tax rate and income tax expense.

We are subject to income taxes in many jurisdictions. Significant analysis and judgment are required in determining our worldwide
provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The final determination of any tax audits or related litigation could be materially different from our
income tax provisions and accruals.

Additionally, changes in the effective tax rate as a result of a change in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory
tax rates, changes in our overall profitability, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the results of audits
and the examination of previously filed tax returns by taxing authorities, and continuing assessments of our tax exposures could
impact our tax liabilities and affect our income tax expense, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We may become taxable in a jurisdiction other than the U.K. and this may increase the aggregate tax burden on us.

Based on our current management structure and current tax laws of the U.S., the U.K., and the Netherlands, as well as applicable
income tax treaties, and current interpretations thereof, the U.K. and the Netherlands competent authorities have determined that
we are tax resident solely in the U.K. for the purposes of the Netherlands-U.K. tax treaty. We have received a binding ruling from
the competent authorities in the U.K. and in the Netherlands confirming this treatment. We will therefore be tax resident solely in
the U.K. so long as the facts and circumstances set forth in the relevant application letters sent to those authorities remain accurate.
Even though we received a binding ruling, the applicable tax laws or interpretations thereof may change, or the assumptions on
which such rulings were based may differ from the facts. As a consequence, we may become a tax resident of a jurisdiction other
than the U.K. As a consequence, our overall effective income tax rate and income tax expense could materially increase, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share
price.

We have a number of clean energy investments which are subject to various risks and uncertainties.

We have invested in clean energy operations capable of producing refined coal that we believe qualify for tax credits under Section
45 ofthe Code. Our ability to claim tax credits under Section 45 of the Code depends upon the operations in which we have invested
satisfying certain ongoing conditions set forth in Section 45 of the Code. These include, among others, the emissions reduction,
“qualifying technology”, and “placed-in-service” requirements of Section 45 of the Code, as well as the requirement that at least
one of the operations’ owners qualifies as a “producer” of refined coal. While we have received some degree of confirmation from
the IRS relating to our ability to claim these tax credits, the IRS could ultimately determine that the operations have not satisfied,
or have not continued to satisfy, the conditions set forth in Section 45 of the Code.

In addition, Congress could modify or repeal Section 45 of the Code and remove the tax credits retroactively. In addition, Section
45 of the Code contains phase out provisions based upon the market price of coal, such that, if the price of coal rises to specified
levels, we could lose some or all of the tax credits we expect to receive from these investments. Finally, when the price of natural
gas or oil declines relative to that of coal, some utilities may choose to burn natural gas or oil instead of coal. Market demand for
coal may also decline as a result of an economic slowdown and a corresponding decline in the use of electricity. If utilities burn
less coal, eliminate coal in the production of electricity or are otherwise unable to operate for an extended period of time, the
availability of the tax credits would also be reduced. During 2017 and 2018, as a result of a decline in current and expected future
production levels at certain of our clean energy facilities, the Company impaired its investment balance and other assets and in
2018 we terminated certain of our clean energy investments. Additional impairments or terminations could occur in the future.

The occurrence of any of the above risks could limit the value of our investment, result in increased costs, materially increase our
tax burden or adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Currency fluctuations and changes in exchange rates could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Although we report our financial results in U.S. Dollars, a significant portion of our revenues, indebtedness and other liabilities
and our costs are denominated in non-U.S. currencies, including among others the Euro, Swedish Krona, Indian Rupee, Japanese
Yen, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, British Pound Sterling and Brazilian Real. Our results of operations and, in some cases,
cash flows, have in the past been and may in the future be adversely affected by certain movements in currency exchange rates.
Defaults or restructurings in other countries could have a similar adverse impact. From time to time, we may implement currency
hedges intended to reduce our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, our hedging strategies may not
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be successful, and any of ourunhedged foreign exchange exposures will continue to be subject to market fluctuations. The occurrence
of any of the above risks could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and/or ordinary share price

We have significant indebtedness, which could lead to adverse consequences or adversely affect our financial position and
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under such indebtedness, and any refinancing of this debt could be at significantly
higher interest rates.

Our level of indebtedness could have important consequences, including but not limited to:

* increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

*  requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make debt service payments, thereby reducing
the availability of cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments and other general
corporate purposes;

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, challenges and opportunities, and changes in our businesses and the
markets in which we operate;

» limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund our working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and debt
service requirements and other financing needs;

* increasing our vulnerability to increases in interest rates in general because a substantial portion of our indebtedness bears
interest at floating rates; and

» placing us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that have less debt.

Our ability to service our indebtedness will depend on our future operating performance and financial results, which will be subject,
in part, to factors beyond our control, including interest rates and general economic, financial and business conditions. If we do
not have sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness, we may need to refinance all or part of our existing indebtedness, borrow
more money or sell securities or assets, some or all of which may not be available to us at acceptable terms or at all. In addition,
we may need to incur additional indebtedness in the future in the ordinary course of business. Although the terms of our credit
agreements and our bond indentures allow us to incur additional debt, this is subject to certain limitations which may preclude us
from incurring the amount of indebtedness we otherwise desire.

In addition, although Mylan expects to maintain an investment grade credit rating, a downgrade in the credit rating of Mylan or
any indebtedness of Mylan or its subsidiaries could increase the cost of further borrowings or refinancings of such indebtedness,
limit access to sources of financing in the future or lead to other adverse consequences.

In addition, if we incur additional debt, the risks described above could intensify. If global credit markets contract, future debt
financing may not be available to us when required or may not be available on acceptable terms or at all, and as a result we may
be unable to grow our business, take advantage of business opportunities, respond to competitive pressures or satisfy our obligations
under our indebtedness. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

Our credit facilities, senior unsecured notes, commercial paper program, other outstanding indebtedness and any additional
indebtedness we incur in the future impose, or may impose, significant operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions
limit our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, make investments, pay certain dividends, prepay other
indebtedness, sell assets, incur certain liens, enter into agreements with our affiliates or restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends, merge or consolidate. In addition, our credit facilities require us to maintain specified financial ratios. A breach of any
of these covenants or our inability to maintain the required financial ratios could result in a default under the related indebtedness.
If a default occurs, the relevant lenders could elect to declare our indebtedness, together with accrued interest and other fees, to
be immediately due and payable. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with EU IFRS and U.S. GAAP. Any future changes in estimates, judgments and assumptions used
or necessary revisions to prior estimates, judgments or assumptions or changes in accounting standards could lead to a
restatement or revision to previously issued financial statements.

The Consolidated and Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in the periodic reports we file with the SEC are
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the financial statements included in this report are prepared in accordance with EU
IFRS. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS and U.S. GAAP involves making estimates, judgments
and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Estimates, judgments and
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assumptions are inherently subject to change in the future and any necessary revisions to prior estimates, judgments or assumptions
could lead to a restatement. Furthermore, although we have recorded reserves for litigation related contingencies based on estimates
of probable future costs, such litigation related contingencies could result in substantial further costs. Also, any new or revised
accounting standards may require adjustments to previously issued financial statements. Any such changes could result in
corresponding changes to the amounts of liabilities, revenues, expenses and income.

On 17 August 2017, the Company announced that its subsidiaries, Mylan Inc. and Mylan Specialty L.P., signed an agreement with
the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") and two relators finalizing the $465 million settlement, plus interest, with the DOJ and
other government agencies related to the classification of the EpiPen® Auto-Injector for purposes of the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program that Mylan had agreed to the terms of on 07 October 2016 (the “Medicaid Drug Rebate Program Settlement”). On 25
April 2017, Mylan received a comment letter from the staff of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance with respect to Mylan’s
Annual Reporton Form 10-K for the year ended 31 December 2016, requesting information regarding Mylan’s accounting treatment
of the $465 million Medicaid Drug Rebate Program Settlement with the DOJ, including with respect to the determinations that
the settlement amount should be recorded as a charge against earnings in the third quarter of 2016 rather than against any earlier
periods, and that the settlement amount should be classified as an expense rather than a reduction of revenue.

Any of the changes discussed above could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.

We must maintain adequate internal controls and be able to provide an assertion as to the effectiveness of such controls on an
annual basis.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reasonable assurance with respect to our financial reports. We spend a
substantial amount of management and other employee time and resources to comply with laws, regulations and standards relating
to corporate governance and public disclosure. In the U.S.; such regulations include the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, SEC
regulations and the NASDAAQ listing standards. In particular, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires management’s
annual review and evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting and attestation as to the effectiveness of these controls
by our independent registered public accounting firm. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we may not be
able to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting. Additionally,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the
possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. In addition,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk
that the control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, including any failure to implement required
new or improved controls, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and/or ordinary share price.

5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
51 Dutch Corporate Governance Code

Mylan is committed to good corporate governance and has implemented a robust governance structure that the Board believes
remains most appropriate for the Company. For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
2016 (the “DCGC”) applies to Mylan. The text of the DCGC is publicly available on the website of the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code Monitoring Committee: http://www.mccg.nl.

As Mylan's ordinary shares are traded on NASDAQ, Mylan complies with the applicable listing standards of NASDAQ and other
U.S. securities laws that apply to it. In addition, Mylan complies with the relevant principles and best practice provisions of the
DCGC (which are not binding, but based on a “comply or explain” principle), except for the following:

Audit Committee s role (best practice provision 1.5.1)

Although the Audit Committee considers aspects of Mylan's financing transactions, Mylan's Finance Committee has been
designated by the Board with responsibility, as requested by Mylan's chairman (the “Chairman”) or the Board, for reviewing,
recommending, and/or overseeing approved or potential material business transactions, including but not limited to sources of
potential financing and the implementation of such financing (consistent with common practice in the U.S.). Certain members of
Mylan’s Audit Committee also are members of the Finance Committee.
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Director terms (best practice provisions 2.2.2 and 2.2.4)

Consistent with corporate practice in the U.S., the trading jurisdiction of our ordinary shares, all Board members are re-elected
annually. Therefore, there is no need for a retirement schedule.

On the same basis, as well as for the broader interests of the Company and its stakeholders, the Board does not believe that directors
should be subject to term limits. The Board values the increasing insight and experience which a director is able to develop over
a period of time, enabling an increasing contribution to the Board and the interests of our stakeholders. However, re-nomination
to the Board is based on each director’s performance and contribution and is not automatic.

The Board has continued to refresh itself over the past decade, adding eight of its current twelve directors during that timeframe,
including six in the past five years and two last year.

Remuneration (best practice provisions 3.1.2, 3.2.3, 3.3.2 and 3.3.3)

Consistent with Mylan's historical practices and market practice in the U.S., the trading jurisdiction of our ordinary shares, and in
order to further support Mylan's ability to attract and retain the right highly qualified candidates for a Board position:

*  Options awarded to Mylan's executive directors as part of their remuneration are subject to time-based vesting, and vest
in three equal annual instalments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of granting, subject to accelerated vesting
at any time in connection with certain terminations of the executive director’s employment with Mylan. Mylan's executive
directors are, however, subject to stock ownership requirements, expressed as a multiple of base salary, which we believe
meets the underlying principle of the relevant best practice provision of the DCGC and further aligns the interests of our
executive directors with those of shareholders. Currently, Mylan's Chief Executive Officer (who is also a Board member)
is required to hold stock with a value of six times her annual base salary, and Mylan’s other executive director (Rajiv
Malik) is required to hold stock with a value of four times his annual base salary. Shares owned (including shares held
in Mylan's 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan), as well as unvested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance-based
RSUs, but not stock options, count toward compliance with these requirements.

»  There is a vesting period and a minimum retention level for shares awarded to Mylan's executive directors. Apart from
this level, Mylan's executive directors generally may sell their vested shares at any time, subject to Company policy and
applicable security regulations. As noted above, Mylan's executive directors are subject to stock ownership requirements,
and both substantially exceed these requirements.

*  Mylan's non-executive directors are granted remuneration in the form of fees for their directorship and committee
membership as well as shares and/or options. Mylan's non-executive directors also are subject to stock ownership
requirements, which we believe meets the underlying principle of further aligning the interests of our non-executive
directors with those of shareholders. Currently, each of Mylan's non-executive directors is required to hold stock with a
value of three times his or her base annual retainer (based on shares owned outright as well as unvested RSUs, but not
stock options). Non-executive directors have five years from their date of appointment to meet the requirement.

*  Pursuant to publicly disclosed employment contracts, Mylan's executive directors may be entitled to a severance payment
in excess of their annual salary, which also serves as recognition of the long-term involvement, expertise, leadership and
success of our executive directors.

For a detailed description of the implementation of our remuneration policy, including pay-ratio disclosure required by Section
953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules promulgated thereunder and as
recommended by the DCGC, see Note 28 Remuneration included in section 9.1 of this report.

Dividend and reservation policy (best practice provision 4.1.3)

As of the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, Mylan has no current plan to distribute dividends in the near future and does not
have a formal dividend and reservation policy. Any decision whether or not to propose the distribution of a dividend would be
taken by the Board by reference to the facts and circumstances at hand at that time. For those reasons, Mylan did not include the
discussion of such a dividend and reservation policy on the agenda for Mylan's annual general meeting of shareholders (“AGM”)
held on 21 June 2019.

Analyst meetings, presentations and press conferences (best practice provision 4.2.3)

Mylan does not control the logistics of all analyst meetings, presentations and press conferences and, therefore, Mylan cannot
ensure that all such meetings, presentations and press conferences will be followed in real time by the general public. However,
Mylan is subject to, and complies with, the provisions of Regulation Fair Disclosure promulgated by the SEC and does announce
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in advance quarterly earnings and certain other presentations.
Majority requirements for dismissal and setting-aside binding nominations (best practice provision 4.3.3)

Consistent with established Dutch law and practice and the Company’s articles of association, executive directors and non-executive
directors are appointed by the General Meeting from a binding nomination proposed by the Board. The proposed candidate specified
in a binding nomination shall be appointed, provided that the requisite quorum is present or represented at the General Meeting,
unless the nomination is overruled by the General Meeting (which would result if a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes
cast, representing more than half of the issued share capital, vote “against” the appointment of such director, with abstentions,
“blank votes” and invalid votes not considered votes cast), in which case he or she will not be appointed. In such event, the Board
may propose a new binding nomination to be submitted at a subsequent General Meeting.

Mylan's articles of association also provide that a resolution of the General Meeting to suspend or remove a director pursuant to
and in accordance with a proposal by the Board may be passed with an absolute majority of the votes cast. A resolution of the
General Meeting to suspend or remove a director other than pursuant to and in accordance with a proposal by the Board will require
a two-thirds majority of the votes cast, representing more than half of the issued share capital.

Consistent with the established governance practices of many other listed Dutch companies, we believe that these provisions
support the continuity and sustainability of Mylan's business and achievement of our mission to provide the world’s 7 billion
people access to high quality medicine while delivering long-term shareholder value and safeguarding the interests of other
stakeholders. The Board and the Governance and Nominating Committee (as defined below) have carefully considered multiple
factors, which may include, without limitation, the structure, culture, operation, interactions, collaboration, and performance of
the current Board; the talents, expertise and contributions of individual directors; the Board’s critical role in continuing to develop
and lead the strategic direction of the Company; the growth and creation of shareholder and other stakeholder value under the
current Board’s leadership; the performance of the Company; the anticipated future challenges and opportunities facing the
Company; and the Board’s ongoing commitment to ensuring sustainable long-term value creation for the benefit of our shareholders,
while also serving the interests of our other stakeholders. Nominations for Board seats are made after a careful and thorough
process and are based, among others, on the foregoing considerations.

Independence (best practice provision 5.1.3)

All non-executive directors of the Board are independent within the meaning of the DCGC, except for the Chairman. The Board
believes that the current Chairman is the best person to lead the Board and provide the overall strategic leadership for the Company
based on, among other considerations, his deep experience in and knowledge of our business and industry and demonstrated unique
and successful strategic vision. The Board believes this role remains critically important as our industry continues to experience
significant change and disruption at a rapid rate.

5.2 Other Codes of Conduct or Corporate Governance Practices

In addition to the DCGC, Mylan is subject to and complies with its Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and its Corporate
Governance Principles. The texts of Mylan’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and its Corporate Governance Principles are
publicly available on our website: http://www.mylan.com/en/company/corporate-governance.

5.3 General meeting of shareholders

The Company’s general meeting of shareholders (the “General Meeting”’) may be held in Amsterdam, Rotterdam, Bunschoten-
Spakenburg, The Hague, Haarlemmermeer (Schiphol), Schiermonnikoog, Groningen or Leeuwarden, the Netherlands.

The Company must hold at least one General Meeting each year, to be held within six months after the end of our fiscal year. This
AGM shall be called by the chairman of the Board or by the Board in accordance with applicable law. In addition, a General
Meeting must also be held within three months if the Board has determined it to be likely that the Company’s equity has decreased
to an amount equal to or lower than half of its paid up and called up capital.

The Board may convene extraordinary General Meetings whenever it so decides. One or more shareholders and/or others entitled
to attend General Meetings, alone or jointly representing at least 10% of our issued share capital, may request authorization from
the Dutch court to convene a General Meeting. The Dutch court will disallow the request if it does not appear that the applicants
have previously requested that the Board convene a General Meeting and (assuming the request was made in a proper manner)
the Board has not taken the necessary steps so that such General Meeting could be held within six weeks after the request.
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General Meetings are convened in the manner and with reference to applicable law and stock exchange requirements, with due
observance of a convening notice of at least 15 days, by a notice which includes (i) the subjects to be discussed, (ii) the place and
time of the General Meeting, (iii) the procedures for participation in the General Meeting and the exercise of voting rights in person
or by proxy, and (iv) such other items as must be included in the notice pursuant to applicable law and stock exchange rules. One
or more shareholders and/or others entitled to attend General Meetings, alone or jointly representing at least 3% of the issued share
capital, have the right to request the inclusion of additional items on the agenda of General Meetings. Such requests must be made
in writing, substantiated and received by us no later than on the 60th day before the day of the relevant General Meeting. No
resolutions are to be adopted on items other than those which have been included on the agenda.

Under the DCGC, shareholders and others entitled to attend General Meetings who wish to exercise their rights to request the
convening of a General Meeting or to put matters on the agenda, as discussed above, should first consult the Board. Without
prejudice to limitations under applicable law, if the envisaged exercise of such rights might result in a change to the Company’s
strategy, the DCGC allows the Board to invoke a reasonable response period of up to 180 days. The response period may be invoked
only once for any given General Meeting and shall not apply (i) in respect of a matter for which a response period has been
previously invoked, or (ii) if an individual shareholder holds at least 75% of the Company’s issued share capital as a consequence
of a successful public bid.

Shareholders as well as others entitled to attend General Meetings, are entitled, in person or by proxy, to address the General
Meeting and, to the extent that they have such right, to vote at such General Meeting, in each case provided that such shareholder
or other person has notified the Company of his or her intention to attend the General Meeting in writing at the address and by the
date specified in the notice of the General Meeting, which day cannot be earlier than seven days before the day it is held.

Unless otherwise provided for by the Board or applicable law, and regardless of who would be entitled to attend the General
Meeting in the absence of a record date as set forth in the applicable provisions of the Dutch Civil Code, persons entitled to attend
the General Meeting are those who, on the record date (if determined by the Board), have voting rights and/or meeting rights with
respect to a class of shares of the Company and have been registered as such in a register designated by the Board for that purpose.
The record date (if determined by the Board) must be the 28th day prior to that of the General Meeting concerned.

Admission to the General Meeting shall be given to the persons whose attendance there is approved by the chairman or the secretary
of the General Meeting or any other person designated by the chairman or secretary. At the request of the chairman or secretary
of the General Meeting or his or her designee, each person who wishes to attend the General Meeting must sign the attendance
list and set forth in writing his name and, to the extent applicable, the number of votes to which he is entitled.

The Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) do not attribute specific powers to the General Meeting in addition to those
which follow from Dutch law.

54 Board of Directors

Mylan’s Board currently consists of 12 directors, each of whom is either an executive director or a non-executive director
pursuant to applicable Dutch law. On 30 April 2019, the Board voted to increase the size of the Board to 13 directors, effective
after the AGM, and nominated Richard Mark to be elected by shareholders at the AGM to serve as a non-executive director for
a term ending immediately after the next AGM held after his election. If each nominated director discussed below is appointed
at the AGM, the Board will consist of 13 directors. Executive directors are responsible for the daily management and operation
of the Company and, beyond their critical strategic and oversight role, non-executive directors are responsible for monitoring
the performance of the executive directors and management.

Consistent with established Dutch law and practice and the Company’s Articles of Association, executive directors and non-
executive directors are appointed by the general meeting from a binding nomination proposed by the Board.

48



Heather Bresch

Director sinca 2011

Age: 43
Maflonality: Amarican

Board Commilttass: Scence
and Technology

othar Public Company
Boards:

Nana

Exacutive Dirsctor

Dirgctor glnca 2011

Age: TS
Mationality: Amsrizan

Board Committess:

Compllance; Govemance and
Wominating; Rlsk Creersight, Science
ard

Tachnology

. Robert J. Cindric

Me. Bresch has gerved 38 Mylan's CED since January 1, 2012, Throughout her 27-year career with Myfan. Ms. Bresch has held
roleE of Increaeing reeponslbility In more than 15 functional areas. Prior o becoming CEC. Ms. Bresch served 35 the Company's
Pregloent, where she WaE responsibie for ks day-10-day operatons. Before that she served 38 Chiel Cperating Ceficer and
Chief integration OfMcer, leading the successid Integration of two intemational acquislions — Matrtx Laboratorkes and Menck
HI33A'E genenics Dusiness — which more than doubéed Mylan's skze and transfomed | from 3 pursly LS. company to @ ghobal
ans.

A5 CEQ, Ms. Bresch has been leading the next chapier of Mylan's growth and performance, pursulng a strategy that nas
producen & sustainable organization that s making great strides In H5 mission of dellverng bether heain for a better world by
providing 7 bllon people 3co2EE 10 high qualiy medicine. In continuing to execute on this sirategy. Me. Bresch Is focused an
further diversifying the Company In terms of products. markess and channele, 3 process proven o 2xpand access and generale
durabie cEsh SOWS hal £an be reinvested 10 further difierzntiste Mylan and pasiion It 1o suppon the transfomation of cutdatzd
nealthzare systams.

Ta achieve Mylan's goals, Ms. BEresch emphasizes 3 colabarative company cutture socused on keading, i=arming. teaching and
perfarming 1o nspire innovation and help 6et new standards In healiheare. She also remalns 3 vocal champlan of inHiakves and
podcy changes aimed at removing access bamlers. Amang her policy priodties i Increasing generic utilizasion, driving bigelmiiars
Imterchangeatility, stemming the tite of HIVIAIDS, ensuring a3 Tair and & level competitie playing ek, and strengthening e
global supply chain to make |t safer.

ME. Breseh = 3 requent speaker on issuss such 35 aMoroiable healiicare and global competiiveness and has lestiled before the
U.E. Congress and .S Food and Drug Adminkiaion "FOAT on kEsues relaled 10 access 00 madicine. Me. Bresch |6 the
phamnacautical Ingustry's Airst f2male chief executive ofcer of 3 Fortune 500 company and, each year Eince 2012, has been named
By Forfune magazine as one of &5 “50 Most Powerful Women,” M. Bresch's qualficalions 1o senve on Mylan's Board, include, amang
others, ner leadersnip @nd unigus and oeep knowledge of the Company, B Dusinessas, markets and sirategizs, a5 well 38 Hs glchal
research, upply chaln, manufacturing and commercial pistiorms. her knowledge and expenience regarding [Esues, fsks and
apportunies In the giohal healthcare industry; and her imowletge and expertise reganding paltical and pubiic polizy heakhcare-
refated matters, public company managemant and keadership and Inemational business wansacions and Integration.

Since February 2011, Judge Cindrich has been serving s preskdent of Cindrich Consulling, LLE, & business and healthcane
consuiting comgany Mat advises clents on corparate gOvemance, Compliance and business sirategles. Since May 2015, Judge
Cindrich hae served on the Advisory Councld of Innovu, LLC. 3 heafih and rsk management consuling company. From
October 1, 204 2, through January 31, 2014, he senved as interim gemaral counsel for Unfied States Steel Corporation "ULE.
Steal) (MYSE: X), an Integrated sbeel prosucer of at-rolizd 3nd tubular products. Jusge Cindrich joined Schnader Harrison
Segal & Lewls ("Schnader”), 3 law firm, 36 legal counsel In Aprl 2013 and fook 3 temporary leave of absence on Ochober 1,
2013, 1o Join U2 Steel as Inferim general counsel, returning to Schnader afer his ime there and remalning unil December
2017. in May 2012, he joined the board of directors of Alecripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc. (MASDAG: MORX), which provides
hedlthcare information technology solutions, where he served unil Aprll 2015, From 2011 through 2012, Judge Clndrich served
3E 3 sanlor advisor 1o the Cifice of he President of the University of Pisburgh Medical Cenfer ("LUPMCT), an Imtegrated giobal
nealth emerprise. From 2004 through 2010, Judge Cindrich was a senior vice president and the chief legal ofmcer of UPME.
From 1954 through January 2004, Judge Cindrich served a5 & [wdge on the ULS. District Court for the WWestern Distict o
PennEyivania. Frior 1o that appoiniment. he was 2clVeE 25 a0 afomey In govemmEent ane private practce, including positions
36 the LS. Attomey Tor the Westem Disirict of Pennsylvania and as the Allegheny County Asslstant Public Defender and
Aselstznt Dlstrict Attorney. Judge Cindrick's qualfizations fo serve on Mylan's Scard Inchise, ameng others, his knowledgs and
axperlise reganding begal and regulgtory matiers, compilance, COrparate govemance, isues afecing the nealhcare Industry
and public company risk managemsant oversight and strategy.
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Chalrman

Dirgcter gines 2002
Age: 58
Matlonallty: Amarizan

Board Commilttass:
Execubive (Chalr)

Othar Public Company
Baoards:

Mans

Hon-Execuflve Director

JoEllen Lyons Dillon

Director sinca 2014

Aga: £5
Matlonality: Amsrizan

Baard Commilttess:

Audit, Compansation {Chalr)

Execubive; Govemnance and Kominating
{Chalr}

othar Public Company
Baards:

Nana

Mon-Executlve Director

:'ll:lDEI'I J. Coury & the Thalman of Mylan M. Under his viglonany leadership, Mylan nas transfomed from the third [angest
genedcs pharmaceutical company Inthe LS. into ane of the Iargest pharmaceutical companies In the worid In terme of revenue,
2aming Epots an bath the S&P 500 and, prior o e Company's relncorporaticn autside of the LS In 2015, the Forfune 500
Mr. Coury first was elecied to Mylan's Eoard In February 2002, having Eerved since 1295 3 & sirabegic adyvisor io the Company.
He becams the Baard's Wica Chalman shorty &fter his election and senved 38 CEC from Saplember 2002 umill January 2012
He then served &5 Execuilve Chalrman from 2012 untl he became Chalman In June 2014.

Since 2007, Mr. Coury has led Myian through & seres of ransactians totaling appraximately 525 bdlion, which transformed
Mylan Into 3 glcbal powernouss within the highly competithve pharmacautical Industry, wih 3 global workfoncs of appraximately
35,000 that markets prodwcis In more than 165 countries and fermiiories. Im 2007, Mylan purchaszed Indla-based Matrix
Latoratones LImRed, 3 major propucer of acive pharmaceutical ingredlents, and the penerics and peciaily pharmaceutcals
Dusiness of Eurcpe-based Menck KGaA. Subsequent acquisiions under Mr. Coury's leadership furtner expanded Kylan into
new therapeutic calegones and greaty ennanced N geographic and commarcial foatprint. In 2010, Mylan acquired Bioniche
Pharma [Bioniche™), 3 giobal injectabies business in Ireland; in 2013, Mylan acquired inda-based Agda Speciaiiies, 3 giobal
Injectabizs company; and In 2015, Mylan acquired Abboft Labaratorizs’ non-U.S. developed mankels specialty and branded
genercs business (iha “EPD Business”) and Famy Care Lid ‘= wamen's healihcars businessss. Mare recently, Mylan acguired
Meda AB (publ.) ("keda”), 3 keading Inlemational specially pharmaceutical company that selis prescription and OTC products
and e nar-gteriie, 1opicale-focused business of Renalzzance Acgulstion Howdings, LLC

During this period of expansion, the Company bulll 3n unmakched, high qualtly faundation far the fulure, supporting Mylan's
migEion of providing the word’s 7 blllon people with 3ccess 1o high qually medicing and beneting patients, CUSIDMETE,
INVESIOrE, and ather stakehalders. Mr. Coury 16 e founder and president of the Roge J. Coury Familly Foundatian, which 15 &
chantabie crgantzation formed ba hedp suppart his pallanthropic eMorts and hés misslon of gling back. He has served 35 &
memiber of the University of Southern Califomia Presldent's Leaderchip Councll slnce 2014,

Mr. Coury's qualfications to Eerve on Mylan's Board Include, among others, demansirated cutstanding business Jcumen and
irang business judgment

Me. Cillon senved most recenty 35 30 executive oMcer of The ExOne Company [(ExOne”) (MASDAQ: XCNE), an emenging
growtn compary and glodal provider of thres-gimensional prrting machings. fom March 2013 10 August 2017, Sne was
promoted s the COMPENY'E only Sxecuthee vice president in Decembser 2014, adding o er ariginal putles 2 chief legal arcar
and comporale s=crefary. She held responsibdities for, amang other things, caghal marksts development, corporate srategic
planning. human resources, giabal compliance. Investor relabions. 35 well 35 intermational business develogment within Europe
and Asl3. Prior to [oining ExOne. ehe was 3 l2gal consUitant on ExCme's InEia| public offering [(1P0") and joined the company
shomly 2fter the publc flling. Prewiousty. Me. Olllon had an almost 25-year legal career In comporate mergere and acguisiions
and securities, where Ehe represented both public and privaie companies In 3 varely of complex matters. She was 3 pariner
with Reed Smith LLP, a Ew firm, from 2002 wntl 2041, She previgusly had been at the 13w firm Suchanan ingersoll & Rooney
PC: fromi 1935 untll 2002, whene she becama 3 pamner [n 1957, Ms. Dilan 5enes a5 3 mamber of e boand of trusbees of the
Allegheny District chapter of the National Mulliple Sclemsls Soclety and served 25 chalr and awdit commifiee chalr. Ms. Cillon's
qualificatons to serde on Mylan's Board Inciude, among otners. ner knowledge and expertise regarding legal and reguistary
mathers, financial matters, compilance, conporate governance, public company oversight snd Intemnational business and
sirategy

50



Director since 2002

Ager B9
Hatlonadity: Amerizan
Board Committess:
Audlt (Thalr); Exenuthie;
Finance; Risk Cwerskght
Cthar Public Company
Baoards:

Resources Cannection, Inc
Mon-Executlve Director

*  C.PA distinclion refers fo “inactive” status.

Melina Higgins

Director sinca 2013

Age: £

Natlonality: Amerizan

Board Commilttesn:

Audit; Compenzaton;

Finance [Chair)

Other Public Company Boards:
GEMworth Financial Inc.
Hon-Execuflve Dirgctor

Meil Dimick, C.P.A.*

Mr. Dimick senves on the board of direchors of Resources Connection, Inc. (MASDAQ- RECHN). chairing s Aud® Commiktes and
$EnIng on Its Compensation Committes. Mr. Dimick presiously served a6 executive vice president and chief financial officer of
AmeriscurceBergen Corporation (WYSE: ABC), a whalesale distibutar of phamaceuticals, fram 2001 %0 2002, From 1952 to
2001, he wWaS Eenlor executive vice president and chief inanclal oMcer of Bergen Brunsaly Corporstian, @ wholesale drug
disiributos. Pricr ko that, k. Dimick served 35 3 pariner 'with Deloltte & Touche LLP "Deloiite”) for elght years. Mr. Dimick also
served on the boards of direciore of WebMD Heakh Corp. fram 2005 1o Seplember 2017, at which ime It was purchased by
Internet Erands, 3 portfolia company of Imesimeand funds afMiiated with Kohiberg Krasis Robens & ©0., LP; Alllance HealthCane
Semvices, Inc. from 2002 o Suguet 2017, at which time | was purchased by Tahoe Investment Group Co., L ; and Thoratec
Conporation from 2003 1o Ockober 3015, at which ime it was purchased oy 51, Jude Meoical, Inc. kr. Dimick s qualifications to
£erve on Mylams Board nclude. among others, his experience and expertiee regarding ccounting, fnance, the nealtheans
Industry, INtematanal busln2Es, Corporale governance, public company management, oversight and sirategy, and Intematonal
Business ransactions.

M= Higging has been @ member of ihe board of oreciors of Genwortn Financial Inc. (NYSE: GMW), 3n INsurance company,
£ince September 2013, and serves on Ik Managemant Development & Compensation and Mominating & Conporate Governance
Commitiees. In January 2016, Ms. Higging became non-executhve chalmnan of Antares Midco Inc., 3 private company that
provides Anancing solutions for middlemarkst, private equity-backed transactons. Me. Higging previously neid senlar roles of
Increzasing responziblity 3t The Soldman Sachs Group, Ins. [NYSE: G2), 3 global Investment banking, securilizs and Investmeant
management frm, Including pariner and managing @recior, dunng her nearly 20-year caneer at the firm from 1552 1o 1952 and
15394 to 2010. During her tenure there, Me. Higgine eersed a5 2 member of e investment Committee of the Principal Imvesiment
Arza, which oversaw and approved global privale equity and private debt Investments and was one of the largest allemative
3EEet managens in the word. She also served &s head of the Amerizas far private debt and 2s co-chalrpersan of the Invesimant
Advisory Commitize for G5 Mezzanine Parness funds, which managed over 530 billon of 355615 and were Jlobal leaders in
thelr industry. Me. Higgins also is a member of the VWwomen's Leadership Board of Harvard Universlty’s John F. Kennedy Schoal
of Government. Ms. Higgins' qusificalicns 1o serde on Mylan's Board Include, ameong olhers, her expenance and experiss in
finance, capital markets, ntemationsl business and sirategy, and International business ransactions.
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Dérector sinca 2018

Aga: &1
Hatlonallty: American

Board Commilttass:

Compilance; Risk Cwarsight { Chalr);
Sclence and Technology

Othar Public Company Boarda:
Mans

Hon-Executlve Director

Diractor slnce 20132

Aga: 53
Mationality: ingian

Board Commilttess:
Sclence and Technokgy

Othar Public Company Boands:
Kiana

Executive Direcior

Mr. Koeman held senlor executhve rokes of Increasing responsiblity &1 Mylan Inc. and &5 subsidiaries from 1955 unil July 2014
He served s Mylan Inc.'s global Chief Cperating Oficer from January 2012 unlll July 2014, after which he sended In a consuitant
role with Mylsn inc. for ang year Prior 1o his s2nvice 38 Chief Operating Officer, e was the Pregldent, Morh America of Mylan
Inc. commencing In Coiober 2007 M. Korman akso eerved 25 Preskdent of Mylan Pharmacautizals inc. from Febmiany 2005 o
Cecember 2009, During his flme 35 an executive at Mylan, Mr. Korman was Instrumenz In identifying, evaluating and execuling
an Elgnificant commercial and Dusness oevelapment JpDoTuniies In the United Ststes and ather countnes, including the
axpansian of Mylan's global genercs businessee around e warkd, among many ciher Important contrlbutions o Me Company
and He stakeholders. He jolned ylan in 1936 after the Compamy’s acquisition of UDL Laboraioes, Inc. (ni'a Mylan InstRufional
inc }, and senved &5 s prasigent, Smong omer prior responsibdities. Mr. Karman has s2rved 35 2 pastdirector and vice chalrman
of the Generic Pharmaceutical AZS0CiS10n, nowW KNown 35 the Association for Accessiole Madicines. He also praviously eerved
35 @ drector and vice chalrman of the HOMA Foundation, which serves the heslincare Indusiry by providing ressanch and
agucation facused on healthcans sUpDIY ISELSE. Mr. Korman's quainications 1o serve on Myian's Board Include, among oiners,
nis extanshee Industry and leasership sxperience, NI knawledge of Neathcare systems and the LS. ano global commersial
markets, and his leadershlp experience In the areas of global strategy, risk owersight, salee and marketing, commersial
Qperations, EUPplY chain and busness development, IMang other aneas relevant and Important ta Mylan's glabal buginees.

Mr. Malkk h3z serven 25 Mylan's President since Jaruarg 1, 2012 and has more than 38 years of expesence In the
pharmaceutical Indusiry. Previously, Mr. Mallk held varlous ssnior rodes at Mylan, iIncluding executive vice prasident and chlet
Operating officer fmom July 2009 to December 2012, and head of Giobal Technical Gperations from January 2007 o July 2005
Mr. Malk has been integral in developing the sirategles for the Company's acquistions and, maors iImponzntly, in he execution
and Integration of acqulsiions, speciicaly the genesice business of Marck KGa#, e injectabies business of Bloniche; Agla
Speclaities, 3 global Injectables company; the EPD Husiness; Famy C3re's women's healthcare businesses; Meda. 2 keading
International spaclsity pharmaceutical company that sels prescription and ouer-he-counter products; and most recently, the
non-stenle, lopicals-tocused busingss of Renalssance Acquisiion Holdings, LLC.

Mr. M3l |5 responelbie for the oay-to-dsy operations of the Company, which Incledes Commerclal, Scientfic Afalrs,
Manufactuing, Supply Chain and Qualtty. in his role, he 2is0 oversess Business Dewelopment and Information Technoogy.
Mr. M3l h3E Deen Instrumenizl In expandng and cpimizing Mylan's product pomfodo, leveraging Mylan's giobal R&D
capablities and expanding Mylan's presence i emerging markets. Freviously. ne served 3z chigf execulive officer of Malrt
Laboratones Limfted (n'kfa Mylan Labarabories Limibed) from .July 2005 to June 2005, Prior 1o jaining Mairt, he served as head
of Global Dewelopment and Reglsirations for Sandoz GmbH from Seplember 2003 ta July 2005, Prior 1o jolning Sandioz GmbH
Mr. M3l was head of Slobal Regulatary Affairs and head of Phanma Research for Ranbaxy from Octobar 1893 o Septembar
2003, Mr. Malli's qualifizations o s2rve on Mylan's Board incluede, ameng othars, his leadershlp and uniqes and deep knowlzdge
of the Company, s tusinesses. markets and sirategles, 35 well 35 N global research, EUpply chaln, manufacturng and
commercial plattarmis; his knowledge and exgenence ragarding Igsues, sks and opparuniies i the giabal heakncare Industry
and his knewledge and expertise regarding global regulatory matters, pubbc company management and leadership, and
intematianal businggs transactans and ntegration.
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Wice Chalrmean and Lead
Independent Diractor

Director since Z00%

Age: B3

Natlonallty: Amerizan
Board Commilttass:

Audlt Compllance (Chair;
Execublve; Govemance and
Nominating; Risk Cwversight

other Public Company Boands:

Cmniced, Imc.
Hon-Executive Director

Pauline van der Meer Mohr

Director sinca 2018
Age: £9
Hationallty: Duich

Board Commilttaes:
Compensation; Risk Oversight

Othar Public Company Boards
{oufside the . 5.):

HSBC Holings ple

Royal DSM N
Hon-Executive Director

Mr. Pamish hag served as the Lead Independent Director and YWice Chairman of Mylan's Board slnce August 2017. He served
36 chief executive oMcer of TrideriUSA Health Sarvices " TridentUsA"), 3 prowider of moblie X-ray and labaratary services to
the long-tern cane Industry, from 2005 0 August 2015 and senved a5 execuiive chalrman from 2005 to 2013, Since Augus!
2015, he has served as execulive chalman of TridenUSA In Febiruary 2019, Tridentli5A filed Tor probecion under Chapber 11
of the U5, Bankrupicy Code. Since January 2013, Mr. Pamsh aisa has served an the board of direciors of Omnicell, Inc
(MASDAZ: OMCL), 3 company that speclalizes in heanhcare iechnology, and serdes on Bs COTporste Govemance Committze
Mr. Parrisn sisa Eenves on the boards of diectors of Slvergate Pharmaceuticals, 3 private company that develops and
commerelallizes pediairic medizations, and Goiden State Medical Supply, & private company that speclalizes in mesting unigue
Iabeling and slzing needs for s customers and pharmaceutical packaging. s=nalization and distribution. From 2001 {0 2007,
Mr. Pamish held management rales of Increasing responsbilty wihh Carsnal Heslh Inc. (NYSE: CAH) (“Cardinal) and 25
afilates. Including chief executive afficer of healthcare supply chaln services for Cardingl fram 15993 to 2007. Mr. Parrish also
s8rves 35 presldent of the infemational Federstion of Pharmaceufical Wholesalers, sn @ssoclstion of pharmaceutical
whilesalers and pharmaceutical supply chaln sarvice companies, and 38 senlor adviger to Frazier Healthcare Wentures, 2
nealthcare oneried groath equiy fimn. Mr. Pamsh's qualfications to serde on Mylans Board Include, among athers, il
axperience 25 3 chiel execullve officer; his inowiedge and experience regarding lssues. rske and opportuniies In the glotal
nealthcare Indusiry; and his knowiedge and experiiss regarding compliance. Corporate govemance. sk management aversight,
SUpElY chaln, the nealthcare industry and technology, pubic company management and sirstegy, and Inlemational business
fransactions

ME. van oer Megr Mohr 15 curmenty an independent non-executive dirschar of HEEC Holings pic (LOM: HESA), chaling that
GOMPAry's SroUp Remunerzlion Committee 3nd serving as @ membsr of s Group Rlsk Commites and me Komination &
Corporate Govemance Commiies. She also I8 3 member of the supendsory boards of Royal DEM N (AMS: DEM), curmently
senving as Deputy Chair, chaldng fs Remuneratian Committes and Sendng on Its Momination Commies and EY Neterands
LLF, cumenty serving 3s Chalr Ms. van der Meer Mohr 20 5erves 3 Me Chalr of the Dubch Corporate Gowermance Code
Monitoring Commitiee. In 3odition, Ms. van der Meer Mohr recently served on the supervisory boand of ASML Holding MW
(MASDAG and AME: ASML) urtll Aprl 2018, and a& president of the Executhve SBoard of Erasmus Univerelty in Rotterdam from
2010 to 2016. Ms. van der Meer Mohr began her career in the legal profession and previously held several legal and
management positions within Royal Ouich Shell Sroup from 1353 t0 2004 In 2004, ehe was sppainied group hUmMan rES0Ures
dirzctar 2t TMT NV bafars becoming s2ndor execulive vice president and head Of group NUEMan r2sources 2t ABM AMRD NY
in 200E. Ehe served as 3 member of the Dubch Banking Code Monkoring Commission in the Metherands from 2010 o 2012,
and began har awn human capkal consuiting firm in 2005, Ms. Van ger Mesr Mohr's qualifications t serve on Myian's Boand
Include, amang oiners, Ner experience and experiise regarding corparate govermance. fNance, pubilc coMpany owersight
oulskde of the LLE, legal and reguigtory matlers, human reecurces and execulive compensafion, risk management and
aversight, corporate social responsioiiity and govemance s DWersight expenanca with respect to DUSh SoMpanies.
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Randall L. (Pete) Vanderveen, Ph.D.

Cr. Wandervesn waE Prafessor of Pharmaceutical Polizy and Economics, Senlor Adviser bo he Leanard D. Schastfer Center of
Health Policy and Economilcs, Direcior of ihe Margarst and John Blles Center for Leadership, and Senlor Adviger bo the Dean
for Advancement at the Schoal of Prarmacy, Universky of Scuthern Calfomnia In Los Angeles, Califomila fram 2015 to Auguest
2047, Dr. Wanderveen previously ssrved 2s Dean, Professor and John Stauffer Decanal Chalr of the USC Schoal of Phamacy
fram 2005 1o 2015, where he was named “Cutsianding Phammacy Dean In the Mation” In 2013 by the American Phamacs!
Associgtion. From 1328 fo 2005, he served as Dean and Professar of Phammacy af the Schocd of Pharmacy and the Graduate
Schood of Pharmaceutical Sciences st Duguesne Universiy. besore which ne was Asglstant Dean 3t Cragon Siate Universey
fram 1558 to 1295, Or. Vanderyeen nas an exiensh'e pharmaceutical and academic background. In sdomion, Or. Wandemnesn
nas Invsluable experence and knowledge regarding the business. pIatiorms, Ebralegles, chakenges, opponunitizs and
management of Kylan, among other matkers. Or. Wanderveen's quificstions to genve on Mylan's Board include, among oMers
nls experience and expertise regarding the healthcare Industry, pharmacauticals and pharmacy practice, pubic heathcars palicy
and economics, 3nd SClEnte Matters.

Director sinca 2002
Age: €3
Hationallty: American

Board Commilttess:
Compllance; Sckenca and
Technolgy (Chalr)

COithar Public Company Boarda:
Hons
Hon-Execuflve Dirgctor

Sjoerd 5. Vollebregt

. Wollebregt nas served 38 chalrman of e Supenvisory Board of Helmans M., 3 Euronaxt Amsterdsm Isted company tiat
Operales In propery development, residential buliding, non-residential bullding, rosds and civll engnesring, sincz 2015,
charman of the Adwisory Soard of Albus Defence and Space Metherlands BV, 3 subsliiary of Alrbus SE. 3 Euronext Faris
lsted company, that develops solar arrays. satefite Instruments and struciures for I3unchers, since 2015; and chalrman of the
Economic Devepment Board Drecht CREsE, 3 sirabegic codaboration Detween business, education and gowernment In Drechi
Cltles, Metherlands. sInca December 2016 Mr. Vallzbragt had served as chalrman and chiel executive ofcer of the Executive
Board of Zork B.. and Nis predecassor from 2002 0 2014, which was an Amsterdam Slock Exchange-listed industral group
untll 2008, consisting of 3 giobal prowider of knowledge-based maintenance, modification and 3sset Integrity products and
s2rvices for oll reated ingustres, 200 and 1extie equipment manutacturer, and chief executive ofcer of Fokker Technoiogles
Group B, an @=rospace comgany and 3 Stork B\ subsldary fram 2010 to 2014, Previously, Mr. Wollebregl seried 38 @
member af the Supervisory Board of THT Express M, 20 Internatonal courier deltvery sendcas company, from 2013 w0 2016
and has hesd varlous ather senlor gositians at Exel pic, Dcean piz, Inf2xo Holing and Royal Van Ommeren. Mr allebragl's

Director #inca 2017 qualifizations to Eene on Myfan's Beard include. amaong others, his experence 36 3 chief executive officer; his experence and
Age: £4 experise In public company management culslse of the LS. and strategic declslon making; his experience and experise In

manufzetunng, supply chain, and technolagy, 5 well 35 Internationz] business raneactions; and his gavemance and owersight
Hationallty: Duich experiznce with respect to Dulch companies

Board Commiltbess:
Compllance; Finance; Gowernance
and Mominating

Othar Public Company Boards
{outside the W.5.):
Hellmans N

Hon-Executlve Director

Each nominee listed above, other than Mr. Korman, Ms. van der Meer Mohr and Mr. Vollebregt, was a director of Mylan Inc. on
27 February 2015, the date on which Mylan N.V. completed the acquisition of EPD Transaction, and became a director of Mylan
N.V. on such date in connection with the EPD Transaction. All ages as of 30 May 2019.

Mylan’s Board met four times in 2018. In addition to meetings of the Board, directors attended meetings of individual Board
committees of which they were members. Each of the directors attended at least 75% of the aggregate of Mylan’s Board meetings
and meetings of committees of which they were a member during the periods for which they served in 2018. Directors are expected
to attend the AGM of Mylan where practicable. All current members of the Board attended the 2018 AGM.

As noted, Mark W. Parrish has served as Vice Chairman and Lead Independent Director of Mylan’s Board since August 2017.
Mylan’s Corporate Governance Principles require the independent directors of the Board to meet in executive session from time
to time, and at least twice annually, without any members of management present. During 2018, the independent directors of the
Board met in executive session four times, with Mr. Parrish presiding at each such executive session.

5.5 Activities of and evaluation by the non-executive directors

Throughout the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the non-executive directors have overseen management and the functioning
of the Board, and provided advice to our executive directors and senior management, including overseeing the executive directors
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in their execution of Mylan's strategy and monitoring the general affairs of the Company and the business connected with it as
described in the Company's relevant governance documents. The independent directors on the Board and its committees receive
extensive information and input from multiple layers of management and external advisors, engage in detailed and robust discussion
and analysis regarding matters brought before them (including in executive session) and consistently and actively engage in the
development and approval of significant corporate strategies.

All non-executive directors regularly attended Board meetings and meetings of the group of non-executive directors held during
the fiscal year to which this report pertains.

The non-executive directors have discussed at least once during the fiscal year to which this report pertains:

a. without the executive directors being present, (i) their own functioning, the functioning of the Board committees
and the individual members thereof, and the conclusions that may be drawn on the basis thereof, (ii) the desired
profile, composition and competence of the Board, and (iii) the functioning of the Board and the performance
by the individual directors of their duties, and the conclusions that may be drawn on the basis thereof; and

b. the Company’s strategy and the main risks associated with its business, the results of the evaluation by the Board
of the design and effectiveness of the internal risk management and control systems, as well as any significant
changes thereto.

The Board and each committee conduct an annual self-evaluation by their respective members. These evaluations are intended to
facilitate an examination and discussion by the entire Board and each committee of its effectiveness as a group in fulfilling its
Charter requirements and other responsibilities, its performance, and areas for improvement. The Governance and Nominating
committee supervises the format for each annual self-evaluation and, as appropriate, may use evaluation results in assessing and
recommending the characteristics and critical skills required of prospective candidates for election to the Board and making
recommendations with respect to assignments of its members to various committees.

The evaluation described under a. above takes place based on the aforementioned self-evaluation as well as in separate meetings
of the non-executive directors.

The Board has discussed the conclusions from the evaluation described above. The main conclusion was that, overall, our directors
are satisfied with the functioning of, and their respective memberships of, the Board and, where relevant, its committees. The
evaluation included a review and subsequent revision of charters of the standing Board committees and certain of our other
governance-related documents.

The Board and/or individual members participate at least annually in director educational seminars, conferences and other director
education programs presented by external and internal resources, on matters that may relate to, among other topics, compensation,
governance, risk oversight, business, industry, audit and accounting, credit and financial, regulatory and other current issues
confronting boards of directors of public companies. Directors may also elect to attend additional third-party educational events
in their discretion. The Company reimburses the directors for costs associated with any seminars and conferences, including travel
expenses.

5.6 Committees
5.6.1 Introduction

The standing committees of Mylan’s Board are the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the Compliance Committee,
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the Governance and Nominating Committee, the Risk Oversight Committee
and the Science and Technology Committee. Each committee operates under a written charter, a current copy of which, along with
our Articles of Association, Rules for the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance Principles, are available on Mylan’s
website at http://www.mylan.com/en/about-mylan/corporate-governance.
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5.6.2 Audit Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Members KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO
Mr. Dimick (Chair)

Ms. Dillon Integrity of the Company’s financial statements and its accounting and financial reporting
Ms. Higgins processes

wle el *The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting

Number of *Compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements

meetings during FY2018: . . . . . .
4 *The qualifications, independence and performance of the independent registered public

accounting firm for U.S. public reporting purposes and the Company’s external auditor for
purposes of Dutch law

*The Internal Audit group

*The Company’s processes and procedures related to risk assessment and risk management

*Related party transactions

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Audit Committee met four times and discussed matters relating to the
following topics, among others: the engagement (appointment, compensation, retention, oversight and plan) of the Company's
independent auditor and auditor of the Dutch statutory accounts; Mylan's quarterly financial reports on Form 10-Q; Mylan's annual
report on Form 10-K; Mylan's amended annual report on Form 10-K/A; Mylan’s EU IFRS financial statements; Mylan's accounting,
financing, legal, and tax matters; Mylan’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls; Mylan's Proxy Statement and
the Audit Committee Report included therein; Mylan's related party transactions policy and certain related party transactions;
Mylan's policy for hiring employees or former employees of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm; Mylan’s
policy for pre-approval of audit, audit-related and non-audit services provided by the registered independent public accounting
firm; Mylan’s procedures for handling accounting and auditing complaints; Mylan's business strategy and risks associated with
its business; cybersecurity; and the Audit Committee’s self-evaluation and review of its Charter.

5.6.3 Compensation Committee

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Members . KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUTARE NOT LIMITED TO

M: giggi%gcmu) *CEO and senior management compensation, including the corporate goals and objectives

Ms. van der Meer Mohr relevant to such compensation and evaluating performance in light of those goals and
' objectives

Number of *Board and committee compensation

meetings during FY2018: ) ) ) o ) )
4 *Relationship between the Company’s compensation policies and practices and risk

management
*Compensation and benefits-related disclosures

*Equity compensation plans in which executives participate

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Compensation Committee met four times and discussed matters relating
to the following topics, among others: review and approval or recommendation to the Board with respect to Mylan’s
compensation policies and practices and risk management; compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, President and other
executive officers; executive officer cash and equity compensation; Mylan's compensation program as compared to those of the
Company’s peers; pay ratio disclosure; matters relating to certain of the Company’s cash and equity incentive plans; director
remuneration policy; recommendation with respect to non-executive director compensation; the Compensation Committee
Report and the Compensation Disclosure and Analysis included in Mylan's amended annual report on Form 10-K/A and Proxy
Statement; non-employee director equity awards and cash retainers; executive performance; employment agreements; the
independence of the Compensation Committee’s outside advisors; the results of the 2018 AGM; shareholder engagement
meetings; the Company’s global employee engagement survey and succession planning; and the Compensation Committee’s
self-evaluation and amendment of its Charter.
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5.6.4 Compliance Committee

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

ﬁf‘ggﬁ’r{:h (Chair) KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED
i TO

Mr. Cindrich

Mr. Korman *Chief Compliance Officer’s implementation of Mylan’s corporate compliance program

Dr. Vanderveen o ) o ) L ) )

Mr. Vollebregt *Considering or evaluating significant global compliance-related policies, including with
respect to pricing and/or commercialization of Company products

Nump er of . 2018: *Making recommendations to the Board with respect to the formulation, implementation,

:‘neetlngs during FY2018: maintenance and monitoring of Mylan’s corporate compliance program and Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Compliance Committee met four times and discussed matters relating to
the following topics, among others: the status of the compliance program and related reports; Compliance Group resources and
training programs; relevant legal and regulatory developments; cybersecurity; data privacy and protection; company security;
political contributions reports; updates with respect to the Corporate Integrity Agreement; and the Compliance Committee's self-
evaluation and review of its Charter.

5.6.5 Executive Committee

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Members KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO

M; ]C)?ﬁg}lll(cmlr) *Assisting the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities by exercising those

Mr. Dimick powers of the Board not otherwise limited by a resolution of the Board or by law

Mr. Parrish «Strategic planning and additional oversight of strategy implementation

Number of
meetings during FY2018:
4

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Executive Committee met ‘our times and discussed, among other matters,
recent business and industry developments; potential business development opportunities; strategic considerations; board and
management succession planning; and financial metrics and guidance and the Executive Committee's self-evaluation and review
of its Charter.

5.6.6 Finance Committee

FINANCE COMMITTEE

Members . KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO
Ms. Higgins (Chair)
Mr. Dimick *Material mergers, acquisitions and combinations with other companies

Sl el *Swaps and derivatives transactions

Number of Establishment of credit facilities
meetings during FY2018: . . . .
4 *Financings with commercial lenders

+Issuance and repurchase of the Company’s debt, equity, hybrid or other securities

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Finance Committee met four times and discussed matters relating to the
following topics, among others: Mylan’s current capital structure and capital planning; Mylan debt and financing activities
(including issuance and repurchase of Company equity and debt securities, incurrence and repayment of credit facilities, and
transactions involving hedging and derivative instruments); and the Finance Committee’s self-evaluation and review of its Charter.
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5.6.7 Governance and Nominating Committee

GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Members KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO
Ms. Dillon (Chair)

M. Cindrich *Corporate governance matters

Mr. Parrish *Nomination or re-nomination of director candidates

Mr. Vollebregt ) . . . .
*The Board’s review and consideration of shareholder recommendations for director

Number of candidates

meetings during FY2018:

4 *The annual self-evaluation of the Board and its committees

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Governance and Nominating Committee met four times and discussed
matters relating to the following topics, among others: Board composition and size; director nominations and potential new director
candidates; director and committee member independence and other committee-specific requirements; formation of a new Risk
Oversight Committee; Board committee memberships and chairs; Board and committee self-assessment process; Mylan's governing
documents; updates to the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles and certain committee charters; the board diversity policy;
Board education; and the Governance and Nominating Committee's self-evaluation and review of its Charter.

5.6.8  Science and Technology Committee

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE

Members KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED
Dr. Vanderveen (Chair) TO

Ms. Bresch R&D d folio fi entific and technoloeical .

M. Cindrich strategy and portfolio from a scientific and technological perspective

Mr. Korman +Significant emerging scientific and technological developments relevant to Mylan

Mr. Malik

Number of

meetings during FY2018:

3

During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Science and Technology Committee met three times and discussed matters
relating to the following topics, among others: key drug development priorities and projects; and the Science and Technology
Committee's self-evaluation and review of its Charter.

5.6.9 Risk Oversight Committee

RISK OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

Members KEY OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO
Mr. Korman (Chair) s .

Vi Crcien *Mylan’s enterprise risk framework

Mr. Dimick *Material enterprise risks not allocated to the Board or another committee, including, for
Mr. Parrish example, data security programs and cybersecurity and information technology

Ms. van der Meer Mohr ]

*Management’s efforts with respect to GSR
Newly Formed in
February 2018

Number of

meetings since February
2018:

3

The Risk Oversight Committee was formed in February 2018. During the fiscal year to which this report pertains, the Risk Oversight
Committee met three times and discussed matters relating to the following topics, among others: substantive areas of the Risk
Oversight Committee’s review; cybersecurity; information security and strategy; Mylan’s enterprise risk management framework;
risk assessment processes; financial and non-financial external reporting; updates on Mylan’s environmental, social and governance
program; and the Risk Oversight Committee's self-evaluation and amendment of its Charter.
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5.7 Diversity

In April 2018, the Board adopted a diversity policy with respect to Board composition, considering characteristics such as
nationality, age, gender, education and professional background, among others.

The Board is committed to supporting, valuing and leveraging diversity in its composition, among other qualities that the Board
believes serve the best interests of the Company and its stakeholders. Although the Board has not set specific targets with
respect to particular elements of diversity, Mylan believes that it is important for the Board to represent a diverse composite mix
of nationalities, ages, gender, education and professional backgrounds and experience, among other characteristics. To the
extent it is able to do so in a manner consistent with the foregoing principles, the Board seeks for the composition of the Board
to be such that no less than 30% of its members are women and no less than 30% of its members are men. In terms of education
and professional background and experience, the Board strives for its members to be knowledgeable of and/or to have
experience in one or more of the following areas, among others:

a. the healthcare industry;

b. research, manufacturing, and/or commercialization;

c. executive leadership, public company management, and/or strategic planning;

d. finance, administration, and/or accounting;

e. corporate governance;

f. mergers and acquisitions;

g. risk management;

h. legal and regulatory;

i. board and/or executive compensation;

j. experience with global or international business; and

k. social responsibility.
In addition, consistent with the Mylan’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Board insists on equal opportunity and
prohibits discrimination based on personal characteristics or traits, such as a person’s sex, sexual orientation, age, race/ethnicity,
color, religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, or any other characteristic protected by law.
6. Remuneration

6.1 Remuneration policy

Pursuant to Section 2:135(1) DCC, our General Meeting has adopted a remuneration policy for our Board members (the
“Remuneration Policy”). A copy of the Remuneration Policy is available on our website:

https://www.mylan.com/-/media/mylancom/files/company/corporate-governance/director-remuneration-policy.pdf

Information on our website is not incorporated into, and does not form a part of, this report.

The Remuneration Policy is designed to attract and retain highly qualified individuals, incentivize performance and shareholder
value creation, and align compensation with performance and the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. We believe that
this approach and philosophy and the implementation thereof benefits the realization of Mylan's long-term objectives, as well as

shareholders and other stakeholders, while staying consistent with the Company’s risk profile.

The Board is currently not contemplating to propose any change to the Remuneration Policy or the implementation thereof in the
upcoming fiscal years.
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6.2 Remuneration of directors

See Note 28 Remuneration included in section 9.1 of this report.

7. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

For information on related party transactions, see Note 29 Related party disclosures included in section 9.1 of this report.
Where applicable, best practice provisions 2.7.3, 2.7.4 and 2.7.5 of the DCGC, have been observed.

8. PROTECTIVE MEASURES

Established Dutch law allows Dutch companies to have certain protective measures in place, to safeguard the interests of a company,
its business and its stakeholders. Mylan's Articles allow for (i) the issuance of preferred shares, which facilitates the protective
measure described below, and (ii) in the event that all directors on the Board are absent or unable to act, the most recent chairman
ofthe Board (and/or such person(s) appointed by him/her) to temporarily perform the tasks and duties of the non-executive directors
and to temporarily entrust the tasks and duties of the executive directors to one or more other persons.

Consistent with established Dutch law and practice, Mylan entered into a call option agreement with Stichting Preferred Shares
Mylan (the “Stichting”), pursuant to which the Company granted the Stichting a continuous and repeatedly exercisable call option,
the exercise of which allows the Stichting to acquire up to 50% of the voting shares in the General Meeting from time to time in
the event the Stichting’s independent board of directors is of the opinion that the interest of the Company, its business and its
stakeholders is or might be adversely affected or threatened.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Income Statements

(In millions of U.S. Dollars, except per share amounts)
for the year ended 31 December

Note 2018 2017

Revenues:

Nt SaleS . . .ottt $ 11,268.7 $ 11,760.0

Other TEVENUES . . . . oottt e e e e e e e e e 2 165.2 147.7
Total TEVENUES . . . ..o 11,433.9 11,907.7
Costofsales . ......... . . 20 7,432.3 7,124.6
Gross Profit . . ..ot 4,001.6 4,783.1
Operating expenses:

Research and development. . ....... ... ... ... ... .. . i 20 704.5 783.3

Selling, general and administrative . ..................... ..., 20 2,462.4 2,583.8

Litigation settlements and other contingencies, net..................... 19 (49.5) (13.1)

Total operating eXpenses . . . ... .o.vtun et e 3,117.4 3,354.0

Earnings from operations . ................. it 884.2 1,429.1
Interest EXPense. . . ..o vttt e 542.3 534.6
Other eXpense, Net. . ... ..ottt e e 19 77.5 9.5
Earnings before income taxes . . ...ttt 264.4 885.0
Income tax (benefit) provision . ........... ... 16 (42.4) 222.4
Net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders.............. $ 306.8 $ 662.6
Earnings per ordinary share attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders

BasiC. . o 21§ 0.60 § 1.24

Diluted .. ... 21§ 059 $ 1.23
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings (Loss)

(In millions of U.S. Dollars)
for the year ended 31 December

Netearnings. ... ... ...ttt e
Other comprehensive (loss) earnings

Other comprehensive (loss) earnings that may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods.

Foreign currency translation adjustment. .. .............................
Net unrecognized (loss) gain on derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships .

Net unrecognized gain (loss) on derivatives in net investment hedging
relationships .. ... ... ...

Net unrealized (loss) gain on marketable securities .. .....................

Net other comprehensive (loss) earnings that may be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods . .............. ... ... .. ... ... .. ...,

Other comprehensive (loss) earnings not to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Actuarial gains on defined benefit pensionplans.........................
Net other comprehensive earnings ... ...,
Other comprehensive (loss) earnings for the year, beforetax.............
Income tax (benefit) provision . ........... ...
Other comprehensive (loss) earnings, netoftax. .......................

Comprehensive (loss) earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary
shareholders. . . ... ... .. ... . L

Note 2018 2017

$ 3068 $  662.6

15 (1,122.4) 2,109.6
15 (79.2) 52.7
15 111.6 (238.4)
15 (0.1) (6.7)
(1,090.1) 1,917.2

15 10.7 6.9
10.7 6.9

15 (1,079.4) 1,924.1
15 (20.5) 19.2
(1,058.9) 1,904.9

$  (752.1) $ 25675
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions of U.S. Dollars)

Assets
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents . ........... ... ... ...
Accounts receivable, net ... ... ...
INVENTOTIES . . oottt et e e
Prepaid and other current assets. .. ........... ..ot
Total current @assets .. ........... it
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment, net. ... ........ ... .. L i
Intangible assets, net .. ........... it
GoodWill. . ..o
Deferred income tax benefit. .. ....... ... ... . ... . ...
Other assets .. ... ...
Total NON-CUITENt @SSELS. . . .. oot vttt e e et e e e
Total assets. .. ... ... . e

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accountspayable . ... ... ...
Short-term borrowWings . . . ... .o ittt
Income taxes payable. ... ... .. ... .
Current portion of long-term debt and other long-term obligations. . . ... ...
Other current liabilities. . . .. ... .
Total current liabilities. .. ......... ... .. ..
Non-current liabilities:
Long-termdebt. ....... ...
Other long-term obligations. .. ............o i,
Deferred income tax liability .. ............. ... ... i
Total non-current liabilities . .. ......... ... ... .. .. .. ...
Total liabilities. . . ...... .. ... ... .. ..

Equity

Ordinary Shares . . .. ....ot ittt e
Additional paid-incapital .. ....... ... .. .. e
Retained earnings . .. ...ttt e
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ....... ... ... ... L.

Less: Treasury stock —atcost. .. ...
Total equity . ... ... ..
Total liabilities and equity ... ........... ... ... ... ... .. .. .. ...

As at
31 December 31 December
Note 2018 2017

$ 388.1 $ 292.1

5 2,881.0 3,612.4
6 2,580.2 2,542.7
7 4433 683.1
6,292.6 7,130.3

8 2,186.3 2,349.5
9 13,664.6 15,245.8
9 9,747.8 10,205.7
16 612.5 549.9
7 196.8 295.9
26,408.0 28,646.8

$ 32,700.6 $ 35,777.1

13 § 1,617.0 $ 1,4525
14 1.9 46.5
16 121.5 112.9
14 699.8 1,808.9
7 2,147.6 2,964.5
4,587.8 6,385.3

14 13,157.6 12,849.1
7 1,096.8 1,235.7
16 1,667.2 1,946.6
15,921.6 16,031.4
20,509.4 22,416.7

6.0 6.0

9,529.4 9,524.2

4,779.9 4,447.0
15 (1,124.4) (49.1)
13,190.9 13,928.1

22 999.7 567.7
12,191.2 13,360.4

$ 32,700.6 $ 35,777.1
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Equity

(In millions of U.S. Dollars)

Balance as at 31 December 2016

Net earnings. ... ..ottt

Other comprehensive earnings, netoftax...............
Issuance of restricted stock and stock options exercised, net
Share-based compensation expense ...................
Ordinary share repurchase. . .........................
Taxes related to the net share settlement of equity awards . .

Reclassification of actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension plans, net of tax

Netearnings. ... ...ovuteee et
Other comprehensive loss, netoftax ..................
Ordinary share repurchase. . .........................
Share-based compensation expense ...................
Issuance of restricted stock and stock options exercised, net
Taxes related to the net share settlement of equity awards . .

Cumulative effect of the adoption of new accounting
standards

Reclassification of actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension plans, net of tax

Accumulated other

Ordinary Additional Treasury Retained comprehensive Noncontrolling
shares paid in capital stock earnings earnings (loss) Total interest Total

$ 6.0 $ 9,435.1 $ 67.5) $ 3,779.7  $ (1,949.8) $ 11,2035 $ 14 $ 11,204.9
— — — 662.6 — 662.6 — 662.6
— — — — 1,904.9 1,904.9 — 1,904.9
— 17.8 — — — 17.8 — 17.8
— 75.7 — — — 75.7 — 75.7
— — (500.2) — — (500.2) — (500.2)
— 4.4) — — — 4.4) — 4.4)
— — — 4.2 4.2) — — —
— — — 0.5 — 0.5 (1.4) 0.9)

$ 60 § 9,5242 $ (567.7) $ 44470 $ 49.1) $ 13,3604 $ — S 13,360.4
— — — 306.8 — 306.8 — 306.8
— — — — (1,058.9) (1,058.9) — (1,058.9)
— — (432.0) — — (432.0) — (432.0)
— 0.1 — — — 0.1 — 0.1
— 17.7 — — — 17.7 — 17.7
— (12.6) — — — (12.6) — (12.6)
— — — 15.7 9.5) 6.2 — 6.2
— — — 6.9 6.9) — — —
— — — 3.5 — 3.5 — 3.5

$ 60 $ 9,529.4 § 999.7) $ 4,7799 $ (1,124.4) $ 12,1912 § — 12,191.2
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions of U.S.

Dollars)

for the year ended 31 December

Cash flows from operating activities:

Earnings before inCOmMe taxes. . . ... .. ... ...ttt

Adjustments to reconcile earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interest to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation and amoOrtiZation . . . . . ..o v ittt et ettt e e e e e

Litigation settlements and other contingencies, Net . . . ... ...ttt

Loss from equity method inVeStmMents . .. . ...ttt

Share-based COMPENSAtION EXPEMSE . « . . . v vttt ettt et ettt e e e e e

Write off of financing fees

Other non-cash items . . . .

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable . . . ..
Inventories ............
Trade accounts payable. . .

Income taxes. ..........

Other operating assets and liabilities, Net. . . ... ... ...ttt e

Net cash provided by operating activities. . . ............ ... ... ... . i

Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash paid for acquisitions,

Capital expenditures. . . . .

net of cash acquired ......... ... ... .. .. ..

Payments for product rights and other, net. . . ........... ... ... .

Proceeds from sale of assets and subsidiaries

Purchase of marketable securities

Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities. . . ....... ..ot

Net cash used in investing activities . ........... ... ... .. .. .. ... o

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt. . ........ .. . L

Payments of long-term debt . . ... ... ..

Payments of financing fees

Change in short-term borrowings, Net . . ... ...ttt

Purchase of ordinary shares .. ......... . .

Proceeds from exercise of StOCK OPHONS . . ... ..ottt

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards. .. ........ ... ... . ... i

Contingent consideration Payments . . . . ... ...ttt ettt

Acquisition of noncontrolling INterest . . ... ... it

Other items, net

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities. . ....... .. ... .. ... . ... . il

Effect on cash of changes in exchange rates

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. . ...........................

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — beginning of period. . .............................

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash —end of period . . . ............. ... ... ... ... ... . ...

Cash paid during the period for:

Income taxes...........

Interest "

O Interest payments are included in other operating assets and liabilities, net within cash flows from

operating activities.

Note 2018 2017
$ 2644 $ 885.0
20 2,109.9 1,805.8
(31.6) (40.1)
19 78.7 58.0
20 0.2 75.7
14 27 32
298.7 271.0
340.1 (162.2)
(547.6) (129.5)
220.3 144
(229.7) (295.8)
(164.4) (420.7)
2,341.7 2,064.8
(65.9) (167.0)
(252.1) (275.9)
(943.5) (620.3)
29.3 86.7
(63.4) (96.5)
852 96.6
(1,210.4) (976.4)
2,577.9 876.1
(3,165.2) (2,232.7)
(21.4) (10.1)
(44.4) (2.9)
2 (432.0) (500.2)
17.8 17.8
(10.1) (7.4)
(11.9) (26.1)
(0.6) (7.5)
(1.0) (0.1)
(1,090.9) (1,893.1)
(21.0) 276
19.4 (777.1)
369.9 1,147.0
$ 3893 §$ 369.9
$ 2286 $ 285.7
S 4608 S 474.0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1 Nature of operations

Mylan N.V. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company,” “Mylan,” “our” or “we”) are engaged in the global development,
licensing, manufacture, marketing and distribution of generic, branded generic, brand-name and over-the-counter (“OTC”)
pharmaceutical products for resale by others and active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) through three reportable segments
on a geographic basis, North America, Europe and Rest of World. Our North America segment comprises our operations in the
United States (“U.S.”) and Canada. Our Europe segment encompasses our operations across 35 countries within the region,
including France, Italy, Germany, the United Kingdom (the “U.K.”) and Spain. Our Rest of World segment reflects our
operations in more than 120 countries, including our operations in Japan, Australia, China, Brazil, Russia, India, South Africa,
and certain markets in the Middle East and Southeast Asia. Our API business is conducted through Mylan Laboratories Limited
(“Mylan India”), which is included within our Rest of World segment.

Mylan N.V. was originally incorporated as a private limited liability company in the Netherlands in 2014. Mylan became a
public limited liability company in the Netherlands through its acquisition of Abbott Laboratories’ non-U.S. developed markets
specialty and branded generics business (the “EPD Business”) on 27 February 2015. Mylan’s corporate seat is in the
Netherlands; our principal executive offices are in England and our group’s global headquarters is in the U.S. Our ordinary
shares are traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “MYL”. Our ordinary shares were also traded on the Tel
Aviv Stock Exchange (“TASE”). On 10 November 2017, however, the Company announced that it was voluntarily delisting the
Company's ordinary shares from trading on the TASE and the TASE delisting became effective on 12 February 2018.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorized for issuance in
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Mylan N.V. on 02 May 2019.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“IFRS”). An overview of the data required pursuant to article 2:379 of the Dutch
Civil Code is enclosed in Note 31 Subsidiaries. As the company financial information of Mylan N.V. is included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company Income Statement is presented in abbreviated format in accordance with
Article 402, Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, marketable securities and contingent consideration which have been
measured at fair value.

General policies

Principles of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Mylan and those of its wholly owned and majority-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in equity method

affiliates are recorded at cost and adjusted for the Company’s share of the affiliates’ cumulative results of operations, capital
contributions and distributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Foreign currencies

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. Dollars, the reporting currency of Mylan. Income Statements and
Cash Flows of all of the Company’s subsidiaries that have functional currencies other than U.S. Dollars are translated at a
weighted average exchange rate for the period for inclusion in the Consolidated Income Statements and Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, whereas assets and liabilities are translated at the end of the period exchange rates for inclusion in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Translation differences are recorded directly in shareholders’ equity as foreign currency
translation adjustments. Gains or losses on transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiaries’ functional
currency, which arise as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, are recorded in the Consolidated Income
Statements.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The new revenue standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. The core principle of this guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue
when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects
to receive in exchange for those goods or services. This guidance also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes
in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. This guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after 15 December 2017 and can be applied using a full retrospective or modified retrospective approach. The
Company adopted this standard and its updates as of 01 January 2018 and elected to apply the modified retrospective transition
approach utilizing the practical expedient allowing an entity to not restate for contracts completed prior to the date of initial
application. As a result, the Company is recognizing revenue on certain arrangements upon the transfer of control of product
shipments rather than upon sell-through by the customer, and is recording certain costs historically in cost of sales as contra
revenue.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 that replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The impairment of financial assets,
including trade and lease receivables, is now assessed using an expected credit loss model; previously, the incurred loss model
was used. The Company elected to apply an available practical expedient pertaining to the presumption that a trade receivable
does not have a significant financing component if the expected term is less than one year. The Company had no significant
impact to its provisions for doubtful accounts or impairments from this change. The new hedge accounting model introduced by
the standard requires hedge accounting relationships to be based upon the Company’s risk management strategy and objectives,
and to be discontinued only when the relationships no longer qualify for hedge accounting. Unrealized gains and losses from
changes in fair value on certain financial instruments, which were previously classified as available-for-sale marketable
securities, which were previously recognized in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, are recognized in
the Consolidated Income Statement beginning 01 January 2018. The Company applied the modified retrospective method upon
adoption of IFRS 9 on 01 January 2018. This method requires the recognition of the cumulative effect of initially applying
IFRS 9 to retained earnings and not to restate prior years.

The cumulative effect of the changes made to our consolidated 01 January 2018 balance sheet for the adoption of IFRS 15 and
IFRS 9 were as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Balance as at Balance as at
31 December Adjustments Adjustments 01 January
(In millions) 2017 Due to IFRS 15  Due to IFRS 9 2018
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ............. $ 6831 $§ 92 % — $ 6923
Liabilities
Deferred income tax liability ........................ 1,946.6 3.0 — 1,949.6
Equity
Retained earnings .. ............................... 4,447.0 6.2 9.5 4,462.7
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . ............... (49.1) — 9.5) (58.6)

The impact of adopting IFRS 15 on our Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated Balance Sheet was as follows:

For the Year Ended 31 December 2018
Balances Without Effect of Change

Adoption of IFRS Increase
(In millions) As Reported 15 (Decrease)
Consolidated Income Statement
Revenues .. ... . $ 11,4339 § 11,588.4 § (154.5)
Costofsales..........ooiii e 7,432.3 7,593.9 (161.6)
Incometax benefit. . ........ ... ... (42.4) (44.7) 23
Net CarningsS. . ..ottt ettt ettt 306.8 302.0 4.8
31 December 2018
Balances Without Effect of Change
Adoption of IFRS Increase
(In millions) As Reported 15 (Decrease)
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . ..................... $ 4433 § 436.2 $ 7.1
Income taxes payable ......... ... ... ... .. 121.5 119.2 2.3
Retained earnings .. ......... ...t 4,779.9 4,775.1 4.8

Consolidated Income Statement policies
Revenue recognition

On 01 January 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) using the modified
retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of the date of adoption. Results for reporting
periods beginning on 01 January 2018 are presented under IFRS 15, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue
to be reported in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue (“IAS 187). Under IAS 18, the Company recognized net sales when title and
risk of loss passed to its customers and when provisions for estimates, as described below, were reasonably determinable.

Under IFRS 15, the Company recognizes net revenue for product sales when control of the promised goods or services is
transferred to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods
or services. Revenues are recorded net of provisions for variable consideration, including discounts, rebates, governmental
rebate programs, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, promotional programs and other sales allowances. Accruals for these
provisions are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions in determining net sales and as a contra asset in
accounts receivable, net (if settled via credit) and other current liabilities (if paid in cash). The following briefly describes the
nature of our provisions for variable consideration and how such provisions are estimated:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

*  Chargebacks: the Company has agreements with certain indirect customers, such as independent pharmacies, retail
pharmacy chains, managed care organizations, hospitals, nursing homes, governmental agencies and pharmacy benefit
managers, which establish contract prices for certain products. The indirect customers then independently select a
wholesaler from which to purchase the products at these contracted prices. Alternatively, certain wholesalers may enter
into agreements with indirect customers that establish contract pricing for certain products, which the wholesalers
provide. Under either arrangement, Mylan will provide credit to the wholesaler for any difference between the
contracted price with the indirect party and the wholesaler’s invoice price. Such credits are called chargebacks. The
provision for chargebacks is based on expected sell-through levels by our wholesaler customers to indirect customers,
as well as estimated wholesaler inventory levels.

*  Rebates, promotional programs and other sales allowances: this category includes rebate and other programs to assist
in product sales. These programs generally provide that the customer receives credit directly related to the amount of
purchases or credits upon the attainment of pre-established volumes. Also included in this category are prompt pay
discounts, administrative fees and price adjustments to reflect decreases in the selling prices of products.

*  Returns: consistent with industry practice, Mylan maintains a return policy that allows customers to return a product,
which varies country by country in accordance with local practices, generally within a specified period prior (six
months) and subsequent (twelve months) to the expiration date. The Company’s estimate of the provision for returns is
generally based upon historical experience with actual returns.

*  Governmental rebate programs: government reimbursement programs include Medicare, Medicaid, and State
Pharmacy Assistance Programs established according to statute, regulations and policy. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products that are covered by the Medicaid program are required to pay rebates to each state based on a
statutory formula set forth in the Social Security Act. Medicare beneficiaries are eligible to obtain discounted
prescription drug coverage from private sector providers. In addition, certain states have also implemented
supplemental rebate programs that obligate manufacturers to pay rebates in excess of those required under federal law.
Our estimate of these rebates is based on the historical trends of rebates paid as well as on changes in wholesaler
inventory levels and increases or decreases in the level of sales. Also, this provision includes price reductions that are
mandated by law outside of the U.S.

Wholesaler and distributor inventory levels of our products can fluctuate throughout the year due to the seasonality of certain
products, the timing of product demand and other factors. Such fluctuations may impact the comparability of our net sales
between periods.

Consideration received from licenses of intellectual property is recorded as revenue. Royalty or profit share amounts, which are
based on sales of licensed products or technology, are recorded when the customer’s subsequent sales or usages occur. Such
consideration is included in other revenue in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Research and development costs

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses are charged to operations as incurred. Development expenditures are capitalized
to the extent the expenditure is probable to generate future economic benefits. Given this requirement, the Company has not
capitalized development expenditures in the periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share-based compensation

Compensation expense for share-based awards that are expected to vest is measured at the fair value on the date of grant and
recognized over the requisite service period with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of options is determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model, or a lattice model for certain share based awards with market conditions, and the fair
value of restricted stock awards is determined based on the number of shares granted and the quoted price of the Company’s
ordinary shares on the date of the grant. The Company recognizes expense for share-based awards using the graded vesting
method.

Income taxes

Income taxes are comprised of both current and deferred tax. If an underlying transaction is recognized directly in equity, the
related tax effect is also recognized in equity or other comprehensive income. Current tax is tax that will be paid or received for
the current year, applying the tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as of the reporting date. This includes adjustment of
current tax attributable to prior periods. Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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differences arising as the differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated accounts. Deferred tax is determined using the tax rates and tax rules enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date and that are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets relating to deductible temporary differences and loss carry-forwards are only recognized where it is more
likely than not that they will be used and will result in reduced future tax payments.

Consolidated Balance Sheet policies
Business combinations

The Company accounts for acquired businesses using the purchase method of accounting, which requires that the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. The cost to acquire a
business is allocated to the underlying net assets of the acquired business in proportion to their respective fair values. Amounts
allocated to acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) are capitalized at the date of an acquisition and while in
development, the Company’s IPR&D assets are not amortized.

Contingent consideration resulting from business acquisitions is recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date. Each reporting
period thereafter, the Company revalues these obligations and records increases or decreases in their fair value as required as a
charge (credit) to litigation settlements and other contingencies, net within the Consolidated Income Statements.

The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in a business combination
is recorded as goodwill. The Company has a group of five units at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. These cash-generating units (“CGUs”) are defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment.
The allocation of goodwill is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units, based upon an estimate of
the fair value at the acquisition date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the

date of purchase. Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of Mylan, and earn
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost principally determined by the first-in, first-out
method. Provisions for potentially obsolete or slow-moving inventory, including pre-launch inventory, are made based on our
analysis of inventory levels, historical obsolescence and future sales forecasts and are included in cost of sales in the
Consolidated Income Statements.

Marketable securities

On 01 January 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”’) which requires all equity securities to be
measured at fair value with changes recognized through earnings. Marketable debt securities, and marketable equity securities
prior to 01 January 2018, classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value, with net unrealized gains and losses, net of
income taxes, reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss as a component of shareholders’ equity. Net realized gains and
losses on sales of available-for-sale securities are computed on a specific security basis and are included in other expense, net,
in the Consolidated Income Statements. Marketable equity and debt securities classified as trading securities are valued at the
quoted market price from broker or dealer quotations or transparent pricing sources at the reporting date, and realized and
unrealized gains and losses are included in other expense, net, in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost
Financial assets carried at amortized cost include accounts receivables, net. Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost

include trade accounts payable, short-term borrowings, income taxes payable, other current liabilities, long-term debt, including
current portion and other long-term obligations.
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Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of short-term and long-term debt, interest rate swaps, forward contracts
and option contracts. The Company’s financial instruments also include cash and cash equivalents as well as accounts
receivable and accounts payable, the fair values of which approximate their carrying values. As a policy, the Company does not
engage in speculative or leveraged transactions.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging foreign currency and interest rate exposures. The
Company carries derivative instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, determined by reference to market
data such as forward rates for currencies, implied volatilities, and interest rate swap yield curves. The accounting for changes in
the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging
relationship and, if so, the reason for holding it.

From time to time the Company may enter into derivative financial instruments (mainly foreign currency exchange forward
contracts, interest rate swaps and purchased equity call options) designed to: 1) hedge the cash flows resulting from existing
assets and liabilities and transactions expected to be entered into over the next 24 months in currencies other than the functional
currency, 2) hedge the variability in interest expense on floating rate debt, 3) hedge the fair value of fixed-rate notes, 4) hedge
against changes in interest rates that could impact future debt issuances, 5) hedge cash or share payments required on
conversion of issued convertible notes, 6) hedge a net investment in a foreign operation, or 7) economically hedge the foreign
currency exposure associated with the purchase price of non-U.S. acquisitions. Derivatives are recognized as assets or liabilities
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value. When the derivative instrument qualifies as a cash flow hedge, changes in
the fair value are deferred through other comprehensive earnings. If a derivative instrument qualifies as a fair value hedge, the
changes in the fair value, as well as the offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged items, are generally included in
interest expense. When such instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting the changes in fair value are recorded in
the Consolidated Income Statements within other expense, net.

Property, plant and equipment

PP&E are valued at cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation. The cost of acquisition includes expenditures that can be
related directly to the acquisition of the asset. The estimated useful lives of the principal PP&E categories are as follows:

Category Depreciation period
Buildings . . ..o 15 to 39 years
Machinery and eqUIPmMeENt. . . . ... ..ottt e 3 to 18 years
Capitalized sOTtWare . .. ... ... . i e 3 to 7 years
CONSIIUCTION 1N PIOZIESS .« . o v ot et ettt e e e et e e e e et e e et ettt et No depreciation
Land. . ..o No depreciation

PP&E is depreciated using the straight-line method, based on an estimated useful life when the asset is placed into service,
taking into account residual value. PP&E is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of the assets concerned may not be recoverable. Impairments are reversed if and to the extent that the
impairment no longer exists. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at least annually and adjusted if
appropriate.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially recognized at fair value and definite-lived assets are amortized
over an estimated useful life. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. As
products in development are approved for sale, amounts will be allocated to product rights and licenses and will be amortized
over their estimated useful lives. After initial recognition, definite-lived intangible assets acquired separately are stated at cost
less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Amortization is generally recorded on a straight-line basis over
estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 20 years. The Company periodically reviews the original estimated useful lives of
intangible assets and makes adjustments when events indicate that a shorter life is appropriate.

Purchases of developed products and licenses that are accounted for as an asset acquisition are capitalized as intangible assets
and amortized over an estimated useful life. IPR&D assets acquired as part of an asset acquisition are expensed immediately if
they have no alternative future use.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

If an indication of impairment is determined to exist, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, Mylan
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less
costs of disposal or its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or CGU. Measurements of fair value used in this
process represent Level 3 measurements, as they are based on significant inputs not observable in the market.

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 01 April
and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing
the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than its carrying amount, the difference is recognized as an impairment loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill
cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, including IPR&D, are tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as
appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairments are reversed if and to the
extent that the impairment no longer exists.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company estimates the
asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in
the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such
reversal is recognized in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Investments in associates and joint operations

The Company accounts for investments in associates as equity method investments. As at 31 December 2018, these investments
in associates consist of investments in three limited liability companies that own refined coal production plants (the “clean
energy investments”). An associate is an entity over which Mylan has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint operation is an arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are
similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The aggregate of Mylan’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown within other expense, net in the
Consolidated Income Statements. The Company’s investments in joint operations, principally collaborative arrangements, are
not structured through separate vehicles. The Company has several joint operations. The Company accounts for its rights to the
assets and revenues, and obligations for liabilities and expenses related to these joint operations in accordance with the
respective contractual arrangements.

3 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of Mylan’s Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Estimates, assessments and assumptions are evaluated continually and are based on
past experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are deemed reasonable under prevailing
conditions. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. In the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net revenue provisions

Under IFRS 15, revenues are recorded net of provisions for variable consideration, including discounts, rebates, governmental
rebate programs, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, promotional programs and other sales allowances. Accruals for these
provisions are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions in determining net sales and as a contra asset in
accounts receivable, net (if settled via credit) and other current liabilities (if paid in cash). The following briefly describes the
nature of our provisions for variable consideration and how such provisions are estimated:

*  Chargebacks: the Company has agreements with certain indirect customers, such as independent pharmacies, retail
pharmacy chains, managed care organizations, hospitals, nursing homes, governmental agencies and pharmacy benefit
managers, which establish contract prices for certain products. The indirect customers then independently select a
wholesaler from which to purchase the products at these contracted prices. Alternatively, certain wholesalers may enter
into agreements with indirect customers that establish contract pricing for certain products, which the wholesalers
provide. Under either arrangement, Mylan will provide credit to the wholesaler for any difference between the
contracted price with the indirect party and the wholesaler’s invoice price. Such credits are called chargebacks. The
provision for chargebacks is based on expected sell-through levels by our wholesaler customers to indirect customers,
as well as estimated wholesaler inventory levels. We continually monitor our provision for chargebacks and evaluate
our reserve and estimates as additional information becomes available. A change of 5% would have an effect on our
reserve balance of approximately $23.9 million.

*  Rebates, promotional programs and other sales allowances: this category includes rebate and other programs to assist
in product sales. These programs generally provide that the customer receives credit directly related to the amount of
purchases or credits upon the attainment of pre-established volumes. Also included in this category are prompt pay
discounts, administrative fees and price adjustments to reflect decreases in the selling prices of products. A change of
5% would have an effect on our reserve balance of approximately $60.1 million.

*  Returns: consistent with industry practice, Mylan maintains a return policy that allows customers to return a product,
which varies country by country in accordance with local practices, generally within a specified period prior (six
months) and subsequent (twelve months) to the expiration date. The Company’s estimate of the provision for returns is
generally based upon historical experience with actual returns. A change of 5% would have an effect on our reserve
balance of approximately $22.0 million.

*  Governmental rebate programs: government reimbursement programs include Medicare, Medicaid, and State
Pharmacy Assistance Programs established according to statute, regulations and policy. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products that are covered by the Medicaid program are required to pay rebates to each state based on a
statutory formula set forth in the Social Security Act. Medicare beneficiaries are eligible to obtain discounted
prescription drug coverage from private sector providers. In addition, certain states have also implemented
supplemental rebate programs that obligate manufacturers to pay rebates in excess of those required under federal law.
Our estimate of these rebates is based on the historical trends of rebates paid as well as on changes in wholesaler
inventory levels and increases or decreases in the level of sales. Also, this provision includes price reductions that are
mandated by law outside of the U.S. A change of 5% would have an effect on our reserve balance of approximately
$11.1 million.

The following table presents a reconciliation of gross sales to net sales by each significant category of variable consideration
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

Year Ended 31 December

(In millions) 2018 2017
GTOSS SALES . o ot e $ 19,588.1 $ 22,206.1
Gross to net adjuStments: . . . .. ..ot
Chargebacks. . .. ..o (3,352.2) (4,239.5)
Rebates, promotional programs and other sales allowances. . ............................. (4,235.6) (5,281.1)
RtUINS. . . o (261.6) (390.7)
Governmental rebate Programs . . ... .. ... ..ttt e (470.0) (534.8)
Total gross to net adjustments. . . . ... ...ttt e e $ (8,319.4) $(10,446.1)
NEESALES. . o et et et e e e e $ 11,268.7 $ 11,760.0

75



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The following is a rollforward of the categories of variable consideration during 2018:

Current
Provision
Related to Checks/
Balance as at Sales Made in Credits Issued Effects of Balance as at
31 December the Current to Third Foreign 31 December
(In millions) 2017 Period Parties Exchange 2018
Chargebacks. ............................. $ 5743 $ 33522 §  (3,447.1) $ 12) $ 478.2
Rebates, promotional programs and other sales
QULOWANCES « -+« e v eeee e 1,508.1 4235.6 (4,526.0) (15.3) 1,202.4
REMUINS .« o ee e e e e e 472.5 261.6 (292.1) (2.5) 439.5
Governmental rebate programs . .. ............ 240.3 470.0 (486.6) (1.5) 2222
Total . ..ot $ 2,7952 $ 83194 $ (8,751.8) $ (20.5) $  2,342.3

Accruals for these provisions are presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as reductions in determining net revenues
and in accounts receivable and other current liabilities. Accounts receivable are presented net of allowances relating to these
provisions, which were comprised of the following at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

31 December 31 December

(In millions) 2018 2017

Accounts receivable. . . . ... $ 1,7156 $§ 19772

Other current liabilities . . ... ... .. i 626.7 818.0
Total . .. e $§ 23423 § 27952

We have not made and do not anticipate making any significant changes to the methodologies that we use to measure provisions
for variable consideration; however, the balances within these reserves can fluctuate significantly through the consistent
application of our methodologies. Historically, we have not recorded in any current period any material amounts related to
adjustments made to prior period reserves.

Income taxes

We compute our income taxes based on the statutory tax rates and tax reliefs available to Mylan in the various jurisdictions in
which we generate income. Significant judgment is required in determining our income taxes and in evaluating our tax
positions. We establish reserves in accordance with Mylan’s policy regarding accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Our
policy provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position be recognized in Mylan’s financial statements, only if the
position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based on the technical merits of the position. We adjust these
reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the settlement of a tax audit. Our provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves. Favorable resolution would be recognized as a reduction to
our provision for income taxes in the period of resolution or expiration of the underlying statutes of limitation. Based on this
evaluation, as of 31 December 2018, our reserve for unrecognized tax benefits totaled $96.3 million.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be
generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the
cumulative loss incurred in certain taxing jurisdictions over the three-year period ended 31 December 2018. Such objective
evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence such as our projections for future growth.

Based on this evaluation and other factors, as at 31 December 2018, a valuation allowance of $802.9 million has been recorded
in order to measure only the portion of the deferred tax asset that more likely than not will be realized. The amount of the
deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the
carryforward period are reduced or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and
additional weight may be given to subjective evidence such as projections for growth. When assessing the realizability of
deferred tax assets, management considers all available evidence, including historical information, long-term forecasts of future
taxable income and possible tax planning strategies. Amounts recorded for valuation allowances can result from a complex
series of estimates, assumptions and judgments about future events. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making these
estimates, assumptions and judgments, actual results could differ materially. Any future increases to the Company’s valuation
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allowances could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations. At 31 December
2018 and 2017, the Company’s net deferred tax assets totaled $612.5 million and $549.9 million, respectively.

Business combinations and contingent consideration

The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
a business combination, as well as asset lives, can materially impact the Company’s results of operations. Fair values and useful
lives are determined based on, among other factors, the expected future period of benefit of the asset, the various characteristics
of the asset and projected cash flows. Because this process involves management making estimates with respect to future sales
volumes, pricing, new product launches, government reform actions, anticipated cost environment and overall market
conditions, and because these estimates form the basis for the determination of whether or not future impairment charges should
be recorded, these estimates are considered to be significant accounting estimates.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations can result from adjustments to the discount rates, payment
periods and adjustments in the probability of achieving future development steps, regulatory approvals, market launches, sales
targets and profitability. These fair value measurements represent Level 3 measurements, as they are based on significant inputs
not observable in the market. Significant judgment is employed in determining the assumptions utilized as of the acquisition
date and for each subsequent measurement period. Accordingly, changes in the assumptions described above could have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Legal matters

Mylan is involved in various legal proceedings, some of which involve claims for substantial amounts. An estimate is made to
accrue for a loss contingency relating to any of these legal proceedings if it is probable that a liability was incurred as of the
date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Because of the subjective nature inherent in
assessing the outcome of litigation and because of the potential that an adverse outcome in a legal proceeding could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price, such
estimates are considered to be critical accounting estimates.

A variance of 5% between estimated and recorded litigation reserves (excluding indemnified claims) and actual resolution of
certain legal matters would have an effect on our litigation reserve balance of approximately $2.7 million. Refer to Note 24,
Litigation for further discussion of litigation matters.

4 Business combinations and other transactions
Apicore Inc.

On 03 October 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of Apicore, Inc. (“Apicore”), a U.S. based developer and
manufacturer of API for approximately $174.9 million, net of cash acquired, which includes estimated contingent consideration
of approximately $4.0 million related to the potential $15.0 million payment contingent on the achievement of certain 2017
financial results of the acquired business. As at 31 December 2017, the contingent consideration liability was zero as Apicore
did not achieve the financial results that would have triggered the contingent consideration payment.

The allocation of the $174.9 million purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for this business is as follows:

(In millions of USD)

Current assets (net of cash acquired) .. ... ... . $ 6.5
Identified INtan@ible aSSEtS . . . . .. oottt e 121.0
GoOdWill. ..o 92.2
Ot @SSEES. . . . o vttt ettt e e e e e e e 1.9
Total assets aCqUITEd . . .. .. ..t t 221.6
Current Habilities . . .. ... . 4.0
Deferred tax labilities . .. ... ... . (40.9)
Other non-current lHabilities . . . ... .. ... (.7
Net assets aCqUITEA. . . . .. ..ottt e e e e e e $ 174.9
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The acquisition of Apicore added a diversified portfolio of API products to the Company’s existing portfolio. The identified
intangible assets of $121.0 million are comprised of product rights and licenses with a weighted average useful life of seven
years and includes IPR&D with a fair value of $9.0 million at the date of the acquisition. Significant assumptions utilized in the
valuation of identified intangible assets were based on company specific information and projections which are not observable
in the market and are thus considered Level 3 measurements. The goodwill of $92.2 million arising from the acquisition
consisted largely of the value of the employee workforce and the expected value of products to be developed in the future. All
of the goodwill was allocated to the North America segment. None of the goodwill recognized in this transaction is currently
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The acquisition did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations since the acquisition date or on a pro forma basis for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Other transactions

On 01 December 2018, the Company and certain subsidiaries of Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited entered into an
agreement for Mylan to distribute a portfolio of prescription and OTC products in Australia and New Zealand. The agreement
includes an option for Mylan to purchase the rights to the portfolio for approximately $135 million. In March 2019, the
Company exercised the option, and the parties began negotiating an asset purchase agreement. The consideration of
approximately $135.0 million includes a payment due at closing of approximately $64.0 million and an amount due one year
later of approximately $71.0 million. An agreement is expected to be finalized in 2019. Completion of the transaction will be
subject to customary closing conditions.

On 31 August 2018, the Company completed an agreement with certain subsidiaries of Novartis AG (“Novartis”) to purchase
the worldwide rights to their global cystic fibrosis products consisting of the TOBI Podhaler® and TOBI® solution.
Tobramycin is the standard of care for treatment of pseudomonas aeruginosa, a leading driver of infection in cystic fibrosis.
These products further strengthen our existing presence in cystic fibrosis, especially with our Creon Franchise in Europe,
Australia, Japan and Canada. The asset acquisition allows us to further extend our respiratory franchise into rare/orphan disease
indications and broaden our portfolio into dry powdered inhalers and nebulized products. Tobi Podhaler™ is manufactured
using a proprietary Pulmosphere technology for which we have acquired exclusive rights for use, hence we expect a high
barrier for generic entry.

Under the terms of the agreement, Novartis is owed fixed consideration of $463.0 million which consists of $240.0 million
which was paid at closing and deferred payments of $130.0 million included in other current liabilities and $93.0 million
included in other long-term obligations, due in 2019 and 2020, respectively. Novartis is also eligible to receive a contingent
payment of up to $20 million. The Company also entered into a supply agreement with Novartis to purchase the products for up
to three years from the date of closing. The Company has recorded a liability of approximately $91 million related to supply
obligations.

The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition and recognized an intangible asset for the product rights of
$574.8 million. The intangible asset is being amortized over a useful life of 10 years.

On 28 February 2018, the Company and Revance Therapeutics, Inc. (“Revance”) entered into a collaboration agreement (the
“Revance Collaboration Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Revance will collaborate exclusively, on a world-wide
basis (excluding Japan), to develop, manufacture and commercialize a biosimilar to the branded biologic product
(onabotulinumtoxinA) marketed as BOTOX®.

Under the Revance Collaboration Agreement, the Company will be primarily responsible for (a) clinical development activities
outside of North America (excluding Japan) (the “ex-U.S. Mylan territories”), (b) regulatory activities, and (c)
commercialization for any approved product. Revance will be primarily responsible for (a) non-clinical development activities,
(b) clinical development activities in North America, and (c) manufacturing and supply of clinical drug substance and drug
product; Revance will be solely responsible for an initial portion of non-clinical development costs. The remaining portion of
any non-clinical development costs and clinical development costs for obtaining approval in the U.S. and Europe will be shared
equally between the parties, and the Company will be responsible for all other clinical development costs and
commercialization expenses. Upon closing, Revance received a non-refundable upfront payment of $25.0 million. In addition,
under the Revance Collaboration Agreement, Revance can receive potential development milestone payments of up to $100.0
million, in the aggregate, upon the achievement of specified clinical and regulatory milestones and potential tiered sales
milestones of up to $225.0 million. In addition, Mylan will pay Revance royalties on sales of the biosimilar in the ex-U.S.
Mylan territories. The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition of IPR&D and the total upfront payment
was expensed as a component of R&D expense during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company completed four agreements to acquire certain intellectual property
rights and marketing authorizations for products that were in the development stage, including agreements with Fujifilm Kyowa
Kirin Biologics Co., Ltd. (“FKB”), Mapi Pharma Ltd., and Lupin Limited. The Company also completed the acquisition of
intellectual property rights and marketing authorizations related to a commercialized product in certain rest of world markets
for $220.0 million, of which $160.0 million was paid at closing and $20 million was paid in the fourth quarter of 2018, with the
remaining amount due in 2019 and included in other current liabilities. The Company is accounting for these transactions as
asset acquisitions and a useful life of five years is being used to amortize the asset related to the commercialized product. The
Company recorded expense of approximately $53.7 million as a component of R&D expense related to non-refundable upfront
payments for agreements for products in development during the year ended 31 December 2018. Certain of the agreements
include additional development and commercial milestones.

On 22 February 2018, the Company in-licensed European rights to Hulio™, a biosimilar to AbbVie Inc.'s (“AbbVie”) Humira®
(adalimumab), including a sub-license to certain of AbbVie’s European patents, from FKB. On 27 February 2019, the Company
updated its arrangements with FKB for the commercialization of Hulio™. Under the updated arrangements, Mylan has in-
licensed exclusive global commercialization rights for Hulio™. The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset
acquisition of IPR&D and a net non-contingent amount due to FKB of approximately $23.3 million was expensed as a
component of R&D expense in 2019.

As part of the Meda acquisition, the Company acquired the in-licensed rights to Betadine in certain European markets. These
rights were set to expire on 31 December 2017. Under the licensing agreement, Meda had a binding option to acquire a
perpetual license for the rights to Betadine under certain conditions. In October 2017, the Company finalized an agreement to
acquire the perpetual license. An estimated liability of approximately $300 million for the purchase of these rights was accrued
for on the Meda acquisition opening balance sheet. On 02 January 2018, the Company paid the amounts due to acquire the
perpetual license.

On 25 December 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to reacquire certain intellectual property rights and marketing
authorizations related to a product commercialized in Japan for $90.0 million, which was paid in 2018. The Company
accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition and the asset is being amortized over a useful life of five years.

On 30 November 2017, the Company entered into an exclusive license and supply agreement with Natco Pharma Limited for
API related to the Company’s Glatiramer Acetate Injection 40 mg/mL product for $22.5 million paid at closing and $29.5
million due through 2020. The license grants the Company the exclusive right to license, market and sell the product in North
America and certain other territories. The intangible asset recognized totaled $52 million and was amortized over a useful life
of 15 months.

On 29 September 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of intellectual property rights and marketing authorizations
related to a product in certain markets for $40 million. The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition and
the asset is being amortized over a useful life of five years.

On 19 June 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of a portfolio of four generic pharmaceutical products in the U.S. The
acquisition price was $256.7 million and the Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition. The intangible
asset recognized totaled $252.5 million with the remaining assets primarily consisting of receivables. The intangible asset was
being amortized over a useful life of seven years through 31 December 2018. Subsequently, the Company has revised the
remaining useful life to four years.

On 02 June 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of additional intellectual property rights and marketing authorizations
in certain rest of world markets for a product that the Company previously licensed in certain European markets. The
acquisition price was $128.0 million and the Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition. The intangible
asset is being amortized over a useful life of five years.

On 29 March 2017, the Company announced that it had completed its acquisition of the global rights to the Cold-EEZE® brand
cold remedy line from ProPhase Labs, Inc. for approximately $50 million in cash. The Company accounted for this transaction

as an asset acquisition and the asset is being amortized over a useful life of 15 years.

On 14 February 2017, the Company entered into a joint development and marketing agreement for a respiratory product that
resulted in approximately $50 million in R&D expense during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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5 Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net was comprised of the following as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Trade receivables, NEt . . . ... ... $ 24165 $ 3,173.1
Other receivables. . . . ... 464.5 439.3
Accounts receivable, net . . ... ... ... $ 2,881.0 $§ 3,6124

Mylan performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral. Approximately 21% and
35% of the accounts receivable balances represent amounts due from three customers at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The following table represents a roll-forward of the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts:

(In millions of USD) Total
Asat31 December 2016 . .. .. ... .. ... $ 59.0
Additions Charged to Costs and EXPenses . .. .. ..ottt ettt et 16.8
Additions Charged to Other ACCOUNLS . . .. ... ...ttt et e e et e 6.0
DedUCHIONS . .ottt e 6.5)
Asat31 December 2017 . ... ... ... $ 75.3
Additions Charged to Costs and EXPenses . .. .. ..ottt et ettt e 323
Additions Charged to Other ACCOUNLS . . .. ... ...ttt ettt ettt e 0.2
DedUCHIONS . ..\ttt e e 9.6)
Asat31 December 2018 . . ... ... ... $ 98.2

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s write-offs have represented less than 1% of total accounts
receivable, net at period end. As such, the Company historically has not experienced significant customer collectibility issues.

6 Inventories

Inventories were comprised of the following as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

As at

31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017

Inventory by category

Raw materials . . .. ... $ 9557 $ 895.5
WOTK 10 PrOCESS. . . oo ottt e e 369.9 384.7
Finished goods . ... ... . 1,254.6 1,262.5

§ 2,5802 § 2,542.7

Inventory reserves totaled $228.2 million and $171.0 million at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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7 Consolidated balance sheet components
Selected balance sheet components consist of the following:

Cash and restricted cash

As at
December 31, December 31,
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ...... ... ... ittt e $ 388.1 $ 292.1
Restricted cash, included in prepaid expenses and other currentassets. . ..................... 1.2 77.8
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash . . ...................................... $ 389.3 § 369.9
Prepaid and other current assets
As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Prepaid eXpenses. . . . ..ot $ 130.6 $ 119.8
Restricted cash .. ... ... 1.2 77.8
Available-for-sale fixed income securities ... ........... .. ... 12 25.0 31.5
Fair value of financial instruments . . ... ... ... .. 12 33.8 88.9
Equity SECUIItIES . . . ..ottt e e e 12 325 79.1
Other CUITENT @SSELS. . . . . vttt ettt et et e e e e e e e ettt 220.2 286.0
Prepaid and other current assets. . .. .............. ... ... .. $ 4433 § 683.1

Prepaid expenses consists primarily of prepaid rent, insurance and other individually insignificant items. At 31 December 2017,
restricted cash principally related to amounts deposited in escrow for contingent consideration payments related to the
Company’s acquisition of Agila Specialties Private Limited (“Agila”). During the year ended 31 December 2018,
approximately $51.0 million of restricted cash was remitted to Strides Arcolab Limited (“Strides Arcolab”) as part of the final

settlement of the Agila contingent consideration and $23.5 million to Merck KGaA for the remittance of certain income tax
refunds.

Other assets

As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Equity method investments, clean energy investments. . ... ......................... 10 $ 138.7 $ 226.0
Other 1ong-term assets . ... ... ..ttt e e 58.1 69.9

Other assets . . ... $ 196.8 $ 295.9
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Other current liabilities

As at

31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Accrued sales allowances $ 626.7 $ 818.0
Payroll and employee benefit liabilities 399.7 404.6
Legal and professional accruals, including litigation accruals 128.1 241.1
Contingent consideration 12 158.3 167.8
Restructuring 26 62.3 91.5
Equity method investments, clean energy investments 10 45.1 56.7
Accrued interest 62.4 423
Fair value of financial instruments 12 29.4 31.1
Other 635.6 1,111.4
Other current liabilities $ 21476 $ 29645

Accrued sales allowances relate to customer contract liabilities.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company announced the voluntary recall of valsartan and certain combination valsartan
medicines in various countries due to the detection of trace amounts of an impurity, N-nitrosodiethylamine (“NDEA”)
contained in the API valsartan, USP, manufactured by Mylan India. The impact of this recall on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately $22.6 million, primarily related to recall costs
and inventory reserves. Depending on the scope of regulatory actions, and severity of the impurity, the Company may face
additional loss of revenues and profits and incur contractual or other litigation costs. There can be no assurance that future costs
related to the recall will not exceed amounts recorded.

Other long-term obligations

As at

31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Employee benefit liabilities .. ......... ... .. ... ... . . . $ 397.7 $ 408.2
Contingent consideration . .. .............uiuirtin ittt 12 197.0 285.9
Equity method investments, clean energy investments. . ........... ..., 11 100.3 171.8
Tax CONINZENCICS . . . . ot i ettt ettt e e et e e e e e et e e 17 162.1 237.7
L 11 1T P 239.7 132.1
Other long-term obligations. . . ........... ... ... ... . ... ... .. ... . i $ 1,09.8 $ 1,235.7
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8 Property, plant and equipment, net

The following is a rollforward of property, plant and equipment, net from 31 December 2017 to 31 December 2018:

(In millions of USD)

Property, plant and equipment, net Total
As at31 December 2016, . . ... ... $ 273325
ASSCt PUICRASES . . ..ot 265.0
DD e CIAtION . . . o oottt e e e e e (287.6)
DSPOSaALS, Nt . . . oottt e (90.7)
Foreign currency translation. . . ... ... ... . 130.3
As at 31 December 2007 . . . ... ... $ 23495
ASSet PUICHASES . . . . o e e e 248.9
DePIECIAtION . . o . o\ttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e (279.5)
DISPOSaAlS, MOt . . . oot e (53.7)
Foreign currency translation. . . . ... ... ... .t e e (78.9)
As at 31 December 2018, . . . ... $ 21863
Below is a summary of property, plant and equipment by asset category:
As at
31 December 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Property, plant and equipment:

Machinery and €qUIPMENTt . . .. .. ..ttt e $ 24212 $§ 24145

Buildings and improvements . . .. ... ...t 1,182.3 1,191.7

CONSIIUCHION 1N PIOGIESS. « « v o v vt ot ettt e et e ettt e ettt e e e et et e 239.7 252.9

Land and improvements. . . . .. ...ttt et e e e 147.4 153.5
Gross property, plant and eqUIPMENt . . ... ... i 3,990.6 4,012.6

Accumulated depreciation . ... ........ ... i 1,804.3 1,663.1
Property, plant and equipment, N€t . . ... ... . e $ 21863 $ 23495

Capitalized software costs included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets were $112.0 million and $143.0 million, net of
accumulated depreciation, at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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9 Intangible assets and goodwill
(In millions of USD)
Product Total
Patents and rights and intangible

Cost technologies licenses IPR&D Other® assets Goodwill® Total

As at 31 December 2016. ... .......... $ 116.6 $ 16,9684 $ 921.1 $ 4659 §$ 18,472.0 $ 9,6169 $ 28,0889
Business acquisitions ¥ . .. .. ... .. ..., — 121.0 — — 121.0 99.9 220.9
Assetpurchases ..................... — 619.3 — — 619.3 — 619.3
Reclassifications . ... ... .. ... .. — 59.9 (59.9) — — — —
Impairment. ........................ — (6.2) (74.6) — (80.8) — (80.8)
Disposals ... — (43.1) — — (43.1) (1.3) (44.4)
Foreign currency translation. . .......... — 2,043.6 26.6 6.7) 2,063.5 875.2 2,938.7
As at 31 December 2017.............. $ 116.6 $ 19,7629 $ 8132 $ 4592 $ 21,1519 $10,590.7 $ 31,742.6
Assetpurchases ..................... — 927.7 — — 927.7 — 927.7
Reclassifications . ... ... .. ... .. — 50.6 (50.6) — — — —
Impairment. ........................ — (106.3) 117.7) — (224.0) — (224.0)
Disposals .......................... — “4.1) — — 4.1) — 4.1)
Foreign currency translation. . .......... — (973.8) (19.3) 313 (961.8) (457.9) (1,419.7)
As at 31 December 2018........... ... $ 1166 § 19,6570 § 6256 §$ 4905 § 20,889.7 §$10,132.8 § 31,022.5
Accumulated Amortization

As at 31 December 2016. . ............ $ 1085 §  3,585.7 $§ 3300 § 40242 § 3850 $ 4,409.2
Amortization. .. ..................... 4.6 1,384.5 48.3 1,437.4 — 1,437.4
Disposals ...........coiiiiiiiiin. — (11.0) — (11.0) — (11.0)
Foreign currency translation. ........... — 414.5 41.0 455.5 — 455.5
As at 31 December 2017.............. $ 113.1  $ 53737 $ 4193 $§ 59061 $ 3850 $ 6,291.1
Amortization. . ...................... 35 1,558.7 44.2 1,606.4 — 1,606.4
Disposals .....................o.... — (3.2) — 3.2) — (3.2)
Foreign currency translation. . .......... — (266.9) (17.3) (284.2) — (284.2)
As at 31 December 2018.............. $ 116.6 §  6,662.3 $ 4462 § 72251 $ 3850 $ 7,610.1
Net book value

As at 31 December 2017 .............. $ 35 § 143892 § 8132 $ 399 § 152458 §10,205.7 § 254515
As at31 December 2018 .............. $ — $ 129947 $ 6256 $ 443 $ 13,6646 $ 9,747.8 $ 234124

@
()

Other intangibles consist principally of customer lists, contractual rights and other contracts.

related to the acquisition of Apicore totaling approximately $7.7 million and $92.2 million, respectively.

3)

approximately $121.0 million.
(C]

Represents reclassifications from acquired IPR&D to product rights and licenses.

In 2017, includes measurement period adjustments related to the acquisition of Meda and the recognition of goodwill

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company acquired product rights and licenses from Apicore totaling

Amortized intangible assets, which consist primarily of product rights and licenses, had a weighted average life of 15 years as

at 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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Product rights and licenses are primarily comprised of the products marketed at the time of acquisition. These product rights
and licenses relate to numerous individual products, the net book value of which, by therapeutic franchise, is as follows:

As at

31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Central Nervous System and Anesthesia . .............. . it $ 2,1489 $ 24537
Dermatology . . .« .ot 2,125.7 2,393.0
GastrOCNIEIOLOZY . . . . . ettt et e e e e e e 1,790.9 2,050.0
Diabetes and Metabolism . . ... ... .. 1,232.4 1,425.6
CardiovasCUlar . . ... .. 1,541.9 1,779.5
Respiratory and ALlergy . ... ... e 2,084.1 1,769.5
Infectious DiSease . . .. ..ottt 596.0 494.8
ONCOLOgY . . o ettt e 206.0 380.1
Women's Healthcare . . ... ... e 315.1 3714
ImMmunology . . . ..o 258.8 301.5
Other L 694.9 970.1

$ 12,9947 $§ 14,389.2

(" Other consists of numerous therapeutic classes, none of which individually exceeds 5% of total product rights and

licenses.

Amortization expense and intangible asset impairment charges are included as a component of amortization expense and
classified primarily within cost of sales.

The assessment for impairment of finite-lived intangibles is based on our ability to recover the carrying value of the long-lived
assets or asset grouping by analyzing the expected future undiscounted pre-tax cash flows specific to the asset or asset
grouping. If the carrying amount is greater than the undiscounted cash flows, the Company recognizes an impairment loss for
the excess of book value over fair value based on the discounted cash flows.

Significant management judgment is involved in estimating the recoverability of these assets and is dependent upon the
accuracy of the assumptions used in making these estimates, as well as how the estimates compare to the eventual future
operating performance of the specific asset or asset grouping. The fair value of finite-lived intangible assets was calculated as
the present value of the estimated future net cash flows using a market rate of return. The assumptions inherent in the estimated
future cash flows include, among other things, the impact of the current competitive environment and future market
expectations. After-tax discount rates ranging between 9.0% and 10.0% were utilized in the valuations performed during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets totaled
$13.04 billion and $14.43 billion, respectively. Any future long-lived assets impairment charges could have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

The Company’s IPR&D assets are tested at least annually for impairment, but they may be tested whenever certain impairment
indicators are present. Impairment is determined to exist when the fair value of IPR&D assets, which was based upon updated
forecasts and commercial development plans, is less than the carrying value of the assets being tested. The fair value of IPR&D
was calculated as the present value of the estimated future net cash flows using a market rate of return. The assumptions
inherent in the estimated future cash flows include, among other things, the impact of changes to the development programs,
the projected development and regulatory time frames and the current competitive environment. After-tax discount rates
ranging between 9.5% and 13.0%, and 8.4% and 10.5% were utilized in the valuations performed during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The fair value of both IPR&D and finite-lived intangible assets was determined based upon detailed valuations employing the
income approach which utilized Level 3 inputs, as defined in Note 12 Fair Value Measurement. Changes to any of the
Company’s assumptions including changes to or abandonment of development programs, regulatory timelines, discount rates or
the competitive environment related to the assets could lead to future material impairment charges.
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In December 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of the exclusive worldwide rights to develop, manufacture and
commercialize a generic equivalent to GlaxoSmithKline’s Advair® Diskus and Seretide® Diskus incorporating Pfizer Inc.’s
(“Pfizer”) proprietary dry powder inhaler delivery platform (the “respiratory delivery platform”). The Company accounted for
this transaction as a purchase of a business and utilized the acquisition method of accounting. As at 31 December 2018, the
Company has an [IPR&D asset of $347.2 million and related contingent consideration liability of $336.5 million. The Company
performed an analysis and valuation of the IPR&D asset and the fair value of the related contingent consideration liability using
a discounted cash flow model. The model contained certain key assumptions including: the expected product launch date, the
number of competitors, the timing of competition and a discount factor based on an industry specific weighted average cost of
capital. Based on the analysis performed, the Company determined that the fair value of the IPR&D asset was substantially in
excess of its carrying value, and the asset was not impaired at 31 December 2018. Additionally, a fair value adjustment was
required for the related contingent consideration liability resulting in a gain of approximately $44.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 based upon changes to assumptions relating to the timing of the product launch along with other competitive
and market factors. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability was determined based upon detailed valuations
employing the income approach which utilized Level 3 inputs, as defined in Note 12 Fair Value Measurement. On 30 January
2019, the Company received FDA approval of Wixela™ Inhub™ (fluticasone propionate and salmeterol inhalation powder,
USP), the first generic of GlaxoSmithKline’s Advair Diskus®. The commercial launch of the Wixela™ Inhub™ occurred in

February 2019. The Company has reclassified the IPR&D asset of $347.2 million to product rights and licenses in 2019.
Market conditions and other factors may result in significant future changes in the projections and assumptions utilized in the
discounted cash flow model, which could lead to material adjustments to the amount recorded for intangible assets and
contingent consideration.

Intangible asset amortization expense for the years ending 31 December 2019 through 2023 is estimated to be as follows:

(In millions of USD)

200 $ 1,703

2020 L 1,544

202 1,462

202 1,392

2023 e 967
Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the applicable CGU during the measurement period following
an acquisition. In accordance with IAS 36, we have performed impairment testing as of 01 April 2018 (annual assessment date)
by calculating the estimated fair value of the individual CGUs and comparing the value to the respective carrying amount,
including goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. The following table includes the carrying amount of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangibles assets for each of Mylan’s five CGUs at 01 April 2018 and 2017:

As at As at
(In millions of USD) 01 April 2018 01 April 2017

Goodwill IPR&D Goodwill IPR&D

Cash generating unit

North America GENeriCS. . . .ot vttt e e e e e $28921 $ 7582 $29574 $ 923.0
Burope . ... 4,966.8 — 4,297.6 —
India . ... 1,004.8 8.9 1,022.0 11.2
Japan, Australia, New Zealand ("JANZ") .. ... ... ... .. 799.2 — 768.0 —
North AmericaBrands .. ........ ... ... ... . .. 655.4 — 349.1 —
Total. ... $10,3183 $ 767.1 $9,3941 § 9342

Goodwill is allocated and evaluated for impairment at the CGU level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level
below an operating segment.

In estimating each reporting unit’s fair value, the Company performed valuation analyses, utilizing the income approach. Under
the income approach, to determine fair value, the Company discounted the expected future cash flows of each CGU for the
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next five years for each assessment date. The expected future cash flows are based on budgets approved by management. The
Company used a discount rate, which reflected the overall level of inherent risk and the rate of return an outside investor would
have expected to earn. To estimate cash flows beyond the final year of our model, the Company utilized a terminal value
approach. Under this approach, the Company used estimated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”) in the final year of our model, adjusted to estimate a normalized cash flow, applied a perpetuity growth
assumption, and discounted by a perpetuity discount factor to determine the terminal value. The Company incorporated the
present value of the resulting terminal value into our estimate of fair value.

Terminal period growth rate and after-tax discount rate used in the calculations of each CGU’s fair value are shown in the tables
below:

North North
America America
01 April 2018 Generics Europe India JANZ Brands
Terminal period growthrate. . ......... ... ... ... .. . ... 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% —%
DiSCOUNETALE . . ..ottt ettt e e et e e e e e 8.5% 9.0% 11.5% 9.0% 10.0%
North North
America America
01 April 2017 Generics Europe India JANZ Brands
Terminal period growthrate. .. ............................... 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% —%
Discountrate .. ... ...ttt 8.5% 9.0% 11.5% 9.0% 12.5%

The Company performed impairment testing as of 01 April 2018. As it relates to the test performed on 01 April 2018, the North
America Generics, North America Brands, India and JANZ CGUs’ estimated fair values significantly exceeded the respective
carrying values of the CGU and for the Europe CGU, the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value.

The determination of the fair value of each of the CGUs requires the Company to make significant estimates and assumptions
that affect the CGU’s expected future cash flows. These estimates and assumptions primarily include, but are not limited to, the
discount rate, terminal growth rates, earnings from operations excluding depreciation and amortization, and capital expenditures
forecasts. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates.
In addition, changes in underlying assumptions, especially as it relates to the key assumptions detailed, could have a significant
impact on the fair value of the CGUs. The Company’s Europe CGU remains at risk for potential impairment charges if the
projected operating results are not achieved. For the Europe CGU the estimated fair value exceeded their carrying values by
approximately $300 million. If the terminal period growth rate for the Europe CGU is reduced by 50%, assuming no other
changes to assumptions or projections, the respective recoverable amount may be less than its carrying amount. In addition, if
the discount rate for the Europe CGU is increased by 20 basis points, assuming no other changes to assumptions or projections,
the respective recoverable amount may be less than its carrying amount. A future impairment charge could be material to the
Company’s financial statements.

10 Investments in associates

The Company has three equity method investments in limited liability companies that own refined coal production plants (the
“clean energy investments”), whose activities qualify for income tax credits under Section 45 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Company does not consolidate these entities as we have determined that we are
not the primary beneficiary of these entities and do not have the power to individually direct the activities of these entities.
Accordingly, these investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. For each of the clean energy
investments, the Company has entered into notes payable with the respective project sponsor, which in part will be paid to the
sponsor as certain production levels are met.

During 2018, the Company and a project sponsor agreed to terminate two previous investments. Under the termination
agreements, the Company returned its ownership interest in the projects to the sponsor and in exchange the Company will have
no further obligations with respect to the notes payable for these projects.

Also, during 2018, the Company entered into amended agreements related to the three remaining investments. These
amendments effectively reduce the amount of expected future variable debt payments to the respective project sponsor.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 as a result of a decline in the current and expected future production levels at certain
of the facilities, the Company impaired its investment balance and other assets by approximately $47.0 million and reduced the
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related long-term obligations for these investments by approximately $89.0 million resulting in a net gain of $42.0
million which was recognized as a component of other expense, net in the Consolidated Income Statements.

The carrying values and respective balance sheet locations of the Company’s clean energy investments was as follows at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

31 December 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017

Clean Energy Investments:

Ot @SS . . . o ottt e $ 1387 $ 226.0

Total Habilities. . . .. .ottt e e 145.4 228.5
Included in other current liabilities .. ........... .. .. .. . . i 45.1 56.7
Included in other long-term obligations. .. ........ ... ... i 100.3 171.8

Summarized financial information, in the aggregate, of the Company’s equity method investments on a 100% basis as at and for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
CUITENE ASSELS . . . o oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 36.6 $ 56.4
NONCUITENE ASSELS . . . o\ vttt et ettt et e e e e e e e e e et e e et e ettt 23 18.2
TOtal ASSCES . . . ottt 38.9 74.6
Current Habilities. . . . . . ..ot 32.8 56.1
Noncurrent lHabilities. . .. .. ... 1.7 3.6
Total Habilities . . . . ..ottt 345 59.7
Nt @SSEES . & o ottt et e e e e e $ 44 3 14.9
(In millions of USD) Year Ended 31 December
2018 2017
TOtAl FEVEIUES . . . . o oottt e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 4833 $ 473.0
GOS8 0SS .« . ottt (21.1) (12.8)
Operating and NON-0OPErating EXPENSE. . . . . o\ v vttt ettt e ettt ettt e e e e 21.9 22.3
Nt 10SS. oot $ (43.0) $ (35.1)

The Company’s net losses from equity method investments includes amortization expense related to the excess of the cost basis
of the Company’s investment to the underlying assets of each individual investee. For the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017, the Company’s share of the net loss of the equity method investments was $78.7 million and $58.0 million, respectively,
which was recognized as a component of other expense, net. The Company recognizes the income tax credits and benefits from
the clean energy investments as part of its provision for income taxes.

11 Financial instruments and risk management

The Company is exposed to certain financial risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary financial risks that
are managed by using derivative instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.

Foreign currency risk and risk management
A significant portion of our revenues and earnings are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We seek to

manage this foreign exchange risk in part through operational means, including managing same currency revenues in relation
to same currency costs and same currency assets in relation to same currency liabilities.
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From time to time, foreign exchange risk is managed through the use of foreign currency forward-exchange contracts. These
contracts are used to offset the potential earnings effects from mostly intercompany foreign currency assets and liabilities that
arise from operations and from intercompany loans. Mylan’s primary areas of foreign exchange risk relative to the U.S. Dollar
are the Euro, Swedish Krona, Indian Rupee, Japanese Yen, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Pound Sterling and Brazilian
Real. Any unhedged foreign exchange exposures continue to be subject to market fluctuations.

Our financial instrument holdings at year end were analyzed to determine their sensitivity to foreign exchange rate changes.
The fair values of these instruments were determined as follows:

» foreign currency forward-exchange contracts — net present values

» foreign currency denominated receivables, payables, debt and loans — changes in exchange rates

In this sensitivity analysis, we assumed that the change in one currency’s rate relative to the U.S. Dollar would not have an
effect on other currencies’ rates relative to the U.S. Dollar. All other factors were held constant.

If there were an adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates of 10%, the expected net effect on net income related to
Mylan’s foreign currency denominated financial instruments would not be material.

The Company is also exposed to translation risk on non-U.S. dollar-denominated net assets. Non-U.S. dollar borrowings,
principally our Euro denominated long-term debt, are used to hedge the foreign currency exposures of our net investment in
certain foreign affiliates and are designated as hedges of net investments. The foreign exchange gains or losses on these
hedges is included in the foreign currency translation component of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss). If our
net investment decreases below the equivalent value of the non-U.S. debt borrowings, the change in the remeasurement basis
of the debt would be subject to recognition in net income as changes occur.

In order to manage certain foreign currency risks, the Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate risk
associated with changes in spot exchange rates of mainly non-functional currency denominated assets or liabilities. The
foreign exchange forward contracts are measured at fair value and reported as current assets or current liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Any gains or losses on the foreign exchange forward contracts are recognized in earnings in the
period incurred in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company has also entered into forward contracts to hedge forecasted foreign currency denominated sales from certain
international subsidiaries. These contracts are designated as cash flow hedges to manage foreign currency transaction risk and
are measured at fair value and reported as current assets or current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Any changes
in the fair value of designated cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive earnings (“AOCE”) and are
reclassified into earnings when the hedged item impacts earnings.

The Company may hedge the foreign currency risk associated with certain net investment positions in foreign subsidiaries by
either borrowing directly in foreign currencies and designating all or a portion of the foreign currency debt as a hedge of the
applicable net investment position or entering into foreign currency swaps that are designated as hedges of net investments.

The Company designated certain Euro borrowings as a hedge of its investment in certain Euro-functional currency
subsidiaries in order to manage foreign currency translation risk. Borrowings designated as net investment hedges are marked-
to-market using the current spot exchange rate as of the end of the period, with gains and losses included in the foreign
currency translation component of AOCE until the sale or substantial liquidation of the underlying net investments. In
addition, the Company manages the related foreign exchange risk of the Euro borrowings not designated as net investment
hedges through certain Euro denominated financial assets and forward currency swaps.

The following table summarizes the principal amounts of the Company’s outstanding Euro borrowings and the notional
amounts of the Euro borrowings designated as net investment hedges:
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Notional Amount Designated as
a Net Investment Hedge

Principal 31 December 31 December

(in millions) Amount 2018 2017
2.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2024 .. ......... ... ... .coiiin... € 1,0000 € 1,000.0 € 1,000.0
3.125% Euro Senior Notes due 2028 . ............ .. ..ccuviriinin... 750.0 750.0 750.0
1.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2020 . ............. ..., 750.0 104.0 104.0
2.125% Euro Senior Notes due 2025 . ....... ... .. ... i, 500.0 500.0 —
Floating Rate Euro Notes due 2020 . ............................... 500.0 — —
Total .. € 3,5000 € 2,354.0 € 1,854.0

Interest rate risk and risk management

Mylan’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from our U.S. Dollar and Euro borrowings and U.S. Dollar investments.
We invest primarily on a variable-rate basis and we borrow on both a fixed and variable basis. In order to maintain a certain
ratio of fixed to variable rate debt, from time to time, depending on market conditions, Mylan will use derivative financial
instruments such as interest rate swaps to fix interest rates on variable-rate borrowings or to convert fixed-rate borrowings to
variable interest rates.

As at 31 December 2018, Mylan’s long-term fixed rate borrowings consist principally of $12.5 billion notional amount of
senior notes and Euro notes. Generally, the fair value of fixed interest rate debt will decrease as interest rates rise and increase
as interest rates fall. As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of our outstanding fixed rate senior notes and Euro notes was
approximately $13.1 billion. A 100 basis point change in interest rates on Mylan’s variable rate debt, net of interest rate swaps,
would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $14.3 million per year.

The Company enters into interest rate swaps in order to manage interest rate risk associated with the Company’s fixed- and
floating-rate debt. These derivative instruments are measured at fair value and reported as current assets or current liabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Credit risk and risk management

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of interest-bearing investments,
derivatives and accounts receivable.

Mylan invests its excess cash in high-quality, liquid money market instruments, principally overnight deposits and highly rated
money market funds. The Company maintains deposit balances at certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured
amounts. Periodically, the Company reviews the creditworthiness of its counterparties to derivative transactions, and it does
not expect to incur a loss from failure of any counterparties to perform under agreements it has with such counterparties.
Mylan performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral.
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Liquidity risk and capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains adequate capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize stakeholder value. The Company’s net debt/equity ratio as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
is as follows:

As at
31 December 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings. . ... ....... .ottt $13,859.3  $ 14,704.5
Trade accounts payable ... ........ ... 1,617.0 1,452.5
Less: cash and short term deposits. .. ... ...t 388.1 292.1
Netdebt . ... 15,088.2 15,864.9
EqUItY . . ot $ 12,1912  $ 13,360.4
Equity and netdebt . ....... ... .. . . .. $27,279.4  $ 29,2253
Net debt/equity ratio ... ... ... ... ... .. . . . . . 55.3% 54.3%

Cash flow hedging relationships

The Company’s interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges fix the interest rate on a portion of the Company’s variable-
rate debt or hedge part of the Company’s interest rate exposure associated with the variability in the future cash flows
attributable to changes in interest rates. Any changes in fair value are included in earnings or deferred through AOCE,
depending on the nature and effectiveness of the offset. Any ineffectiveness in a cash flow hedging relationship is recognized
immediately in earnings in the Consolidated Income Statements.

In anticipation of issuing fixed-rate debt, the Company may use treasury rate locks or forward starting interest rate swaps that
are designated as cash flow hedges. In September 2015, the Company entered into a series of forward starting swaps to hedge
against changes in interest rates related to future debt issuances. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges of expected
future issuances of long-term bonds. The Company executed $500 million of notional value swaps with an effective date of
June 2016 and an additional $500 million of notional value swaps with an effective date of November 2016. Both sets of
swaps had a maturity of ten years. During the second quarter of 2016, the Company issued $2.25 billion in an aggregate
principal amount of 3.950% Senior Notes due 2026 (the “2026 Senior Notes”) and the Company terminated these swaps. As a
result of this termination, the Company recorded losses of $64.9 million in AOCE, which are being amortized over the life of
the 2026 Senior Notes.

Fair value interest rate swaps

In December 2013, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a notional value of $750 million that were designated as
hedges of the Company’s 3.125% Senior Notes due 2023. The variable rate was 2.86% at 31 December 2018. The total
notional amount of the Company’s interest rate swaps on fixed-rate debt was $750 million as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

These fair value interest rate swaps are not designated for hedge accounting and accordingly no adjustment for the change in
the fair value for the portion of the fixed-rate debt being hedged is recorded. These interest rate swaps are measured at fair
value and reported as assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of the derivative
instrument are recognized in other expense, net.

Certain derivative instrument contracts entered into by the Company are governed by master agreements, which contain
credit-risk-related contingent features that would allow the counterparties to terminate the contracts early and request
immediate payment should the Company trigger an event of default on other specified borrowings. The Company is not
subject to any obligations to post collateral under derivative instrument contracts.

The Company regularly reviews the creditworthiness of its financial counterparties and does not expect to incur a significant
loss from failure of any counterparties to perform under any agreements. The Company records all derivative instruments on a
gross basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accordingly, there are no offsetting amounts that net assets against liabilities.
The asset and liability balances presented in the tables below reflect the gross amounts of derivatives recorded in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fair Values of Derivative Instruments
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

Asset Derivatives

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
(In millions of USD) Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Prepaid expenses and Prepaid expenses and
Foreign currency forward contracts . . .. .. other current assets — other current assets 63.4
Total .. ... ... $ — $ 63.4
Liability Derivatives
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
(In millions of USD) Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Other current Other current
Foreign currency forward contracts . . .. .. liabilities 12.1 liabilities —
Total . ... ... ... $ 12.1 $ —
Fair Values of Derivative Instruments
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Asset Derivatives
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
(In millions of USD) Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Prepaid expenses Prepaid expenses
and other current and other current
Foreign currency forward contracts .. ...... assets $ 30.2 assets $ 9.3
Prepaid expenses Prepaid expenses
and other current and other current
Interest rate swaps. . . ........... . ... assets 3.6 assets 16.2
Total . ... e $ 33.8 $ 25.5
Liability Derivatives
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
(In millions of USD) Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Other current Other current
Foreign currency forward contracts . . ... ... liabilities . .. ...... $ 17.3  liabilities $ 31.1
Total .. ... . $ 17.3 $ 31.1
The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings
Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging Relationships
Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in AOCE (Net of
Tax) on Derivatives (Effective
Year Ended 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Foreign currency borrowings and forward contracts . . .............................. $ 1089 § (238.4)
Total. . . e $ 1089 § (238.4)
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The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships

Amount of (Loss) or Gain
Recognized in AOCE (Net of
Tax) on Derivatives (Effective

Portion)
Year Ended 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Foreign currency forward Contracts . . .. ... ...ttt $ (46.6) $ 28.1
Total. . .. $ (46.6) $ 28.1

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Income Statements
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from AOCE into
Earnings (Effective Portion)

Rléglc';tsii(;“:]e gffl(-f)?:ln :Sgﬁ’is;)m Year Ended 31 December
(In millions of USD) Earnings (Effective Portion) 2018 2017
Foreign currency forward contracts .................. Net sales $ 62 §$ 1.1
Interestrate SWaps. . ......ooiiii Interest expense (7.7) (7.3)
Total. . . e $ (1.5) $ (6.2)

Amount of Loss
Excluded from the Assessment
of Hedge Effectiveness

Year Ended 31 December

Location of Loss Excluded from the

(In millions of USD) Assessment of Hedge Effectiveness 2018 2017
Foreign currency forward contracts .................. Other expense, net $ — 3.3)
Total. . .. $ — § (3.3)

At 31 December 2018, the Company expects that approximately $58.0 million of pre-tax net losses on cash flow hedges will
be reclassified from AOCE into earnings during the next twelve months.

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Income Statements
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Amount of (Loss) or Gain
Recognized in Earnings on

Derivatives
Location of Gain or (Loss) Year Ended 31 December
Recognized in Earnings on
(In millions of USD) Derivatives 2018 2017
Interest rate SWaps. . .. ..ot Other expense, net $ (12.6) $ (10.0)
Foreign currency option and forward contracts ......... Other expense, net 34.8 47.7
TOtal. . . . $ 222 $ 37.7

12 Fair value measurement

Fair value is based on the price that would be received from the sale of an identical asset or paid to transfer an identical liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

In order to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements, a fair value hierarchy has been established that
prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three broad levels, which are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets
or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2:  Observable market-based inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level 3:  Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the
lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible, as well as considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements at fair value on a recurring basis, Mylan
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For financial assets and liabilities that utilize Level 2 inputs, the Company utilizes both direct and indirect observable price
quotes, including the LIBOR yield curve, foreign exchange forward prices, and bank price quotes. Below is a summary of
valuation techniques for Level 1 and Level 2 financial assets and liabilities:

. Cash equivalents — valued at observable net asset value prices.

. Equity securities, exchange traded funds — valued at the active quoted market prices from broker or dealer
quotations or transparent pricing sources at the reporting date. Unrealized gains and losses attributable to changes in
fair value are included in other expense, net, in the Consolidated Income Statements.

. Equity securities, marketable securities — valued using quoted stock prices from public exchanges at the reporting
date. Unrealized gains and losses attributable to changes in fair value are included in other expense, net, in
the Consolidated Income Statements.

. Available-for-sale fixed income investments — valued at the quoted market price from broker or dealer quotations or
transparent pricing sources at the reporting date.

. Interest rate swap derivative assets and liabilities — valued using the LIBOR/EURIBOR yield curves at the
reporting date. Counterparties to these contracts are highly rated financial institutions.

. Foreign exchange derivative assets and liabilities — valued using quoted forward foreign exchange prices at the
reporting date. Counterparties to these contracts are highly rated financial institutions.
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Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are classified in the tables below in one of the three categories described

above:

(In millions of USD)

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial Assets

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds
Total cash equivalents

Equity securities:

Exchange traded funds
Marketable securities
Total equity securities
Available-for-sale fixed income investments:

Corporate bonds

U.S. Treasuries.............

Agency mortgage-backed securities
Asset backed securities

Foreign exchange derivative assets

Interest rate swap derivative assets
Total assets at recurring fair value measurement
Financial Liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative liabilities

Contingent consideration

Total liabilities at recurring fair value measurement

As at 31 December 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
710 § — § — § 71.0
71.0 — — 71.0
31.7 — — 31.7

0.8 — — 0.8
325 — — 325
— 9.9 — 9.9
— 9.4 — 9.4
— 1.6 — 1.6
— 3.2 — 32
— 0.9 — 0.9
— 25.0 — 25.0
— 30.2 — 30.2
— 3.6 — 3.6
1035 $ 588 $ — § 162.3
— 3 294 $ — § 29.4
— — 3553 3553
— 3 294 % 3553 8§ 384.7
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As at 31 December 2017
(In millions of USD) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial Assets

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds. . ................. .. ... .......... $ 84 § — 3 — 3 8.4
Total cashequivalents . .. ........................... 8.4 — — 8.4
Equity securities:
Exchange traded funds. ............................... 339 — — 33.9
Marketable securities . . ... ... 45.2 — — 45.2
Total equity securities . .. ...........covirernrnnnn.. 79.1 — — 79.1
Available-for-sale fixed income investments:
Corporatebonds . .............c it — 16.5 — 16.5
U.S. Treasuries . . . .. oo vt ettt e e et e e — 7.4 — 7.4
Agency mortgage-backed securities. . . ........ .. .. ... — 4.1 — 4.1
Asset backed securities. ... ... ... .o — 2.1 — 2.1
Other. . ..o — 1.4 — 1.4
Total available-for-sale fixed income investments . ....... — 31.5 — 31.5
Foreign exchange derivative assets. . ....................... — 72.7 — 72.7
Interest rate swap derivative assets. . ....................... — 16.2 — 16.2
Total assets at recurring fair value measurement. . ............... $ 875 $ 1204 S — § 207.9

Financial Liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative liabilities. ..................... $ — § 31.1 S — § 31.1
Contingent consideration ....................cccuiinin.n.. — — 453.7 453.7
Total liabilities at recurring fair value measurement. ............. $ — 31.1 3 4537 $ 484.8

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the periods presented above.
Contingent Consideration

The fair value measurement of contingent consideration is determined using Level 3 inputs. The Company’s contingent
consideration represents a component of the total purchase consideration for the acquisitions of the respiratory delivery
platform, Agila, Jai Pharma Limited, the Topicals Business and certain other acquisitions. The measurement is calculated using
unobservable inputs based on the Company’s own assumptions and significant unobservable inputs in the valuation include the
probability and timing of future development and commercial milestones and future profit sharing payments. When valuing the
contingent consideration related to the respiratory delivery platform and Jai Pharma Limited, the value of the obligations are
derived from a probability assessment based on expectations of when certain milestones or profit sharing payments occur which
are discounted using a market rate of return. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, discount rates ranging from 2.1% to 11.0% were
utilized in such valuations. Significant changes in unobservable inputs could result in material changes to the contingent
consideration liability.

A rollforward of the activity in the Company’s fair value of contingent consideration from 31 December 2016 to 31 December
2018 is as follows:
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Current Long-Term Cor};(;;aglent
(In millions of USD) Portion Portion ® Consideration
Balance at 31 December 2016. ... .............. ... ... ... ... $ 2569 $ 3077 $ 564.6
ACQUISIEIONS. .« ottt et e e — — —
Payments . . .. ... (77.3) (0.2) (77.5)
Reclassifications . . ... ...t e 27.0 (27.0) —
ACCIOtION . . . ottt e e — 25.9 25.9
Fair value gain @ . ... o (38.8) (20.5) (59.3)
Balance at 31 December 2017. ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... ... $ 167.8 § 2859 $ 453.7
Payments . ... ... (82.9) — (82.9)
Reclassifications . .. .......ottu it 62.1 (62.1) —
ACCIOtION . . . ottt — 19.8 19.8
Fair value loss (gain) @ . . ... 11.3 (46.6) (35.3)
Balance at 31 December 2018. . .. ... .. ... .. ... . ... ... $ 1583 § 197.0 $ 355.3

" Included in other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
@ Included in other long-term obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

@ Included in litigation settlements and other contingencies, net in the Consolidated Income Statements.

2017 Changes to Contingent Consideration.: During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company recorded a fair value gain
of $93.5 million related to the respiratory delivery platform contingent consideration partially offset by fair value losses of $9.9
million related to Jai Pharma Limited contingent consideration and $23.5 million related to the Topicals Business contingent
consideration. In addition, the Company made payments of approximately $13.7 million related to the Agila contingent
consideration, a net payment of $40 million to resolve the Topicals Business contingent consideration and a payment of
approximately $20.0 million related to the Jai Pharma Limited contingent consideration.

2018 Changes to Contingent Consideration.: During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company recorded a fair value gain
of $44.0 million related to the respiratory delivery platform contingent consideration partially offset by fair value losses of $8.6
million related to the Jai Pharma Limited contingent consideration. In addition, the Company made payments of approximately
$51.0 million to resolve the Agila contingent consideration and a net payment of $30.0 million to resolve the Jai Pharma
Limited contingent consideration.

The Company expects to incur approximately $15 million to $20 million of non-cash accretion expense related to the increase
in the net present value of the contingent consideration liabilities in 2019.

Although the Company has not elected the fair value option for financial assets and liabilities, any future transacted financial
asset or liability will be evaluated for the fair value election.
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Available-for-Sale Securities

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available-for-sale securities, included in prepaid and other current assets, were as
follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(In millions of USD) Cost Gains Losses Value
31 December 2018 ¥
Debt SECUIILIES . . . v vttt ettt $ 248 $ 02 §$ — 3 25.0

$ 248 § 02 § — 25.0
31 December 2017 - -
DEDt SECUITLIES « . . v v vttt et e e e e e e $ 315§ — 3 — 3 31.5
Equity SECUTTIES. . . .o\ttt et e $ 29.5 $ 169 $ 1.2) $ 45.2

$ 610 $ 169 $ (12)$ 767

D Equity securities are no longer classified as available-for-sale as of 01 January 2018 as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9.
Refer to Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for additional information.

Maturities of available-for-sale debt securities at fair value as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

(In millions of USD)

Mature Withinl ONE YEAT. . . . . ..ottt e ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 3.1
Mature in 0Ne t0 fIVE YEaIS . . . . ..ot ittt e e e e 13.4
Mature in five years and 1ater. . . . ... ..o e 8.5

5250

Fair value of debt

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the aggregate fair value of the Company’s outstanding notes was approximately $13.10
billion and $14.93 billion, respectively. The fair values of the outstanding notes were valued at quoted market prices from
broker or dealer quotations and were classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Based on quoted market rates of interest
and maturity schedules of similar debt issues, the fair value of the Company’s 2016 Term Facility determined based on Level 2
inputs, approximates its carrying value at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

13 Trade accounts payable

Trade accounts payable was comprised of the following as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Trade accounts payable. . .. ... ... $§ 11,1232 § 976.0
Other payables. . ... ... 493.8 476.5
Accounts payable. . ... ... $ 1,617.0 $ 14525
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14 Debt

Short-Term Borrowings

31 December 31 December

(In millions) 2018 2017
Receivables Facility. . ... ... — 45.0
Ot . .o 1.9 1.5
Short-term bOrrOWINgS . . ... ..o $ 19 § 46.5
Receivables Facility

The Company has a $400 million Receivables Facility (the “Receivables Facility””), which originally expired on 25 April 2019.
On 25 April 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the Receivables Facility to extend the expiration date to 22 April
2022.

Under the terms of the Receivables Facility, our subsidiary, MPI, sells certain accounts receivable to Mylan Securitization LLC
(“Mylan Securitization”), a wholly-owned special purpose entity which in turn sells a percentage ownership interest in the
receivables to financial institutions and commercial paper conduits sponsored by financial institutions. Mylan Securitization’s
assets have been pledged to The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., as agent, in support of its obligations under the
Receivables Facility. Any amounts outstanding under the facility are recorded as borrowings and the underlying receivables are
included in accounts receivable, net, in the condensed consolidated balance sheets of the Company.

The Receivables Facility contains requirements relating to the performance of the accounts receivable and covenants related to
the Company with which the Company was compliant as of 31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Company had $322.0 million and $1.04 billion, respectively, of accounts receivable balances sold to Mylan Securitization.

Note Securitization Facility

On 25 April 2019, the Company entered into an additional facility for borrowings up to $200 million (the “Note Securitization
Facility”). Under the terms of each of the Receivables Facility and Note Securitization Facility, certain of our accounts
receivable secure the amounts borrowed and cannot be used to pay our other debts or liabilities. The amount that we may
borrow at a given point in time is determined based on the amount of qualifying accounts receivable that are present at such
point in time. Borrowings outstanding under the Receivables Facility bear interest at a commercial paper rate plus 0.775% and
under the Note Securitization Facility at LIBOR plus 0.75% and are included as a component of Short-term borrowings, while
the accounts receivable securing these obligations remain as a component of accounts receivable, net, in consolidated balance
sheets. In addition, the agreements governing the Receivables Facility and Note Securitization Facility contain various
customary affirmative and negative covenants, and customary default and termination provisions.

Commercial Paper Program

On 27 July 2018, the Company established an unsecured commercial paper program (the “Commercial Paper Program”)
pursuant to which Mylan Inc. may issue short-term, unsecured commercial paper notes (the “CP Notes”) that are guaranteed by
the Company pursuant to the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), which replaced Mylan N.V.’s existing commercial paper program established 08 June 2017 (the
“Existing Commercial Paper Program”) on substantially identical terms to the Existing Commercial Paper Program. Amounts
available under the Commercial Paper Program may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed from time to time, with the
aggregate principal amount of the commercial paper notes outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program at any time not to
exceed $1.65 billion. The Company’s 2018 Revolving Facility (as defined below) will be available to pay the CP Notes, if
necessary. The maturities of the CP Notes will vary but will not exceed 364 days from the date of issue.

The Company uses net proceeds from its Commercial Paper Program, Receivables Facility and Note Securitization Facility as a
source of liquidity for general corporate purposes, including for business development transactions, working capital and share
repurchases. Borrowings under the Commercial Paper Program, Receivables Facility and the Note Securitization Facility may
vary during a particular period, as a result of fluctuations in working capital requirements and timing of cash receipts.
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(In millions of USD)

Current portion of long-term debt:

2016 Term Facility @ ™ ... ... .. ... .......
2018 Senior NOtes ... o.voeeee e
2018 Floating Rate Euro Notes® ™ .. ... ... ... ...
2018 Senior Notes ™ .. ..o\ v e
2019 Senior NOteS ... oo e e

Deferred financing fees. . .......... ... ... ......

Current portion of long-termdebt . . ............

Non-current portion of long-term debt:

2016 Term Facility @ ™ ... ... ... ... .....

2019 Senior Notes
2019 Senior Notes "

2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes @™ .. ... ... ... ...
2020 Euro Senior Notes . .....vueeeeneen...
2020 Senior NOtes ~ .. oo v et e
2021 Senior NOtes . ..o vt
2023 Senior NOteS ~ ... oo v v e
2023 Senior NOteS ... vvoee e
2024 Euro Senior Notes ~ ... ..o
2025 Euro Senior Notes .. .......ooeenrnnenn...
2026 Senior NOtes ~ ... oo e e
2028 Euro Senior Notes . ....vvueeenann...
2028 Senior NOteS ~ . ..o ov v e
2043 Senior NOteS ... ouvveee e
2046 Senior Notes .. ..o\ ve et
2048 Senior NOtes . . .. oo oot

Deferred financing fees. . .......................

Long-termdebt.............................

As at
31 December 31 December
Interest Rate (%) Maturity 2018 2017

3.897% 2019 $ 100.0 § —
2.600% 2018 — 649.9
2018 — 600.2

3.000% 2018 — 499.8
2.500% 2019 549.9 —
6.2 24

(0.9) (3.1

$ 6552 $ 1,749.2

3.897% 2019 $ — § 100.0
2.500% 2019 — 999.5
2.550% 2019 — 499.7
2020 573.3 600.2

1.250% 2020 858.1 897.6
3.750% 2020 499.9 499.9
3.150% 2021 2,248.7 2,248.2
3.125% 2023 749.3 749.2
4.200% 2023 498.9 498.8
2.250% 2024 1,144.2 1,197.7
2.125% 2025 572.0 —
3.950% 2026 2,236.5 2,235.0
3.125% 2028 852.5 892.0
4.550% 2028 748.2 —
5.400% 2043 497.2 497.1
5.250% 2046 999.8 999.8
5.200% 2048 747.6 —
5.1 6.3

(73.7) (71.9)

$§ 13,157.6 § 12,849.1

@ The 2016 Term Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a base rate, which margins can fluctuate based on the Company’s

credit ratings.
(b)

Interest rate of the instrument was three-month EURIBOR plus 0.870% per annum, reset quarterly.

©  Instrument bears interest at a rate of three-month EURIBOR plus 0.50% per annum, reset quarterly.

*

*ok

Instrument was issued by Mylan Inc.

Instrument was issued by Mylan N.V.
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2016 Revolving Facility, 2018 Revolving Facility and 2016 Term Facility

On 22 November 2016, the Company entered into a revolving credit facility among the Company, as borrower, Mylan Inc., as a
guarantor, certain lenders and issuing banks and Bank of America, N.A., as the administrative agent, pursuant to which the
Company may obtain extensions of credit in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2.0 billion (the “2016 Revolving
Facility”). On the same day, the Company entered into a term credit facility among the Company, as borrower, Mylan Inc., as a
guarantor, certain lenders and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent, pursuant to which the Company has $100.0
million outstanding in term loans (the “2016 Term Facility”’) at 31 December 2018. On 27 July 2018, the Company entered into
a revolving credit facility among Mylan Inc., as borrower, the Company, as a guarantor, certain lenders and issuing banks and
Bank of America, N.A., as the administrative agent, which replaced the 2016 Revolving Facility on substantially identical terms
to the 2016 Revolving Facility and pursuant to which Mylan Inc. may obtain extensions of credit in an aggregate principal
amount not to exceed $2.0 billion (the “2018 Revolving Facility”).

The 2016 Term Facility and the 2018 Revolving Facility each contain customary affirmative covenants for facilities of this type,
including among others, covenants pertaining to the delivery of financial statements, notices of default and certain material
events, maintenance of corporate existence and rights, property, and insurance and compliance with laws, as well as customary
negative covenants for facilities of this type, including limitations on the incurrence of subsidiary indebtedness, liens, mergers
and certain other fundamental changes, investments and loans, acquisitions, transactions with affiliates, payments of dividends
and other restricted payments and changes in our lines of business.

The 2016 Term Facility and 2018 Revolving Facility contain a maximum consolidated leverage ratio financial covenant
requiring maintenance of a maximum ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 for consolidated total indebtedness as of the end of any quarter to
consolidated EBITDA for the trailing four quarters as defined in the related credit agreements (“leverage ratio™).

The 2016 Term Facility was amended in November 2017 to allow a leverage ratio of 4.25 to 1.00 through the 31 December
2018 reporting period and a leverage ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 thereafter. The 2018 Revolving Facility similarly provides for a
leverage ratio of 4.25 to 1.00 through the 31 December 2018 reporting period and a leverage ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 thereafter. On
22 February 2019, the Company, as a guarantor, and Mylan Inc., as borrower, entered into an amendment (the "Revolving Loan
Amendment") to the 2018 Revolving Facility. In addition, on 22 February 2019, the Company entered into an amendment (the
"Term Loan Amendment") to the 2016 Term Facility. The Revolving Loan Amendment and the Term Loan Amendment
extended the leverage ratio covenant of 4.25 to 1.00 through the 31 December 2019 reporting period, with a leverage ratio of
3.75 to 1.00 thereafter. The Company is in compliance at 31 December 2018 and expects to remain in compliance for the next
twelve months.

Senior Notes
Issuance of 2018 Senior Notes

The following table provides the amounts of senior unsecured debt issued by Mylan Inc. and guaranteed by Mylan N.V., on 09
April 2018 (the “April 2018 Senior Notes”). The April 2018 Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated 09 April
2018. The April 2018 Senior Notes were issued in a private offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities
Act to qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to persons outside of the U.S.
pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Company has entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of 09
April 2018 pursuant to which Mylan Inc. and Mylan N.V. are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to file a
registration statement with respect to an offer to exchange each series of the April 2018 Senior Notes for new notes with the
same aggregate principal amount and terms substantially identical in all material respects.
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Principal

(In millions) Interest Rate Amount
2028 Senior Notes (. . ..o 4.550% $ 7500
2048 Senior Notes (. . ..o 5.200% 750.0
Total April 2018 Senior Notes . ... ... ... . . . . . e $ 1,500.0

() Redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time prior to three months (in the case of the 2028 Senior Notes)

or six months (in the case of the 2048 Senior Notes) of the maturity date at the greater of 100% of the principal amount
or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted at the U.S.
Treasury rate plus an incremental spread of 0.30% (in the case of the 2028 Senior Notes) or 0.35% (in the case of the
2048 Senior Notes), plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest.

On 28 April 2018, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding $650 million principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.600% senior
notes due 2018, all of the outstanding $500 million principal amount of Mylan N.V.’s 3.000% senior notes due 2018 and $350
million of the outstanding $500 million principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.550% senior notes due 2019. The redemption of
these notes was funded with the net proceeds from the April 2018 Senior Notes offering.

In November 2018, Mylan N.V. and Mylan Inc. filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) with respect to an offer to exchange these notes for registered notes with the same aggregate principal amount and
terms substantially identical in all material respects, which was declared effective on 11 December 2018. The exchange offer
expired on 09 January 2019 and settled on 10 January 2019. 100% of each of the 4.550% Senior Notes due 2028 and the
5.200% Senior Notes due 2048 were exchanged.

Issuance of 2018 Euro Senior Notes

On 23 May 2018, Mylan Inc. completed the offering of €500 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.125% Euro Senior
Notes due 2025 (the “May 2018 Euro Senior Notes”). The May 2018 Euro Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture
dated 23 May 2018. The May 2018 Euro Senior Notes are guaranteed by Mylan N.V. and were issued in a private offering
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, to persons outside of the U.S. pursuant to Regulation S under
the Securities Act. The May 2018 Euro Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time prior to three
months of the maturity date at the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the sum of the present values of the remaining
scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted at the applicable Bund Rate plus an incremental spread of 0.30%, plus,
in each case, accrued and unpaid interest.

On 15 June 2018, the Company redeemed the remaining $150 million outstanding principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.550%
Senior Notes due 2019 and $450 million of the outstanding $1.0 billion principal amount of Mylan N.V.’s 2.500% Senior Notes
due 2019. The redemption of these notes was funded with the net proceeds from the May 2018 Euro Senior Notes offering.

Issuance of 2017 Euro Senior Notes

On 24 May 2017, the Company completed its offering of €500 million aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Senior
Notes due 2020 (the “May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes”), issued pursuant to the indenture dated 24 May 2017 (the
“2017 Euro Notes Indenture”). The May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes will mature on 24 May 2020 and cannot be
redeemed prior to maturity at the option of the Company.

The May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes were issued in a private offering exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act to persons outside of the U.S. pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. The May 2017 Floating Rate
Euro Senior Notes are the Company’s senior unsecured indebtedness and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Mylan
Inc.

The May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes bear interest at a rate per annum, reset quarterly, equal to the sum of (i) three-
month EURIBOR (as defined in the 2017 Euro Notes Indenture) plus (ii) 0.50%, provided, however, that the minimum interest
rate is zero. Interest on the May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes is payable quarterly in arrears on each 24 February, 24
May, 24 August and 24 November. The interest rate at 31 December 2018 was approximately 0.17% per annum.
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The Company utilized the net proceeds from the May 2017 Floating Rate Euro Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the
term loans under the 2016 Term Facility and to pay associated fees and expenses.
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15

Components of other comprehensive (loss) earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) earnings, as reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, is comprised of the following:

(In millions of USD)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, net of tax
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax
Reclassification of actuarial gains on defied benefit plans, net of tax

Net unrecognized losses on derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships, net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Components of other comprehensive (loss) earnings, before tax, consist of the following:

(In millions of USD)

Balance at 31 December 2017, net

of tax

Other comprehensive (loss)
earnings before reclassifications,

before tax

Amounts reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) earnings,

before tax:

Gain on foreign exchange
forward contracts classified
as cash flow hedges, included

in net sales

Loss on interest rate swaps
classified as cash flow
hedges, included in interest

expense. . .

Net other comprehensive (loss)
earnings, before tax. ..........

Income tax (benefit) provision . .

Cumulative effect of the adoption
of new accounting standards . . . . ..

Reclassification of actuarial gains
on defined benefit pension plans,
net of tax, to retained earnings . . ..

Balance at 31 December 2018, net

of tax

As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
................................ $ — 8 12.5
.................................... 6.9 4.2
...................... 6.9) “4.2)
........ (59.7) (10.1)
Net unrecognized losses on derivatives in net investment hedging relationships, net of tax . . .. (130.9) (239.8)
............................................ (934.1) 188.3
$ (1,124.4) $ (49.1)
Year Ended 31 December 2018
Gains and
Losses on Gains and  Defined Foreign
Gains and Losses on Derivatives Net Losseson  Pension Currency
in Cash Flow Hedging Investment  Marketable Plan Translation
Relationships Hedges Securities Items Adjustment Totals
Foreign
Currency Interest
Forward Rate
Contracts Swaps Total
$(10.1) $ (2398) $ 125 $ — $ 1883 $  (49.1)
(80.7) 111.6 (0.1) 107  (1,122.4)  (1,080.9)
6.2) 6.2) 6.2)
7.7 7.7 7.7
(79.2) 111.6 0.1) 107 (1,122.4)  (1,079.4)
(27.1) 2.7 0.1 3.8 — (20.5)
2.5 — (123)  — — (9.8)
— — — (6.9 — (6.9)
$(59.7) $ (130.9) $ — $ — $ (934.1) $(1,124.4)
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Year Ended 31 December 2017

Gains and
Losses on Gains and  Defined Foreign
Gains and Losses on Derivatives Net Losseson  Pension Currency
in Cash Flow Hedging Investment  Marketable Plan Translation
Relationships Hedges Securities Items Adjustment Totals
Foreign
Currency  Interest
Forward Rate
(In millions of USD) Contracts Swaps Total
Balance at 31 December 2016, net
OFEAX « o veee e $(41.6) $  (14) $ 145 $ — $ (1,921.3) $(1,949.8)

Other comprehensive (loss)

earnings before reclassifications,
beforetax .................. 46.5 (238.4) (6.7) 6.9 2,109.6 1,917.9

Amounts reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) earnings,
before tax:

Loss on foreign exchange

forward contracts classified

as cash flow hedges, included

innetsales ............... (1.1 (1.D (1.1)

Loss on interest rate swaps
classified as cash flow
hedges, included in interest

EXPENSE. . . vt 7.3 73 7.3
Net other comprehensive (loss)
earnings, before tax. .......... 52.7 (238.4) 6.7 6.9 2,109.6 1,924.1
Income tax (benefit) provision . . 21.2 — 4.7 2.7 — 19.2

Reclassification of actuarial gains
on defined benefit pension plans,

net of tax, to retained earnings . . .. — — — 4.2) — 4.2)
Balance at 31 December 2017, net

oftax ........... ... .. .. .. ... $(10.1) $ (239.8) $ 125 § — $ 1883 $§  (49.1)
16 Income tax

On 22 December 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes to the U.S Tax Code including, but not limited to,
reducing the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate and requiring a one-time Transition Tax on certain unrepatriated earnings of
non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries of large U.S. shareholders. While the Tax Act reduces the U.S. federal corporate income tax
rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after 31 December 2017, the Company remeasured its deferred tax balances in
2017 in accordance with the 2018 rate reduction.

The Tax Act also puts in place new tax laws that will impact the U.S. taxable income beginning in 2018, which include, but are
not limited to (1) creating a Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax (“BEAT”), which is a new minimum tax, (2) generally eliminating
U.S. federal income taxes on dividends from non-U.S. subsidiaries (the “participation exemption”), (3) a new provision
designed to tax currently global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) earned by non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries of large U.S.
shareholders, which allows for the possibility of utilizing tax credits earned from tax liabilities incurred to non-U.S. taxing
authorities (such tax credits are limited to 80% of the non-U.S. taxes paid that are properly attributable to the GILTI and are
segregated into a separate basket, with no carryforward or carryback permitted for excess tax credits) and a deduction generally
equal to 50 percent of GILTI (37.5 percent for tax years beginning after 31 December 2025) to offset the income tax liability,
(4) a provision limiting the amount of deductible interest expense in the U.S., (5) the repeal of the domestic manufacturing
deduction, (6) limitations on the deductibility of certain executive compensation, and (7) limitations on the utilization of non
U.S. tax credits used to reduce the U.S. income tax liability.

105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The Company has thus recorded an estimated tax charge of $143.6 million related to the Tax Act in the year ended 31
December 2017. This net charge primarily consists of a net expense of $30.0 million due to the remeasurement of the net U.S.
deferred tax accounts to reflect the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate reduction to 21% and a net expense for the transition
tax of $113.6 million.

The transition tax of $113.6 million is a 2017 tax on the previously untaxed accumulated and current earnings and profits
(“E&P”) of certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. In order to determine the amount of the transition tax, we must generally
determine the amount of post-1986 E&P of the relevant subsidiaries, as well as the amount of non-U.S. income taxes paid on
such earnings. We are able to make a reasonable estimate of the transition tax and recorded the estimated transition tax
obligation of $113.6 million which the Company expects to elect to pay, net of certain tax attributes and credit carryforwards,
over eight years beginning in 2018. This amount is presented in other long-term liabilities, and the Company is making a policy
election to not record this future payment obligation at a present value. Proposed regulations issued by the U.S. Department of
the Treasury on 01 August 2018, provided further interpretive guidance on the transition tax. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company revised its estimated liability for the transition tax from $113.6 million to $99.1 million. The
$14.5 million benefit was recorded as a component of the Company’s tax provision during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Tax Act’s GILTI provision is applicable to income earned by non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries of large U.S. shareholders
starting in 2018. The Company has made a policy election to treat any future GILTI tax liabilities as period costs and will
expense those liabilities in the period incurred. The Company therefore will not record deferred taxes associated with the GILTI
provision of the Tax Act.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s practice and intention was to reinvest the earnings in our non-U.S. subsidiaries
outside of the U.S., and no U.S. deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes are recorded. The transition tax noted above
will result in the previously untaxed foreign earnings being included in the federal and state 2017 taxable income. We are
analyzing on an ongoing basis our global working capital requirements and the potential tax liabilities that would be incurred if
the non-U.S. subsidiaries distribute cash to the U.S. parent, which potentially include local country withholding tax and
potential U.S. state taxation. For these reasons, we do not estimate the effect of this provision of the Tax Act and have not
recorded any withholding or state tax liabilities.

The major components of income tax (benefit) provision for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are:

Consolidated Income Statements

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
CUITent INCOME TAX . . . . oottt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 205.8 $ 307.6
Deferred inCOmME taX . . .. ..ottt e (248.2) (85.2)
Income tax (benefit) provision reported in the Consolidated Income Statement............ $ 424) § 222.4

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to OCI during the year:

Net (loss) gain on revaluation of derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships ............... $ (27.2) $ 21.2
Net loss on revaluation of derivatives in net investmenthedges ............................ 2.7 —
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets ... ............................ 0.1 “4.7)
Net gain on actuarial gains and lOSSES . ... ..ottt 3.9 2.7
Deferred income tax charged to OCI . ........ .. ... ... .. ... ... ... $ (20.5) $ 19.2
Reclassification of tax on actuarial gains on defined benefit pension plans to retained earnings . . . (3.9 (10.4)
Remaining deferred income tax chargesto OCI ...................................... $ (244) $ 8.8

The United Kingdom (“U.K.”) statutory income tax rate applicable to Mylan N.V. for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
2017 was 19.0%. Mylan’s operations are subject to income taxes in various foreign jurisdictions. The statutory income tax rates
vary from 9% to 35%. The differences between the effective tax rate and the standard corporate tax rate are explained as
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follows:
2018 2017
Statutory taX Fates. . . ... ... 19.0 % 19.0 %
United States Operations
Clean energy and research credits ... ... ... it (37.3)% (10.3)%
Movement in unrecognized deferred positions .. ... ...t 60.6 % 10.7 %
Tax Act - transition tax & deferred tax rate change . ... ........... ... .. .. ... .. .. .. ..., (5.5)% 10.4 %
Uncertain taX POSILIONS. . . . . v vttt et e e e et e e e e e e (25.4)% 1.0 %
Global intangible low-taxed iINCOME . .. ... ... . ittt 9.7 % — %
U.S. rate differential. . ... ... ... (6.2)% 73 %
State income taxes and creditS . . .. .. ... (2.2)% (0.8)%
Other U.S. TtemMS . . . . .ot 14.0 % 23 %
Other Foreign Operations
Other foreign rate differential. . .. ... ... ... . . . . . . (48.3)% (19.6)%
Revaluation of deferred taxes. . . ... .ot (5.8)% 1.0 %
Movement in unrecognized deferred positions . ........... ... .. i i i (5.3)% 4.0 %
Withholding taxes. . . . ..ottt e e e e e 4.7 % 1.4 %
Other foreign ItemS. . . . ...ttt et e e 12.0 % (1.3)%
Effective tax rate . ... ... .. ... . . . (16.0)% 25.1 %
Temporary differences and carryforwards that result in deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
Consolidated Income
Consolidated Balance Sheets Statements
31 December Year Ended 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Deferred tax
Employee benefits . ....... ... ... . ... .. ... $ 1554 % 190.8 $ 246 $ 53.6
Litigation T@SEIVES . . . o vttt ettt e 143 40.8 26.5 196.1
Accounts receivable allowance .. ............ .. ... ... ... ... 215.3 247.3 23.0 153.4
INVeNtories . . ... ..ot 160.1 161.6 (0.1) —
Tax credit and loss carryforwards . ........................... 539.0 470.9 (93.6) (144.1)
Intangible assets and goodwill. . ............ ... ... .. ... ..... (2,170.0) (2,476.5) (186.2) (367.1)
Interest EXPenSe . .. oottt 87.9 47.8 (41.1) 4.1
Property and equipment. . ........... .. ... ... (103.8) (118.7) (13.7) (70.4)
Other ... 47.1 39.3 12.4 89.2
Net deferred tax liabilities . .. ............ ... ... ... ........ $ (1,054.7) $ (1,396.7)
Deferred inCOmMe taX. . . ....oovvitiee ettt $ (2482 § (85.2)
Reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows:
Deferred income tax asset . . .......ooeeiiiiiii . $ 612.5 $ 549.9
Deferred income tax liability................................ $ 1,6672 $§ 1,946.6

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax

authority.
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No provision for income taxes is recognized for the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and joint arrangements where the
parent considers that such earnings are not expected to be remitted in the foreseeable future. The amount of such temporary
differences is approximately $1.80 billion and $431.0 million at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Net operating losses

As of 31 December 2018, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes of
approximately $58.7 million and $2.80 billion, respectively. The Company also has non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards
of approximately $1.69 billion, of which $1.39 billion can be carried forward indefinitely, with the remaining $300.0 million
expiring in years 2019 through 2037. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of most of these losses as they
may not be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Company, they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time, and there are no identified tax planning opportunities or other evidence of recoverability in the near future. If the
Company were able to recognize all unrecognized deferred tax assets, the net earnings would increase by $800.5 million, with
the remaining unrecognized deferred tax assets being recorded in other comprehensive income or additional paid-in capital in
accordance with the backwards tracing principles.

The Company has $73.4 million of capital loss carryforwards expiring in 2019 through 2022. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognized in respect of these carryforwards as they may only be used to offset capital gains, which are not anticipated. The
Company also has $211.0 million of foreign, U.S. and U.S. state credit carryovers, expiring in various amounts through 2038.

Accounting for contingent tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect net liabilities for contingent tax
liabilities of $168.9 million and $276.6 million, respectively.

Tax examinations

The Company is subject to income taxes and tax audits in many jurisdictions. A certain degree of estimation is thus required in
recording the assets and liabilities related to income taxes. Tax audits and examinations can involve complex issues,
interpretations, and judgments and the resolution of matters that may span multiple years, particularly if subject to litigation or
negotiation.

Although the Company believes that adequate provisions have been made for these uncertain tax positions, the Company’s
assessment of uncertain tax positions is based on estimates and assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable but the
estimates for unrecognized tax benefits and potential tax benefits may not be representative of actual outcomes, and variations
from such estimates could materially affect the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in the period
of resolution, settlement or when the statutes of limitations expire.

Mylan is subject to ongoing U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) examinations and is a voluntary participant in the IRS
Compliance Assurance Process (“CAP”), which allows Mylan to work collaboratively with the IRS to identify and review tax
matters on an ongoing basis. The years 2015, 2016 and 2017 are open years under examination. The years 2012, 2013 and 2014
have one matter open, and a Tax Court petition has been filed regarding the matter and a trial was held in December 2018 and is
discussed further below. On 27 February, 2015, Mylan N.V. acquired Mylan Inc. and Abbott Laboratories’ (“Abbott”) non-U.S.
developed markets specialty and branded generics business (collectively, the “EPD Business Acquisition”). In connection with
the EPD Business Acquisition, we entered into intercompany transactions with our affiliates that affect our U.S. tax liability.
Mylan N.V. is not incorporated in the U.S. and expects to be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. As part of our ongoing participation and cooperation in the CAP, we have received and responded to various IRS
requests for information about, among other matters, the EPD Business Acquisition, including the interest rates used for
intercompany loans and our status as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and we have been meeting
with the IRS to discuss our respective positions on these matters and potential resolution of them. The IRS has indicated that
depending upon the outcome of these ongoing discussions, as previously disclosed, they may challenge our positions on the
EPD Business Acquisition. We remain confident in our positions and, should the IRS choose to challenge our positions, we
would vigorously defend our positions through all available channels. If the IRS chooses to challenge our positions, and if the
IRS succeeds, we would be subject to significantly greater U.S. tax liability, beginning 27 February 2015, than currently
contemplated as a non-U.S. corporation, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and/or ordinary share price.
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The Company’s major state taxing jurisdictions remain open from fiscal year 2008 through 2018, with several state audits
currently in progress. The Company’s major international taxing jurisdictions remain open from 2012 through 2018, some of
which are indemnified by Strides Arcolab Limited (“Strides Arcolab”) for tax assessments.

Tax court proceedings

The Company's U.S. federal income tax returns for 2007 through 2011 had been subject to proceedings in U.S. Tax Court
involving a dispute with the IRS regarding whether the proceeds received by the Company in connection with the 2008 sale of
its rights in nebivolol constituted a capital gain or ordinary income. The Company and the IRS filed a joint stipulation of settled
issues with the Tax Court that resolved all issues in this dispute and the Tax Court issued the final order closing the case during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company's U.S. federal income tax returns for 2012 through 2014 had been subject to proceedings in U.S. Tax Court
involving a dispute with the IRS regarding whether certain costs related to Abbreviated New Drug Applications were eligible to
be expensed and deducted immediately or required to be amortized over longer periods. A trial was held in U.S. Tax Court in
December 2018. Post-trial briefing is expected to conclude on 27 June, 2019.

17 Share-based incentive plan

The Company’s shareholders have approved the 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2003 Plan”). Under the
2003 Plan, 55,300,000 ordinary shares are reserved for issuance to key employees, consultants, independent contractors and
non-employee directors of the Company through a variety of incentive awards, including: stock options, stock appreciation
rights (“SAR”), restricted ordinary shares and units, performance awards (“PSU”), other stock-based awards and short-term
cash awards. Stock option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the ordinary shares
underlying the options at the date of the grant, generally become exercisable over periods ranging from three to four years, and
generally expire in ten years.

The following table summarizes stock option and SAR (“stock awards”) activity:

Number of Shares  Weighted Average

Under Stock Exercise Price per
Awards Share

Outstanding as at 31 December 2016 . ......... ... ittt 7,699,441 §$ 33.38
Granted . ...........cooi i T 964,475 42.48
EXEIrCISEd. . o et (902,041) 20.06
Forfeited . ... ... (563,191) 47.36
Outstanding as at 31 December 2017 ... ... ... .. . i 7,198,684 § 35.17
Granted . ...........cooi i T 905265 40.38
EXEIrCISEd. . o .t (820,603) 21.75
Forfeited . ... ... (468,068) 47.86
Outstanding as at 31 December 2018 ... ... .. .. .. ... i 6,815,278 $ 36.61
Vested and expected to vest as at 31 December 2018 . ... ............ ... .. ... .. ..... T 6,603247 § 36.41
Exercisable as at 31 December 2018 . ... ... ... i 5,134,445  § 34.76

As at 31 December 2018, stock awards outstanding, stock awards vested and expected to vest, and stock awards exercisable had
average remaining contractual terms of 5.3 years, 5.2 years and 4.2 years, respectively. Also at 31 December 2018, stock
awards outstanding, stock awards vested and expected to vest and stock awards exercisable each had aggregate intrinsic values
of $15.9 million.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted ordinary shares and restricted stock unit awards, including
PSUs (collectively, “restricted stock awards™) as at 31 December 2017 and the changes during the year ended 31 December
2018 are presented below:

Weighted Average
Number of Restricted Grant-Date

Stock Awards Fair Value per Share

Nonvested as at 31 December 2017 . . ... ... .. 5,964,207 $ 41.92
Granted . . ... 1,542,727 41.00
Released. .. ... (762,561) 49.11
Forfeited .. ... ... . (351,292) 43.70
Nonvested as at 31 December 2018. . ... ... ... . . . . 6,393,081 $ 40.75

Of the 1,542,727 restricted stock awards granted during the year ended 31 December 2018, 757,433 vest ratably in three years
or less and are not subject to market or performance conditions. Of the remaining restricted stock awards granted, 668,878 are
subject to market conditions and will cliff vest in three years or less and 116,416 are not subject to market or performance
conditions and will cliff vest in one year or less.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had $80.6 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to all of its stock-based awards, which we expect to be recognized over the remaining weighted average
vesting period of 1.5 years. The total intrinsic value of stock-based awards exercised and restricted stock awards released during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 was $46.3 million and $39.1 million, respectively.

With respect to options granted under the Company’s 2003 Plan, the fair value of each option grant was estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Black-Scholes utilizes assumptions related to volatility, the risk-free
interest rate, the dividend yield and employee exercise behavior. Expected volatilities utilized in the model are based mainly on
the implied volatility of the Company’s stock price and other factors. The risk-free interest rate is derived from the

U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The model incorporates exercise and post-vesting forfeiture assumptions
based on an analysis of historical data. The expected lives of the grants are derived from historical and other factors.

The assumptions used for options granted under the 2003 Plan are as follows:

Year Ended 31 December

2018 2017
VOLatility . . . oo 35.8% 33.2%
Risk-free Interest rate . ... ... ... .. i 2.8% 2.2%
Expected term (YEaIs) . . . . oo v vttt e e 6.5 6.4
Forfeiture rate . ... ... ... o 5.5% 5.5%
Weighted average grant date fair value peroption.......... ... . ... . ... ... . ... $16.51 $15.88

In February 2014, Mylan’s Compensation Committee and the independent members of the Board of Directors adopted the One-
Time Special Performance-Based Five-Year Realizable Value Incentive Program (the “2014 Program”) under the 2003 Plan.
Under the 2014 Program, certain key employees received a one-time, performance-based incentive award (the “Awards”) either
in the form of a grant of SARs or PSUs. The initial Awards were granted in February 2014 and contain a five-year cliff-vesting
feature based on the achievement of various performance targets, external market conditions and the employee’s continued
services. Additional Awards were granted in 2016 and 2017 and are subject to the same performance conditions as the Awards
granted in February 2014 and with a service vesting condition of between two and six years. The market condition was met on
10 June 2015. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company determined that it was no longer probable that the
minimum performance condition would be met and therefore reversed all of the cumulative expense related to the Awards
resulting in a reduction in share-based compensation expense of approximately $70.6 million. In addition, during the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Company recorded $20.0 million of compensation expense as an additional discretionary bonus
for a certain group of employees. None of the employees who are eligible for this bonus are named executive officers as defined
by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. As at 31 December 2018, there are approximately 2.6 million Awards
outstanding under the 2014 Program, which were canceled in 2019.
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18 Employee benefit plans
Defined benefit plans

The Company sponsors various defined benefit pension plans in several countries. Benefits provided generally depend on
length of service, pay grade and remuneration levels. The Company maintains two fully frozen defined benefit pension plans in
the U.S., and employees in the U.S. and Puerto Rico are provided retirement benefits through defined contribution plans rather
than through a defined benefit plan.

The Company also sponsors other postretirement benefit plans. There are plans that provide for postretirement supplemental
medical coverage. Benefits from these plans are paid to certain employees and their spouses and dependents who meet various
minimum age and service requirements. In addition, there are plans that provide for life insurance benefits and postretirement
medical coverage for certain officers and management employees.

A summary of the activity for the Company’s defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans follows:

Year Ended 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Change in defined benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of period. . ....... ... .. .. . ... $ 700.3 $ 670.9
SIVICE COSE .+ . vttt ettt et e e e e e e e 28.9 21.3
Interest COSt. . ..ot 14.3 15.2
Participant COntribUtiONS . . . . ... ot 1.2 1.2
Actuarial 10SS/(ZaiN) . . . ..ot (35.2) 6.0
Benefits paid . . ... . (37.2) (36.2)
Transferred liabilities . . ... ... ... 16.1 0.5
Plan settlements and terminations. . .. ........ ...ttt 0.4 (20.7)
Currency translation adjustment . . .. ...... ... . e (19.4) 42.1
Benefit obligation atend of year. . . ... .. .. $ 6694 $ 700.3

Year Ended 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year . .. ............ .. i $ 296.1 $ 291.7
INterest INCOME . . . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e 6.7 6.7
Remeasurement gain/(loss) excluding interest income. . ................o i, (24.4) 14.9
Employer contributions. . . .. ... .. i 313 33.7
Participant CONtribUtIONS . . . . . ..ottt e 1.2 1.2
Benefits paid from plan. .. ... ... (26.4) (22.6)
Benefits paid directly by employer. . . ... .. .. (10.9) (13.6)
Transferred assets . . . .. ..ot 16.1 0.5
Plan settlements. . . ... ... . — (18.7)
O her . . o (1.6) 0.4)
Impact of foreign currency translation . . ............ . ... (4.6) 2.7
Fair value of plan assets, end of year . ......... ... .. .. i $ 2835 $ 296.1
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Year Ended 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Defined benefit costs

CUITENt SEIVICE COST. . . . oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 182 § 20.7
Past SEIVICE COSt . ..ttt e 10.6 0.6

Net finance cost:

Interest income on plan @SSEtS . . . ... ..ottt e 6.7 6.7

Interest cost on ObLIGAtION . .. ... .. .ttt e 14.3 15.2
Net fINaNCe COSt. . . ..ottt et e 7.6 8.5
O her . . o 1.7 (1.9
Net periodic benefit eXpense. . ... ... ..ttt e 38.1 279
Total remeasurements included in OCL. . .. ... ... .. ... . . . . . i (10.7) 6.9)
Total defined benefit costs included in Consolidated Income Statements and OCI. . ............ $ 274 § 21.0

The weighted average assumptions underlying the pension computations were as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
2018 2017 2018 2017

Pension benefit obligation:

Discountrate .. ..... ...ttt 2.3% 2.0% 4.3% 3.7%
Rate of compensation increase. . .. ...............ccuiniin.. 2.7% 2.8% —% —%
Net periodic pension costs:

DiSCOUNETAE . . . oottt ettt e e e e e 2.0% 2.2% 3.7% 4.2%
Rate of compensation increase. . ..............c.oouiiinenn.... 2.5% 2.8% —% —%

The assumptions for each plan are reviewed on an annual basis. The discount rate reflects the current rate at which the pension
and other benefit liabilities could be effectively settled at the measurement date. In setting the discount rates, we utilize
comparable corporate bond indices as an indication of interest rate movements and levels. Corporate bond indices were selected
based on individual plan census data and duration. The expected return on plan assets was determined using historical market
returns and long-term historical relationships between equities and fixed income securities. The Company compares the
expected return on plan assets assumption to actual historic returns to ensure reasonableness. Current market factors such as
inflation and interest rates are also evaluated.

Fair value of plan assets

The Company measures the fair value of plan assets based on the prices that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are
based on a three-tier hierarchy described in Note 12 Fair Value Measurement. The table below presents total plan assets by
investment category as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and the classification of each investment category within the fair value
hierarchy with respect to the inputs used to measure fair value:

As at 31 December 2018

(In millions of USD) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cashandcashequivalents ... ............................... $ 35 §$ 04 $ — 3 39
Equity securities. .. ..ot 58.5 66.0 — 124.5
Fixed income securities . . . . ........oouuiiiii i 65.4 58.4 — 123.8
Assets held by insurance companies and other . ................. 0.1 7.2 24.0 313
Total .. ... . $ 127.5 $ 132.0 $ 240 $ 283.5
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As at 31 December 2017

(In millions of USD) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cashand cashequivalents. ................................. $ 25 % 03 $ — 3 2.8
Equity securities. ... ..o 65.2 71.8 — 137.0
Fixed income securities . . . .........ouineinieia. 45.2 57.6 — 102.8
Assets held by insurance companies and other ... ............... 10.4 23.9 19.2 535
Total ... ... $ 1233 $ 1536 $ 192 § 296.1

Accounting for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans

The Company recognizes on its Consolidated Balance Sheets an asset or liability equal to the over- or under-funded benefit
obligation of each defined benefit pension and other postretirement plan. Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and
losses and the return on plan assets (both excluding net interest), are recognized immediately in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and the date
that the Company recognizes restructuring-related costs. The Company recognizes the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation in the Consolidated Income Statements: service costs comprising current service costs, past service costs,
gains and losses on curtailments, and net interest expense or income.

Risk tolerance on invested pension plan assets is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status
and corporate financial condition. Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through annual liability
measures, periodic asset/liability studies and investment portfolio reviews. The Company’s investment strategy is to maintain,
where possible, a diversified investment portfolio across several asset classes that, when combined with the Company’s
contributions to the plans, will ensure that required benefit obligations are met.

Net accrued benefit costs for pension plans and other postretirement benefits are reported in the following components of the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) 2018 2017 2018 2017
NONCUITENE ASSEES .+« + .+ o ettt e et et e e e e e e $ 59 $ 6.0 $ — S —
Current liabilities . . .. ....... ... (11.9) (11.7) (1.7) (1.6)
Noncurrent liabilities . . ... ... (345.9) (363.4) (32.3) (33.5)
Net accrued benefitcosts .......... ... .. ... .. ... ... $ (3519) $ (369.1) $ (34.0) $ (35.1)

The projected benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of benefits attributable to employee service rendered to date,
including the effects of estimated future pay increases. The accumulated benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of
benefits attributable to employee service rendered to date, but does not include the effects of estimated future pay

increases. The accumulated benefit obligation for the Company’s pension plans was $592.5 million and $598.5 million at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with an
accumulated benefit obligation in excess of the fair value of plan assets at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:
Projected benefit obligation . ... .......... ... . i $ 5029 § 530.1
Accumulated benefit obligation. .. ... ... ... ... .. 483.1 506.0
Fair value of plan assets . . .. ... ... i 154.8 164.8
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Estimated future benefit payments

The Company’s funding policy for its funded pension plans is based upon local statutory requirements. The Company’s funding
policy is subject to certain statutory regulations with respect to annual minimum and maximum company contributions. Plan
benefits for the nonqualified plans are paid as they come due. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation
for pension plans was 13 years as at 31 December 2018 and 13 years at 31 December 2017. The weighted average duration of
the defined benefit obligation for post-retirement plans was 12 years and 12 years as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Estimated benefit payments over the next ten years for the Company’s pension plans and retiree health plan are as follows:

Estimated

(In millions of USD) PE;;Zi;lltts
2000 $ 33.7
2020 . 35.9
202l 37.7
202 e 36.3
202 e 38.6
Thereafter. . . o . o 203.7
TOtal. oo $ 385.9

The Company’s defined benefit plan asset and liabilities are subject to changes in key assumptions and exposed to actuarial
risks used in the actuarial valuation including investment risk, interest risk, longevity risk and salary risk, as defined below.

Investmentrisk . ............. The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate
determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan assets is
below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plans have a relatively balanced
investment in equity securities, fixed income securities and assets held by insurance
companies and other.

Interestrisk................. A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be
partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments, as applicable.

Longevityrisk. .............. The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best
estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An
increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Salaryrisk.................. The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will
increase the plan’s liability.

The following is a summary of the impact of changes to these key assumptions on the defined benefit obligations:

31 December 31 December

(Decrease)/increase in Defined Benefit Obligation Due to Change in Key Assumption 2018 2017
Discount rate +0.5% . . . ..ot (354) (43.6)
Discount rate -0.5%. . . . . oo 37.3 47.2
Rate of increase in salaries +0.5% . ... .. ... e 34 7.8
Rate of increase in salaries -0.5% . . . ... ... oo (3.3) (6.6)
1 year increase in life expectancy at 65 . ... ... ... ... 6.0 16.8
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Defined contribution plans

The Company sponsors defined contribution plans covering its employees in the U.S. and Puerto Rico, as well as certain
employees in a number of countries outside the U.S. The Company’s domestic defined contribution plans consist primarily of a
401(k) retirement plan with a profit sharing component for non-union represented employees (the “Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan”)
and a 401(k) retirement plan for union-represented employees. Profit sharing contributions are made at the discretion of the
Board of Directors. The Company’s non-domestic plans vary in form depending on local legal requirements. The Company’s
contributions are based upon employee contributions, service hours, or pre-determined amounts depending upon the plan.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations when they are earned.

The Company adopted a 401(k) Restoration Plan (the “Restoration Plan’), which permits employees who earn compensation in
excess of the limits imposed by Section 401(a)(17) of the Code to (i) defer a portion of base salary and bonus compensation,
(i1) be credited with a Company matching contribution in respect of deferrals under the Restoration Plan, and (iii) be credited
with Company non-elective contributions (to the extent so made by the Company), in each case, to the extent that participants
otherwise would be able to defer or be credited with such amounts, as applicable, under the Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan if not for
the limits on contributions and deferrals imposed by the Code.

The Company adopted an Income Deferral Plan, which permits certain management or highly compensated employees who are
designated by the plan administrator to participate in the Income Deferral Plan to elect to defer up to 50% of base salary and up
to 100% of bonus compensation, in each case, in addition to any amounts that may be deferred by such participants under the
Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan and the Restoration Plan. In addition, under the Income Deferral Plan, eligible participants may be
granted employee deferral awards, which awards will be subject to the terms and conditions (including vesting) as determined
by the plan administrator at the time such awards are granted.

Total employer contributions to defined contribution plans were approximately $85.2 million, $95.9 million for the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Other benefit arrangements

The Company participated in a multi-employer pension plan under previous collective bargaining agreements. The PACE
Industry Union-Management Pension Fund (the “Plan”) provides defined benefits to certain retirees and certain production and
maintenance employees at the Company’s manufacturing plant in Morgantown, West Virginia who were covered by the
previous collective bargaining agreements. Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement entered into on 16 April 2012, the
Company withdrew from the Plan effective 10 May 2012. In 2013, the Plan trustee notified the Company that its withdrawal
liability was approximately $27.3 million, which was accrued by the Company in 2013. The withdrawal liability is being paid
over a period of approximately nine years; payments began in March 2014. The withdrawal liability was approximately $15.1
million and $18.1 million at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Employee Identification Number for the Plan is
11-6166763.

19 Income statement components
Selected income statement components consist of the following:
Litigation settlements and other contingencies, net

The following table includes the losses/(gains) recognized in litigation settlements and other contingencies, net during the year
ended 31 December 2018:

(In millions of USD) Note Loss/(gain)
Respiratory delivery platform contingent consideration adjustment. . ............................... 12§ (44.0)
Jai Pharma Limited and other contingent consideration adjustments. ... ............................ 12 2.5
Litigation settlements () . ... .. 24 (8.0)
Total litigation settlements and other contingencies,net .................................... $ (495

" For additional information, see Note 24 Litigation in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (chapter 9.1

of this board report).
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Other expense, net

Other expense, net includes the following expenses (income) during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively:

(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Other expenses:
Losses from equity affiliates, primarily clean energy investments. . ...................... 10 78.7 100.2
Financing related eXpenses . . .. ... oottt 14 6.0 32
INtEIESt TAte SWAD . . o\ vttt ettt et e e e e 11 12.6 10.0
Other EXPEISE . . oottt ettt e e e e 19.2 —
Total other eXPenses . . ... ... ...ttt § 1165 § 1134
Other income:
Foreign currency exchange gains, net. . . ........... ...t (20.0) (48.1)
Clean energy investment adjustment, net @ain . .. .............vininirnenenenennenan.. — (42.2)
INtEreSt INCOMIE . . . . .o\ttt et e e et e e ettt e e e e (5.0 (6.2)
Other INCOME. . . . .ottt et e et e e e e e e e e e e (14.0) (7.4)
Total other income. . .. ... ... ... ... .. . $ (39.00 § (103.9)
Other eXPense, MEt. . .. .. ...ttt e $ 775 8§ 9.5

20 Expenses by nature

The table below describes the nature of costs included in cost of sales, SG&A and R&D for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
Cost of sales (excluding the line items listed below) .. ........ ... ... . ... i i.. $ 44036 $§ 44242
Payroll and related . ... ... ... ... 2,073.6 2,189.1
Amortization including impairment of intangible assets .. ........ ... ... .. .. .. .. 1,830.4 1,518.2
DEPreCIation . . .ttt e e 279.5 287.6
ReStrUCTUIING. . . . oo 240.2 188.0
Purchase accounting inventory fair value adjustments. ............ ... .. .. ... ... .. ... — 0.9
Joint operations R&D eXPense . . . ...ttt e 118.2 117.7
Share-based COMPENSAtION . . . . ... ..ottt 0.2 75.7
Operating [€aSe EXPEISE . . . .« vttt ettt e ettt e e e 78.9 83.8
Defined benefits and other post-retirement benefits expense. .. ........... ... ..., 38.1 279
Other . . oo 1,536.5 1,578.6
Total cost of sales, SG&A and R&D expenses . . ...................couiiriiieno... $ 10,599.2 $ 10,491.7

Included as a component of cost of sales is expense related to the net realizable value of inventories of $300.5 million and
$229.3 million for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

21 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per ordinary share is computed by dividing net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per ordinary share is computed by
dividing net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period increased by the number of additional shares that would have been outstanding related to
potentially dilutive securities or instruments, if the impact is dilutive.
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Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to Mylan N.V. are calculated as follows:

Year Ended 31 December

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2018 2017
Basic earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders (numerator):
Net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders. . ......................... $ 306.8 $ 662.6
Shares (denominator):
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding:. .. ....... ... .. ... .. .. . .., 514.5 534.5
Basic earnings per ordinary share attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders. . . ... .. $ 0.60 $ 1.24

Diluted net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders (numerator):
Net earnings attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders. ... ....................... $ 306.8 $ 662.6
Shares (denominator):

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding:. . ........... ... ... it 514.5 534.5
Share-based awards and Warrants ... ............ ...t 2.0 2.3
Total diluted shares outstanding .. ............. ... i 516.5 536.8
Diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to Mylan N.V. ordinary shareholders . . . . .. $ 059 § 1.23

Additional stock options or restricted stock awards were outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 but
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for each respective period, because the effect would be anti-
dilutive. Such anti-dilutive stock options or restricted stock awards represented 4.9 million and 4.0 million for the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

22 Equity
Treasury stock

The Board of Directors periodically authorizes the Company to repurchase ordinary shares in the open market or through other
methods. Under a repurchase program announced 16 November 2015 the Company was authorized to repurchase up to $1
billion of the Company’s ordinary shares (the “Share Repurchase Program’), but was not obligated to acquire any particular
amount of ordinary shares. During 2017 the Company repurchased 12.4 million ordinary shares at a cost of approximately
$500.2 million as part of the Share Repurchase Program. In 2018, the Company repurchased an additional 9.8 million ordinary
shares at a cost of approximately $432.0 million which completed the $1 billion Share Repurchase Program.

23 Segment information

Mylan reports segment information on a geographic basis. This approach reflects the company’s focus on bringing its broad and
diversified portfolio of generic, branded generic, brand-name and over-the-counter products to people in markets everywhere.
Our North America segment comprises our operations in the U.S. and Canada. Our Europe segment comprises our operations in
more than 35 countries, including France, Italy, Germany, the U.K. and Spain. Our Rest of World segment reflects our
operations in more than 120 countries, including Japan, Australia, China, Brazil, Russia, India, South Africa and certain markets
in the Middle East and Southeast Asia.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer, who evaluates the performance of its segments
based on total revenues and segment profitability. Segment profitability represents segment gross profit less direct R&D and
direct SG&A. Certain general and administrative and R&D expenses not allocated to the segments, including certain special
items, net charges for litigation settlements and other contingencies, amortization of intangible assets, impairment charges and
other expenses not directly attributable to the segments are reported separately or outside of segment profitability. [tems below
the earnings from operations line on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations are not presented by
segment, since they are excluded from the measure of segment profitability. The Company has revised segment profitability for
Rest of World to conform with the current presentation by reclassifying approximately $78.2 million of net gains to litigation
settlements and other contingencies, net for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company does not report depreciation
expense, total assets and capital expenditures by segment, as such information is not used by the chief operating decision
maker.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Intersegment revenues are accounted for at current market values and are eliminated at the consolidated level.

Presented in the table below is segment information for the periods identified and a reconciliation of segment information to

total consolidated information.

(In millions of USD)
Year Ended 31 December 2018

Netsales. . ... ..

Segment profitability .............................

Intangible asset amortization expense. . ............
Intangible asset impairment charges . . .............
Globally managed research and development costs . . .
Corporate costs and special items . . ...............
Litigation settlements & other contingencies . . ... ...
Earnings from operations. . ........... ... ... .......

Year Ended 31 December 2017

Segment profitability ... ........ ... ... ... ... ...

Intangible asset amortization expense. . ............
Intangible asset impairment charges . ..............
Globally managed research and development costs . . .
Corporate costs and special items . .. ..............
Litigation settlements & other contingencies . .......

Earnings from operations. . ........................

North Rest of Corporate /
America Europe World Other Consolidated
$ 40956 $ 4,157.3 $ 3,0158 $ — § 11,268.7
112.4 27.1 25.7 — 165.2
85.2 107.8 343.9 (536.9) —
$ 42932 $§ 42922 $ 33854 § (536.9) $ 11,4339
$§ 1,834 § 10784 § 687.1 $ — $ 3,601.9
(1,606.4)
(224.0)
(250.3)
(686.5)
49.5
$ 884.2
$ 4969.6 $ 39583 $§ 28321 § — § 11,760.0
86.5 36.5 24.7 — 147.7
74.6 112.4 379.2 (566.2) —
$ 51307 $ 4,107.2 $§ 32360 $ (566.2) $ 11,907.7
§ 24953 § 10792 § 5711 § — § 41456
(1,437.4)
(80.8)
(356.4)
(855.0)
13.1
$ 1,429.1

118



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The following table presents the Company’s net sales by therapeutic franchise for each of our reportable segments for the years

ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

North Rest of

(In millions) America Europe World Total
Year Ended 31 December 2018
Central Nervous System & Anesthesia. ......................... $ 7185 $ 8775 $ 3407 $ 1,936.7
Infectious DIS€ase . . . ... oottt 260.8 441.8 826.4 1,529.0
Respiratory & Allergy. .. ...t 643.2 399.9 208.9 1,252.0
Cardiovascular . ........... . . 342.4 567.9 170.6 1,080.9
Gastroenterology. . . .. ... o 136.4 614.0 364.7 1,115.1
Diabetes & Metabolism . ........... ... i, 416.5 252.3 121.3 790.1
Dermatology . ..o vo vt 352.2 330.6 95.8 778.6
Women’sHealth ........... ... ... ... .. .. . .. 350.7 253.2 104.4 708.3
ONCOlOgY . . o et 543.4 78.4 137.1 758.9
Immunology . ..... ..o 49.5 18.7 38.6 106.8
Other V) . .o 282.0 323.0 607.3 1,212.3

Total .. $§ 40956 $ 41573 $ 3,0158 § 11,268.7
Year Ended 31 December 2017
Central Nervous System & Anesthesia.......................... $ 1,057.1 $ 862.7 $ 3170 $ 2,236.8
Infectious DiS€ase . .. ..ottt 200.0 343.2 921.7 1,464.9
Respiratory & Allergy. .. ..o 709.8 446.3 206.2 1,362.3
Cardiovascular . .......... .. .. 454.5 579.8 170.3 1,204.6
Gastroenterology. . ... ... 183.5 581.0 357.9 1,122.4
Diabetes & Metabolism . ............. ... ..., 577.7 266.2 103.6 947.5
Dermatology . .. oot 529.4 295.3 106.0 930.7
Women’sHealth ......... ... ... ... ... ... .. . . .. 331.2 282.7 94.4 708.3
ONCOlOgY . . oot 487.4 71.2 148.6 707.2
IMmunology . ......... i 83.5 10.3 37.6 131.4
Other ) . 355.5 219.6 368.8 943.9

Total ..o $§ 4969.6 $ 39583 $ 28321 § 11,760.0

1)

Other consists of numerous therapeutic franchises, none of which individually exceeds 5% of consolidated net sales.
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The following table represents the percentage of consolidated net sales to Mylan’s major customers during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

Percentage of Consolidated Net

Sales
2018 2017

MCcKessOn COrporation . . . ... .vu vttt ettt ettt ettt e e et 12% 13%

AmerisourceBergen Corporation . ... ...........iuititit i 8% 8%

Cardinal Health, IncC. . . .. ... . .. . . 8% 10%

Sales by Country Information
Net sales by country are presented on the basis of geographic location of our subsidiaries:

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017
United STAtES . . ..ottt et e e $ 3,8652 $§ 4,683.7
India . ..o e 1,164.8 1,082.6
The Netherlands (V. . ... ... .. 132.2 117.5
Other countries P . .. ... ... 6,106.5 5,876.2

§ 11,2687 § 11,760.0

" Mylan N.V. has its corporate seat in the Netherlands.
@ No other country’s net sales represents more than 10% of consolidated net sales for the years ended 31 December 2018

and 2017, respectively.

24 Litigation
Litigation

(In millions of USD) Accrual
Provision balance as at 31 December 2016. . ......... ... . .. .. .. . . $ 650.1
AdItIONS. . . .o 63.0
PaymIentS. . . . e e (532.5)
Provision balance as at 31 December 2017. .. ... ... ... .. . . . e $ 180.6
AdAItIONS. . . .ot e 2.5
Py NS, . . .o (128.8)
Provision balance as at 31 December 2018. . .. ... ... ... .. .. ... $ 543

The Company is involved in various disputes, governmental and/or regulatory inquiries, investigations and proceedings, tax
proceedings and litigation matters, both in the U.S. and abroad, that arise from time to time, some of which could result in
losses, including damages, fines and/or civil penalties, and/or criminal charges against the Company. These matters are often
complex and have outcomes that are difficult to predict. The Company is also party to certain proceedings and litigation matters
for which it may be entitled to indemnification under the respective sale and purchase agreements relating to the acquisitions of
the former Merck Generics business, Agila, Abbott Laboratories’ (“Abbott”) non-U.S. developed markets specialty and branded
generics business, and certain other acquisitions.

While the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses with respect to the claims asserted against it and intends to
vigorously defend its position, the process of resolving these matters is inherently uncertain and may develop over a long period
of time, and so it is not possible to predict the ultimate resolution of any such matter. It is possible that an unfavorable
resolution of any of the ongoing matters or the inability or denial of Merck KGaA, Strides Arcolab, Abbott, or another
indemnitor or insurer to pay an indemnified claim, could have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price.
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Some of these governmental inquiries, investigations, proceedings and litigation matters with which the Company is involved
are described below, and unless otherwise disclosed, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of the matter or to provide
an estimate of the range of reasonably possible material losses. The Company records accruals for loss contingencies to the
extent we conclude it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The
Company is also involved in other pending proceedings for which, in the opinion of the Company based upon facts and
circumstances known at the time, either the likelihood of loss is remote or any reasonably possible loss associated with the
resolution of such proceedings is not expected to be material to the Company’s business, financial position, results of
operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price. If and when any reasonably possible losses associated with the resolution of
such other pending proceedings, in the opinion of the Company, become material, the Company will disclose such matters.

Legal costs are recorded as incurred and are classified in SG&A in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statements.
Lorazepam and Clorazepate

On 01 June 2005, a jury verdict was rendered against Mylan, MPI, and co-defendants Cambrex Corporation and Gyma
Laboratories in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in the amount of approximately $12.0 million in an antitrust
case brought by four health insurers who opted out of earlier class action settlements agreed to by the Company in 2001. The
Court entered final judgment on 30 August 2017 in the amount of approximately $67.0 million (not including post-judgment
interest and fees and costs). Mylan filed a notice of appeal on 15 September 2017 with the United States Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit. This matter has been resolved by way of settlement and the case is closed. The Company paid
approximately $34.5 million during 2018 related to this matter.

The Company maintained a surety bond underwritten by a third-party insurance company in the amount of $66.6 million which
has been released.

Pricing and Medicaid Litigation

Dey L.P. (now known as Mylan Specialty L.P. and herein as “Mylan Specialty”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
was named in 1997 as a defendant in a case brought by the U.S. as well as in later filed class actions brought by consumers and
third-party payors. All of the cases and claims brought against Mylan Specialty have been fully resolved and dismissed.

Under the terms of the purchase agreement with Merck KGaA, Mylan is fully indemnified for the claims in the preceding
paragraph and Merck KGaA is entitled to any income tax benefit the Company realizes for any deductions of amounts paid for
such pricing litigation. The Company paid approximately $65.7 million in 2018. No further amounts are owed by the Company.

Modafinil Antitrust Litigation

Beginning in April 2006, Mylan and four other drug manufacturers were named as defendants in civil lawsuits filed in or
transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (“EDPA”) by a variety of plaintiffs purportedly
representing direct and indirect purchasers of the drug modafinil and in a lawsuit filed by Apotex, Inc., a manufacturer of
generic drugs. These actions alleged violations of federal antitrust and state laws in connection with the generic defendants’
settlement of patent litigation with Cephalon relating to modafinil. Mylan has entered into a settlement agreement with the
putative indirect purchasers for approximately $14.4 million, which is subject to court approval. Mylan has settled with the
putative direct purchaser class and the retailer opt-out plaintiffs for $165 million, a portion of which was paid by the Company
prior to 2018, and a final amount of approximately $89.2 million was paid in April 2018. Mylan and Apotex have also settled
Apotex’s claims.

On 10 July 2015, the Louisiana Attorney General filed a lawsuit in the 19th Judicial District Court in Louisiana against Mylan
and three other drug manufacturers asserting state law claims based on the same underlying allegations as those made in the
litigation then pending in the EDPA. On 08 December 2016, the District Court dismissed the lawsuit with prejudice, which the
State of Louisiana appealed. The appeals court subsequently remanded the lawsuit to the District Court to include certain
language in order to make the District Court’s dismissal decision final and appealable.

On 28 July 2016, United Healthcare filed a complaint against Mylan Inc. and four other drug manufacturers in the United States
District Court for the District of Minnesota, asserting state law claims based on the same underlying allegations as those made
in the litigation then pending in the EDPA. On 06 January 2017, the case was transferred to the EDPA and is still pending. MPI
has since been included as an additional party. The trial date previously scheduled for July 2019 has been canceled.
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The Company believes that it has strong defenses to these remaining cases. Although it is reasonably possible that the Company
may incur additional losses from these matters, any amount cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

The Company has a total accrual of approximately $14.4 million related to this matter at 31 December 2018, which is included
in other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pioglitazone

Beginning in December 2013, Mylan, Takeda, and several other drug manufacturers have been named as defendants in civil
lawsuits consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York by plaintiffs which purport to represent
direct and indirect purchasers of branded or generic Actos® and Actoplus Met®. These actions allege violations of state and
federal competition laws in connection with the defendants’ settlements of patent litigation in 2010 related to Actos® and
Actoplus Met®. Mylan’s motion to dismiss the indirect purchasers’ complaint was granted and no appeal was filed as to Mylan.
Following the appellate decision relating to other defendants, the direct purchasers filed an amended complaint against Mylan
and the other manufacturers. Mylan’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint is pending.

SEC Investigation

On 10 September 2015, Mylan N.V. received a subpoena from the SEC’s Division of Enforcement seeking documents with
regard to certain related party matters. Mylan subsequently received additional requests for information. The SEC’s Division of
Enforcement informed the Company in February 2019 that it had completed its investigation with no recommended further
action.

Trade Agreements Act (“TAA”)

On 09 April 2018, a subsidiary of Mylan N.V. received a civil investigative demand from the Commercial Litigation Branch of
the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”’) concerning its TAA compliance for certain products. The company fully cooperated
with DOJ. On 14 September 2018, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio unsealed a qui tam lawsuit
filed against the Mylan N.V. subsidiary concerning its TAA compliance for the same products identified in DOJ’s civil
investigative demand. DOJ has declined to intervene in the lawsuit and has closed its investigation. The lawsuit has been stayed
and we believe that its claims are without merit and intend to defend against them vigorously.

EpiPen® Auto-Injector and Certain Congressional Matters
Classification of EpiPen® Auto-Injector and EpiPen Jr® Auto-Injector

In November 2014, the Company received a subpoena from the DOJ related to the classification of the EpiPen® Auto-Injector
for purposes of the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program (“MDRP”). On 17 August 2017, two of Mylan’s subsidiaries - Mylan Inc.
and Mylan Specialty - signed an agreement for a $465 million settlement, plus interest, with the DOJ, state government
agencies and two relators (the “MDRP Settlement”). The settlement with the DOJ, two relators and all 50 states plus the District
of Columbia has been completed and both the federal and state matters have been dismissed through stipulations of dismissal.
In connection with the settlement, Mylan Inc. and Mylan Specialty entered into a Corporate Integrity Agreement (the “CIA”)
with the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services. The CIA has a five-year term and
requires, among other things, that an independent review organization annually review various matters relating to the MDRP.
Neither the settlement agreement nor the CIA contains an admission or finding of wrongdoing. In connection with the
settlement, Mylan Specialty has reclassified EpiPen® Auto-Injector as an innovator product for purposes of the MDRP
effective 01 April 2017. The Company recorded an accrual for the full settlement amount during the year ended 31 December
2016 and recorded an additional accrual for interest related to the settlement amount prior to the payment made in 2017.

Department of Veterans Affairs Request for Information

On 30 June 2017, the Company responded to a request for information from the Department of Veterans Affairs
(“VA”) (acting on behalf of itself and other government agencies) requesting certain historical pricing data related to the
EpiPen® Auto-Injector. The Company and the VA are engaged in a continuing dialogue regarding the classification of the
EpiPen® Auto-Injector as a covered drug under Section 603 of the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, Public Law 102-585. The
EpiPen® Auto-Injector has been classified as a non covered drug with the VA based upon long standing written guidance from
the federal government. The Company is fully cooperating with the VA.
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SEC Request for Information/Subpoenas

On 07 October 2016, Mylan received a document request from the SEC’s Division of Enforcement seeking communications
with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and documents concerning Mylan products sold and related to the MDRP,
and any related complaints. On 15 November 2016, Mylan received a follow-up letter, modifying the initial document request,
seeking information on and public disclosures regarding the MDRP Settlement and the classification of the EpiPen® Auto-
Injector under the MDRP. Mylan has received subpoenas and additional requests for information in this matter and will
continue to fully cooperate with the SEC.

On 25 April 2017, Mylan received a comment letter from the staff of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance (“Corporation
Finance”) with respect to Mylan’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 31 December 2016, requesting information
regarding Mylan’s accounting treatment of the MDRP Settlement, including with respect to the determinations that the
settlement amount should be recorded as a charge against earnings in the third quarter of 2016 rather than against any earlier
periods, and that the settlement amount should be classified as an expense rather than a reduction of revenue. The Company
responded to the comment letter in May 2017 and we will continue to respond to any additional correspondence from
Corporation Finance. We believe that our accounting treatment for the aforementioned settlement is appropriate and consistent
with all applicable accounting standards.

FTC Request for Information

On 18 November 2016, Mylan received a request from the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) Bureau of Competition
seeking documents and information relating to its preliminary investigation into potential anticompetitive practices relating to
epinephrine auto-injectors. Mylan is fully cooperating with the FTC.

Federal Securities Litigation

Purported class action complaints were filed in October 2016 against Mylan N.V., Mylan Inc. and certain of their current and
former directors and officers (collectively, for purposes of this paragraph, the “defendants™) in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York (“SDNY”) on behalf of certain purchasers of securities of Mylan N.V. and/or Mylan Inc.
on the NASDAQ. The complaints alleged that defendants made false or misleading statements and omissions of purportedly
material fact, in violation of federal securities laws, in connection with disclosures relating to Mylan N.V. and Mylan Inc.’s
classification of their EpiPen® Auto-Injector as a non-innovator drug for purposes of the MDRP. The complaints sought
damages, as well as the plaintiffs’ fees and costs. On 20 March 2017, after the actions were consolidated, a consolidated
amended complaint was filed, alleging substantially similar claims and seeking substantially similar relief, but adding
allegations that defendants made false or misleading statements and omissions of purportedly material fact in connection with
allegedly anticompetitive conduct with respect to EpiPen® Auto-Injector and certain generic drugs, and alleging violations of
both federal securities laws (on behalf of a purported class of certain purchasers of securities of Mylan N.V. and/or Mylan Inc.
on the NASDAQ) and Israeli securities laws (on behalf of a purported class of certain purchasers of securities of Mylan N.V. on
the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange). On 28 March 2018, defendants’ motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint was
granted in part (including the dismissal of claims arising under Israeli securities laws) and denied in part. On 06 July 2018, the
Plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint, including certain current and former directors and officers and additional
allegations in connection with purportedly anticompetitive conduct with respect to EpiPen® Auto-Injector and certain generic
drugs. On 06 August 2018, defendants filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint, which was granted in part and
denied in part on 29 March 2019. On 26 February 2019, MYL Litigation Recovery I LLC (an assignee of entities that
purportedly purchased stock of Mylan N.V.) filed an additional complaint against Mylan N.V., Mylan Inc., and certain of their
current and former directors and officers in the SDNY asserting allegations pertaining to EpiPen® Auto-Injector under the
federal securities laws that overlap in part with those asserted in the second amended complaint identified above. The
Complaint seeks damages as well as the plaintiff’s costs. We believe that the claims in these lawsuits are without merit and
intend to defend against them vigorously.

123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Israeli Securities Litigation

On 13 October 2016, a purported shareholder of Mylan N.V. filed a lawsuit, together with a motion to certify the lawsuit as a
class action on behalf of certain Mylan N.V. shareholders on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, against Mylan N.V. and four of its
directors and officers (collectively, for purposes of this paragraph, the “defendants”) in the Tel Aviv District Court (Economic
Division) (the “Friedman Action”). The plaintiff alleges that the defendants made false or misleading statements and omissions
of purportedly material fact in Mylan N.V.’s reports to the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange regarding Mylan N.V.’s classification of its
EpiPen® Auto-Injector for purposes of the MDRP, in violation of both U.S. and Israeli securities laws, the Israecli Companies
Law and the Israeli Torts Ordinance. The plaintiff seeks damages, among other remedies. On 30 April 2017, another purported
shareholder of Mylan N.V. filed a separate lawsuit, together with a motion to certify the lawsuit as a class action on behalf of
certain Mylan N.V. shareholders on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, in the Tel Aviv District Court (Economic Division), alleging
substantially similar claims and seeking substantially similar relief against the defendants and other directors and officers of
Mylan N.V,, but alleging also that this group of defendants made false or misleading statements and omissions of purportedly
material fact in connection with allegedly anticompetitive conduct with respect to EpiPen® Auto-Injector and certain generic
drugs, and alleging violations of both U.S. federal securities laws and Israeli law (the “IEC Fund Action”). On 10 April 2018,
the Tel Aviv District Court granted the motion filed by plaintiffs in both the Friedman Action and the IEC Fund Action,
voluntarily dismissing the Friedman Action and staying the IEC Fund Action until a judgment is issued in the purported class
action securities litigation pending in the U.S. We believe that the claims in these lawsuits are without merit and intend to
defend against them vigorously.

EpiPen® Auto-Injector Civil Litigation

Mylan Specialty and other Mylan-affiliated entities have been named as defendants in putative class actions relating to the
pricing and/or marketing of the EpiPen® Auto-Injector. The plaintiffs in these cases assert violations of various federal and
state antitrust and consumer protection laws, the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, as well as common law
claims. Plaintiffs’ claims include purported challenges to the prices charged for the EpiPen® Auto-Injector and/or the marketing
of the product in packages containing two auto-injectors, as well as allegedly anti-competitive conduct. A Mylan officer and
other non-Mylan affiliated companies were also named as defendants in some of the class actions. These lawsuits were filed in
the various federal and state courts and have either been dismissed or transferred into a multidistrict litigation (“MDL”) in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Kansas and have been consolidated. Mylan filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated
amended complaint, which was granted in part and denied in part. On 07 December 2018, the Plaintiffs filed a motion for class
certification. This motion remains pending. A trial date has been scheduled for November 2020. We believe that the remaining
claims in these lawsuits are without merit and intend to defend against them vigorously.

On 24 April 2017, Sanofi-Aventis U.S., LLC (“Sanofi”) filed a lawsuit against Mylan Inc. and Mylan Specialty in the U.S.
District Court for the District of New Jersey. This lawsuit has been transferred into the aforementioned MDL. In this lawsuit,
Sanofi alleges exclusive dealings and anti-competitive marketing practices in violation of the antitrust laws in connection with
the sale and marketing of the EpiPen® Auto-Injector. On 01 November 2018, Sanofi filed a Motion for a Suggestion of
Remand of the case to the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey. On 23 January 2019, the Court denied Sanofi’s
motion without prejudice. We believe that Sanofi’s claims in this lawsuit are without merit and intend to defend against them
vigorously.

EpiPen® Auto-Injector State AG Investigations

The Company and certain of its affiliated entities received subpoenas and informal requests from various state attorneys general
seeking information and documents relating to the pricing and/or marketing of the EpiPen® Auto-Injector. The Company has
cooperated and is fully cooperating with the various state attorneys general.

U.S. Congress/State Requests for Information and Documents

Mylan received several requests for information and documents from various Committees of the U.S. Congress and federal and
state lawmakers concerning the marketing, distribution and sales of Mylan products. Mylan cooperated with federal and state
lawmakers as appropriate in response to their requests.

The Company has a total accrual of approximately $10.0 million related to this matter at 31 December 2018, which is included
in other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company made
payments of approximately $472.7 million related to this matter. The Company believes that it has strong defenses to current
and future potential civil litigation, as well as governmental investigations and enforcement proceedings, discussed in this
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“EpiPen® Auto-Injector and Certain Congressional Matters” section of this Note 24 Litigation. Although it is reasonably
possible that the Company may incur additional losses from these matters, any amount cannot be reasonably estimated at this
time. In addition, the Company expects to incur additional legal and other professional service expenses associated with such
matters in future periods and will recognize these expenses as services are received. The Company believes that the ultimate
amount paid for these services and claims could have a material effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price in future periods.

Opioids

On 27 July 2017, Mylan N.V. received a subpoena from the DOJ seeking information relating to opioids manufactured,
marketed or sold by Mylan during the period from 01 January 2013 to 31 December 2016. On 29 August 2017, Mylan N.V.
received a civil investigative demand from the Attorney General of the State of Missouri seeking information relating to opioids
manufactured, marketed or sold by Mylan during the period from 01 January 2010 to the present and related subject matter.
Mylan is fully cooperating with these subpoena requests.

Mylan has been named in the U.S. and Canada, along with numerous other manufacturers, distributors, pharmacies, pharmacy
benefit managers, and/or individual healthcare professionals, in civil lawsuits, including numerous cases in the MDL pending in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, brought by plaintiffs, including local governmental entities,
generally asserting statutory and/or common law claims arising from the manufacture, distribution, marketing, promotion, and
sale of purported prescription opioids. The lawsuits seek damages, including punitive and/or exemplary damages, injunctive
relief, attorneys’ fees and costs, and other relief. Mylan believes that the claims in these lawsuits are without merit and intends
to defend against them vigorously.

Drug Pricing Matters
Department of Justice Subpoena

On 03 December 2015, a subsidiary of Mylan N.V. received a subpoena from the Antitrust Division of the DOJ seeking
information relating to the marketing, pricing, and sale of our generic Doxycycline products and any communications with
competitors about such products.

On 08 September 2016, a subsidiary of Mylan N.V,, as well as certain employees and a member of senior management,
received subpoenas from the DOJ seeking additional information relating to the marketing, pricing and sale of our generic
Cidofovir, Glipizide-metformin, Propranolol and Verapamil products and any communications with competitors about such
products. Related search warrants also were executed.

On 10 May 2018, a subsidiary of Mylan N.V. received a civil investigative demand from the Civil Division of the DOJ seeking
information relating to the pricing and sale of its generic drug products.

The Company is fully cooperating with the DOJ.
Civil Litigation

Beginning in 2016, the Company, along with other manufacturers, has been named as a defendant in lawsuits generally alleging
anticompetitive conduct with respect to generic drugs. The lawsuits have been filed by putative classes of direct purchasers,
indirect purchasers, and indirect resellers, as well as individual direct and indirect purchasers. They allege harm under federal
and state antitrust laws, state consumer protection laws and unjust enrichment claims. Some of the lawsuits also name Mylan’s
President as a defendant and include allegations against him with respect to doxycycline hyclate delayed release. The lawsuits
have been consolidated in an MDL proceeding in the EDPA. Defendants filed motions to dismiss certain complaints that each
allege anticompetitive conduct with respect to single drug products. On 16 October 2018, the Court denied the motions with
respect to the federal law claims. On 15 February 2019, the Court granted in part and denied in part the motions with respect to
the state law claims. On 21 February 2019, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss certain complaints that allege anticompetitive
conduct with respect to multiple drug products, which remains pending. The Company believes that the claims in these lawsuits
are without merit and intends to defend against them vigorously.
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Attorneys General Litigation

On 21 December 2015, the Company received a subpoena and interrogatories from the Connecticut Office of the Attorney
General seeking information relating to the marketing, pricing and sale of certain of the Company’s generic products (including
generic doxycycline) and communications with competitors about such products. On 14 December 2016, attorneys general of
twenty states filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut against several generic
pharmaceutical drug manufacturers, including Mylan, alleging anticompetitive conduct with respect to, among other things,
doxycycline hyclate delayed release. The complaint was subsequently amended to add certain attorneys general alleging
violations of federal and state antitrust laws, as well as violations of various states’ consumer protection laws. This lawsuit has
been transferred to the aforementioned MDL proceeding in the EDPA. On 31 October 2017, attorneys general of forty-five
states, the District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico filed a motion for leave to file a consolidated amended
complaint (“proposed amended complaint”) against various drug manufacturers, including Mylan. The proposed amended
complaint was permitted and was filed on 18 June 2018 and included two additional states. Mylan is alleged to have engaged in
anticompetitive conduct with respect to doxycycline hyclate delayed release, doxycycline monohydrate, glipizide-metformin,
and verapamil. The amended complaint also includes claims asserted by attorneys general of thirty-seven states and the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico against certain individuals, including Mylan’s President, with respect to doxycycline hyclate
delayed release. The allegations in the amended complaint are similar to those in the previously filed complaints. On 21
February 2019, Defendants filed motions to dismiss the amended complaint’s allegations of anticompetitive conduct with
respect to multiple drug products and the ability of the state attorneys general to seek certain forms of relief under federal
antitrust law, which remains pending. We believe that the claims in this lawsuit are without merit and intend to defend against
them vigorously.

In May 2019, attorneys general from certain states notified Mylan that the states intend to file a new complaint alleging
anticompetitive conduct with respect to additional generic drugs.

Valsartan

Mylan N.V., and three of its subsidiaries (Mylan Inc., Mylan Laboratories Ltd. and Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc.), along with
numerous other manufacturers, retailers and others, have been named as defendants in lawsuits in the United States and other
countries stemming from recalls of valsartan-containing medications. The United States litigation, which will take place in an
MDL in the District of New Jersey, includes class action allegations seeking the refund of the purchase price and other
economic damages allegedly sustained by consumers who purchased valsartan-containing products as well as claims for
personal injuries allegedly caused by ingestion of the medication. Moreover, Mylan has received requests to indemnify
purchasers of Mylan’s active pharmaceutical ingredient and/or finished dose forms of the product. We believe that the claims in
these lawsuits are without merit and intend to defend against them vigorously.

European Commission Proceedings
Perindopril

On 09 July 2014, the European Commission (the “Commission”) issued a decision finding that Mylan Laboratories Limited and
Mylan, as well as several other companies, had violated European Union (“EU”) competition rules relating to the product
Perindopril and fined Mylan Laboratories Limited approximately €17.2 million, including approximately €8.0 million jointly
and severally with Mylan Inc. The Company paid approximately $21.7 million related to this matter during the fourth quarter of
2014. In September 2014, the Company filed an appeal of the Commission’s decision to the General Court of the EU. A hearing
on the appeal before the General Court of the EU was held in June 2017 and the Commission’s decision was affirmed. Mylan
has appealed the decision to the European Court of Justice (“CJEU”).

Citalopram

On 19 June 2013, the Commission issued a decision finding that Generics [U.K.] Limited,(“GUK”) as well as several other
companies, had violated EU competition rules relating to the product Citalopram and fined GUK approximately €7.8 million,
jointly and severally with Merck KGaA. GUK appealed the Commission’s decision to the General Court of the EU. The case is
currently on appeal to the CJEU. The U.K. applied and was granted permission to intervene in this proceeding. The Company
has accrued approximately €7.4 million as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively related to this matter. GUK has
received notices from European national health services and health insurers stating an intention to commence follow-on
litigation and asserting damages. GUK has also sought indemnification from Merck KGaA with respect to the €7.8 million
portion of the fine for which Merck KGaA and GUK were held jointly and severally liable. Merck KGaA has counterclaimed
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against GUK seeking the same indemnification. In June 2018, the Frankfurt Regional Court issued a judgment dismissing GUK
claims against Merck KGaA and ordered GUK to indemnify Merck KGaA with respect to the amount for which the parties
were held jointly and severally liable. GUK has appealed this decision. A hearing took place on 24 January 2019. It is
reasonably possible that we will incur additional losses above the amount accrued but we cannot estimate a range of such
reasonably possible losses at this time. There are no assurances, however, that settlements reached and/or adverse judgments
received, if any, will not exceed amounts accrued.

U.K. Competition and Markets Authority
Paroxetine

On 12 August 2011, GUK received notice that the Office of Fair Trading (subsequently changed to the Competition and
Markets Authority (the “CMA”)) opened an investigation to explore the possible infringement of the Competition Act 1998 and
Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU, with respect to alleged agreements related to Paroxetine. The
CMA issued a decision on 12 February 2016, finding that, GUK, Merck KGaA and other companies were liable for infringing
EU and U.K. competition rules. With respect to Merck KGaA and GUK, the CMA issued a penalty of approximately £5.8
million, for which Merck KGaA is liable for the entire amount; and of that amount GUK is jointly and severally liable for
approximately £2.7 million, which has been accrued for as at 31 December 2018. The matter is currently on appeal to the
Competition Appeals Tribunal, which on 08 March 2018, referred certain questions of law to the CJEU. The CJEU sought
written observations from GUK, which were filed in September 2018.

Nefopam

On 10 October 2017, Mylan N.V. and Meda Pharmaceuticals Limited received notice that the CMA was opening an
investigation to explore the possible infringement of the Competition Act 1998 and Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning
of the EU, with respect to alleged agreements related to Nefopam, a product from Meda’s portfolio. On 16 October 2017, the
CMA issued a notice under Section 26 of the Competition Act 1998 to Mylan N.V. and Meda Pharmaceuticals Limited to
provide specified information and produce specified documents. The CMA has closed its investigation with no action.

Italy Investigation

On 18 April 2018, certain employees of Mylan S.p.A. were served with search warrants issued by the Public Prosecutor’s
Office in Milan, Italy seeking information concerning interactions with an Italian hospital and sales of certain reimbursable
Mylan S.p.A. drugs. The Company is assisting its employees in their cooperation with the investigation.

Product Liability

The Company is involved in a number of product liability lawsuits and claims related to alleged personal injuries arising out of
certain products manufactured and/or distributed by the Company. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to
these lawsuits and claims and intends to defend against them vigorously. From time to time, the Company has agreed to settle
or otherwise resolve certain lawsuits and claims on terms and conditions that are in the best interests of the Company. The
Company has accrued approximately $10.9 million and $8.4 million at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, respectively.
It is reasonably possible that we will incur additional losses and fees above the amount accrued but we cannot estimate a range
of such reasonably possible losses or legal fees related to these claims at this time. There are no assurances, however, that
settlements reached and/or adverse judgments received, if any, will not exceed amounts accrued.

Intellectual Property

MPI filed with the FDA a Paragraph IV certification stating that approval of MPI’s Abbreviated New Drug Application
(“ANDA”) for glatiramer acetate injection, 20 mg/mL will not infringe any valid claim of patents owned or controlled by Teva
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., Yeda Research and Development Co., or their affiliates (for purposes of these paragraphs,
“Plaintiffs”), listed in the FDA’s Orange Book. There are currently no unexpired patents for the product listed in the FDA’s
Orange Book. On 03 October 2017, MPI received final FDA approval and launched its 20 mg/mL glatiramer acetate product in
the U.S.

MPI filed with the FDA a Paragraph IV certification stating that approval of MPI’s ANDA for glatiramer acetate injection, 40
mg/mL will not infringe any valid claim of patents owned or controlled by the Plaintiffs listed in the FDA’s Orange Book. On
06 October 2014, Plaintiffs filed suit against MPI and Mylan Inc. in the District Court for the District of Delaware alleging
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infringement of the Orange Book patents and seeking monetary damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees, costs and other
relief. On 30 January 2017, the Delaware District Court found, after trial, the asserted claims of the Orange Book patents-in-suit
invalid as obvious.

In February and March 2015, MPI and Mylan Inc. filed petitions with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board requesting inter partes
review of the claims of three asserted patents. On 24 August 2016 and 01 September 2016, respectively, the Patent Trial and
Appeal Board issued final written decisions finding all claims of three asserted patents unpatentable as obvious. After Plaintiffs’
requests for reconsideration of those decisions, the Patent Trial and Appeal Board issued revised final written decisions
addressing issues raised in the requests for reconsideration and again finding all claims of three asserted patents unpatentable as
obvious.

Plaintiffs appealed both the District Court decision and the Patent and Trial and Appeal Board decision to the Federal Circuit.
On 12 October 2018, the Federal Circuit affirmed both decisions finding the asserted claims of the Orange Book-listed patents
invalid. No further appeals were filed, and all deadlines have passed.

On 19 October 2017, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (“Teva”) commenced an action with the Irish High Court against
Mylan Teoranta alleging that Mylan’s glatiramer acetate 40mg/mL product, which is manufactured in Ireland, approved by the
FDA and is currently being sold in the U.S., infringes two European patents, EP (IE) 2 949 335 and EP (IE) 3 050 556. Teva
subsequently dropped its infringement allegation related to the EP (IE) 3 050 556 patent. The matter has now been resolved and
Mylan will continue its production activities with respect to the U.S. 40mg/mL product in Ireland.

On 22 September 2017, Amgen Inc. and Amgen Manufacturing Limited (“Amgen”) sued Mylan Inc., Mylan N.V., Mylan
GMBH, and MPI in the Western District of Pennsylvania asserting that Mylan’s Fulphila® infringes U.S. patent numbers
8,273,707 and 9,643,997. On 04 June 2018, the FDA approved Mylan’s Fulphila® (pegfilgrastim-jmdb), a biosimilar to
Neulasta® (pegfilgrastim), co-developed with Biocon. In July 2018, Mylan began selling Fulphila®. Amgen is seeking
monetary damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees, costs and other relief.

On 31 July 2015, BTG International Ltd., Janssen Biotech, Inc., Janssen Oncology, Inc., and Janssen Research & Development,
LLC (“Janssen”) sued Mylan Inc. and Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., along with numerous other ANDA applicants, in the
District of New Jersey asserting that Mylan’s and the other ANDA applicants’ abiraterone acetate ANDA products infringe U.S.
Patent number 8,822,438 (“’438”). On 30 June 2016, Mylan filed an Inter Partes Review (“IPR”) petition challenging the
validity of the 438 patents’ claims. On 17 January 2018, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Appeal Board issued Final Written
Decisions in the IPR finding all claims of the *438 patent unpatentable as obvious. On 26 October 2018, the district court
issued an opinion similarly finding the 438 patents’ claims invalid as obvious. On 31 October 2018, the FDA approved
Mylan’s abiraterone acetate ANDA. Mylan, along with certain other ANDA applicants, began selling their abiraterone acetate
ANDA products in November.

Janssen has appealed both the district court and IPR decisions to the Federal Circuit. Both matters have been consolidated and
a hearing was held on March 14, 2019. Janssen is seeking monetary damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees, costs and other
relief, including pre- and post-judgment interest. Janssen is further asserting that the district court erred in not enforcing
estoppel provisions against the prevailing ANDA filers in the IPR proceedings.

The Company has used its business judgment in connection with the decision to launch the 40mg/mL glatiramer acetate,
Fulphila® and abiraterone acetate products and has also used its business judgment in certain other situations to decide to
market and sell products, in each case based on its belief that the applicable patents are invalid and/or that its products do not
infringe, notwithstanding the fact that allegations of patent infringement(s) or other potential third party rights have not been
finally resolved by the courts. The risk involved in doing so can be substantial because the remedies available to the owner of a
patent for infringement may include, a reasonable royalty on sales or damages measured by the profits lost by the patent owner.
If there is a finding of willful infringement, damages may be increased up to three times. Moreover, because of the discount
pricing typically involved with bioequivalent products, patented branded products generally realize a substantially higher profit
margin than generic and biosimilar products. Mylan intends to defend against any such patent infringement claims vigorously.
However, an adverse decision could have an adverse effect that is material to our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and/or ordinary share price.

Other Litigation

The Company is involved in various other legal proceedings that are considered normal to its business. The Company has
approximately $5.5 million accrued related to these various other legal proceedings at 31 December 2018.
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25 Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments and contractual obligations at 31 December 2018 and the effect
that such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods:

Less than One- Three Three- Five

(In millions of USD) Total One Year Years Years Thereafter
Long-termdebt. ... ... ... $ 13,9130 $ 6500 $ 4,183.0 $ 1,250.0 $ 7,830.0
Scheduled interest payments " . ... ... L. 52375 466.0 844.6 689.9 3,237.0
Operating leases @ . ... ... ... ... .. .. ... .. 269.6 73.7 94.9 46.8 54.2
Other Commitments @ . ... ... ... .. ... ............ 1,565.0 797.5 434.6 115.4 2175

$20985.1 § 19872 § 55571 § 2,102.1 §$ 11,338.7

" Scheduled interest payments represent the estimated interest payments related to our outstanding borrowings under

term loans, senior notes and other long-term debt. Variable debt interest payments are estimated using current interest
rates.

@ We lease certain property under various operating lease arrangements that expire generally over the next five to seven

years. These leases generally provide us with the option to renew the lease at the end of the lease term.

@ Other commitments include funding commitments related to the Company’s clean energy investments, agreements to

purchase third-party manufactured products, open purchase orders, transition tax, estimated post-employment
payments and finance leases at 31 December 2018.

Future minimum lease payments under operating lease commitments are as follows for the years ended 31 December:

(In millions of USD)

200 L $ 73.7
2020 . 54.7
202 ] e e 40.2
202 e 28.5
2023 e e 18.3
8 1S5 (T < 54.2

$ 269.6

The Company has also entered into employment and other agreements with certain executives and other employees that provide
for compensation, retirement and certain other benefits. These agreements provide for severance payments under certain
circumstances. Additionally, the Company has split-dollar life insurance agreements with certain retired executives.

In the normal course of business, Mylan periodically enters into employment, legal settlement and other agreements which
incorporate indemnification provisions. While the maximum amount to which Mylan may be exposed under such agreements
cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company maintains insurance coverage, which management believes will effectively
mitigate the Company’s obligations under these indemnification provisions. No amounts have been recorded in the
Consolidated Financial Statements with respect to the Company’s obligations under such agreements.

26 Restructuring

On 05 December 2016, the Company announced a restructuring program representing initial steps of a series of actions in
certain locations that are anticipated to further streamline its operations globally. Since 2015, the Company has made a number
of significant acquisitions, and as part of the holistic, global integration of these acquisitions, the Company is focused on how to
best optimize and maximize all of its assets across the organization and across all geographies.

Charges for restructuring and ongoing cost reduction initiatives are recorded in the period the Company commits to a

restructuring or cost reduction plan, or executes specific actions contemplated by the plan and all criteria for liability
recognition have been met.
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During the second quarter of 2018, the Company commenced comprehensive restructuring and remediation activities, which
are aimed at reducing the complexity at the Morgantown, West Virginia plant and include the discontinuation and transfer to
other manufacturing sites of a number of products, a reduction of the workforce and extensive process and facility remediation.
The restructuring actions other than for this plant were substantially complete as of 31 December 2018. At this time, the
expenses related to the additional restructuring activities at the Morgantown, West Virginia plant cannot be reasonably
estimated.

The following table summarizes the restructuring charges and the reserve activity from 31 December 2016 to 31 December
2018:

Employee
Related Other Exit

(In millions of USD) Costs Costs Total
Balance at 31 December 2016: . ... ... ... . $ 1386 $ 1.6 § 1402
Charges . . ot 107.4 80.6 188.0
Cash payment . .. ...t e (150.0) 2.4 (152.4)
Reclassifications .. ... (8.3) 8.3 —
UtIHZAtION . . ..ot e e — (74.4) (74.4)
Foreign currency translation . .............. . i 52 0.4 5.6
Balance at 31 December 2017: . ... ... o $ 929 § 141 $ 1070
Charges 1 . 71.6 168.6 240.2
Cash payment . .. ... ... i (100.8) (26.1) (126.9)
UtIZAtion . . . ..o — (144.5) (144.5)
Foreign currency translation . .. ......... ... ..t 2.9 0.3) 3.2)

Balance at 31 December 2018: . .. .. .. ... $ 60.8 $ 11.8 $ 72.6

" For the year ended 31 December 2018, total restructuring charges in North America, Europe, Rest of World and

corporate were approximately $129.1 million, $73.4 million, $16.2 million and $21.5 million, respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2017, total restructuring charges in North America, Europe, Rest of World and corporate
were approximately $48 million, $70.1 million, $36.5 million and $33.4 million respectively.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, accrued liabilities for restructuring and other cost reduction programs were primarily included
in other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

27 Joint operations and licensing agreements

We periodically enter into collaboration and licensing agreements with other pharmaceutical companies for the development,
manufacture, marketing and/or sale of pharmaceutical products. Our significant collaboration agreements are primarily focused
on the development, manufacturing, supply and commercialization of multiple, high-value generic biologic compounds, insulin
analog products and respiratory products, among other complex products. Under these agreements, we have future potential
milestone payments and co-development expenses payable to third parties as part of our licensing, development and co-
development programs. Payments under these agreements generally become due and are payable upon the satisfaction or
achievement of certain developmental, regulatory or commercial milestones or as development expenses are incurred on
defined projects. Milestone payment obligations are uncertain, including the prediction of timing and the occurrence of events
triggering a future obligation and are not reflected as liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, except for milestone and
royalty obligations reflected as acquisition related contingent consideration. Refer to Note 12 Fair Value Measurement for
further discussion of contingent consideration. Our potential maximum development milestones not accrued for at 31 December
2018 totaled approximately $425 million. We estimate that the amounts that may be paid in the next twelve months to be
approximately $35 million. These agreements may also include potential sales-based milestones and call for us to pay a
percentage of amounts earned from the sale of the product as a royalty or a profit share. The amounts disclosed do not include
sales-based milestones or royalty obligations on future sales of product as the timing and amount of future sales levels and costs
to produce products subject to these obligations is not reasonably estimable. These sales-based milestones or royalty obligations
may be significant depending upon the level of commercial sales for each product.
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Respiratory Delivery Platform

On 23 December 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of the respiratory delivery platform. Under the agreement, the
development program for the respiratory delivery platform was transferred to the Company along with exclusive licenses and
assignments of the intellectual property effective from the closing date. The Company is responsible for all development costs
after the closing date. The Company will also lead the commercialization efforts in certain territories, including the U.S. and
Europe. Pfizer is eligible to receive milestone payments, which are contingent upon the future product development
achievements including regulatory approvals, market launches, sales targets and profitability. On 30 January 2019, the
Company received FDA approval of Wixela™ Inhub™ (fluticasone propionate and salmeterol inhalation powder, USP), the
first generic of GlaxoSmithKline’s Advair Diskus”. The commercial launch of the Wixela™ Inhub™ occurred in February
2019.

In accordance with IFRS regarding business combinations, the Company accounted for this transaction as a purchase of a
business and utilized the acquisition method of accounting. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the transaction were recorded at the date of acquisition at the estimate of their respective fair values. The
fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the estimate of future profit sharing and milestone payments was
$336.5 million at 31 December 2018. These payments are contingent upon the occurrence of certain future events and the
ultimate success of the respective projects. As a result of the approval and commercial launch of Wixela™ Inhub™ in early
2019, we paid milestones of $60.0 million. Given the inherent uncertainty of these events, it is unclear when we may be
required to pay such amounts or pay amounts in excess of those accrued.

Momenta

On 08 January 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Momenta”) to develop,
manufacture and commercialize up to six of Momenta’s current biosimilar candidates, including Momenta’s biosimilar
candidate, ORENCIA® (abatacept) (“ORENCIA®”). Mylan paid an up-front cash payment of $45 million to Momenta. Under
the terms of the agreement, the Company and Momenta are jointly responsible for product development and equally share in
the costs and profits of the products with Mylan leading the worldwide commercialization efforts.

Under the terms of the agreement, Momenta was eligible to receive additional contingent milestone payments for the
development of biosimilar candidates. The Company paid $60 million related to certain milestones in 2016. There were no
milestone payments in 2017 or 2018.

On 01 November 2017, the Company and Momenta announced that M834 did not meet its primary pharmacokinetic (PK)
endpoints in the Phase 1 study to compare the pharmacokinetics, safety and immunogenicity of M834 to U.S.- and European
Union (“EU”)-sourced ORENCIA® in normal healthy volunteers.

On 03 January 2018, the Company and Momenta announced the development strategy for M710, a proposed biosimilar to
EYLEA® (aflibercept) (“EYLEA®”) injection. EYLEA® is the market-leading vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)
inhibitor indicated for the treatment of neovascular (wet) age-related macular degeneration, macular edema following retinal
vein occlusion, diabetic macular edema and diabetic retinopathy in patients with diabetic macular edema.

On 01 October 2018, Momenta announced that it had initiated discussions with Mylan to exit its participation in the
development of five biosimilar programs including M834, a proposed biosimilar to ORENCIA®. The parties have agreed to the
termination of all collaboration activities, except for the continued development of M710, a proposed biosimilar to EYLEA®.
The Company remains committed to invest strategically in biosimilar programs through the evaluation of regulatory data and
market dynamics. The Company does not anticipate making any additional continuation payments to Momenta.

In accordance with TAS 38, Research and Development and based upon the cost sharing provisions of the agreement, the
Company is accounting for the contingent milestone payments related to the Momenta collaboration as non-refundable advance
payments for services to be used in future R&D activities, which are required to be capitalized until the related services have
been performed. More specifically, as costs are incurred within the scope of the collaboration, the Company will record its
share of the costs as R&D expense. In addition to the upfront cash payment, during the year ended 31 December 2017 the
Company incurred approximately $31.9 million of R&D expense related to this collaboration and approximately $13.4 million
of R&D expense during the year ended 31 December 2018. To the extent the contingent milestone payments made by the
Company exceeded the liability incurred, a prepaid asset was reflected on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. To the
extent the contingent milestone payments made by the Company were less than the expense incurred, the difference between
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the payment and the expense was recorded as a liability on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At 31 December 2018,
there was no significant recorded prepaid asset or accrued liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Theravance

On 30 January 30, 2015, the Company entered into a development and commercialization collaboration with Theravance
Biopharma, Inc. (“Theravance Biopharma”) for the development and, subject to FDA approval, commercialization of
Revefenacin (“TD-4208). Under the terms of the agreement, Mylan and Theravance Biopharma are co-developing nebulized
TD-4208 for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (“COPD”) and other respiratory diseases. Theravance Biopharma is leading
the U.S. registrational development program and Mylan was responsible for the reimbursement of Theravance Biopharma’s
development costs for that program up until the approval of the first new drug application (“NDA”). On 09 November 2018,
Mylan announced that the FDA approved the NDA for YUPELRI™ (revefenacin) inhalation solution for the maintenance
treatment of patients with COPD. YUPELRI, a long-acting muscarinic antagonist (LAMA), is the first and only once-daily,
nebulized bronchodilator approved for the treatment of COPD in the U.S. The commercial launch of YUPELRI occurred in the
fourth quarter of 2018. Mylan is responsible for commercial manufacturing and commercialization. Theravance Biopharma is
co-promoting the product in the hospital channel under a profit-sharing arrangement.

Under the terms of the agreement, Theravance Biopharma is eligible to receive potential development and sales milestone
payments totaling $220 million in the aggregate. As at 31 December 2018, Mylan has paid a total of $30 million in milestone
payments to Theravance Biopharma.

Biocon

The Company has entered into exclusive collaborations with Biocon Limited (“Biocon”) on the development, manufacturing,
supply and commercialization of multiple, high value biosimilar compounds and three insulin analog products for the global
marketplace. Under the agreements with Biocon, Mylan has exclusive commercialization rights for the products under the
collaborations in the U.S., Canada, Japan, Australia, New Zealand and in the EU and European Free Trade Association
countries. Biocon has co-exclusive commercialization rights with Mylan for the products in the rest of the world.

In December 2017, the FDA approved Mylan's Ogivri™ (trastuzumab-dkst), a biosimilar to Herceptin® (trastuzumab). Ogivri
has been approved for all indications included in the label of the reference product, Herceptin, including for the treatment of
HER2-overexpressing breast cancer and metastatic stomach cancer (gastric or gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma).
Ogivri is the first FDA-approved biosimilar to Herceptin and the first biosimilar from Mylan and Biocon's joint portfolio
approved in the U.S. Mylan anticipates potentially being the first company to commercialize a biosimilar to Herceptin. In
December 2018, the Company received final approval from the European Commission to market Ogivri in all 28 EU member
states and the European Economic Area.

On 04 June 2018, Mylan and Biocon announced that the FDA approved Mylan's Fulphila™ (pegfilgrastim-jmdb), a biosimilar
to Neulasta® (pegfilgrastim). Fulphila has been approved to reduce the duration of febrile neutropenia (fever or other signs of
infection with a low count of neutrophils, a type of white blood cells) in patients treated with chemotherapy in certain types of
cancer. The commercial launch of Fulphila occurred in the second quarter of 2018.

The Company continues to provide development funding related to this collaboration. As the timing of cash expenditures is
dependent upon a number of factors, many of which are out of the Company’s control, it is difficult to forecast the amount of
payments to be made over the next few years, which could be significant.

FKB

On 22 February 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration license and distribution agreement with FKB for the
distribution of Hulio™, a biosimilar to AbbVie's Humira® (adalimumab). Under the agreement, Mylan has exclusive
commercialization rights for the product in the EU and the European Economic Area countries and FKB is responsible for
development, manufacturing and supply of the product.

On 20 September 2018, the Company received final approval from the European Commission (the “Commission”) to market
Hulio for all adalimumab indications in all 28 EU member states and the European Economic Area. Under the agreement, FKB
received an upfront payment of $25.0 million, an approval milestone of $10.0 million and is eligible for a royalty based upon
net sales.
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On 27 February 2019, the Company updated its arrangements with FKB for the commercialization of Hulio™. Under the
updated arrangements, Mylan has in-licensed exclusive global commercialization rights for Hulio™. The Company accounted
for this transaction as an asset acquisition of IPR&D and a net non-contingent amount due to FKB of approximately $23.3
million was expensed as a component of R&D expense during the three months ended 31 March 2019.

We are actively pursuing, and are currently involved in, joint projects related to the development, distribution and marketing of
both generic and branded products. Many of these arrangements provide for payments by us upon the attainment of specified
milestones. While these arrangements help to reduce the financial risk for unsuccessful projects, fulfillment of specified
milestones or the occurrence of other obligations may result in fluctuations in cash flows and R&D expense.

28 Remuneration

Mylan’s named executive officers (“NEOs”) for 2018 were:

NEO Position

Heather Bresch. . ... ... . Chief Executive Officer
Kenneth S. Parks . . ... ..o Chief Financial Officer
Rajiv Malik . . ... President

Daniel M. Gallagher. .. ... .. ... .. e Former Chief Legal Officer
Anthony Mauro . . ... ..o Chief Commercial Officer

Since 2008, we have transformed from a mid-sized U.S. generics company with a workforce of more than 15,000 globally and
$5.1 billion in revenues to a highly differentiated global pharmaceutical company with a global workforce of more than 35,000
and $11.4 billion in total revenues capable of delivering better health to customers around the world. The highlights below are
examples of ways in which our outstanding executive team drove performance in 2018 to help ensure long-term sustainability and
growth in the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders.

2018 Highlights

Access

»  Filed 168 regulatory submissions in 2018, demonstrating the depth of our global pipeline

»  Recently launched Wixela™ Inhub™, our generic Advair Diskus® at a price point of 70% below the brand wholesale
acquisition cost

*  Received FDA approval of a New Chemical Entity (“NCE”) and launched this NCE, Revefenacin, in 2018

»  Launched Fulphila™, our first biosimilar in the U.S. and first biosimilar to Neulasta®. Also received key approvals
for Semglee™ (biosimilar Lantus in Europe), Hulio™ (biosimilar Humira® in Europe) and Ogivri™ (biosimilar
Herceptin® in Europe) in 2018

*  Achieved accelerated uptake of our Glatiramer Acetate (generic Copaxone®)

*  Continued advancements for Influvac®, including launch of a quadrivalent version and our first pediatric indication

»  Continued pipeline progress, which has more than 3,600 products under development or pending approval, including
our biosimilar to BOTOX®,

»  These achievements help us strengthen our business and meet the diverse needs of patients
Diversification

*  Generated $11.4 billion in 2018 total revenues with more than 60% from outside the U.S., demonstrating that we are
no longer dependent on any one geography or product
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*  Advanced our global commercial strategy across our geographies and channels to distinguish us as customers’ partner
of choice

»  Enhanced portfolio strategy by increasing emphasis on moving up the value chain with a focus on complex, specialty
and biologic opportunities and NCEs

»  These achievements highlight our ability to withstand industry pressure in individual markets or related to one product
Durability

*  Generated U.S. GAAP net cash provided by operating activities of $2.34 billion, up 13% compared to $2.06 billion in
the prior year period reflecting the strength and durability of our portfolio

*  Generated adjusted free cash flow of $2.71 billion, up 3% compared to $2.63 billion in the prior year period
*  Repaid over $630 million of debt

»  Continued to leverage the integration of acquisitions and take advantage of opportunities to optimize our global
platform

*  Our durable business allows us to continue delivering for shareholders, patients and other stakeholders
Components of 2018 Executive Compensation

Our executive compensation program is designed to incentivize our NEOs to deliver long-term shareholder value and to align the
interests of our NEOs with those of our shareholders and other stakeholders. We pay our NEOs through three primary components
of compensation: base salary, an annual incentive and a long-term incentive. In addition, our NEOs receive certain benefits and
perquisites. Our program is heavily weighted toward performance-based compensation and annual and long-term incentive
outcomes are primarily dependent on the achievement of outstanding performance results. Our Board and Compensation Committee
do not exercise positive discretion in determining annual incentive and long-term incentive payouts.
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2018
Pay Element Form Weightings 2018 Metrics 2018 Performance / Shareholder Alignment
Salary Cash N/A N/A Attracts and retains executives through competitive
base compensation
Annual Cash 173 Adjusted EPS Reinforces the importance of earnings, which are
Incentive expected to have a direct relationship to the price of
Compensation Mylan’s ordinary shares
Cash 1/3 Global Encourages the development, approval and
Regulatory commercialization of new products to both benefit
Submissions patients and yield new revenue sources that are
essential for Mylan to remain competitive, and as such
are fundamental to our short- and long-term sustainable
growth strategy
Cash 1/3 Adjusted Free Captures the potential impact of all types of business
Cash Flow transactions on the generation of adjusted operating
cash flow
Long-Term Stock Options 20% Stock Price Encourages NEOs to increase stock price in excess of
Incentive grant date stock price
Compensation
The value of shares paid to NEOs is directly linked to
share price appreciation through date of exercise
Restricted 30% Stock Price Encourages NEOs to increase share price
Stock Units
(“RSUs”) The value of RSUs paid to NEOs is directly linked to
share price at the time of vesting
PRSUs 50% ROIC (50%) Encourages NEOs to earn an appropriate return on
investment
Adjusted FCF/
Credit Agreement |Encourages NEOs to prudently manage our balance
Debt (50%) sheet
PRSUs Multiplier (+/- |Relative TSR Encourages executives to deliver superior total
20%) shareholder return relative to competitors

PRSUs paid to NEOs directly linked to achieved
performance against ROIC and Adjusted FCF/Credit
Agreement Debt performance goals, subject to TSR
multiplier

2018 Pay Mix

Other NEOs

CEO

Bama Salary

 Targel LTI

B Tangal Annual nceniive

Base Satary
B Tanget Annual Incentive

B Target LTI

Compensation Philosophy & Process

Compensation Philosophy
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Mylan’s approach to executive compensation is designed to:

Reinforce Mylan’s unique, performance-driven culture: Our performance metrics align to the creation and sustainability of
shareholder and other stakeholder value and encourage the behaviors and values expected of Mylan leaders. Our simplified program
is weighted more heavily toward long-term incentives to align our executives’ performance with the durability of the business and
interests of our shareholders and other stakeholders.

Drive and reward performance: Mylan’s Board has designed programs to ensure continued execution against our strategy to
create and maintain a leading, robust, sustainable organization, while aligning compensation with Company performance,
shareholder value creation and other stakeholder interests.

Recruit, retain and reward outstanding executive talent: Mylan provides a highly competitive mix of compensation with an
emphasis on long-term incentives to retain high-performing leaders.

Given the disruptions and changes in the management of many companies in our industry, the market for outstanding executive
leadership talent is becoming increasingly competitive. Recognizing the significant execution and results generated by our current,
long-tenured management team, as well as the important contributions of so many others in our organization, we design our

compensation programs to help ensure that the Company, shareholders and other stakeholders continue to benefit from the talents
of our leadership team and global workforce.

2018 CEO Compensation Summary
The following summary describes the compensation for our CEO for the last two years.

Chief Executive Officer

2017 2018
Heather Bresch Base Salary: $ 1,300,000 $ 1,300,000
Annual Incentive Payout: $ 1,950,000 $ 2,599,935
Annual LTI Grant: $ 9,100,045 $ 9,100,043
Change in Pension Value: $ — —
All Other Compensation: $ 394352 $ 332,390
Summary Compensation Total: $ 12,744,397 $ 13,332,368

2018 Compensation Decisions

»  Base Salary: No change was made to Ms. Bresch’s base salary in 2018. As of the end of 2018, it had remained the
same since March 2015.

*  Annual Incentive: No change was made to Ms. Bresch’s target opportunity in 2018 and, as of the end of 2018, it had
remained the same since 2015. Her 2018 payout was $2,599,935, calculated by applying the Company Performance
Factor under the plan formula (133.33% of target)

e  Long-Term Incentive: No change was made to Ms. Bresch’s target long-term incentive (“LTI”) opportunity in 2018.
Ms. Bresch received a LTI grant in March 2018 valued at $9,100,043, of which 70% of the total is performance-based.
The LTI award was delivered through PRSUs, RSUs and stock options.

CEO Reported and Realizable Pay

The following graph demonstrates that the CEO’s total realizable pay over a three-year period is aligned with Mylan’s TSR relative
to the Company’s 2018 peer group.
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Three-Year CEO Realizable Pay vs TSR*

"
- ]
B
F »
g w
£ L
B 5 *
[
"3 g *
L &
., [T,
= ® ML
v y
- A0
[ L
-I.
=
g T L]
= *
[ il
Lad
= i
. & i Posr Corgaana i Wb
l— 5 3 =
A 10% 20 % Al = b B % N 4% H0% TU%

Thrae=Yaar TSR Percantile Rank

" Realizable pay includes cumulative salary and annual incentives paid for the most recent three years for which peer
group data was publicly available (2015-2017), plus the current value (as of 31 December 2018) of stock options (intrinsic
value) and time-based RSUs granted during the most recent three years, plus the value (as of 31 December 2018) of
performance-based LTI awards, other than stock options, earned during the most recent three years, plus the change in
pension value and all other compensation for the most recent three years. TSR data derived from the S&P Capital IQ.
The 13 peer companies in this chart reflect the current peer group.

Base Salary

The Compensation Committee considers a variety of factors in deciding base salary, including, among others: individual
performance, responsibilities and expected future performance; Company performance; management structure; marketplace
practices; internal pay equity considerations; competitive recruitment for outstanding talent; and the executive’s experience, tenure
and leadership. The Compensation Committee also considers, among other factors, what the marketplace would require in terms
of the costs to hire a qualified individual to replace an executive, as well as the fact that a new executive would lack the critical
knowledge regarding Mylan as compared to the executive he or she would be replacing.

For 2018, the NEOs did not receive base salary increases. Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik’s salaries did not increase from 2015 through
2018, and Mr. Mauro’s salary increased once from 2015 through 2018 upon his promotion to Chief Commercial Officer.
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Change in Base

Position Salary
Heather Bresch Chief Executive Officer $ 1,300,000 $ 1,300,000 -
Rajiv Malik President $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 -
Kenneth S. Parks Chief Financial Officer $ 685,000 $ 685,000 -
Daniel M. Gallagher Former Chief Legal Officer $ 800,000 $ 800,000 -
Anthony Mauro Chief Commercial Officer $ 700,000 $ 700,000 -

Annual incentive compensation

Mylan’s annual incentive compensation consists of performance-based annual cash awards that are determined according to the
achievement of objective operational and financial measures identified by the Board as critical to the successful execution of
Mylan’s business strategy, which is aligned to the continued creation of shareholder value.

For 2018, the Compensation Committee set challenging performance goals based on three key performance indicators of the current
and future strength of our business. In addition, the metrics were selected specifically because they are related to the actions and
leadership of our management team and measure their ability to extract the greatest value from our assets. The Compensation
Committee chose to use adjusted metrics for the two financial goals (adjusted EPS and adjusted free cash flow) because it believes
that these adjusted metrics present the most consistent measure of evaluating Mylan’s financial performance, and the ongoing
operations of the Company.

IMPORTANT FACTS ABOUT OUR 2018 ANNUAL INCENTIVE TARGETS
Adjusted EPS

* Reinforces the importance of a performance measure of earnings, which are expected to have a direct relationship to
the price of Mylan’s ordinary shares
»  For 2018, the performance target required meaningful year-over-year growth.

Global Regulatory Submissions

»  Encourages the approval and commercialization of new products to yield new revenue sources that are essential for Mylan
to remain competitive, and as such are fundamental to our short- and long-term growth strategy

»  For 2018, the performance target was increased over the 2017 target, but was set below 2017 actual performance because
2017 submissions significantly exceeded expectations and included certain submissions that were previously expected
to take place in future years.

Adjusted Free Cash Flow

»  Captures the potential impact of all types of business transactions on the generation of net cash provided by operating
activities, adjusted for certain special items and capital expenditures, and strengthens our balance sheet

»  For 2018, the performance target was increased over the 2017 target, but was set below 2017 actual performance because
higher working capital is needed to support new product launches

2017 2018
Goal Target  Weighting  Threshold Target Maximum
Adjusted EPS $5.35 1/3 $5.20 $5.40 $5.60
Global regulatory submissions 135 1/3 125 140 155
Adjusted free cash flow ($ in millions) $2,200 1/3 $2,100 $2,300 $2,500
Payout Opportunity (as % of Target) 50% 100% 200%
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No annual incentives are paid with respect to a metric if threshold performance is not achieved. Furthermore, the
Compensation Committee has committed to not using its discretion to upwardly adjust annual incentive award amounts
generated by the performance metrics.

2018 NEO Annual Incentive Award Opportunity Subject to Company Performance

Target (% Target Annual

Position Base Salary of Salary) Incentive
Heather Bresch Chief Executive Officer $1,300,000 150% $1,950,000
Rajiv Malik President $1,000,000 125% $1,250,000
Kenneth S. Parks Chief Financial Officer $685,000 115% $787,750
Daniel M. Gallagher Former Chief Legal Officer $800,000 115% $920,000
Anthony Mauro Chief Commercial Officer $700,000 115% $805,000

The payout opportunities are 50% of the target amount for threshold performance and 200% of the target amount for maximum
performance.

2018 Actual Annual Incentive Compensation

The Company achieved below-threshold performance with respect to the adjusted EPS metric, maximum performance on the
global submissions metric and maximum performance on the adjusted free cash flow metric in 2018. As a result, the NEOs received
payouts of annual incentive awards for 2018 at 133.33% of target.

Weighted

Weighting 2018 Target 2018 Actual Results Score

Adjusted EPS 1/3 $5.40 $4.58 Below Threshold —%
Global regulatory submissions 1/3 140 168 Above Maximum 66.67 %
Adjusted Free Cash Flow ($ in millions) 1/3 $2,300 $2,713 Above Maximum 66.67 %
2018 Company Performance 133.33%

* The adjusted EPS amount is derived from Mylan's audited financial statements in the same manner as Mylan publicly reports
adjusted EPS, but for annual incentive plan purposes is measured on a constant currency basis. Adjusted free cash flow is derived
from Mylan's audited financial statements in the same manner as Mylan publicly reports adjusted free cash flow.

X X =

Target (% of Company Actual Incentive

Position Base Salary Salary) Performance Payout

Heather Bresch Chief Executive Officer $1,300,000 150% 133.33% $ 2,599,935
Rajiv Malik President $1,000,000 125% 133.33% $ 1,666,625
Kenneth S. Parks Chief Financial Officer $685,000 115% 133.33% $ 1,050,307
Daniel M. Gallagher Former Chief Legal Officer $800,000 115% 133.33% $ 1,226,636
Anthony Mauro Chief Commercial Officer $700,000 115% 133.33% $ 1,073,307

The Compensation Committee believes that the value of long-term incentives should be directly related to the performance of
Mylan’s ordinary shares, as well as other measures associated with the growth, success and long-term sustainability of Mylan.
The Compensation Committee has historically approved annual LTI award grants in the first quarter of the fiscal year, with the
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grant effective following the release of year-end audited financial results with exceptions for new hires, promotions and other
special awards, grants or circumstances.

Long-Term Incentive Structure. For 2018, LTI awards were granted to our NEOs in the form of PRSUs, stock options and RSUs
in the proportions shown below.

LTI Mix for all

Vehicle NEOs Incentive Opportunity Vesting Schedule
PRSUs 50% . PRSUs cliff-vest at the end of the three-year
Performance PRSUs provide value performance period based on the achievement of
based on Mylan’s . pre-determined performance criteria, generally
ROIC, Adjusted FCF/Credit provided that the NEO remains continuously
Agreement Debt and relative employed by Mylan
TSR performance,
strongly linking

payouts with long-
term value creation

Stock Options 20% Stock options provide Stock options vest in three equal annual
Performance value only if Mylan’s installments, generally provided that the NEO
ordinary share price remains continuously employed by Mylan

is greater than the grant
date share price

RSUs 30% RSU value increases/ decreases RSUs vest in three equal annual installments,
Time with ordinary share price generally provided that the NEO remains
performance and provides a strong  continuously employed by Mylan
retention incentive

This mix of LTI awards provides our NEOs with a combination of incentive opportunities, aligns our NEOs with the interests of
our shareholders and ensures each vehicle has its own risk-reward profile with a unique benefit. The mix of the 2018 LTI awards
was consistent with the mix of the 2017 LTI awards. The Committee believes the 2018 LTI mix provides a strong performance
alignment, with 70% of the mix in PRSUs or stock options, and that such mix is consistent with Mylan’s unique performance-
driven culture. The RSUs create ownership alignment with shareholders and provide a stable element of long-term compensation
to encourage retention of executive talent.

Each NEO’s 2018 LTI award had a targeted value at grant equal to a percentage of the NEO’s base salary. In setting each NEO’s
LTTtargeted value, the Compensation Committee considered a variety of factors, including, among others, peer group compensation,
expectations regarding individual performance and tenure.

For 2018, the Compensation Committee approved the following annual LTI award values for our NEOs:

Performance-Based Time-Based

Total LTI

Position PRSUs Stock Options RSUs Award

Heather Bresch Chief Executive Officer $ 4,550,005 $ 1,820,002 $ 2,730,036 $ 9,100,043
Rajiv Malik President $ 3,000,028 $ 1,200,016 $ 1,800,017 $ 6,000,061
Kenneth S. Parks Chief Financial Officer $ 1,250,036 $ 500,001 $ 750,038 $ 2,500,075
Daniel M. Gallagher” Former Chief Legal Officer $ 1,600,001 $ 640,014 $ 960,009 $ 3,200,024
Anthony Mauro Chief Commercial Officer $ 1,250,036 $ 500,001 $ 750,038 $ 2,500,075
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2018 Three-Year PRSU Performance Metrics

In 2018, the Compensation Committee approved the grant of PRSUs subject to two equally weighted financial performance metrics
(i.e., Adjusted FCF/Credit Agreement Debt and ROIC) and one share performance metric (i.e., relative TSR), which is used as a
modifier to determine the final payout percentage, as described below. The Adjusted FCF/Credit Agreement Debt performance
metric was added to this year’s grant to incentivize prudent balance sheet management.

As shown in the table below, payouts under these PRSUs will be determined in two steps. First, the outcome of the ROIC and
Adjusted FCF/Credit Agreement Debt metrics will be assessed, resulting in an initial payout percentage of 50% for threshold
performance (with 0% payout for below threshold performance) up to 150% for maximum performance, with linear interpolation
for achievement between threshold and maximum. Second, the relative TSR metric will be applied as a modifier to the initial
payout percentage, decreasing it by 20%, leaving it unaffected or increasing it by 20%, as indicated in the table below, in order to
calculate the final payout percentage.

Metric Weighting Threshold Maximum
ROIC ... .. ... . 50% 8% 10% 12%
Adjusted FCF / Credit Agreement Debt " . . . .. 50% 13% 15% 18%

At or Below 25th  Between 25th and At or Above 75th
. Percentile of Peer 75th Percentiles of  Percentile of Peer
Relative TSR of Peer Group ............. Multiplier Group Peer Group Group

Payout Opportunity (as % of Target) 40% 100% 180%

*  Adjusted FCF/Credit Agreement Debt is first calculated for each year in the performance period as the ratio of adjusted free
cash flow (calculated in the same manner as for annual incentive compensation purposes) to "indebtedness” (as defined in
our revolving credit agreement dated as of 22 November 2016), and the values for each year in the performance period are
then averaged to determine Adjusted FCF/Credit Agreement Debt.

**  Relative TSR is calculated by comparing the difference between Mylan's 30-day trailing average closing ordinary share price
at the day before the beginning of the performance period and the day before the end of the performance period plus any
dividends paid during the performance period against the same metric for each company in our peer group.

PRSUs Granted in 2016 (3-Year Performance Period)

For PRSUs granted prior to 2018, including the PRSUs granted in 2016, the Company utilized ROIC and relative TSR as metrics,
equally weighted, and with a potential payout from 50% (for performance at threshold) to 150% (for performance at maximum),
with linear interpolation if performance was between threshold and maximum. No payout would be made if performance was
below threshold.

The Company achieved threshold performance with respect to the ROIC metric and below-threshold-performance with respect to
the relative TSR metric. As a result, the NEOs received a payout for the 2016 PRSUs at 25% of the target number of shares.

% of Target

2016-2018 Goal Weighting 3-Year Target Actual Result Achieved  Weighted Score

ROIC 50% 12% 10% At Threshold 25%
. 50th percentile ~ 22nd percentile Below

Relative TSR 50% of Peer Group  of Peer Group Threshold —%

Total Payout (as % of Target) 25%
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*  Relative TSR is calculated by comparing the difference between Mylan's 30-day trailing average closing ordinary share price
at the day before the beginning of the performance period and the day before the end of the performance period plus any
dividends paid during the performance period against the same metric for each company in our peer group.

When applying the Mylan closing ordinary share price at vesting of $32.10, the NEOs received approximately 17% of the targeted
grant date value of the award.

Actual Actual Award

Target Shares Value at

Shares Grant Date Company  Earned $32.10 per

Position # Value Target Performance # share

Heather Bresch Chief Executive Olfficer 101,146 $ 4,680,025 25% 25,287 $ 811,713
Rajiv Malik President 58,354 § 2,700,040 25% 14,589 $ 468,307
Kenneth S. Parks Chief Financial Officer 19,347 $ 900,022 25% 4,837 $ 155,268
Daniel M. Gallagher” Former Chief Legal Officer N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Anthony Mauro Chief Commercial Officer 31,771 $ 1,470,044 25% 7,943 $ 254,970

" Mr. Gallagher did not receive the 2016-2018 PRSUs as he was not employed by Mylan when the PRSU award was granted in
2016.

Limited Perquisites
Perquisites include the following:

» Each NEO receives a car allowance or the use of a leased vehicle and payment of certain ancillary expenses. The NEOs
are responsible for paying any taxes incurred relating to this perquisite.

*  Our NEOs take an extraordinarily active approach to overseeing and managing our global operations, which necessitates
asignificantamount of U.S. domestic and international travel time due to our diverse set of business centers, manufacturing
and other facilities and many client and vendor locations around the world. Mylan provides management with access to
corporate aircraft to assist in the management of Mylan’s global platform by providing a more efficient and secure traveling
environment, including where sensitive business issues may be discussed or reviewed, as well as maximum flexibility to
our executives in the conduct of Company business. For reasons of business efficiency and continued security-related
concerns (including personal security, especially given the global nature of Mylan’s business, as well as privacy of business
information and communications), we have required Ms. Bresch to use Mylan aircraft for business and personal purposes.

During 2018, other leaders from time-to-time also were authorized to have personal use of the corporate aircraft for
similar reasons. The Compensation Committee monitors business and personal aircraft usage on a quarterly basis. To
the extent any travel on the corporate aircraft results in imputed taxable income to an NEO, Mylan does not

provide gross-up payments to cover the NEO’s personal income tax obligation due to such imputed income. For a
summary of how this perquisite is calculated, see footnote (7)(b) to the Summary Compensation Table

»  Executives will also receive tax equalization payments for incremental tax liabilities, if any, incurred as a result of
attendance at meetings of the Board in the U.K.

Additional Compensation Program Features

The summary below identifies certain features of our compensation program, which are described throughout this CD&A.
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What We Do

¢ Maintain a significant portion of compensation aligned with shareholder interests and tied to ordinary share price or
financial and operational business performance

* Employ metrics for annual and long-term incentives that do not overlap and support both short- and long-term
strategies

* Base long-term incentives heavily on performance-based metrics

¢ Use double-trigger vesting for annual LTI awards upon a change in control

» Consider peer groups and market data in determining compensation

* Retain independent compensation consultants that report directly to the Compensation Committee
¢ Maintain strong ordinary share ownership guidelines

» Maintain a robust clawback policy

¢ Conduct annual “say-on-pay” advisory votes

What We Don’t Do
¢ No accelerated vesting of stock options, RSUs and PRSUs upon satisfying retirement eligibility (55 years of age with
10+ years of service) effective 01 January 2017

* No exercise of positive discretion in determining annual or LTI payouts

¢ No re-pricing of stock options

* No hedging or pledging of ordinary shares

¢ No new 280G tax gross-ups

¢ No Company matching contributions to the Restoration Plan for NEOs with Retirement Benefit Agreements

¢ No new Retirement Benefit Agreements

Role of the Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee, comprised solely of independent directors, oversees the design and implementation of our executive
compensation programs. The Committee reviews and evaluates the performance of our NEOs and determines their compensation
and objectives, or, in the case of our CEO and President, recommends compensation and objectives to the independent, non-
executive members of the Board. The Committee monitors compensation trends and developments periodically and undertakes a
comprehensive assessment of our compensation programs at least annually. In fulfilling these responsibilities, the Committee
utilizes the support of independent compensation consulting firms, independent outside counsel and an internal executive
compensation team.

In 2018, the Compensation Committee retained Meridian and also received input from Pay Governance LLC (“Pay Governance™)
to provide advice and information regarding the design and implementation of Mylan’s executive compensation programs. Meridian
and Pay Governance also provided information to the Compensation Committee regarding regulatory and other technical
developments that may be relevant to Mylan’s executive compensation programs. In addition, Meridian provided the Compensation
Committee with competitive market information, analyses and trends on executive base salary, annual incentives, long-term
incentives, benefits and perquisites.
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The Compensation Committee also receives advice from outside counsel including, but not limited to, Cravath, Swaine & Moore
LLP and NautaDutilh N.V.

The Compensation Committee performs an annual review of the independence of its outside advisors, consistent with NASDAQ
requirements and the Compensation Committee charter.

Compensation Committee Process
Our culture and our success continue to depend on our ability to attract and retain talented leaders in critical roles.

The decisions of the Compensation Committee and the independent directors relating to executive compensation each year reflect
a variety of quantitative metrics in addition to qualitative analysis. The Committee’s decisions reflect its members’ individual and
collective experience and business judgment, and are based on extensive interactions with independent third-party consultants,
management and our assessment of some or all of the following factors, among others:

»  Company performance (relative to peers and budget);

»  Talents, experience and tenure of members of our management team;

» Individual leadership performance and contributions to the success of Mylan;

*  Responsibilities of, and future expectations for, the individual;

»  Short-, medium- and long-term personnel needs of Mylan;

*  The need to reward and retain our uniquely talented NEOs and other key employees;

»  Other qualitative contributions of each NEO, including, among others, the actual and potential value and impact of his
or her leadership style, strategic vision and execution, talent development, and ability to adapt to and drive the change
necessary to our success;

»  Peer group pay levels and published survey data; and

*  Advice from independent external experts and advisors.

We consider these and other qualitative and quantitative factors from time-to-time in assessing our compensation philosophy and
approach, in addition to using these factors to make individual compensation decisions. In addition, our independent directors are
intimately familiar with matters that the Board oversees and guides, including the Company’s business, strategies, challenges and
opportunities. They apply their independent judgment and experience to assess the unique respective talents, contributions,
leadership, responsibilities and future expectations of the executives who drive performance and long-term sustainability.

Peer Group

While the competitive market for our executives is one factor the Compensation Committee considers when making compensation
decisions, the Compensation Committee does not target the compensation of NEOs within a specific percentile of any set of peer
companies. As noted, the Compensation Committee considers peer group and industry data along with many other factors when
determining compensation programs.

The peer group is used as a reference point for compensation information for NEOs and for assessing the relative TSR metric
applicable to PRSUs. Due in part to Mylan’s unique position in the market and long-tenured management team, pay is not
formulaically tied to a particular percentile of the peer group. In 2017, the Committee restructured the peer group to include 13
companies, six of which were also in the 2016 peer group. The 2017 peer group provided a more direct focus on Mylan’s business
competitors and the companies Mylan competes with for executive talent. The Committee used this same peer group for 2018.
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Peer Group

Abbott Laboratories Novartis AG

Amgen Inc. Perrigo Company plc

Celgene Corp. " Pfizer Inc.

Endo International plc Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Gilead Sciences, Inc. Sanofi

Mallinckrodt plc Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd.

Merck & Co., Inc.

*In April 2019, Celgene Corp. stockholders approved the company’s acquisition by Bristol-Myers Squibb. With the transaction
expected to close in the third quarter of 2019, subject to customary closing conditions and regulatory approvals, Celgene will no
longer be included in the Company’s peer group for purposes of determining Mylan’s relative TSR under the 2017 and 2018 PRSU
grants.

Consideration of Risk in Company Compensation Policies

The Compensation Committee has considered risk management in determining compensation policies and believes that our
compensation programs are designed to encourage outstanding, consistent, sustainable business performance over extended
periods of time. Management and the Compensation Committee have considered and discussed the risks inherent in our
business and the design of our compensation plans, policies and programs that are intended to drive the achievement of our
long-term business objectives while avoiding excessive short-term risk-taking. In addition, we utilize a mix of objective
performance measures, so that undue emphasis is not placed on one particular measure and employ different types of
compensation to provide value over the short-, medium- and long-term. These performance measures are reevaluated annually
in light of the evolving risk environment facing our business. When making compensation decisions, we also consider
qualitative factors to avoid the consequence that an overly formulaic approach may have on excessive risk-taking by
management.

The Compensation Committee believes that our compensation policies and practices do not encourage excessive risk and are not
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Other Compensation Matters and Considerations
Employment Agreements

We believe it is important to have employment agreements with our executive officers and other key employees. These agreements
memorialize certain key terms of employment, including termination rights and obligations, non-competition and other restrictive
covenants and compensation matters, and we believe thereby enhance the stability and continuity of our employment relationships.
Each of the NEOs, other than Mr. Gallagher who departed from the Company effective 02 April 2019, is currently party to an
employment agreement with Mylan Inc.

Employment Agreements in 2018

Mylan Inc. was party to employment agreements with each of the NEOs in 2018. The information below is based on the employment
agreements in effect as of 31 December 2018. See below for a brief description of Employment Agreements and Consulting
Agreement entered into by the Company with the NEOs in February 2019.

Mylan Inc. entered into amended and restated employment agreements with Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik in February 2014, each
effective 01 January 2014 (through 31 December 2018, unless earlier terminated or extended in accordance with its terms); entered
into an employment agreement with Mr. Parks in April 2016, effective 6 June 2016; entered into an employment agreement with
Mr. Gallagher in March 2017, effective 01 April 2017; and entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with
Mr. Mauro in October 2011, effective 01 January 2012, which was further amended on 10 April 2015 and 8 January 2016. Each
of these agreements provides for the payment of a minimum base salary, as of 31 December 2018, of $1,300,000; $685,000;
$1,000,000; $800,000 and $700,000, with respect to Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Malik, Gallagher and Mauro, respectively,
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subject to reduction only in the event of similar decreases among Mylan’s executives. Each employment agreement also provides
for the executive’s eligibility to receive fringe benefits of employment as are customarily provided to senior executives of Mylan.

The agreements, as of 31 December 2018, provide for a target bonus equal to 150%, 115%, 125%, 115% and 115% of base salary
with respect to Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Malik, Gallagher and Mauro, respectively. Each of the agreements also provide that
throughout the term of the agreement and for a period of one year following the executive’s termination of employment for any
reason, the executive may not engage in activities that are competitive with the Company’s activities and may not solicit the
Company’s customers or employees.

For a description of the termination provisions under these agreements, please see “Potential Payments Upon Termination or
Change in Control”.

New Agreements with Executives in 2019

In early 2019, the Compensation Committee and Board decided to renew the contracts of our executive officers. In making this
decision, the Compensation Committee considered, among other factors, the applicable executive’s experience, executional
capabilities, business skills, long-term performance and contributions, leadership, and commitment to our mission and strategy.
The Compensation Committee also considered the outstanding track record of each executive, the importance of stability in a
complex and changing environment and the future needs of, and potential opportunities for, the Company. As noted, we expect
that industry, market, and regulatory conditions over the next several years will continue to be extremely challenging, and that the
healthcare industry will continue to evolve in complex and unpredictable ways. We remain confident that Mylan can continue to
withstand these headwinds, in large part due to our current executive team, which possesses the vision, experience, business skills,
leadership, and executional capabilities to direct the Company through these headwinds and successfully execute on our strategy.
In addition, the Compensation Committee noted the disruptions and changes in the management of certain companies in our
industry, and the fact that the market for outstanding executive leadership talent continues to be extremely and increasingly
competitive. The Compensation Committee and the Board therefore determined that securing the retention of our current executive
team was crucial to our continued progress in building a sustainable company that serves the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders.

On 25 February 2019, Mylan Inc. therefore extended the employment agreements of Heather Bresch, Chief Executive Officer,
Rajiv Malik, President, Ken Parks, Chief Financial Officer, and Anthony Mauro, Chief Commercial Officer. The term of the
agreements extends through 01 April 2024 for Ms. Bresch and through 01 April 2022 for each of Messrs. Malik, Parks and Mauro,
and each will renew for successive one-year terms thereafter. Pursuant to the extended agreements, base salaries are $1,500,000
for Ms. Bresch, $1,150,000 for Mr. Malik, and $800,000 for Messrs. Parks and Mauro. Ms. Bresch is eligible for a target annual
bonus of 150% of base salary and Messrs. Malik, Parks and Mauro are eligible for target annual bonuses of 125%, 115% and 115%
of base salary, respectively.

As previously disclosed on 11 February 2019, Daniel M. Gallagher, Former Chief Legal Officer, informed Mylan that he intended
to return to private practice in the Washington, D.C. area at the conclusion of the term of his employment agreement in April 2019.
On 25 February 2019, Mylan and Mr. Gallagher entered into a consulting agreement setting forth the terms of his separation and
continuing consulting role for up to 12 months following the separation date. Mr. Gallagher received or will receive (i) a cash
payment of $800,000 payable pursuant to his former employment agreement, (ii) payments of $50,000 per month in consideration
of the consulting services to be provided, (iii) eligibility for continued vesting of 32,354 time-based RSUs and unvested retirement
plan contributions through the term of the consulting agreement and (iv) continued medical and welfare benefits through the 12
month anniversary of his separation pursuant to his former employment agreement.

The description of the employment agreements and consulting agreement is qualified by reference to the agreements, copies of
which are filed as exhibits to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Transition and Succession Agreements
Mylan Inc. is party to separate Transition and Succession Agreements with each NEO with an aim to assuring that Mylan will
have the NEO’s full attention and dedication to Mylan during the pendency of a possible change in control transaction that might

optimize shareholder value, and to provide the officer with compensation and benefits in connection with a change in control. The
Transition and Succession Agreements are independent of each NEO’s employment agreement.
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Subsequent to the execution of certain legacy agreements, Mylan adopted a policy that no new Transition and Succession
Agreements will provide for an excise tax gross-up for golden parachute payments. Consistent with this commitment, the Transition
and Succession Agreement with Mr. Parks does not, and the Transition and Succession Agreement with Mr. Gallagher did not,
contain excise tax gross-ups. For legal and other considerations, the policy does not apply retroactively to the Transition and
Succession Agreements executed prior to the new policy. Mylan does not have the right to unilaterally abrogate pre-existing binding
contracts with its executives, and does not believe it would be in shareholders’ best interests to expend funds to “buy out” the
executives from these rights. Since implementation of the new policy, no new or amended Transition and Succession Agreements
with excise tax gross-up provisions have been executed and several have expired as executives have ceased to be actively employed
with Mylan. The agreement with Mr. Parks provides, and the agreement with Mr. Gallagher provided, that their compensation
will, in the event subject to an excise tax on any golden parachute payments, be subject to a “best net” approach. Pursuant to this
approach, they would receive the full amount of such payments or the greatest amount of such payments that would not subject
them to the excise tax, whichever would result in the greatest after-tax amount.

For more information on these Transition and Succession Agreements, see the section below entitled “Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control”.

Retirement Benefits

Mylan Inc. previously entered into Retirement Benefit Agreements (“RBAs”) with Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik in recognition of
their service to Mylan, to encourage their retention and to provide a supplemental form of retirement and death benefit. For a
detailed description of the RBAs with Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik, see the section below entitled “Retirement Benefit Agreements.”

Mylan also maintains a 401(k) Restoration Plan (the “Restoration Plan”) and an Income Deferral Plan permitting senior-level
employees to elect to defer the receipt of a portion of their compensation and, in the case of the Restoration Plan, providing matching
contributions to employees who make such an election. However, effective 01 April 2013, Mylan modified the Restoration Plan
so that U.S. employees with an RBA would no longer receive matching contributions under the Restoration Plan.

As previously disclosed, when Mr. Malik joined Mylan in January 2007, Mylan established a nonqualified deferred compensation
plan on his behalf. Although Mylan no longer contributes to the plan account, it will be distributed to Mr. Malik upon termination
of his employment, or upon other qualifying distribution events, such as his retirement, disability or death or Mylan’s termination
of the plan.

The footnotes to the Summary Compensation Table include changes in pension values calculated based on certain actuarial
assumptions regarding discount rates. In computing these amounts, we used the same assumptions that were used to determine
the expense amounts recognized in our 2018 financial statements. In 2018, the impact of an increase in the applicable discount
rates led to a decrease in the present value of accumulated benefits of approximately $380,100 for Ms. Bresch and
approximately $186,400 for Mr. Malik.

Ordinary Share Ownership Requirements for NEOs

The ownership requirements are expressed as a multiple of base salary as follows:

Ownership Requirement (Multiple

Position of Base Salary)

CEO 6x
President 4x
Other NEOs 3x

As of 31 December 2018, all NEOs exceeded their ownership requirements. In addition to the NEOs, Mylan’s ordinary share
ownership policy covers the most senior employees at Mylan to promote an ownership culture and stronger alignment with the
interests of shareholders among the broader leadership team. Each covered employee generally has five years from the date they
became subject to the policy to achieve the minimum ownership requirement. Ordinary shares actually owned by the covered
employee (including ordinary shares held by the covered employee in Mylan’s 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan), as well as restricted
ordinary shares and unvested RSUs and PRSUs count toward compliance with these requirements.
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Clawback Policy

The Board has approved a clawback policy relating to incentive compensation programs. The provisions of the policy allow Mylan
to recoup certain bonus and equity-based incentive compensation gains resulting from specified misconduct that causes Mylan to
materially restate its financial statements. The Board considers updates to this policy from time-to-time. In addition, to the extent
that the SEC adopts rules for clawback policies that require changes to our policy, we will respond accordingly.

Anti-Hedging and Pledging Policy

The Company has a securities trading policy that prohibits directors and “officers” (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange
Act (“Section 16 Officers”) and their respective designees from trading in certain types of hedging instruments relating to our
securities or otherwise engaging in any transaction that limits or eliminates, or is designed to limit or eliminate, economic risks
associated with the ownership of our securities. Hedging instruments include prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps,
collars, exchange funds, insurance contracts, short sales, options, puts, calls or other instruments that hedge or offset, or are designed
to hedge or offset, movements in the market value of our securities. For purposes of this policy, our securities include ordinary
shares and options to purchase ordinary shares, and any other type of securities that we may issue, including but not limited to,
preferred shares, notes, debentures, and warrants issued by Mylan N.V. or any parent, subsidiary, or subsidiary of any parent of
Mylan N.V,, as well as any derivative financial instruments pertaining to such securities, whether or not issued by us, such as
options and forward contracts.

The policy also prohibits directors and Section 16 Officers and their respective designees from entering into any transaction that
involves the holding of our securities in a margin account (other than the “cashless exercise” of stock options) or the pledging of
our securities as collateral for loans. The Compensation Committee may approve exceptions to the prohibition on the use of margin
accounts or pledging or securities if, among other factors, the director or Section 16 Officer demonstrates, in advance, that he or
she has the continuing financial capacity to repay any underlying loan or potential margin call without resorting to our securities
held in such margin account or our pledged securities and is not in possession of any material information about the Company that
has not been made widely available to the investing public.

Deductibility Cap on Executive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as in effect for years prior to 2018, restricted the
deductibility for federal income tax purposes of the compensation paid to the CEO and each of the other NEOs who was an
executive officer at the end of the applicable fiscal year (other than the Chief Financial Officer) for such fiscal year to the extent
that such compensation for such executive exceeds $1 million and does not qualify as “qualified performance-based compensation”
as defined under Section 162(m) of the Code. The Compensation Committee historically considered available opportunities to
deduct compensation paid to NEOs for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which was enacted on 22
December 2017, eliminated the exception for “performance-based” compensation and expanded the number of executives to which
the 162(m) limit may apply. As a result, except to the extent provided in limited transition relief, compensation over $1 million
paid to any NEO will no longer be deductible under Section 162(m) of the Code. The Board and the Compensation Committee
reserve the right to provide compensation to our executives that is not deductible, including but not limited to when necessary to
comply with contractual commitments, or to maintain the flexibility needed to attract talent, promote retention or recognize and
reward desired performance.
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Executive Compensation Tables

2018 Summary Compensation Table

The following summary compensation table sets forth the cash and non-cash compensation paid or granted to or earned by the
NEOs for 2018 and 2017.

Changes in
Pension Value
and Non-
Non-Equity qualified
Incentive Deferred All Other
Plan Comp tio Comp tio

Fiscal Salary Bonus Stock Awards Option Compensatio  n Earnings n Total
Name and Principal Position Year $)1) 3$)Q2) ®3) Awards ($)(4) n ($)(5) ($)(6) ®)(7) )
Heather Bresch Chief 2018 1,300,000 — 7,280,041 1,820,002 2,599,935 — 332,390 13,332,368
Executive Officer

2017 1,300,000 — 7,280,034 1,820,011 1,950,000 — 394,352 12,744,397
Kenneth S. Parks Chief 2018 685,000 — 2,000,073 500,001 1,050,307 — 171,564 4,406,945
Financial Officer

2017 628,115 — 1,440,068 360,012 787,750 — 130,072 3,346,017
Rajiv Malik President 2018 1,000,000 — 4,800,045 1,200,016 1,666,625 — 839,881 9,506,567

2017 1,000,000 — 4,480,049 1,120,004 1,250,000 — 892,077 8,742,130
Daniel M. Gallagher Former
Chief Legal Officer 2018 800,000 — 2,560,010 640,014 1,226,636 — 55,769 5,282,429

2017 600,000 350,000 4,756,220 640,009 920,000 62,958 7,329,187
Anthony Mauro Chief
Clormmazratall O ez 2018 700,000 — 2,000,073 500,001 1,073,307 — 178,091 4,451,472

2017 700,000 — 2,000,073 500,017 805,000 — 191,921 4,197,011

)

)

G)

“)
)
(©)

)

Represents the value of the base salary actually paid to the NEO in 2018 or 2017. The annual base salary approved by the Compensation
Committee for each of the NEOs is payable in accordance with the Company s normal payroll practices for its senior executives, so that
an NEO s total base salary amount is paid in 26 bi-weekly installments.

For Mr. Gallagher, the amount shown for 2017 represents the value of his sign-on bonus, which was subject to full or partial repayment in
the event Mr. Gallagher left Mylan prior to the first anniversary of his joining Mylan (except in certain circumstances).

Represents the grant date fair value of the stock awards granted to the NEO in 2018 or 2017, as applicable. The grant date fair value of
PRSUs for 2018 is based on the target value and is as follows: Ms. Bresch ($4,550,005), Mr. Parks (31,250,036), Mr. Malik ($3,000,028),
Mr. Gallagher (31,600,001) and Mr. Mauro ($1,250,036). If the maximum achievement of performance goals had been assumed, the grant
date fair value of the PRSUs for 2018, would have been as follows: Ms. Bresch ($8,190,026), Mr. Parks ($2,250,072), Mr. Malik,
($5,400,051), Mr. Gallagher (32,880,027), and Mr. Mauro (32,250,072). For Mr. Gallagher, the amount shown for 2017 also includes the
grant date fair value of PRSUs granted to him under the One-Time Special Five-Year Performance-Based Realizable Value Incentive
Program, which was 81,546,152, which assumes the achievement of performance targets at maximum level.

Represents the grant date fair value of the option awards granted to the NEO in 2018 or 2017, as applicable.
Represents amounts paid under the Company s non-equity incentive compensation plan.

Represents the aggregate change in present value of the applicable NEO's accumulated benefit under his or her respective RBA. In computing
these amounts, we used the same assumptions that were used to determine the expense amounts recognized in our 2018 financial statements.

In 2018, the impact of an increase in the applicable discount rates led to a decrease in the present value of accumulated benefits of
approximately $380,100 for Ms. Bresch and approximately $186,400 for Mr. Malik.

Amounts shown in this column are detailed in the following chart:
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401(k) and
Profit
Sharing
Plan
Use of Personal Matching
Company- Use of and Profit Restoration
Provided Company Expatriate Sharing Plan
Fiscal Automobile Aircraft Benefits Contribution Contribution Other
Year ($)(a) ($)(h) ($)(C) (d) (¢) ($)(D
Heather Bresch 2018 20,836 98,268 — 24,730 148,750 39,806
2017 20,736 158,038 — 24,420 165,331 25,827
Kenneth S. Parks 2018 20,089 16,875 — 19,019 107,798 7,783
2017 19,766 10,440 — 18,115 73,440 8,311
Rajiv Malik 2018 27,692 44,783 636,726 24,550 98,750 7,380
2017 30,170 28,896 691,967 24,300 109,469 7275
Daniel M. Gallagher 2018 19,200 414 — 6,154 25,846 4,155
2017 14,400 18,039 29,700 819
Anthony Mauro 2018 19,342 3,529 — 25,050 110,700 19,470
2017 19,200 2,595 — 24,238 123,285 22,603

@

(®)

(©

@

(¢

In the case of Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Gallagher and Mauro, these numbers represent a vehicle allowance and ancillary expenses
associated with such vehicle. In the case of Mr. Malik, this number represents the cost of a vehicle (based on lease value), insurance and
ancillary expenses associated with such vehicle.

Amounts disclosed represent the actual aggregate incremental costs incurred by Mylan associated with the personal use of the Company's
aircraft. Incremental costs include annual average hourly fuel and maintenance costs, landing and parking fees, customs and handling
charges, passenger catering and ground transportation, crew travel expenses, away from home hanger fees, and other trip-related variable
costs. Because the aircrafts are used primarily for business travel, incremental costs exclude fixed costs that do not change based on usage,
such as pilots’salaries, aircraft purchase or lease costs, home-base hangar costs and certain maintenance fees. Aggregate incremental cost
as so determined with respect to personal deadhead flights is allocable to the NEO. In certain instances where there are both business and
personal passengers, the incremental costs per hour are pro-rated.

Expatriate benefits for Mr. Malik represent income taxes paid by Mylan in connection with Mr. Malik's expatriate assignment to the United
States from India effective 01 January 2012. Specifically, Mr. Malik is responsible for, and has continued to pay taxes equal to those he
would have been obligated to pay had he maintained his principal work location and residence in India rather than having transferred, at
Mpylan's request, to the United States, while Mylan generally pays for all additional taxes, including Mr. Malik's tax obligations on the
imputed income associated with Mylan s payment of taxes on his behalf. Beginning in 2016, Mr. Malik no longer receives a tax equalization
benefit in respect of his LTI awards. The amount shown for 2017 for Mr. Malik is net of Mylan s estimated tax refunds for the year. There
are no estimated tax refunds for 2018. The estimated refund was 315,685 for 2017.

For 2018, amounts disclosed included, for Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Malik, Gallagher and Mauro, a matching contribution of $10,980,
$5,269, 810,800, $6,154, and $11,300, respectively, and a profit sharing contribution received in April 2019 in respect of fiscal year 2018
equal to $13,750 for each NEO except for Mr. Gallagher. For 2017, amounts disclosed included, for Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Malik,
Gallagher and Mauro, a matching contribution of $10,920, 34,615, $10,800, $4,539 and $10,738, respectively, and a profit sharing
contribution received in March 2018 in respect of fiscal year 2017 equal to $13,500 for each NEO.

For 2018, amounts disclosed included, for Messrs. Parks, Gallagher and Mauro, a matching contribution under the Restoration Plan of
347,910, 825,846 and $49,200, respectively, and a profit sharing contribution under the Restoration Plan received in April 2019 in respect
offiscalyear 2018 for each of Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Parks, Malik and Mauro equalto 148,750, $59,888, 898,750 and $61,500, respectively.

Mpr. Gallagher did not receive this contribution because of his termination on 02 April 2019. For 2017, amounts disclosed included, for
Messrs. Parks, Gallagher and Mauro, a matching contribution under the Restoration Plan of 320,509, 313,200 and 354,793, respectively,

and a profit sharing contribution under the Restoration Plan received in March 2018 in respect of fiscal year 2017 for each of Ms. Bresch

and Messrs. Parks, Malik, Gallagher and Mauro equal to 3165,331, $52,931, $109,469, $16,500 and $68,492, respectively. Ms. Bresch is
no longer eligible to receive a matching contribution under the Restoration Plan. Although Mr. Malik became eligible to participate in

Mylan'’s U.S. retirement plans in 2016, he is not eligible to receive a matching contribution under the Restoration Plan.

Represents events for all NEOs other than Mr. Gallagher for 2017, life insurance retention plan premium for Ms. Bresch and Mr. Mauro;
long-term disability premiums; a health insurance premium for Mr. Malik; for 2018 only, certain personal security services for Ms. Bresch,
and tax preparation services related to UK. tax returns for all NEOs other than Mr. Gallagher for 2017.
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Grants of plan-based awards for 2018

The following table summarizes grants of plan-based awards made to each NEO during 2018.

Estimated Future Payments Estimated Future
Under Non-Equity Incentive Payments Under Equity
Plan Awards" Incentive Plan Awards®
All
Other
Stock All Other Grant
Awards: Option Exercis Date Fair
Number  Awards: e Value of
of Number of or Base Stock
Shares Securities  Price of and
of Stock Underlyin Option Option
Grant Approval  Threshold Target  Maximum Threshold  Target Maximum or Units gOptions Awards Awards
Name Date Date [©) ©) ) *) #) #) > @Y ($/Sh) $)®
Heather Bresch 975,000 1,950,000 3,900,000 — — — — — — —
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — 44,423 111,057 199,903 — — — 4,550,005
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — 66,635 — — 2,730,036
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — — 108,592 40.97 1,820,002
Kenneth S. Parks 393,875 787,750 1,575,500 — — — — — — —
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — 12,205 30,511 54,920 — — — 1,250,036
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — 18,307 — — 750,038
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — — 29,833 40.97 500,001
Rajiv Malik 625,000 1,250,000 2,500,000 — — — — — — —
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — 29,290 73,225 131,805 — — — 3,000,028
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — 43,935 — — 1,800,017
3/3/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — — 71,600 40.97 1,200,016
Daniel M. Gallagher 460,000 920,000 1,840,000 — — — — — — —
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — 15,622 39,053 70,296 — — — 1,600,001
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — 23,432 — — 960,009
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — — 38,187 40.97 640,014
Anthony Mauro 402,500 805,000 1,610,000 — — — — — — —
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — 12,205 30,511 54,920 — — — 1,250,036
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — 18,307 — — 750,038
3/2/2018 2/21/2018 — — — — — — — 29,833 40.97 500,001

(1) The performance goals under the annual incentive compensation program applicable to the NEOs during 2018 are described above.

(2) Consists of PRSUs awarded under Mylan s Amended and Restated 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Amended 2003 Plan”). The vesting
terms applicable to these awards are described above in the CD&A and below following the Outstanding Equity Awards at the End of 2018
table.

(3) Consists of RSUs awarded under the Amended 2003 Plan. The vesting terms applicable to these awards are described below following the
Outstanding Equity Awards at the End of 2018 table.

(4) Represents the grant of 10-year stock options awarded under the Amended 2003 Plan. Stock options were granted with an exercise price
equal to the closing price of the Company s ordinary shares on the date of grant. The vesting terms applicable to these awards are described
below following the Outstanding Equity Awards at the End of 2018 table.

(5) Represents the grant date fair value of the specific award granted to the NEO.

Outstanding equity awards at the end of 2018

The following table sets forth information concerning all of the outstanding LTI awards held by each NEO as of 31 December
2018.
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Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan Awards:
Plan Awards: Market or

Number of Market Number of Payout Value

Securities Number of Value of Unearned of Unearned

Number of Underlying Shares or Shares or Shares, Units  Shares, Units

Securities Unexercised Units of Units of or Other or Other

Underlying Options (#) Option Stock That ~ Stock That Rights That Rights That

Unexercised  ypexercisable EXxercise Option Have Not Have Not Have Not Have Not Grant Date
Options (#) Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested Fair Value
Name Exercisable o (&) Date #H? DM @) $® )

Heather Bresch 14,196 = 21.13 3/3/2020 — = — — 96,123
4,413 — 22.66 3/2/2021 — — — — 34,692
4,266 — 23.44  2/22/2022 — — — — 33,402
3,236 — 30.90 3/6/2023 — — — — 22,738
65,502 — 55.84 3/5/2024 — — — — 1,199,970
67,659 — 50.66 11/17/2025 — — — — 1,300,007
57,972 28,985 46.27  2/17/2026 — — — — 1,560,009
35,520 71,038 45.18 3/3/2027 — — — — 1,820,011
— 108,592 40.97 3/2/2028 — — — — 1,820,002

— — — — — — 378,071 10,359,145 13,202,012
— — — — 37,094 1,016,376 101,146 2,771,400 6,396,364
— — — — 40,283 1,103,754 100,709’ 2,759,427 6,370,019
— — — — 66,635 1,825,799 111,057% 3,042,962 7,280,041

Kenneth S. Parks 11,033 5516 4652 6/6/2026 — — — — 300,000
7,026 14,052 4518 3/3/2027 — — — — 360,012

— 29,833 40.97  3/2/2028 — — — 500,001

— — — — 2,149 58,883 19,347% 530,108 999,993

— — — — — — 40,507% 1,109,892 1,566,811

— — — — 7,968 218,323 19,9219 545,835 1,260,025

— — — — 18,307 501,612 30,5119 836,001 2,000,073

Rajiv Malik 34,389 — 5584 3/5/2024 — — — — 629,993
41,637 — 5066 11/17/2025 — — — — 800,017

33,446 16,722 4627  2/17/2026 — — — — 900,014

21,858 43,716 4518  3/3/2027 — — — — 1,120,004

— 71,600 4097  3/2/2028 — — — 1,200,016

— — — — — — 324,061% 8,879,271 11,316,016

— — — — 22,024 603,458 58,354% 1,598,900 3,719,091

— — — — 24,790 679,246 61,975® 1,698,115 3,920,043

— — — — 43,935 1,203,819 73,225 2,006,365 4,800,045

Daniel M. Gallagher 16,416 32,831 38.94  5/12/2027 — — — — 640,009
— 38,187 4097  3/2/2028 — — — 640,014

— — — — 16,436 450,346 40,5079 1,109,892 2,186,170

— — — — 17,030 466,622 41,089 1,125,839 650,035

— — — — 23,432 642,037 39,0539 1,070,052 2,560,010

Anthony Mauro 4,266 — 23.44  3/22/2022 — — — — 33,402
3,236 — 3090  3/6/2023 — — — — 22,738

12,009 — 5584 3/5/2024 — — — — 220,000

16,265 — 5066 11/17/2025 — — — — 312,517

18,210 9,104 4627 2/17/2026 — — — — 490,013

9,759 19,516 4518  3/3/2027 — — — — 500,017

— 29,833 4097  3/2/2028 — — — — 500,001

— — — — — — 67,5129 1,849,829 2,357,499

— — — — 9,015 247,011 31,7719 870,525 1,887,168

— — — — 11,067 303,236 27,668° 758,103 1,750,047

— — — — 18,307 501,612 30,511¥ 836,001 2,000,073

(1) Vesting dates applicable to unvested stock options are as follows, in each case generally subject to continued employment with Mylan: on
17 February 2019, the unvested options at the $46.27 exercise price for Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Malik and Mauro vested, and the unvested
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options at the $46.52 exercise price for Mr. Parks vested, one-half of the unvested options at $45.18 exercise price for Ms. Bresch and the
Messrs. Malik, Mauro and Parks and at the 338.94 exercise price for Mr. Gallagher vested on 03 March 2019, and the unvested stock
options at the $40.97 exercise price for all NEOs will vest in three equal annual installments beginning 02 March 2019 (other than stock
options forfeited by Mr. Gallagher in connection with his separation from Mylan on 02 April 2019). Subject to applicable employment
agreement provisions, following termination of employment, vested stock options will generally remain exercisable for 30 days following
termination, except that (i) in the case of termination because of disability, 100% of options become vested and vested options will remain
exercisable for two years following termination, (ii) in the case of a termination due to a reduction in force, vested options will remain
exercisable for one year following termination; (iii) in the case of death, including within two years following termination because of
disability, or, in the case of options granted prior to 01 January 2017, retirement, 100% of options become vested and vested options will
remain exercisable for the remainder of the original term; and (iv) in the case of an involuntary termination without cause or a voluntary
resignation for good reason that occurs within two years following a change in control, 100% of options become vested (double-trigger
awards). In the case of options granted in 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 or 2018 to Ms. Bresch, and in 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 or 2018 to
Mr. Malik, and, solely with respect to options granted to Mr. Gallagher in 2017, following termination of employment without “cause” or
resignation for “good reason” as defined in the applicable employment agreement, 100% of options become vested and vested options will
remain exercisable for one year following termination.

(2) On 17 February 2019, 37,094 RSUs for Ms. Bresch, 2,149 RSUs for Mr. Parks, 22,024 RSUs for Mr. Malik and 9,015 RSUs for Mr. Mauro
vested. Of the 40,283 RSUs for Ms. Bresch, 20,142 vested on 03 March 2019, and 20,141 will vest on 03 March 2020; of the 7,968 RSUs
Jfor Mr. Parks, 3,984 vested on 03 March 2019, and 3,984 will vest on 03 March 2020, of the 24,790 RSUs for Mr. Malik, 12,395 vested on
03 March 2019, and 12,395 will vest on 03 March 2020; of the 16,436 RSUs for Mr. Gallagher, 8,218 vested on 03 March 2019, and 8,218
will vest on 15 March 2020; and of the 11,067 RSUs for Mr. Mauro 5,534 vested on 03 March 2019, and 5,533 will vest on 03 March 2020.
66,635 RSUs for Ms. Bresch, 18,307 RSUs for Mr. Parks, 43,935 RSUs for Mr. Malik and 18,307 RSUs for Mr. Mauro vest in three equal
annual installments beginning on 02 March 2019, and of the 23,432 RSUs for Mr. Gallagher, 7,811 vested on 02 March 2019 and the
remainder will vest on 15 March 2020. Of the 17,030 RSUs for Mr. Gallagher that represent the Gallagher Sign-On RSUs, 8,515 vested on
01 April 2019, and 8,515 will vest on 15 March 2020. In accordance with their terms, all of these awards would vest upon an involuntary
termination without cause or a voluntary resignation for good reason that occurs within two years following a change in control (double-
trigger awards) or upon the executive s death or disability. In the case of awards granted to Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Malik and Gallagher
(for Mr. Gallagher, solely with respect to RSUs granted in 2017), the awards would also vest upon the executives termination without
“cause,” or resignation for “good reason” as defined in the applicable employment agreement.

(3) The market value of restricted ordinary shares, RSUs and PRSUs was calculated using the closing price of the Company s ordinary shares
as of 31 December 2018, $27.40.

(4) These awards consist of restricted ordinary shares under the One-Time Special Five-Year Performance-Based Realizable Value Incentive
Program. The One-Time Special Five-Year Performance-Based Realizable Value Incentive Program is described in detail in the Proxy
Statement for Mylan Inc. s 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. These awards have been forfeited as a result of the performance criteria
having not been met.

(5) The vesting of these PRSUs is subject to the attainment of performance goals. On 17 February 2019, Ms. Bresch vested in 25,287 ordinary
shares or 25% of the target 101,146 PRSUs, Mr. Parks vested in 4,837 ordinary shares or 25% of the target 19,347 PRSUs , Mr. Malik
vested in 14,589 ordinary shares or 25% of the target 58,354 PRSUs and Mr. Mauro vested in 7,943 ordinary shares or 25% of the target
31,771 PRSUs. On 03 March 2020, Ms. Bresch is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to 100,709 ordinary shares, Mr. Parks is expected to
vest in PRSUs relating to 19,921 ordinary shares, Mr. Malik is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to 61,975 ordinary shares and Mr. Mauro
is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to 27,668 ordinary shares. On 02 March 2021, Ms. Bresch is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to
111,057 ordinary shares, Mr. Parks is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to 30,511 ordinary shares, Mr. Malik is expected to vest in PRSUs
relating to 73,225 ordinary shares and Mr. Mauro is expected to vest in PRSUs relating to 30,511 ordinary shares. The PRSUs are expected
to vest upon the earliest to occur of (i) 03 March 2020 or 02 March 2021, as applicable, provided that the performance goals have been
satisfied, (ii) an involuntary termination without cause or a voluntary resignation for good reason within two years following a change in
control, (iii) the executive s death or disability and (iv) in the case of awards granted to Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Malik and Gallagher (for
Mr. Gallagher, solely with respect to PRSUs granted in 2017), the executive s termination without “cause,” or resignation for “good reason”
as defined in the applicable employment agreement. Any outstanding orvdinary shares subject to the award that remain unvested as of 03
March 2020 or 02 March 2021, as applicable, will be forfeited.

(6) As aresult of his separation from Mylan on 02 April 2019, except as otherwise described in footnote (2), Mr. Gallagher forfeited his unvested
equity awards as of such date.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for 2018

The option awards and ordinary share awards reflected in the table below were exercised or became vested for the NEOs during
2018.
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Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Value Number of Value
Shares Acquired Realized on Shares Acquired Realized on
on Exercise Exercise Grant Date on Vesting Vesting Grant Date
Name # (&) Fair Value (%) # (6)) Fair Value ($)
Heather Bresch — — — 97,673 4,014,812 4,788,397
Kenneth S. Parks — — — 6,135 253,866 280,060
Rajiv Malik — — — 59,675 2,452,471 2,926,746
Daniel M. Gallagher — — — 8,218 336,691 320,009
Anthony Mauro 4,757 84,151 37,397 25,000 1,028,380 1,220,677

The following table summarizes the benefits accrued by Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik as of 31 December 2018, under the RBA (or
Executive Plan, in the case of Mr. Malik) in effect during 2018. The Company does not sponsor any other defined benefit pension
programs covering the NEOs.

Number of  Present Value
Years of

Credited  Accumulated Payments During
Service Benefit  Last Fiscal Year
Plan Name" #) ® ®

Heather Bresch Retirement Benefit Agreement 6,355,779

Kenneth S. Parks N/A N/A — —
Rajiv Malik The Executive Plan for Rajiv Malik® N/A 321,171 —
Rajiv Malik Retirement Benefit Agreement 12 4,005,221 —
Daniel M. Gallagher N/A N/A — —
Anthony Mauro N/A N/A — —

@ Messrs. Parks, Gallagher and Mauro are not party to a defined benefit pension arrangement.

@ This is a deferred compensation plan established for the benefit of Mr. Malik. The Company is no longer contributing to this plan.

The following table sets forth information relating to the Restoration Plan for 2018. There was no NEO participation in the Mylan
Executive Income Deferral Plan in 2018.

Company
Profit Sharing Aggregate
Aggregate Executive and Match Earnings Aggregate Aggregate

Balance at Last Contributions Contributions (Loss) in Last  Withdrawals/ Balance at
FYE in Last FY in Last FY 4 Distributions FYE
Name (&) ) 3 ®)

Heather Bresch 3,785,200 — 165,331 (263,651) 3,686,380
Kenneth S. Parks 48,076 47,910 100,841 (15,215) — 181,612
Rajiv Malik 175,469 — 109,469 (30,701) — 254,237
Daniel M. Gallagher 27,394 25,846 42,346 (7.862) — 87,724
Anthony Mauro 1,726,000 49,200 117,692 (106,322) — 1,786,570

@ These amounts include earnings (losses), dividends and interest provided on account balances, including the change in value of the

underlying investments in which our NEOs are deemed to be invested. These amounts are not reported in the Summary Compensation
Table.
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Retirement Programs and Employment Agreements
Restoration Plan

The Restoration Plan permits employees (including NEOs) who earn compensation in excess of the limits imposed by Section 401(a)
(17) of the Code to (i) defer a portion of base salary and bonus compensation, (ii) be credited with a Company matching contribution
in respect of deferrals under the Restoration Plan and (iii) be credited with Company non-elective contributions (to the extent so
made by Mylan), in each case, to the extent that participants otherwise would be able to defer or be credited with such amounts,
as applicable, under Mylan’s 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan if not for the limits on contributions and deferrals imposed by the
Code. Company matching contributions immediately vest and Company profit sharing contributions are subject to an initial three-
year vesting period. Upon a change in control (as defined in the Restoration Plan), a participant will become 100% vested in any
unvested portion of his or her profit sharing contributions. Distributions of a participant’s vested account balance will be made in
a lump sum within 60 days following a participant’s separation from service (or such later date as may be required by Section 409A
of the Code).

Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik are not eligible to receive matching contributions under the Restoration Plan.
Retirement Benefit Agreements

Mylan Inc. entered into RBAs with Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik in August 2009. Pursuant to the RBAs of Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik,
upon retirement following completion of 10 or more years of service, each executive would be entitled to receive a lump sum
retirement benefit equal to the present value of an annual payment of 20% and 15%, respectively, of the sum of their base salary
and target annual bonus on the date of retirement, for a period of 15 years, discounted to the executive’s current age from age 55
if such executive retires prior to attaining age 55 (“retirement benefit”). Having completed at least 10 years of continuous service
as an executive, Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik are each 100% vested in their retirement benefit under the RBAs.

Each of the RBAs provides that the executive is prohibited for one year following termination from engaging in activities that are
competitive with the Company’s activities, provided that this provision will have no effect if, after the occurrence of a change in
control, Mylan refuses, fails to make or disputes any payments to be made to the executive under the RBA, whether or not the
executive actually receives payments under the RBA.

Each of the RBAs provide that during the five-year period following termination, except for any termination occurring following
a change in control, Mylan may request that the executive provide consulting services for the Company, which services will be
reasonable in scope, duration and frequency, and not to exceed 20 hours per month. The hourly rate for such consulting services
will be determined by the parties at the time, but may not be less than $500 per hour, payable monthly. The executive would also
be entitled to reimbursement of all out-of-pocket expenses incurred directly in the course of providing these services.

Information concerning the estimated value of benefits under Ms. Bresch’s and Mr. Malik’s RBAs assuming retirement as of 31
December 2018, is in the section below entitled “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.”

As previously disclosed in 2007, Mylan established a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for Mr. Malik, who was then living
outside the U.S. and therefore unable to participate in Mylan’s 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan. Although Mylan no longer contributes
to the account, the plan account will be distributed to Mr. Malik upon termination of the plan, the termination of Mr. Malik’s
employment or other qualifying distribution events, such as his retirement, disability or death.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

The following discussion summarizes the potential payments and benefits that the NEOs would have received following a
termination of employment on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without “cause”, by the NEO for “good reason” (each as defined in
the applicable agreement), due to his or her death or disability or as a result of a CIC Termination (as defined below), in each case,
pursuant to the terms of the employment agreements, RBAs, Transition and Succession Agreements and LTI award agreements
in effect as of 31 December 2018. A “CIC Termination” occurs if an NEO’s employment is terminated other than for cause or if
he or she terminates employment for good reason, in each case prior to a change in control under certain circumstances, within
two years following the occurrence of a change in control or, for Ms. Bresch and Messrs. Malik and Mauro only, for any reason
within 90 days following the first anniversary of a change in control.
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All potential payments and benefits in connection with a change in control are “double-trigger”, meaning they require a change
in control and a termination of employment in order to be paid. As described above, following the Compensation Committee’s
determination that the performance criteria had not been met, the awards granted under the One-Time Special Five-Year
Performance-Based Realizable Value Incentive Program were forfeited, and therefore no value is attributable to them here. All
payments and benefits would be reduced by Company-provided death or disability benefits in the event of termination of the
NEO’s employment due to death or disability.

As described above, Mr. Gallagher’s employment with Mylan terminated on 02 April 2019. For a description of the payments
and benefits Mr. Gallagher received in connection with such termination, please see above, at “New Agreements with Executives
in 2019”.

Heather Bresch

Resignation for Good Reason, Termination Without Cause or Termination due to Death or Disability Absent a Change in
Control. 1f Ms. Bresch’s employment was terminated on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without cause, by her for good reason or
due to her death or disability absent a change in control, she would have been entitled to (1) a lump sum payment equal to two
times her annual base salary, (2) two years of health benefits, (3) a pro rata bonus based on actual performance, (4) full vesting of
her LTI awards (with any performance conditions deemed achieved at “target” levels) and (5) a lump sum payment equal to her
already vested RBA benefit.

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $5,232,326,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits, (ii) $12,519,718, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards and (iii) $6,355,779, in
respect of Ms. Bresch’s already vested RBA benefit.

Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. 1f Ms. Bresch incurred a CIC Termination on 31 December 2018, she
would have been entitled to the payments and benefits provided for above, except that her severance payment under (1) would be
equal to three times the sum of her base salary and highest bonus paid and she would receive three years of continued health and
other benefits. Ms. Bresch’s Transition and Succession Agreement also provides for a gross-up payment for any excise tax on
“excess parachute payments.”

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $18,670,241,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits, (ii) $12,519,718, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards and (iii) $6,355,779, in
respect of Ms. Bresch’s already vested RBA benefit. Based on these values, Ms. Bresch would not have been subject to the 280G
excise tax; therefore no value is attributable to her contractual gross-up obligation for purposes of this disclosure.

Kenneth S. Parks

Resignation for Good Reason, Termination Without Cause or Termination due to Death or Disability Absent a Change in
Control. 1f Mr. Parks’ employment was terminated on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without cause, by him for good reason or due
to his death or disability absent a change in control, he would have been entitled to (1) a lump sum payment equal to his annual
base salary, (2) 12 months of health benefits, (3) a pro rata bonus based on actual performance and (4) in the case of a termination
due to Mr. Parks’ death or disability only, full vesting of his LTI awards (with any performance conditions deemed achieved at
“target” levels).

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $1,752,061,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits and (ii) in the case of a termination due to Mr. Parks’ death or disability only,
$2,690,762, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards.

Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. If Mr. Parks incurred a CIC Termination on 31 December 2018, he would
become entitled to the payments and benefits provided for above in the event of his disability, except that his severance payment
under (1) would be equal to three times the sum of his base salary and highest bonus paid and he would receive three years of
continued health and other benefits. Consistent with Mylan’s policy of not providing gross-ups in newly entered into agreements,
Mr. Parks’ Transition and Succession Agreement contains a “best net” provision in the event he would receive any “excess parachute
payments”, as described above.

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $6,745,473,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits and (ii) $2,690,762, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards.
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Rajiv Malik

Resignation for Good Reason, Termination Without Cause or Termination due to Death or Disability Absent a Change in
Control. 1f Mr. Malik’s employment was terminated on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without cause, by him for good reason or
due to his death or disability absent a change in control, he would have been entitled to (1) a lump sum payment equal to one-and-
one-half times his annual base salary, (2) 18 months of health benefits, (3) a pro rata bonus based on actual performance, (4) full
vesting of his LTI awards (with any performance conditions deemed achieved at “target” levels) and (5) a lump sum payment in
respect of his already vested RBA benefit.

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $3,191,355,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits, (ii) $7,789,903, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards and (iii) $4,005,221, in
respect of Mr. Malik’s already vested RBA benefit.

Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. If Mr. Malik incurred a CIC Termination on 31 December 2018, he would
have been entitled to the payments and benefits provided for above, except that his severance payment under (1) would be equal
to three times the sum of his base salary and highest bonus paid and he would receive three years of continued health and other
benefits. Mr. Malik’s Transition and Succession Agreement also provides for a gross-up payment for any excise tax on “excess
parachute payments.”

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $12,688,123,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits, (ii) $7,789,903, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards and (iii) $4,055,221, in
respect of Mr. Malik’s already vested RBA benefit. Based on these values, Mr. Malik would not have been subject to the 280G
excise tax; therefore no value is attributable to his contractual gross-up obligation for purposes of this disclosure.

Daniel M. Gallagher

Resignation for Good Reason, Termination Without Cause or Termination due to Death or Disability Absent a Change in
Control. 1f Mr. Gallagher’s employment was terminated on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without cause, by him for good reason
or due to his death or disability absent a change in control, he would have been entitled to (1) a lump sum payment equal to his
annual base salary, (2) 12 months of health benefits, (3) a pro rata bonus based on actual performance, (4) full vesting of his LTI
awards granted in 2017 and (5) in the case of a termination due to Mr. Gallagher’s death or disability only, full vesting of his other
LTI awards (with any LTI performance conditions deemed achieved at “target” levels).

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $2,048,595,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits, (ii) $2,042,807, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards granted in 2017 and (iii)
in the case of a termination due to Mr. Gallagher’s death or disability only, $1,712,089, in respect of the vesting of his other LTI
awards.

Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. 1f Mr. Gallagher incurred a CIC Termination on 31 December 2018, he
would become entitled to the payments and benefits provided for above in the event of his disability, except that his severance
payment under (1) would by equal to three times the sum of his base salary and highest bonus paid and he would receive three
years of continued health and other benefits. Consistent with Mylan’s policy of not providing gross-ups in newly entered into
agreements, Mr. Gallagher’s Transition and Succession Agreement contains a “best net” provision in the event he would receive
any “excess parachute payments”, as described above.

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $7,632,384,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits and (ii) $3,754,896, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards.

Anthony Mauro

Termination Without Cause or Termination due to Death or Disability Absent a Change in Control. If Mr. Mauro’s employment
was terminated on 31 December 2018 by Mylan without cause or due to his death or disability absent a change in control, he would
have been entitled to (1) a lump sum payment equal to his annual base salary, (2) 12 months of health benefits, (3) a pro rata bonus
based on actual performance and (4) in the case of a termination due to Mr. Mauro’s death or disability only, full vesting of his
LTI awards (with any performance conditions deemed achieved at “target” levels).
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The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $1,789,091,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits and (ii) in the case of a termination due to Mr. Mauro’s death or disability only,
$3,516,488, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards.

Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. If Mr. Mauro incurred a CIC Termination on 31 December 2018, he would
become entitled to the payments and benefits provided for above in the event of his disability, except that his severance payment
under (1) would be equal to three times the amount of base salary and cash bonus paid to Mr. Mauro by Mylan as reflected on Mr.
Mauro’s W-2 in (a) the tax year immediately preceding the year in which the date of termination occurs or (b) the year in which
the change in control occurs, whichever is greater, and he would receive three years of continued health and other benefits. Mr.
Mauro’s Transition and Succession Agreement also provides for a gross-up payment for any excise tax on “excess parachute
payments.”

The estimated values of such payments and benefits, assuming a 31 December 2018 termination, would have been (i) $6,396,746,
in respect of cash severance and other benefits and (ii) $3,516,488, in respect of the vesting of LTI awards. Based on these values,
Mr. Mauro would not have been subject to the 280G excise tax; therefore no value is attributable to his contractual gross-up
obligation for purposes of this disclosure.

CEO Pay Ratio

As required by Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Company is providing
the following information about the relationship of the annual total compensation of the Company’s employees and the annual
total compensation of the Company’s CEO. The pay ratio figures below are a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent
with Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.

Further to this requirement, under the disclosure Instructions 2 to Item 402(u), the median-paid employee may be identified once
every three years if there is no impact to the pay ratio disclosure. As there were no changes in our employee population or to the
median-paid employee’s compensation arrangements in 2018 that would affect the pay ratio disclosure, the employee representing
the median-paid employee is the same employee selected for the 2018 Proxy Statement. We collected the 2018 annual total
compensation for the median employee using the same methodology we use for our named executive officers as disclosed in the
Summary Compensation Table and then added the cost of medical and dental benefits in the calculation of annual total compensation
for the median employee and CEO.

Total annual compensation for the median employee was $42,407 and total annual compensation for the CEO was $13,346,299,
resulting in a ratio of median employee total annual compensation to CEO total annual compensation of 315 to 1. Total annual
compensation for the median employee and the chief executive officer is calculated according to the disclosure requirements of
Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act and includes base salary, annual incentive, equity awards, change in pension
values and other compensation such as perquisites and medical benefits.

Non-employee director compensation for 2018
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation earned by Mylan’s directors who are not employees of
the Company or Mylan Inc. (each a “Non-Employee Director,” and, together, the “Non-Employee Directors”) for 2018.

Directors who are employees of Mylan Inc. receive no compensation for their Board service. A discussion of the elements of
Non-Employee Director compensation follows the table.
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Fees Earned
or Paid in Option

Name Cash ($) RSUs ($)¥  Awards ($) Total ($)
Wendy Cameron " . ... ... .. 62,500 165,027 50,012 277,539
Hon. Robert J. Cindrich ................................ 143,750 165,027 50,012 358,789
RobertJ.Coury. ...t 1,800,000 — — 1,800,000
JoEllen Lyons Dillon. . .. ............coouiuii .. 190,000 165,027 50,012 405,039
Neil Dimick. ... ..o 176,250 165,027 50,012 391,289
Melina Hig@ins . .. .......oooueie . 150,000 165,027 50,012 365,039
Harry A. Horman @, ... ... ... . . 70,000 165,015 50,004 285,019
Mark W. Parrish ... ........... o 253,750 165,027 50,012 468,789
Pauline van der Meer Mohr @ . ... ... ... ... ... . ... 65,000 3 165,015 50,004 280,019
Randall L. (Pete)

Vanderveen, Ph.D., RPh. .. ............................. 120,000 165,027 50,012 335,039
Sjoerd S. Vollebregt @ ... ... ... ... 130,000 @ 165,027 50,012 345,039

(S))

(2)
3)

(C]

Not nominated for re-election at the 2018 AGM and retired from the Board effective 29 June 2018. Compensation listed
reflects amounts earned and equity awarded through 29 June 2018.

Elected to Mylan’s Board for the first time at the 2018 AGM.

Fees earned by Ms. van der Meer Mohr and Mr. Vollebregt were paid in Euros. Such amounts were converted into Euros
using the monthly conversion rate in effect when each payment was made.

Represents the grant date fair value of the specific award granted to the Non-Employee Director. Option awards and
restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards granted in 2018 generally vested on 02 March 2019. The aggregate number of
ordinary shares subject to stock options held by the Non-Employee Directors, as of 31 December 2018, were as follows:
Ms. Cameron, 14,277; Judge Cindrich, 14,277; Mr. Coury, 231,074; Ms. Dillon, 14,277; Mr. Dimick, 14,277; Ms.
Higgins, 20,900; Mr. Korman, 29,412; Mr. Parrish, 14,277; Ms. van der Meer Mohr 3,446; Dr. Vanderveen, 14,277; and
Mr. Vollebregt, 6,851. The number of unvested RSUs held by each of the Non-Employee Directors, as of 31 December
2018, were as follows: Judge Cindrich, 4,028; Mr. Coury, 1,000,000; Ms. Dillon, 4,028; Mr. Dimick, 4,028; Ms. Higgins,
4,028; Mr. Korman 4,566; Mr. Parrish, 4,028; Ms. van der Meer Mohr 4,566; Dr. Vanderveen, 4,028; and Mr. Vollebregt,
4,028. The number of unvested performance-based restricted ordinary shares held by Mr. Coury, as of 31 December
2018, was 270,051, which were forfeited as a result of the performance criteria not having been met.

Board and Committee Fees

In 2018, the Compensation Committee retained Meridian to provide the Committee with a market review of outside director
compensation.

Non-Employee Directors, other than Mr. Coury, receive $100,000 per year in cash compensation for their service on Mylan’s
Board. Non-Employee Directors also are reimbursed for actual expenses relating to meeting attendance.

In addition, in 2018, the Non-Employee Directors received the following additional fees for their service on Board committees,
payable in each case, in four equal quarterly installments (pro-rated for any partial quarter):

.

.

.

.

The Chair of the Audit Committee received an additional fee of $30,000 per year;

The Chair of the Compensation Committee received an additional fee of $25,000 per year;

The Chair of the Compliance Committee received an additional fee of $30,000 per year;

The Chair of the Finance Committee received an additional fee of $20,000 per year;
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*  The Chair of the Governance and Nominating Committee received an additional fee of $25,000 per year;
*  The Chair of the Risk Oversight Committee received an additional fee of $25,000 per year;
*  The Chair of the Science and Technology Committee received an additional fee of $10,000 per year;

»  Each member of the Executive Committee who is a Non-Employee Director, other than Mr. Coury, received an additional fee
of $30,000 per year;

»  Eachmember of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Governance and Nominating Committee and Risk Oversight
Committee received an additional fee of $15,000 per year;

»  Each member of the Compliance Committee received an additional fee of $10,000 per year;

»  Each member of the Finance Committee and the Science and Technology Committee received an additional fee of $5,000 per
year; and

*  The Lead Independent Director received an additional fee of $60,000 per year

Mr. Coury does not receive the Non-Employee Director fees described above, and instead receives a quarterly cash retainer of
$450,000 and certain perquisites. In connection with the transition from his role as Executive Chairman to Chairman of the Board
as a non-employee director effective 24 June 2016, the Board asked Mr. Coury to serve as Chairman for at least five years and to
intently focus, with the Mylan Board and in collaboration with the senior management team, on the strategy for Mylan for the next
decade and beyond. The Board believes that the continued highly active and visionary leadership, insight and strategic direction
of Mr. Coury as Chairman is critical to the Company and in the best interests of our shareholders and other stakeholders, as both
the Board and management evolve the Company's long-term strategy amid significant change and disruption in our industry.

Non-Employee Directors are eligible to receive stock options or other grants under Mylan’s Amended and Restated 2003 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (the “Amended 2003 Plan™). In March 2018, each Non-Employee Director, other than Messrs. Coury and
Korman and Ms. van der Meer Mohr, were granted an option to purchase 2,984 ordinary shares at an exercise price of $40.97 per
share, the closing price per share of Mylan’s ordinary shares on the date of grant, which option, other than as described below,
vested on 02 March 2019, and 4,028 RSUs, which also, other than as described below, vested on 02 March 2019. In June 2018,
upon election to the Board, Mr. Korman and Ms. van der Meer Mohr were each granted options to purchase 3,446 ordinary shares
at an exercise price of $36.14 per share, the closing price per share of Mylan’s ordinary shares on the date of grant, which options
vested on 02 March 2019, and 4,566 RSUs, which also vested on 02 March 2019. Mr. Coury did not receive any equity awards in
2018. Asdescribed in the 2017 Proxy Statement, Mr. Coury received an award of 1,000,000 RSUs on 24 June 2016, 75% of which
will vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant and 25% of which will vest on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant, or
earlier upon certain cessations of Mr. Coury’s services as Chairman or failure to be appointed to Mylan’s Board. Ms. Cameron
was not nominated for re-election and retired from the Board effective 29 June 2018. In recognition of Ms. Cameron’s long and
dedicated service to Mylan, the other independent members of the Board voted to accelerate the vesting of her March 2018 option
and RSU awards to her date of retirement. Non-Employee Directors also are eligible to receive tax-equalization payments for
incremental tax liabilities, if any, incurred as a result of attendance at board meetings in the U.K.

Ordinary Share Ownership Requirements

Mylan’s Board has adopted ordinary share ownership requirements for Non-Employee Directors, requiring each to hold ordinary
shares valued at three times their annual retainer as long as they remain on the Board. Each Non-Employee Director has five years
from his or her initial election to the Board to achieve this requirement. The policy was adopted to further demonstrate alignment
of directors’ interests with shareholders’ for the duration of their service. As of 31 December 2018, all Non-Employee Directors
satisfied this ownership requirement, with the exception of Mr. Vollebregt and Ms. van der Meer Mohr. Mr. Vollebregt, who
became a director on 22 June 2017 is required to satisfy the ownership requirement by June 2022. Ms. van der Meer Mohr, who
became a director on 29 June 2018, is required to satisfy the ownership requirement by June 2023.
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Remuneration to auditors

Deloitte served as Mylan’s independent registered public accounting firm during 2018 and 2017, and no relationship exists other
than the usual relationship between such a firm and its client. Details about the nature of the services provided by, and fees Mylan
paid to, Deloitte and affiliated firms for such services during 2018 and 2017 are set forth below.

Year ended 31 December

(In millions of USD) 2018 2017

Audit fees . L $ 98 § 9.6
Audit-related fees @ ..o 03 0.5
Tax fees O Lo 0.8 0.1
Total £eeS. . . . ..o $ 109 $ 10.3

& Represents fees for professional services provided for the audit of Mylan’s annual consolidated financial statements and the Dutch
Annual Accounts; the audit of Mylan’s internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002; reviews of Mylan’s quarterly condensed consolidated financial statements; audit services provided in connection with other
statutory or regulatory filings; and accounting, reporting and disclosure matters. Included in this amount are fees paid to Deloitte
Accountants B.V. (The Netherlands) for audit services related to the Dutch Annual Accounts of $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

@ Represents fees for assurance services related to the audit of Mylan’s annual consolidated financial statements, including the audit of
the Company’s employee benefit plans, comfort letters, certain SEC filings and other agreed-upon procedures.

® Represents fees primarily related to tax-return preparation, tax planning and tax-compliance support services.

Employees

As at 31 December 2018, Mylan’s global workforce included approximately 35,000 employees and external contractors. Of the
Company’s total global workforce, approximately 114 are located in the Netherlands. Below is a summary of the composition of
Mylan’s global workforce by function:

General and
administrative: Selling and
~14% marketing: ~21%

Research and
development: ~8%

Manufacturing:
~57%

29 Related party disclosures

Based on a review of the transactions between Mylan and its directors and executive officers, their immediate family members,
and their affiliated entities, Mylan has determined that since the beginning of 2018, it was a party to the following transactions
in which the amount involved exceeded $120,000 and in which any of Mylan’s directors, executive officers, or greater than five
percent shareholders, or any of their immediate family members or affiliates, have or had a direct or indirect material interest:

As previously disclosed, Mylan has engaged Coury Financial Group, LP, now The Coury Firm LLC (together with its
predecessors, “CFG”), the principals of which are brothers and a son of Robert J. Coury, Chairman, to provide certain services
to Mylan. CFG is beneficially owned by brothers and trusts on behalf of brothers and children of Mr. Coury. CFG is in the
business of providing strategic corporate benefits advice and services, among others. Since approximately 1995, CFG and, in
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the past, other affiliated entities of CFG, have served as the broker in connection with several of the Company’s employee
benefit programs. Effective 01 January 2018, Mylan extended its previous contract with CFG for an additional three year period
on substantially the same terms as its prior arrangement, which included, a fixed base fee of $37,500 per month to be paid by
Mylan to CFG, corresponding to the term of agreements negotiated with certain benefit plan carriers and capping payments
over that time period. However, where required by law, CFG will continue to receive commissions directly from certain other
benefit plan carriers, and in 2018 and early 2019, received payments totaling approximately $230,000 in commissions for these
services directly from the insurance carriers (including payments for 2017 business paid in 2018).

Based on the contractual terms of Mr. Coury’s 2011 Executive Employment Agreement, 2014 Executive Employment
Agreement and 2016 Letter Agreement, upon Mr. Coury’s conclusion of service as an executive with the Company in 2016 the
Company was obligated to provide him with certain benefits that he had earned over his fifteen year tenure with the Company.
These benefits included, at Mr. Coury’s election on an annual basis for three years, either personal use of the Company’s
aircraft for up to 70 hours per year or a cash payment of up to approximately $1.5 million each year for unused time based on
the contract formula. We note that this benefit was disclosed in prior proxy statements, and that the aggregate value of this
benefit was included in the Summary Compensation Table of the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2017 annual general
meeting of sharcholders (the “2017 Proxy Statement™). With respect to 2018, Mr. Coury used the aircraft for 26.5 personal
hours and received a cash payment of $947,524 in respect of the unused time based on the contract formula. We believe that
$1.5 million represents a fair estimate of the approximate dollar value of the transaction and of Mr. Coury’s interest in it.
Although this transaction was previously disclosed, we are disclosing it again here, based on SEC rules, as Mr. Coury remains a
related person due to his continued service as a director of the Company (although his receipt of this benefit is not contingent
on that service) and the benefit was provided by Mylan to Mr. Coury during 2018. We anticipate continuing to honor this
contractual commitment to Mr. Coury in 2019.

Mr. Dimick, like each member of the Board, is party to an indemnification agreement with the Company. The Company has
been advised by counsel to Mr. Dimick that counsel billed fees of approximately $275,000 in 2018 for services provided to Mr.
Dimick related to providing information in connection with the previously disclosed SEC related party investigation, which did
not relate to Mr. Dimick. The SEC’s Division of Enforcement has informed the Company that it has completed its related party
investigation with no recommended further action. Counsel does not anticipate billing any additional fees for services to be
provided to Mr. Dimick.

Rajiv Malik is an executive officer of the Company and is party to an employment agreement, as amended, with Mylan Inc.,
which contains standard indemnification provisions. The Company has made payments to counsel to Mr. Malik of
approximately $1.5 million in 2018 and approximately $200,000 in 2019 for services provided to Mr. Malik in connection with
certain previously disclosed drug pricing matters. The Company anticipates making additional payments of approximately $1.6
million in 2019 for ongoing services to be provided to Mr. Malik in connection with such matters. Mylan anticipates additional
payment, repayment or advancement of these and other expenses during the pendency of the aforementioned matters and
anticipates that it will make payments for any such claims.

Mylan has a written related party transactions policy that establishes guidelines for reviewing and approving, as appropriate,
transactions involving any director, nominee for director, Section 16 officer, person known by the Company to be the beneficial
owner of more than 5% of any class of the Company’s voting securities, and person known by the Company to be an immediate
family member of any such person in which (1) the amount involved will or may be expected to exceed $100,000; (2) Mylan or
an affiliate of Mylan is or will be a participant; and (3) any related party has or will have a direct or indirect material interest.
The Board also annually reviews certain relationships and related party transactions as part of its assessment of each director’s
independence.

Director Independence

Mylan’s Board has determined that Judge Cindrich, Ms. Dillon, Mr. Dimick, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Korman, Mr. Mark, Mr. Parrish,
Ms. van der Meer Mohr, Dr. Vanderveen and Mr. Vollebregt are independent directors under the applicable NASDAQ listing
standards. In making these determinations, the Board considered, with respect to Mr. Korman’s independence, Mr. Korman’s
past employment by Mylan Inc. and his prior consulting services for Mylan Inc. until 01 July 2015 pursuant to his previously
disclosed Retirement and Consulting Agreement and Release dated 01 August 2014. With respect to Mr. Mark, the Board
considered his prior service as a partner at Deloitte. The Board determined that any such arrangements, transactions or
relationships would not interfere with the exercise of independent judgment by either of Mr. Korman or Mr. Mark in carrying
out his respective responsibilities as a director of Mylan.

Mr. Coury, Ms. Bresch and Mr. Malik are not independent directors under applicable NASDAQ listing standards.
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All non-executive directors of Mylan’s Board other than Mr. Coury are considered to be independent within the meaning of best
practice provision 2.1.8 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the “DCGC”).

As disclosed in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2018 annual general meeting of shareholders (the “2018 Proxy
Statement”), Mylan’s Board had previously determined that Ms. Wendy Cameron, who served on the Board until 29 June 2018,
was an independent director under the applicable NASDAAQ listing standards.

30 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial
statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt this standard when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 substantially changes the financial statements as the majority of leases will become on-balance sheet liabilities with
corresponding right of use assets on the balance sheet. The standard replaces IAS 17 Leases and is effective 01 January 2019. A
lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than twelve months.
Leases with a term of twelve months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases. Upon
adoption of the new standard, a portion of the annual operating lease costs, which is currently fully recognized as a functional
expense, will be recorded as interest expense. In addition, the portion of the annual lease payments recognized in the cash flow
statement as a reduction of the lease liability will be recognized as an outflow from financing activities, which currently is fully
recognized as an outflow from operating activities. This guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after 15
December 2018. The Company will adopt IFRS 16 in fiscal year 2019 and is currently assessing the impact on its consolidated
financial statements and disclosures.

Additionally, at the beginning of fiscal year 2019, the Company adopted a new lease standard under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). As of 31 March 2019, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of
$236.2 million and $234.3 million, respectively, under U.S. GAAP. The requirements of IFRS 16 differ from the U.S. GAAP
requirements primarily in relation to the classification of certain components of lease expense in the Consolidated Income
Statement.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IFRIC Interpretation 23 (the “Interpretation”) clarifies application of recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12
Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses whether an entity
considers uncertain tax treatments separately, the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by
taxation authorities, how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates, and how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income
taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12. The Interpretation does not apply to taxes
or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.

31 Subsidiaries

Mylan N.V. is the parent company of the Mylan group, which, as at 31 December 2018, consists of 273 entities with operations
in 49 countries. The following table sets forth details of Mylan’s consolidated subsidiaries, unless indicated otherwise.

Percentage of shares and

State or country of votes directly and/or
Subsidiary incorporation indirectly owned
Agila Australasia Pty Ltd. Australia 100%
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Alphapharm Pty Ltd.

Meda Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd.
Mylan Australia Holding Pty Ltd.
Mylan Australia Pty Limited
Mylan Health Pty. Ltd.

Arcana Arzneimittel GmbH
BGP Products GmbH

Meda Austria Holdings GmbH
Meda Pharma GmbH
Aktuapharma NV

Docpharma BVBA

Matrix Laboratories BVBA
Meda Pharma S.A.

Mylan BVBA

Mylan EPD SPRL

Mylan Bermuda Ltd.

Mylan d.o.o.

Meda Pharma Importagdo ¢ Exportacdo de Produtos
Farmacéuticos Ltda.

Mylan Brasil Distribuidora de Medicamentos Ltda.
Mylan Laboratdrios Ltda.

Mylan EOOD

BGP Pharma ULC

Meda Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

Mylan Pharmaceuticals ULC

Rottapharm Chile SA

Meda Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ltd.

Medicine Meda Pharmaceutical Information Consultancy

(Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Mylan Hrvatska d.o.o.

Agila Specialties (Holdings) Cyprus Ltd.
Agila Specialties Americas Ltd.
Onco Laboratories Ltd.

BGP Products Czech Republic s.r.o.
Meda Pharma s.r.o.

Mylan Pharmaceuticals s.r.0.

Acton Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Alaven Pharmaceutical LLC

ALVP Holdings LLC

Apicore Inc.

Apicore US LLC

Canton Fuels Company, LLC*
Chouteau Fuels Company, LLC*
Delcor Asset Corporation

Denco Asset, LLC

Deogun Manufacturing, LLC*

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria

Austria

Austria

Austria

Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium

Bermuda

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Bulgaria
Canada
Canada
Canada
Chile
China

China

Croatia

Cyprus

Cyprus

Cyprus

Czech Republic
Czech Republic
Czech Republic
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
99%

99%

100%
100%
100%
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Dey Limited Partner LLC

Dey, Inc.

EMD, Inc.

Ezio Pharma, Inc.

Franklin Pharmaceutical, LLC
Madaus Inc.

Marquis Industrial Company, LLC
Meda Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Mylan Consumer Healthcare, Inc.
Mylan D.T. (U.S.) Holdings, Inc.
Mylan D.T. DPT Partner Sub, LLC
Mylan D.T., Inc.

Mylan Holdings Inc.

Mylan Institutional LLC

Mylan Investment Holdings 4 LLC
Mylan Investment Holdings 5 LLC
Mylan Investment Holdings 6 LLC
Mylan LLC

Mylan Securitization LLC

Mylan Special Investments LLC
Mylan Special Investments 11, LLC
Mylan Special Investments III, LLC
Mylan Special Investments IV, LLC
Mylan Special Investments V, LLC
Mylan Special Investments VI, LLC
Mylan Specialty L.P.

Nimes Inc.

Powder Street, LLC

Prestium Pharma, Inc.

Somerset Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Wallace Pharmaceuticals Inc.

BGP Products ApS

Meda AS (Denmark)

Mylan ApS

Meda Oy

Mylan Finland OY

Mylan OY

Oy Scanmeda Ab

Laboratoires Madaus S.A.S.

Meda Holding S.A.S.

Meda Manufacturing S.A.S.

Meda Pharma S.A.S.

Mylan EMEA S.A.S.

Mylan Generics France Holding S.A.S.

Mylan Laboratories S.A.S.
Mylan Medical S.A.S.

Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Denmark
Denmark
Denmark
Finland
Finland
Finland
Finland

France

France

France

France

France

France

France

France

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
99%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

62.66%
99.01%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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Mylan S.A.S.

Qualimed S.A.S.

Rottapharm S.A.S.

Erste Madaus Beteiligungs GmbH
Galmeda GmbH

Kooperation Phytopharmaka Gbr
Korin GmbH & Co. Projekt 31 KG
Madaus GmbH

Meda Germany Beteiligungs GmbH
Meda Germany Holding GmbH
Meda Manufacturing GmbH

Meda Pharma GmbH & Co KG
Meda Verwaltungs GmbH

MWB Pharma GmbH

Mylan dura GmbH

Mylan Healthcare GmbH
Pharmazeutische Union GmbH
PharmLog Pharma Logistik GmbH
Rottapharm |[Madaus GmbH
Tropon U-Kasse GmbH
Troponwerke GmbH

Viatris GmbH

Zweite Madaus Beteiligungs GmbH
Mylan (Gibraltar) 4 Ltd.

Mylan (Gibraltar) 5 Ltd.

Mylan (Gibraltar) 6 Ltd.

Mylan (Gibraltar) 7 Ltd.

Mylan (Gibraltar) 8 Ltd.

Mylan (Gibraltar) 9 Ltd.

BGP Pharmaceutical Products Ltd.
Generics Pharma Hellas E.P.E.
Meda Pharmaceuticals SA
Rottapharm Hellas

Meda Pharma Hungary Kereskedelmi Kft.

Mylan EPD Kft.
Mylan Hungary Kft.
Mylan Kft.

Mylan Institutional Inc.

Madaus Pharmaceuticals Private Limited

Mylan Laboratories India Private Limited

Mylan Laboratories Limited

Mylan Pharmaceuticals Private Limited

BGP Products Limited
McDermott Laboratories Limited
Meda Health Sales Ireland Limited

Mylan Investments Limited

France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Greece
Greece
Greece
Greece
Hungary
Hungary
Hungary
Hungary
Illinois, USA
India
India
India
India
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland

Ireland

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
0.3%
94.6%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
16.66%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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Mylan IRE Healthcare Limited
Mylan Ireland Holdings Limited
Mylan Ireland Investment D.A.C.
Mylan Ireland Limited

Mylan Pharma Acquisition Limited
Mylan Pharma Group Limited
Mylan Pharma Holdings Limited
Mylan Teoranta

Rottapharm Limited

BGP Products S.r.I. (Italy)**
Dermogroup S.r.l.

Madaus S.r.1.

Meda Pharma S.p.A.

Mylan S.p.A. Con Socia Unico
Rottapharm S.p.A.

Mylan EPD G.K.

Mylan Seiyaku Ltd.

SIA "BGP Products"

SIA Meda Pharma

BGP Products UAB

BGP Products S.a.r.L

Integral SA

Meda Pharma S.a r.L.

Mylan Luxembourg 1 S.ar.l.
Mylan Luxembourg 2 S.ar.l.
Mylan Luxembourg 3 S.ar.l.
Mylan Luxembourg 6 S.ar.l.
Mylan Luxembourg 7 S.a r.l.
Mylan Luxembourg 9 S.a r.l.
Mylan Luxembourg S.a r.1.

SIM S.A.

Meda Healthcare Sdn. Bhd.
Mylan Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

MP Laboratories (Mauritius) Ltd.
Meda Phama S de RL de CV
Meda Pharma Servicios S de RL de CV
Mylan Pharmaceuticals S.A.S.
DAGRA Medica B.V.

Meda Pharma B.V.

Mylan B.V.

Mylan Group B.V.

Mylan Healthcare B.V.

Agila Specialties Inc.

BGP Products

Mylan New Zealand Ltd.

Mylan Health Management LLC

Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Japan

Japan

Latvia
Latvia
Lithuania
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Malaysia
Malaysia
Mauritius
Mexico
Mexico
Morocco
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands

New Jersey, USA

New Zealand
New Zealand

North Carolina, USA

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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Meda AS

Mylan AS

Mylan Healthcare Norge AS
Mylan Hospital AS

ZpearPoint AS

MLRE LLC

Mylan Holdings Sub Inc.

Mylan Inc.

Synerx Pharma, LLC

Mylan Philippines Inc.

BGP Products Poland Sp. Z o.0.
Meda Pharmaceuticals Sp. Z o.0.
Mylan EPD Sp. Z o.o.

Mylan Healthcare S.p. Z o.o.
Mylan Pharmaceuticals Sp. Z o.o.
Mylan Sp. Z o.0.

Rottapharm Madaus Sp. Z o.0.
BGP Products, Unipessoal, LDA
Laboratorios Anova - Produtos Farmaceuticos, LDA
Laboratorios Delta SA

Meda Pharma-Produtos Farmaceuticos SA
Mylan EPD Lda

Mylan, Lda

Neo Farmaceutica SA

Rotta Farmaceutica Ltda

BGP Products S.R.L. (Romania)
Meda Pharma OOO

Rottapharm Madaus LLC

Mylan Pharmaceuticals Pte Ltd.
BGP Products s.r.o.

Meda Pharma spol. s.r.0.

Mylan s.r.o.

GSP Proizvodi, farmacevtska druzba, d.o.o.
Mylan, farmacevtska druzba, d.o.o.
Meda Pharma South Africa (Pty) Limited
Mylan (Proprietary) Ltd.

SCP Pharmaceuticals (Pty) Ltd.
Xixia Pharmaceuticals (Pty) Ltd.
BGP Products Operations, S.L.U.
Meda Pharma, S.L.

Mylan Pharmaceuticals S.L.
Abbex AB

Antula Holding AB

BGP Products AB**

Ellem Likemedel AB

Ipex AB

Norway

Norway

Norway

Norway

Norway
Pennsylvania, USA
Pennsylvania, USA
Pennsylvania, USA
Pennsylvania, USA
Philippines

Poland

Poland

Poland

Poland

Poland

Poland

Poland

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Romania

Russian Federation
Russian Federation
Singapore
Slovakia

Slovakia

Slovakia

Slovenia

Slovenia

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

Spain

Spain

Spain

Sweden

Sweden

Sweden

Sweden

Sweden

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
99.99%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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Ipex Medical AB

Meda AB

Meda OTC AB

Mylan AB

Mylan Sweden Holdings AB

Recip AB

Recip Likemedel AB

Safe Breath International AB
Scandinavian Pharmaceuticals-Generics AB
Scandpharm Marketing AB

BGP Products GmbH (Switzerland)

BGP Products Operations GmbH

BGP Products Switzerland GmbH

Meda Pharma GmbH

Meda Pharmaceuticals Switzerland GmbH
Mylan GmbH

Mylan Holdings GmbH

Meda Pharmaceuticals Taiwan Ltd.

Mylan (Taiwan) Ltd.

DPT Laboratories, Ltd.

Mylan Bertek Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Rottapharm Thailand Ltd

Meda Pharma Lla¢ Sanayi ve Ticaret Ltd. Sirketi
Meda Pharmaceuticals MEA FZ-LLC
Mylan FZ-LLC

Agila Specialties UK Limited
BeechMere Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

Famy Care Europe Limited

Generics (U.K.) Limited

Meda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Mylan Holdings Acquisition Limited**
Mylan Holdings Acquisition 2 Limited**
Mylan Holdings Ltd.**

Mylan Pharma UK Limited

Mylan Products Limited

Mylan UK Healthcare Limited

Viatris Pharmaceuticals Limited

VUK Pharmaceuticals Limited
American Triumvirate Insurance Company
Mylan International Holdings, Inc.

MP Air, Inc.

Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Mylan Technologies, Inc.

Mylan ASI LLC

Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland

Taiwan Province of

China

Taiwan Province of

China
Texas, USA

Texas, USA
Thailand
Turkey

United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Vermont, USA

Vermont, USA

West Virginia, USA
West Virginia, USA
West Virginia, USA

Wyoming, USA

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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*This entity represents an investment in associate.

**This entity is a direct subsidiary of Mylan N.V.
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Mylan N.V. Corporate Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

Company Income Statements
For the year ended 31 December

(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017

Income from subsidiaries after taxes . . . ... 2 $ 3514 § 580.1
Total exXpenses after taXes . . . .. ..ottt 44.6 (82.5)

Profit attributable to equity holders. . ........ ... ... . . . . $ 306.8 $ 662.6
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Company Balance Sheets

As at
31 December 31 December
(In millions of USD) Note 2018 2017
Assets
Non-current assets:
Investments in subSIdiaries . . . ... ... .ot 2 $ 19,020.0 $ 19,789.3
Intercompany notes and interest receivable . ........ ... .. i 6,287.4 7,822.6
Other @SSeES . . o\ oottt e 0.3 4.9
25,307.7 27,616.8
Current assets:
Loans to and other receivables from subsidiaries. .................... ... ... ...... 3429 317.2
Other CUITENt ASSELS. . . . .ottt ettt e ettt e e e et ettt 5.6 5.6
348.5 322.8
TOtal ASSELS . . . . .o ot $ 25,6562 $ 27,939.6
Equity and liabilities
Equity:
Mylan N.V. shareholders' equity. ... ....... ... ..ot $ 6.0 $ 6.0
Additional paid-incapital . . ......... .. . 9,529.4 9,524.2
Retained earnings . . ......... . i 4,779.9 4,447.0
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . ........ .. ... ... . (1,124.4) (49.1)
13,190.9 13,928.1
Less: Treasury stock — at CoSt. . .. ..o vttt e e e 999.7 567.7
Total equity . .. .. ... .. e 5 12,191.2 13,360.4
Non-current liabilities:
Long-termdebt . . ... ... 6 9,370.1 10,614.3
Notes payable to subsidiaries .. ...t 1,806.1 2,166.9
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt and other long-term obligations . . .................. 649.0 1,097.8
Loans from and other payables to subsidiaries. .. ................. ..., 1,618.8 664.7
Other current liabilities . . ... .. ... i 4 21.0 355
Total liabilities . . .. ... ... .. .. .. . 13,465.0 14,579.2
Total equity and liabilities .......... ... . ... . ... ... .. .. ... .. .. . ... $ 25,6562 $ 27,939.6
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1. General information

Mylan N.V. was incorporated as a limited liability company under the laws of the Netherlands (besloten vennootschap met
beperkte aansprakelijkheid) on 07 July 2014. The registered office of Mylan N.V. was in Potters Bar, England and its corporate
seat was in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The principal activity of Mylan N.V. was to act as a holding and finance company.
Mylan N.V. entered into an Amended and Restated Business Transfer Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 04 November 2014,
by and among Mylan N.V., Mylan Inc., Moon of PA Inc. (“Merger Sub”), and Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”) (together with
the disclosure letters thereto, the “BTA”), pursuant to which, among other things, (a) Mylan N.V. acquired the non-US
developed markets specialty and branded generics business (the “EPD Business”) of Abbott in consideration for 110 million
ordinary shares of Mylan N.V. (the “Business Transfer””) and (b) Merger Sub merged with and into Mylan Inc. (the “Merger”),
with Mylan Inc. surviving the Merger and continuing as a wholly owned subsidiary of Mylan N.V., and (c) in the Merger the
outstanding common shares of Mylan Inc. were exchanged on a one-to-one basis for ordinary shares of Mylan N.V. (clauses (a),
(b) and (¢) collectively, the “Transaction). Mylan N.V. was incorporated for the purpose of holding Mylan Inc. and the
Business following consummation of the Transaction. On 27 February 2015, the transaction was completed and Mylan N.V.
(the “Company”) was converted into a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) under the laws of the
Netherlands. Mylan N.V.’s corporate seat is located in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, its principal executive offices are located
in Hatfield, Hertfordshire, England and its global headquarters are located in Canonsburg, Pennsylvania. Mylan N.V.’s shares
are publicly traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Stock Market (“NASDAQ”) in the U.S. under the symbol “MYL”. Our
ordinary shares were also traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“TASE”) in Israel. On 10 November 2017, however, the
Company announced that is was voluntarily delisting the Company’s ordinary shares from trading on the TASE and the TASE
delisting became effective on 12 February 2018.

Basis of presentation

The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil
Code. The Company uses the option of Article 362.8 of Part 9, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code to prepare the Company
financial statements, using the same accounting policies as in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Valuation is based on
recognition and measurement requirements of accounting standards adopted by the EU (i.e., only IFRS that is adopted for use
in the EU at the date of authorization) as explained further in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company
presents a condensed income statement, using the facility of Article 402 of Part 9, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code.

Assets and liabilities presented are stated at the nominal value, unless otherwise stated. Subsidiaries are valued using the equity
method, applying the IFRS accounting policies endorsed by the European Union. Following the adoption of IFRS 9 by the
group, and our interpretation of the Dutch Accounting Standard 100.107A, the company shall, upon identification of a credit
loss on an intercompany loan and/or receivable, eliminate the carrying amount of the intercompany loan and/or receivable for
the value of the identified credit loss.
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2. Investments in subsidiaries
Group
(In millions of USD) companies
Balance as at 31 December 2016 . . . ... ... .. $ 15,693.5
Income from Group companies after tax ... ....... ... it 580.1
Capital contributions and affiliate other comprehensive earnings . . ......... .. .. .. .. i i 3,515.7
Total Chan@es . . . .. ..ot e 4,095.8
Balance as at 31 December 2017 19,789.3
Income from Group companies after taX . . ........ ...t T 3514
Capital contributions and affiliate other comprehensive losses . . ........ .. ... i i (1,120.7)
Total Changes . . . .o e (769.3)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 . . . ... ... $ 19,020.0
3. Loans to and other receivables from subsidiaries

Intercompany loans follow the contractual cash flows established at the inception of the intercompany arrangement. The credit
profile of the parent company and subsidiary entities are both derived from the credit profile of the consolidated business.

In May 2018, Mylan N.V. issued €500 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.125% Euro Senior Notes due 2025. (Refer to
Note 6.)

In April 2018, Mylan N.V. issued $1.5 billion aggregate principal amount of its 4.550% Senior Notes due 2028 and $750
million aggregate principal amount of its 5.200% Senior Notes due 2048. (Refer to Note 6.)

In May 2017, Mylan N.V. issued €500 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured debt securities, comprised of
floating rate Senior Notes due 2020. (Refer to Note 6.)

Loans to and

other
receivables
(1n millions of USD) subsidiaries
Balance as at 31 December 2016 . . ... ... ... .. .. ... $ 8,168.2
NEW 10N . . .o e (658.1)
Repayments and intercompany settlements . .. ......... ...t e 629.7
Total Chan@es . . . . ... o (28.4)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 . . ... ... ... e 8,139.8
N W 0N . . .o e 492.2
Repayments and intercompany settlements . .. .......... ... e (2,001.7)
Total Changes . . . ..o (1,509.5)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 . . . .. ... ... $ 6,630.3

4. Balance sheet components

Other current liabilities totaled $21.0 million and $35.5 million as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, and was made
up of interest payable on long term debt.

5. Equity
For a breakdown of equity, reference is made to the Consolidated Statements of Equity and the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements. Components of equity can be agreed to the equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December
2018.
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Mylan N.V. Notes to the Company Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

Legal Reserves

Pursuant to Dutch law, limitations exist relating to the distribution of shareholders’ equity of $12.2 billion and $13.4 billion as
at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. Legal reserves are considered non-distributable to shareholders.

As at 31 December 2018, such limitations relate to ordinary shares of $6.0 million. The unrealized gains and losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) is included in the legal reserve to the extent that it does not represent a deficit
balance. Accumulated unrealized losses related to currency translation differences, treasury stock and cash flow hedges
amounted to $2.12 billion as at 31 December 2018, and was therefore not included as a legal reserve.

6. Long-term debt
Issuance of 2018 Senior Notes

On 09 April 2018, the Company completed its offering of $750 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.550% Senior Notes
due 2028 (the “2028 Notes”) and $750 million aggregate principal amount of its 5.200% Senior Notes due 2048 (the “2048
Notes” and, together with the 2028 Notes, the “April 2018 Senior Notes™). The April 2018 Senior Notes were issued pursuant to
an indenture dated 09 April 2018 (the “Indenture”). The 2028 Notes will mature on 15 April 2028, subject to earlier repurchase
or redemption in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. The 2048 Notes will mature on 15 April 2048, subject to earlier
repurchase or redemption in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

The April 2018 Senior Notes were issued in a private offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) to qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144 A under the Securities
Act and to persons outside of the U.S. pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Company has entered into a
registration rights agreement, dated as of 09 April 2018 pursuant to which Mylan Inc. and Mylan N.V. are required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to file a registration statement with respect to an offer to exchange each series of the April
2018 Senior Notes for new notes with the same aggregate principal amount and terms substantially identical in all material
respects.

The April 2018 Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time prior to three months (in the case of
the 2028 Senior Notes) or six months (in the case of the 2048 Senior Notes) of the maturity date at the greater of 100% of the
principal amount or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted at the
U.S. Treasury rate plus an incremental spread of 0.30% (in the case of the 2028 Senior Notes) or 0.35% (in the case of the 2048
Senior Notes), plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company redeemed all of the outstanding $650 million principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.600% senior notes due 2018, all
of the outstanding $500 million principal amount of Mylan N.V.’s 3.000% senior notes due 2018 and $350 million of the
outstanding $500 million principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.550% senior notes due 2019. The redemption of these notes was
funded with the net proceeds from the April 2018 Senior Notes offering.

Issuance of 2018 Euro Notes

On 23 May 2018, Mylan Inc., completed the offering of €500 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.125% Euro Senior
Notes due 2025 (the “May 2018 Euro Senior Notes”). The May 2018 Euro Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture
dated 23 May 2018. The May 2018 Euro Senior Notes are guaranteed by Mylan N.V. and were issued in a private offering
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, to persons outside of the United States pursuant to Regulation
S under the Securities Act. The May 2018 Euro Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time prior to
three months of the maturity date at the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the sum of the present values of the
remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted at the applicable Bund Rate plus an incremental spread of
0.30%, plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company redeemed the remaining $150 million outstanding principal amount of Mylan Inc.’s 2.550% Senior Notes due

2019 and $450 million of the outstanding $1.0 billion principal amount of Mylan N.V.’s 2.500% Senior Notes due 2019. The
redemption of these notes was funded with the net proceeds from the May 2018 Euro Senior Notes offering.
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Mylan N.V. Notes to the Company Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

Issuance of 2017 Euro Notes

On 24 May 2017, the Company completed its offering of €500 million aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Senior
Notes due 2020, issued pursuant to the indenture dated 24 May 2017 (the “2017 Euro Notes Indenture”). The 2020 Floating
Rate Euro Notes will mature on 24 May 2020 and cannot be redeemed prior to maturity at the option of the Company.

The 2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes were issued in a private offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities
Act to persons outside of the U.S. pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. The 2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes are the
Company’s senior unsecured indebtedness and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Mylan Inc.

The 2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes bear interest at a rate per annum, reset quarterly, equal to the sum of (i) three-month
EURIBOR (as defined in the 2017 Euro Notes Indenture) plus (ii) 0.50%, provided, however, that the minimum interest rate is
zero. Interest on the 2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes is payable quarterly in arrears on each 24 February, 24 May, 24 August and
24 November. The interest rate at 31 December 2018 was approximately 0.17% per annum.

The Company utilized the net proceeds from the 2020 Floating Rate Euro Notes offering to repay a portion of the term loans
under the 2016 Term Facility and to pay associated fees and expenses.

7. Loans from and other payables to subsidiaries

Loans from and other payables to subsidiaries represents amounts owed by the parent company to subsidiaries for payments
made on behalf of the parent company primarily related to expenses attributable to Mylan N.V. and treasury stock purchased.

8. Income taxes

A provision for income taxes has not been recorded, as the Company does not anticipate taxable income on any of its tax
filings, required in order to realize any tax benefit for the expenses recorded in the Company Income Statements.

9. Guarantees

Mylan Inc. is the issuer of the 3.125% Senior Notes due 2023, 4.200% Senior Notes due 2023, 4.550% Senior Notes due
2028, 5.400% Senior Notes due 2043 and 5.200% Senior Notes due 2048, which are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by
Mylan N.V.

10. Directors remuneration

Information regarding remuneration for Directors of Mylan N.V. can be found in Note 28, Remuneration to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included herein.

11. Other information
Profit appropriation provisions

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to applicable law, in the event that the Company makes distributions to the shareholders and
other persons entitled to the distributable profits of the Company, such distributions shall be made as follows:

a. First, with respect to holders of preferred shares in the Company’s capital, a dividend in an amount per preferred
share equal to any accrued and unpaid Dividend Amount (as defined in the Articles and as described below) with
respect to the then-current fiscal year and any prior fiscal year. To the extent that the profit of the Company is not
sufficient to fully make a distribution as set forth in this paragraph a., such deficit shall be paid from the reserves
of the Company. If, in any given fiscal year, the profit or the distributable reserves (as the case may be) of the
Company are not sufficient to make the distributions set forth in this paragraph a., this paragraph a. shall apply in
each subsequent fiscal year until such distributions have been made in full.

b. Second, Mylan’s board of directors (the “Board”) shall determine which part of the profit of the Company
remaining after application as set forth in paragraph a. shall be reserved.
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Mylan N.V. Notes to the Company Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

Pursuant to the Articles, the profit, as it appears from the profit and loss account of the Company adopted by the Company’s
general meeting of shareholders (the “General Meeting”), shall be at the disposal of the General Meeting to the extent not
distributed in accordance with paragraph a. above and not reserved in accordance with paragraph b. above, provided that the
General Meeting may only resolve to dispose of such profit and loss upon the recommendation and proposal of the Board.

In the Articles, the term “Dividend Amount” is defined as follows: with respect to any preferred share, (i) a percentage equal to
(1) the higher of (x) twelve months LIBOR as published by ICE Benchmark Administration Limited or (y) twelve months
EURIBOR as published by European Money Markets Institute, each calculated based on the number of days such rate applied
during the fiscal year to which the Dividend Amount relates, provided that such rate can never be below zero percent, plus (2) a
premium to be determined by the Board in line with market conditions on the date the preferred shares were first issued,
provided that such premium may not exceed five hundred basis points, multiplied by (ii) the Redemption Amount (as defined in
the Articles and as described below).

In the Articles, the term “Redemption Amount” is defined as follows: an amount per preferred share (which shall be the same
amount for all preferred shares) determined by the General Meeting at the General Meeting authorizing the issuance of such
preferred shares (or if the General Meeting has delegated to the Board the authority to authorize the issuance of such preferred
shares, as determined by the Board) as the amount paid for such preferred share.

Events after the balance sheet date
Information regarding events after the balance sheet date can be found in various Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, as applicable, included herein. There have been no significant events that warrant the inclusion of a separate
footnote disclosure for subsequent events.
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10. OTHER INFORMATION

10.1 Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Mylan N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2018 included in the annual report
Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2018 of Mylan N.V., based in Amsterdam, The Netherlands. The
financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

In our opinion:
*  The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Mylan N.V. as at
31 December 2018, and of its result and its cash flows for 2018 in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

*  The accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Mylan N.V. as at 31
December 2018, and of its result for 2018 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:

1. The consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.

2. The following statements for 2018: the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statements of comprehensive
earnings, the consolidated statements of equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows.

3. The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The company financial statements comprise:

1. The company balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.

2. The company income statement for 2018.

3. The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements" section of our report.

We are independent of Mylan N.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of
listed entities, the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de
onafthankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation
with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied
with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Materiality

Based on our professional judgment we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at $130,000,000. The
materiality is based on 3.5% of adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is equal to EBITDA adjusted for share-based
compensation expense, litigation settlements and other contingencies, and restructuring and other special items. We have also
taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial
statements for qualitative reasons.

Audits of group entities (components) were performed using materiality levels determined in accordance with the judgment of
the group audit team, having regard to the materiality of the consolidated financial statements. Component materiality did not
exceed $104,000,000 and for the majority of the components, materiality is significantly less than this amount.

Any misstatements in excess of $6,500,000, identified during the audit, would be reported to the Audit Committee, as well as
smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

Mylan N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included in the consolidated financial
statements of Mylan N.V.

In establishing the overall group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at the
group entities by the group engagement team and by Deloitte component auditors for other operating companies. We directed
and supervised the work of component auditors as part of the group audit. We also visited several components based upon our
rotation scheme.

Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit
work at those Group entities so as to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a
basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as whole. For each Group entity we determined whether we required an
audit of their complete financial information or whether other procedures would be sufficient.

For the entities which do not classify as significant entities we performed a combination of specific audit procedures and

analytical procedures at group level relating to the risks of material misstatement for significant account balances and
disclosures that we have identified.

Audit coverage

Audit coverage of consolidated revenues ~ 71%

Audit coverage of consolidated assets 88%

The Group consolidation, financial statement disclosures and certain centrally coordinated subjects were audited by the group
engagement team at the head office. These subjects include, amongst others, the annual goodwill impairment test, intangible
assets, income taxes, share-based transactions, consolidation, derivatives, debt, and analysis of business development
transactions.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at Group entities, together with additional procedures at group level, we have
been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group's financial information to provide an opinion about
the consolidated financial statements.

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the Board of Directors. The key audit matters are not a

comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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' ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Description Our response Our observation

Goodwill - Europe Cash Generating Unit - Refer to Note 9 Intangible assets and goodwill to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Description

The Company has performed its annual goodwill impairment test as of 01 April 2018. The Company’s evaluation of goodwill
for impairment involves the comparison of the fair value of each cash generating unit (“CGU”) to its carrying value. The
Company performed its valuation analysis using the income approach to determine the fair value of its Europe CGU. The
determination of the fair value requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the CGU’s
expected future cash flows. These estimates and assumptions, utilizing Level 3 inputs, primarily include, but are not limited to,
the discount rate, terminal growth rates, operating income before depreciation and amortization, and capital expenditures
forecasts. The total goodwill balance was $9.7 billion as of 31 December 2018, of which $4.7 billion was allocated to the
Europe CGU. The fair value of the Europe CGU, being the CGU with the lowest headroom, exceeded its carrying value by
$339 million, or 2%, as of the measurement date and, therefore, no impairment was recognized.

Given that the Europe CGU’s revenues are sensitive to changes in consumer demand, the approval of new product launches, the
expansion of existing products into new jurisdictions (which have differentiated distribution and commercialization models
throughout the region), and the impact of business development activity, auditing management’s judgments regarding forecasts
of future revenues, and the selection of the discount rate and terminal growth rate required significant auditor attention in
performing the audit.

Our response
Our audit procedures related to the forecasts of future revenues (“forecasts”), and the selection of the discount rate and terminal

growth rate for the Europe CGU included the following, among others:
» We tested the appropriateness of the CGU’s

* We tested the effectiveness of controls over the review of the goodwill impairment test, including those over the
development of the business forecasts of future revenues and the selection of the discount rate and terminal growth rate.

* We evaluated management’s ability to accurately forecast future revenues and gross margin of the Europe CGU by
comparing actual results to management’s historical forecasts.

* We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s revenue forecasts by comparing the projections to (1) historical
results, (2) internal communications to management and the Board of Directors, (3) forecasted information included in
Company press releases. We also considered (4) third party reports related to macroeconomic and industry trends, and
(5) met with various regional commercial and operations leaders to assess key inputs in the forecast assumptions.

» With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the valuation methodology,
discount rate, and terminal growth rate, including (1) testing the source information underlying the determination of the
discount rate and terminal growth rate and the mathematical accuracy of the calculations, (2) developing a range of
independent estimates and comparing those to the discount rates selected by management, and (3) considering third
party macroeconomic reports.

* We evaluated the impact of changes in management’s forecasts from the 01 April 2018 annual measurement date to 31
December 2018.

Observation

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the risks of material misstatement
related to the Europe CGU goodwill. Our procedures did not result in any reportable matters with respect to the Europe CGU
goodwill balance recorded in the year.

Net Revenue Provisions - Chargebacks Accrual at Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“MPI”) - Refer to Note 3 Significant

accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018.
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Description

The Company has agreements with certain indirect customers, such as independent pharmacies, managed care organizations,
hospitals, nursing homes, governmental agencies and pharmacy benefit managers, which establish contract prices for certain
products. The indirect customers then independently select a wholesaler from which to purchase the products at these
contracted prices. Alternatively, certain wholesalers may enter into agreements with indirect customers that establish contract
pricing for certain products, which the wholesalers provide. Under either arrangement, Mylan will provide credit to the
wholesaler for any difference between the contracted price with the indirect party and the wholesaler’s invoice price. Such
credits are called chargebacks. The provision for chargebacks is the most significant and complex provision in the context of
the Company’s gross-to-net adjustments in the determination of net revenue. The chargeback accrual recorded at MPI
represents the majority of the global chargeback reserve as of 31 December 2018. The Company's recorded estimate is based on
expected sell-through levels by the Company’s wholesaler customers to indirect customers, as well as estimated wholesaler
inventory levels.

Estimating the amounts to be accrued for chargebacks requires significant estimation as management’s model utilizes historical
buying patterns, estimated end-user demand, estimated inventory levels in the distribution channel, contracted sales terms with
customers, as well as other competitive factors. Given the volume of chargebacks and the level of estimation uncertainty
involved, auditing management’s judgments required significant auditor attention in performing the audit.

Our response

Our audit procedures related to the Net Revenue Provisions - Chargebacks accrual included the following, among others:

* We evaluated the Company’s methodology and assumptions in developing their chargeback accruals, including
assessing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by management in their estimates.

» We tested the effectiveness of controls over the calculation of the chargebacks reserves.

» We compared prior period chargebacks accruals to chargeback credits subsequently issued to evaluate management’s
ability to accurately forecast chargeback activity.

* We developed independent expectations of product-level chargeback accruals and chargeback accruals in the aggregate
using customer contracts, historical sales and chargeback activity, along with third-party channel inventory for select
wholesalers and credits subsequently issued.

Observation

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the risks of

material misstatement of the Chargeback accrual at MPI. Our procedures did not result in any reportable matters with respect to
the Chargeback accrual at MPI recorded as per 31 December 2018.

Net Revenue Provisions - Sales Returns Accrual at MPI - Refer to Note 3 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and
assumptions to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Description

The Company provides customers with the ability to return product, which varies country by country in accordance with local
practices, generally within a specified period prior (six months) and subsequent (twelve months) to the expiration date. The
Company’s estimate of the provision for returns is generally based upon historical experience with actual returns. The returns
reserve at MPI represents the majority of the global sales returns reserve as of 31 December 2018.

Estimating the amounts to be accrued for returns requires significant estimation as management’s model utilizes historical
experience with actual returns and considers levels of inventory in the distribution channel, product dating and expiration
period, size and maturity of the market prior to a product launch, entrance into the market of additional competitors, and
changes in the regulatory environment. Given the volume of sales returns and the level of estimation uncertainty involved,
auditing management’s judgments required significant auditor attention in performing the audit.

Our response
Our audit procedures related to the Net Revenue Provisions - Sales Returns accrual included the following, among others:

» We evaluated the Company’s methodology and assumptions in developing their sales returns accrual model, including
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assessing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by management in their estimates.
* We tested the effectiveness of controls over the calculation of the sales returns reserve at MPI.

» We compared prior period sales returns accruals to returns credits subsequently issued to evaluate management’s
ability to accurately forecast sales returns activity.

* We developed independent expectations of product-level sales returns accruals and sales returns accruals in the
aggregate using historical sales and returns activity, remaining shelf life information, finished goods inventory on-hand
at the end of the period, and adjustments for known or anticipated sales return activity.

Observation

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the risks of material misstatement
of the Sales Returns accrual at MPI. Our procedures did not result in any reportable matters with respect to the Sales Returns
accrual at MPI recorded as per 31 December 2018.

Respiratory Delivery Platform (“Wixela”) Contingent Consideration - Refer to Note 9 Intangible assets and goodwill to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Description

In accordance with IFRS 3, Mylan records contingent consideration resulting from business acquisitions at fair value on the
acquisition date. Each reporting period thereafter, the Company revalues these obligations and records increases or decreases in
their fair value as a charge (credit) to litigation settlements and other contingencies, net within the Consolidated Income
Statements. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations can result from adjustments to the discount
rates, payment periods and adjustments in the probability of achieving future development steps, regulatory approvals, market
launches, and financial projections. The majority of the Company’s recorded contingent consideration relates to the contingent
liability associated with the development of Mylan’s Wixela Inhub product, and is primarily comprised of an agreed-upon gross
profit split on forecasted future sales and certain other fixed payment amounts based on development and commercial
milestones. As per 31 December 2018 the total contingent consideration amounts related to Wixela were approximately $336
million.

Determining the amount of the Wixela contingent consideration requires significant judgment as management’s model
contemplates both business and valuation assumptions, including an expected product launch date, estimated revenues and
profitability, profit splits, developmental and commercial milestones, and probability of success factors. Given the amount and
the level of estimation uncertainty involved, auditing management’s judgments required significant auditor attention in
performing the audit.

Our response

Our audit procedures related to the contingent consideration included the following, among others:

* Inaccordance with ISA 540, we evaluated management’s critical business assumptions within the profit-split valuation
model, including launch timing, anticipated product market share, and forecasted product pricing. In performing these
analyses, we (1) conducted conversations with operational, commercial, and portfolio development leadership
personnel, (2) considered third party industry reports, (3) obtained relevant regulatory communications associated with
the status of the Wixela product approval, and (4) evaluated publicly available information regarding competitor
product development status.

*  We tested the effectiveness of controls over the calculation of the contingent consideration related to Wixela.

*  We developed an independent expectation of the Wixela revenue assumptions in management’s model by considering
third party industry reports and publicly available competitor information.

»  With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the valuation methodology by

considering critical provisions from the executed license agreement and the appropriateness of the selected valuation
approach.
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Observation

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the risks of material misstatement
of the Wixela contingent consideration liability. Our procedures did not result in any reportable matters with respect to Wixela
contingent consideration as per 31 December 2018.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contain other information that consists
of:

*  Dutch Statutory Board Report.

e Other Information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
»  Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements.
*  Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial
statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch
Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the
financial statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the Management Board's Report in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and the other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Engagement

We were engaged by the Board of Directors as auditor of Mylan N.V. for the audit for the year 2015 and have operated as
statutory auditor ever since that financial year.

DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS
and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue
as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the financial
statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a
going concern in the financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not detect all material
errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The
materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.

For an overview of our responsibilities we refer to NBA’s website

Amsterdam, 24 May 2019
Deloitte Accountants B.V.
A.J. Heitink

Signed on the original
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10.2 Profit appropriation provisions

See Note 11 Other Information - Profit appropriation provisions in the Notes to the Company Financial Statements (chapter 9.2

of this board report).

10.3 Special rights of control under the Articles
Not applicable. The Articles do not grant any party special rights of control (zeggenschap) in respect of the Company.

10.4 Shares carrying limited economic entitlement

The preferred shares in the Company’s capital carry a limited entitlement to the Company’s profit and reserves, as discussed in
section 10.2. As at 31 December 2018, no preferred shares in the Company’s capital were issued.

Signature page to the board report of Mylan N.V. for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018

/s HEATHER BRESCH

Heather Bresch

/s/ HON. ROBERT J. CINDRICH

Hon. Robert J. Cindrich

/s/ NEIL DIMICK

Neil Dimick

/s HARRY A. KORMAN

Harry A. Korman

/s’ MARK W. PARRISH

Mark W. Parrish

/s/ PAULINE VAN DER MEER MOHR

Pauline van der Meer Mohr

/s/ ROBERT J. COURY

Robert J. Coury

/s/ JOELLEN LYONS DILLON

JoEllen Lyons Dillon

/s/ MELINA HIGGINS

Melina Higgins

/s/ RAJIV MALIK

Rajiv Malik

/s RANDALL L. VANDERVEEN, PH.D.
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/s/ SIOERD S. VOLLEBREGT
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